

Drug Delivery Systems for Advanced Treatment of Pain and Inflammation

Jeffri Retamal Santibañez

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy at Monash University

December 2021

ARC Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science & Technology

&

Drug Discovery Biology Theme

Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences

Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences

Monash University

Copyright notice

© The author (December 2021).

I certify that I have made all reasonable efforts to secure copyright permissions for third-party content included in this thesis and have not knowingly added copyright content to my work without the owner's permission.

Abstract

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) contribute to nociception and are considered to be effective therapeutic targets to achieve analgesia. Recent findings indicate that stimulation of GPCRs by extracellular ligands does not exclusively lead to plasma membrane-delimited signalling. Instead, many receptors undergo endocytosis to mediate receptor recycling or degradation and mounting evidence suggests that during these trafficking events, internalised receptors can also signal from subcellular compartments. The main focus of this thesis is to understand how the spatiotemporal signalling of GPCRs can influence cellular processes relevant to pain and inflammation.

The metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5 is essential for neuronal development and synaptic transmission. mGlu5 dysregulation also plays important roles in pathophysiological processes such as schizophrenia, fragile syndrome X and pain. It has been recently demonstrated that mGlu₅ pools located to intracellular locations such as the nucleus is required for pain transmission on second order spinal neurons. Once activated, mGlu₅ can also redistribute from the plasma membrane to endosomes, yet the importance of this trafficking phenomenon to pain transmission is unclear. We therefore investigated if mGlu₅ located on endosomes contributes to signalling from this location and whether mGlu₅ endosomal signalling is a potential therapeutic target to modulate pain. With a focus on mGlu₅ and also the nociceptive trafficking of the GPCR NK₁R, this thesis utilises genetic encoded biosensors, pharmacological tools and polymeric nanoparticles for selective, location-specific drug delivery, to explore the importance of recruiting receptors to endosomes for signalling, neuronal excitability and pain transmission.

In addition, the broader goals of the thesis were to investigate how GPCRs can achieve their complete signalling repertoire by also functionally interacting with TRP channels. This particular study focussed on functional interactions between the 5-HT receptor subtype 2A GPCR and the Transient Potential Receptor Vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel to further understand the role of their crosstalk in increasing vascular permeability (oedema) in airway and gastrointestinal tissue in mice. This investigation provided relevant evidence that GPCRs not only signal within the plasma membrane and intracellular locations, but also can influence on other receptor through downstream pathways, affecting cell or tissue-specific signalling such as oedema.

To summarise, this thesis includes 4 results chapters and 3 manuscripts published in peer reviewed journals. The main project of this thesis, is an unpublished chapter prepared in manuscript format, characterising and controlling spatiotemporal signalling of the mGlu₅ in the context of pain.

Declaration

This thesis is an original work of my research and contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

Signature:

Print Name: Jeffri Stevens Retamal Santibanez

Date: 19 December 2021

Publications during enrolment

Retamal, J. S., Ramírez-García, P. D., Shenoy, P. A., Poole, D. P., and Veldhuis, N. A. (2019). Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain. Front Mol Neurosci 12, 273. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2019.00273.

Retamal, J. S., Grace, M. S., Dill, L. K., Ramirez-Garcia, P., Peng, S., Gondin, A. B., et al. (2021). Serotonin-induced vascular permeability is mediated by transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice. Lab. Invest. 101, 851–864. doi:10.1038/s41374-021-00593-7.

Ramírez-García, P. D., *Retamal, J. S.*, Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. Nat Nanotechnol 14, 1150–1159. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Peng, S., Grace, M. S., Gondin, A. B., *Retamal, J. S.*, Dill, L., Darby, W., et al. (2020). The transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel mediates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1)-induced vascular hyperpermeability. Lab. Invest. 5, 4–11. doi:10.1038/s41374-020-0430-7.

Mai, Q. N., Shenoy, P., Quach, T., *Retamal, J. S.*, Gondin, A. B., Yeatman, H. R., et al. (2021). A lipid-anchored neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist prolongs pain relief by a three-pronged mechanism of action targeting the receptor at the plasma membrane and in endosomes. J. Biol. Chem., 100345. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100345.

Thesis including published works declaration

I hereby declare that this thesis contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at any university or equivalent institution and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, this thesis contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference is made in the text of the thesis.

This thesis includes three original papers published in peer reviewed journals and one unpublished work under preparation. The ideas, development, and writing of all the papers presented in this thesis were the principal responsibility of myself, working within the Drug Delivery, Disposition and Dynamics Theme, under the supervision of Dr. Nicholas Veldhuis and Professor Thomas Davis, and Dr. Daniel Poole and Dr. Karen Gregory from the Drug Discovery Biology Theme, at the Monash University Faculty of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences.

The thesis also includes a *pre-chapter 3* that corresponds to my contribution towards the manuscript "*A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain*" published in *Nature Nanotechnology* in 2019 (See Appendix 1 and 2) of which I was 2nd author. It provides clear evidence of my experimental design and contribution to the study, and includes my rationale, results and a discussion related to the approach and studies performed.

The inclusion of co-authors for the following listed publications reflects my contribution to several manuscripts that were published as active collaborations, and acknowledges the contribution of other researchers from Monash University that were a part of the broader team.

Thesis Chapter	Publication Title	Status	Nature and % of student contribution	Co-author name(s) Nature and % of Co- author's contribution*	Co- author(s), Monash student Y/N*
Chapter 2	Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain	Published	50%. Concept and collecting data and writing manuscript	 Paulina Ramirez 10%, Priyank Shenoy 10%. Daniel P. Poole. 10%. Nicholas A. Veldhuis 20%. 	1. No 2. No 3. No 4. No

Chapter 5	Serotonin- induced vascular permeability is mediated by Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 4 in the airway and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice	Published	50%. Concept and collecting data and writing manuscript	 Mcgan S. Orace, 10%. Larissa K. Dill, 5%. Paulina Ramirez, 5%. Arisbel B. Gondin, 2%. Sadia Alvi, 2%. Nigel W. Bunnett, 2%. Thomas P. Davis, 2% Daniel P. Poole. 10%. Nicholas A. Veldhuis 12% 	1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6. 7. 8. 9.	No No Yes No No No
-----------	---	-----------	---	--	--	-----------------------------------

I have not renumbered sections of submitted or published papers in order to generate a consistent presentation within the thesis.

Student name: Jeffri Stevens Retamal Santibanez

Student signature:

Date: 19 December 2021

I hereby certify that the above declaration correctly reflects the nature and extent of the student's and co-authors' contributions to this work. In instances where I am not the responsible author, I have consulted with the responsible author to agree on the respective contributions of the authors.

Main Supervisor name: Nicholas A. Veldhuis, PhD

Mlex.

Main Supervisor signature:

Date: 19 December 2021

acknowledgements

I would like to acknowledge and give my warmest thanks and gratitude to my supervisors, Dr Nicholas Veldhuis and Dr Daniel Poole, Co-director of the integrated neurogenic mechanism Laboratory (IMN) at Monash University, and Dr Karen Gregory who made this work possible. Their friendship, guidance and advice carried me through all the stages of my PhD project. The completion of this project could not have been possible without the support of all members of the integrated neurogenic mechanism Laboratory.

I would like to thank my committee members for letting my PhD project be an enjoyable moment and for your thoughtful comments and suggestions. I would like to offer my sincere appreciation for the learning opportunity and conversation provided by Dr Michael Whittaker (Mikey).

I would also like to give special thanks to my loving, caring and supporting partner Paulina Ramirez for her company, support and understanding during these difficult years, this is an achievement that I could not do without you.

I would like to dedicate this new achievement to my parents, Erika Santibanez and Hector Retamal, for their continuous support and understanding when undertaking this long trip to complete my research and studies. Your prayer for me was what sustained me this far.

8

Table of Contents

. Copyright notice	2
. Abstract	3
. Declaration	4
. Publications during enrolment	5
. Thesis including published works declaration	6
. Chapter 1:	14
	15
1. Overview of Fundamental Pain Biology	
1.1. Pain Transmission: Overview	16
1.2. Initiation of pain: Neurons and fibres involved in pain transmission	
1.3. Pain transduction and transmission	
1.4. Transmission in the central nervous system	
2. Pathological pain: transition from acute to chronic pain	24
2.1. Dysregulation of pain transmission: the periphery	24
2.2. Central sensitisation: the spinal cord	25
2.3. Dysregulation in the interpretation of pain: processing in the brain and descending pathways	27
3. G Protein-Coupled Receptors in the synaptic facilitation of pain	27
3.1. G protein-coupled receptors: classification, structure and signalling	
3.2. Trafficking of GPCRs	
3.3. Endosomes: compartmentalised signalling by internalised GPCRs	
3.4. GPCRs involved in nociception	
3.5. Compartmentalised signalling by nociceptive GPCRs	
3.6. The Neurokinin 1 Receptor (NK1R) in pain	
3.7. The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGlu ₅) in pain	
4. GPCR- TRP channels interactions	40
5. Current treatment for pain: Pain management	42
5.1. Paracetamol, NSAIDs and Coxibs	
5.2. Local anaesthetics	44
5.3. Tricyclic antidepressant and gabapentinoids	44
5.4. NMDA receptor antagonists	
5.5. Corticosteroids	
6. New pharmacological strategies to relieve pain	46

6.1.1 Chemical modification to target the mu opioid receptor (MOR)	
6.1.2 Bivalent and Bifunctional ligands	47
6.1.3 Gene therapy	47
7. Targeting endosomal signalling using nanoparticles	48
7.1.1 Nanomedicine and endosomal targeting to achieve analgesia pain	
8. References	53
. Chapter 2:	80
. Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain	80
. Pre-Chapter 3:	91
. Behavioural assessment of pH-responsive nanoparticles for targeting endosomal NK	IR as an
alternative approach for pain management	91
1. Introduction	93
2. Material and method	96
3. Results	100
3.1. Biodistribution and delivery of nanoparticle cargo in vivo.	100
3.2. Aprepitant loaded in nanoparticles decrease nociception.	101
3.3. NK1R endosomal inhibition decrease neuronal activity.	106
4. Discussion	
5. References	112
. Chapter 4:	119
. Endosomal metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 mediates location-specific signalling a	and pain
transmission	119
1. Abstract	120
2. Introduction	122
3. Methods	125
4. Results	130
4.1. mGlu5 internalisation process and G-protein coupling.	
4.2. Assessing location-specific mGlu5 coupling to Gaq and Gas protein subunits	
4.3. mGlu ₅ recruits mG $\alpha_{q/11}$ but not mG α_s in endosomes	133
4.4. Assessing endosome-mediated mGlu ₅ signalling	134
4.5. mGlu ₅ endocytosis mediates glutamate signalling in subcellular compartments.	
4.6. Glutamate induced nuclear ERK activity is dependent of mGlu5 internalisation and EAAT	

4.7. Characterisation of pH responsive nanoparticles for endosomal-specific drug delivery	139
4.8. Assessing trafficking and endosomal uptake of nanoparticles on HEK-293 cells	141
4.9. Effects of nanoparticles on mGlu5 endosomal signalling.	
4.10. Effect of nanoparticles on nociceptive models of pain	
5. Discussion	
6. Supplementary figure	
7. References	
. Chapter 5:	165
. 5HT-induced vascular permeability is mediated by TRPV4 in the airways and up	per GI tract
	165
. Summary	180
1. The challenges of treating pain	
2. Beyond opioids – analgesic Drug discovery in GPCR targets	
3. The challenges of targeting and controlling endosomal signalling	
4. TRPV4 ion channels – an important effector protein for GPCR signalling	
5. References	
. Appendix 1	190
. Appendix 2	204

List of Figure Chapter 1

16
17
19
21
23
25
29
32
34

List of Figure Pre-Chapter 3

Figure 10. In vivo biodistribution nanoparticles and Aprepitant in the spinal cord	101
Figure 11. Effects of nanoparticles on capsaicin-evoked acute nociceptive pain in mice	102
Figure 12. Effects of nanoparticles in the CFA-model of inflammatory pain	103
Figure 13. Analgesic effect of nanoparticles in the SNS model of neuropathic pain	105
Figure 14. Effects of nanoparticles on neuropathic nociception	105
Figure 15. Effect of nanoparticles on C-fiber activity in vivo	107

List of Figure Chapter 4

Figure 16. mGlu ₅ internalisation	131
Figure 17. mGlu ₅ -dependent global and early endosome-specific G α protein recruitment	133
Figure 18. mGlu ₅ -induced calcium signalling in recombinant HEK-293 cells	135
Figure 19. mGlu ₅ activation induced cytosolic ERK activation	137
Figure 20. mGlu5-mediated nuclear ERK activity	138
Figure 21. Characterisation of DIPMA nanoparticles	140
Figure 22. DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles overlap with mGlu ₅ in recombinant HEK-293 cells	142
Figure 23. Modulation of glutamate-induced i[Ca ²⁺] signalling in endosomes	143
Figure 24. Modulation of glutamate induced nuclear ERK signalling in endosomes	144

Figure 25.	Assessing antinocic	eptive efficacy of D	IPMA-formulated V	/u058 in mice	
Figure 26.	Summary of data in	vestigating endosor	nal mGlu₅ signalling	5	149

Tables Chapter 1

Table 1. Summary of key excitatory and inhibitory GPCRs involved in pain.	34
Table 2. Summary of key analgesic classes used in the clinic	45

Tables Chapter 4

Table 3. Potency (pEC ₅₀) parar	neters for mGlu ₅ wild type	receptor in signalling	assays145
---	--	------------------------	-----------

Chapter 1:

Introduction

1. Overview of Fundamental Pain Biology

According to the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP), pain is defined as "an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage or described in terms of such damage". Pain is a physiological protective mechanism, that is essential for survival and wellbeing. It provides awareness of noxious stimuli, initiates avoidance behaviours to prevent further injury and promotes wound healing processes (Baron, 2006). This type of pain is known as acute pain or nociception. Acute pain is a valuable alarm system that is usually activated due to an illness or injury, and resolves after the noxious stimulus is withdrawn or the injured tissue is repaired (Feizerfan and Sheh, 2015). However, in some cases pain can persist after the damage has been repaired, or the sensation of pain can appear in the absence of injury. In both cases, pain is no longer a physiological function and transforms into a pathological state, known as **pathological pain** or chronic pain (Feizerfan and Sheh, 2015; Steeds, 2016). Pathological pain is characterised by an enhanced response to a nociceptive stimulus (hyperalgesia) and a painful response against a tactile or non-painful stimulus (allodynia) (Basbaum and Fields, 1978; Merskey, 1982) (Figure 1A) lasting for an extended period (Figure 1B), typically more than two months. Examples of chronic pain include headache, postsurgical pain, post-trauma pain, lower back pain, cancer pain, arthritis pain, and neurogenic pain (pain caused by nerve damage) (Mills et al., 2019).

Pain is one of the principal reasons for seeking medical care (Johannes et al., 2010), affecting up to 30% of adults worldwide, and it is estimated that each year the number of patients newly diagnosed with any condition of pathological pain such as neuropathic pain or arthritis will increase by 10% (Goldberg and McGee, 2011). Thus, more effective treatments options are required to manage pathological pain.



Figure 1. Pain response and pain latency. A) Scheme showing a normal pain response blue curve) vs. the pathological pain response following injury (red curve). The pathological pain response presents two phenomena known as hyperalgesia and allodynia (Gottschalk and Smith, 2001). B) Comparative scheme between acute and pathological pain in terms of time. Acute pain is characterized as a transient phenomenon. However, chronic pain is described as a pathology, and it can be initiated by damage or in the absence of injury, in both cases, pathological pain persists over time (Walker et al., 2014).

1.1. Pain Transmission: Overview

Pain sensation or **nociception**, is the capability of a specialised subset of neurons (**nociceptive neurons**), to transduce and transmit nociceptive information from the periphery to the brain (Basbaum et al., 2009). Nociceptive neurons are equipped with specialised receptors known as **nociceptors**, that sense a painful stimulus and integrate the signal into an electrical response. The transmission of the painful stimulus occurs in three major steps (**Figure 2**), described briefly here and in further detail below.

In the initiation of pain, the stimulus is sensed by nociceptors (cell surface receptors or ion channels) located in the peripheral nerve endings of primary afferent neurons (nerves that innervate e.g., muscle, organs, head, face, eyes, nose) that transduce painful stimuli into an electrical signal. Next, the electrical signal is sent along nociceptive fibres to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. These nociceptive fibres are known as $A\delta$ and C fibres (Figure 2, step 1).

In the spinal cord, the electrical signal promotes the release of neurotransmitters from primary sensory neurons into the synaptic cleft, being the first synapse in the pain pathway. These neurotransmitters then activate their specific receptors on the surface of secondary neurons, creating a **postsynaptic action potential**, that is sent towards the brainstem (**Figure 2, step 2**). Thus, receptors located in the spinal cord are one of the key pharmacological targets in pain management.

In the thalamus, a third neuron (second synapse) is projected to the somatosensory cortex S1 and insular cortex in the brain (Figure 1, step 3). The brain then determines the location and intensity of the stimulus, and a painful response will be then produced.



Figure 2. The anatomical and functional organisation of the somatosensory system. Sensory information from the periphery is sensed by nociceptors located on the primary afferent neurons (1). The pain information is transduced into an electrical signal, and the electrical signal is sent to the dorsal root ganglia (DRG), and then to the spinal cord (2). In the spinal cord, the peripheral neurons synapse with ascending secondary neurons to send the information toward the thalamus and cerebral cortex, where the brain will determine the location and intensity of the stimulus (3).

1.2. Initiation of pain: Neurons and fibres involved in pain transmission

Pain stimulus is detected by nociceptors located in peripheral nerve endings of nociceptive neurons (Kakigi et al., 1991; Obi et al., 2007) (Figure 2). Nociceptive neurons are classified as pseudo unipolar, which are characterised by a cell body located in the **Dorsal Root Ganglion (DRG)** (Kakigi

et al., 1991; Le Bars and Chitour, 1983; Obi et al., 2007) (Figure 4), and a short axon that is split into two branches or projections. This morphological specialisation allows nociceptive neurons to send and receive information from either end. The terminals of the peripheral projections sense chemical (e.g., pro-inflammatory mediators, inflammatory neuropeptides, protons, ATP, proteases), thermal, and mechanical stimuli. The central projection transmits the information collected in the periphery to the central nervous system in the spinal cord. The central projection of nociceptive neurons will then synapse with ascending secondary neurons (Figure 2 & 3 (Obi et al., 2007)).

Nociceptive neurons in the periphery are organised in groups to form fibres. These fibres are classified into three major groups known as A, B and C fibres. A and B fibres comprise the major myelinated neurons in the body, and unmyelinated neurons are known as C fibres. A fibres are further subdivided into A alpha (A α), A beta (A β) and A delta (A δ), where α and β A-fibres are known to carry non-painful somatosensory stimuli such as proprioception and touch, meanwhile nociceptive information is transmitted exclusively through A δ and C fibres. The type of fibre transmitting the pain information depends on the frequency and intensity of the stimulus (Figure 3 &4) (Craig, 2003; Ikeda et al., 2003).

Aδ fibres transmit information from peripheral mechanoreceptors and thermoreceptors to the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. These fibres are lightly myelinated, their cell bodies have a medium-sized diameter (1-5 μ m), and transmit information at a relatively fast speed (from 9 to 18 m/s) (Kakigi et al., 1991; Obi et al., 2007). Aδ fibres are activated by stimuli of low and medium frequency and intensity and transmit nociceptive and tactile information to the spinal cord, where they synapse with secondary neurons (ascending neurons) in the laminae III to V region of the dorsal horn (Kakigi et al., 1991; Le Bars and Chitour, 1983; Obi et al., 2007). The neurons forming these fibres are known as wide dynamic range neurons due to their ability to transmit painful and non-painful stimuli (**Figure 3**) (Thomas Cheng, 2010)).

C fibres are known exclusively as nociceptive fibres, responsible for the slow and long-lasting sensation of pain thermal and chemical. C fibres are unmyelinated, smaller in diameter (0.2-1 μ m), with the slower speed transmission of 0.4 to 4 m/s (Obi et al., 2007). C fibres are activated exclusively by high frequency and intensity stimulus and transmit nociceptive information toward the superficial regions of the spinal cord dorsal horn, synapsing with projection neurons in laminae I and II (Craig, 2003; Ikeda et al., 2003) (Error! Reference source not found.).



Figure 3. Transmission of peripheral information to the central nervous system. Illustration of the differences between A α , A β , A δ and C fibres in peripheral nerves. Nociceptive A δ fibres are lightly myelinated whereas C fibres are unmyelinated which influences the speed transmission along fibres.

1.3. Pain transduction and transmission

Under specific circumstances, such as an injury or infection, damaged cells release a variety of mediators such as H⁺ and ATP, which can activate peripheral nociceptive neurons to promote pain (Liptom, 1994). Activation of peripheral nociceptive neurons generate a rapid and localised response through local release of neuropeptides such as substance P and calcitonin gene related peptide (CGRP). This promotes swelling, temperature increase, tenderness and pain, all of which are hallmarks of **neurogenic inflammation**. The activation of nociceptive neurons independently of the type of stimuli, causes increased cation influx resulting in a rapid neuronal response (Thomas Cheng, 2010) and triggering of action potentials. Specifically, the action potential is triggered by the influx and increase of cations in the intracellular space of neurons, creating changes in the membrane potential. Generation of an action potential enables transmission of the signal to the CNS.

In normal pain condition, the resting membrane potential of sensory neurons oscillates between -50 and -70mV, and these values depend on the types of ion channels that are open and the concentration of Na⁺ and K⁺ in the resting state (Liu and Sandkühler, 1997)**B**, green current). Once a stimulus activates nociceptors in the peripheral free nerve endings, an action potential begins at the axon creating changes in the membrane potential, known as depolarisation. If the difference in the membrane potential exceeds the threshold, it triggers the activation of voltage-gated sodium channels (VGSCs or Na_v channels), leading to neuron depolarisation. Voltage-gated sodium channels remain open until reaching a peak of +40mV. Once the peak is reached, sodium channels close and potassium

voltage-gated channels open, decreasing the intracellular concentration of potassium, repolarising axons and returning the membrane potential to its resting state of -50 to -70 mV.

The action potential triggered in the peripheral ending is then propagated along the axon of these neurons via local currents, mainly through two types of neurons, myelinated and unmyelinated neurons. The myelin present on the neurons creates an insulating layer on the axon, with periodic gaps of myelin along the axon known as Nodes of Ranvier (Lubetzki et al., 2020). In the areas where the axons are covered with myelin, the axons lack voltage-gated ion channels. Meanwhile, the nodes of Ranvier are highly dense on voltage-gated ion channels. The myelin surrounding the axon accelerates the conduction of the electrical signal by increasing the membrane resistance and reducing the membrane capacitance, allowing the electrical signals to be rapidly conducted from one node to the next, where it causes depolarization of adjacent axonal membranes triggering and reaching the activation threshold of voltage-gated ion channels that allows the action potential to travel (Giuliodori and Zuccolilli, 2004). In this manner, an action potential is rapidly conducted through a neuron, known as saltatory conduction (**Figure 4**), as is the case of A ∂ fibers for fast pain transmission.

Myelination creates an insulating layer around the axon, which accelerates the conduction of the electrical signal by increasing the membrane resistance and reducing the membrane capacitance, allowing the electrical signals to be rapidly conducted (Bleazard et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1995; Littlewood et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1994; Nakaya et al., 1994) (**Figure 4A**), as is the case of A δ fibres for fast pain transmission (Lubetzki et al., 2020). The absence of myelin, as in C-fibres, the action potential would propagate actively through the activation threshold of voltage-gated ion channels (Giuliodori and Zuccolilli, 2004). Thus, the action potential is propagated at slower speeds through the axon ((Barber and Vasko, 1996; Bonnet et al., 2015; Scuteri et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017) (**Figure 4A**), which underlies the role of C fibres in the slow and lasting sensation of pain.



Figure 4. Action potentials in $A\delta$ and C fibres. The rapid influx of Na⁺ ions generates an action potential through the opening of voltage-gated Na⁺ channels (yellow and green), which generate a brief change in the membrane potential (depolarisation). After reaching maximal depolarisation (peak action potential), voltage-gated Na⁺ channels are closed, followed by a slower efflux of K⁺ ions due to the opening of voltage-gated K⁺ channels (light blue) to restore the membrane potential (repolarisation). The action potential is generated at the initial segment of the axon and is propagated throughout the axon to communicate (synapse) with other neurons.

In pathological pain conditions, the firing threshold decreases, making neurons more susceptible to depolarisation (Figure 4B, yellow current). The alterations in the threshold in pathological pain are due to higher activity of different membrane receptors such as VGSCs or TRP channels. Changes in the activity of Nav channels also occur, making nociceptive neurons susceptible to depolarisation by low-intensity stimulus (no painful stimulus), reaching a higher amplitude of action potential (peak action potential). A higher amplitude *stimulus active a vast number of receptors generating a widespread action potential and, consequently, Ca²⁺ channel* that favours the release of a higher amount of neurotransmitter in the spinal cord, amplifying the initial pain stimulus, leading to an enhanced synaptic transmission.

1.4. Transmission in the central nervous system

Once the peripheral nociceptive nerve endings are activated and the action potential is generated, the information is transmitted toward the spinal cord through A δ and C fibres that synapse with projection neurons in the dorsal horn. The dorsal horn is divided into six physical references or laminae (Bars and Chitour, 1983; Falinower et al., 1994). Laminae I and II are the physical references of the most superficial laminae and the principal site of C fibre innervation, whereas A δ fibres synapse with secondary neurons in laminae III to V (Bleazard et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1994; Nakaya et al., 1994).

In the spinal cord, peripheral nociceptive neurons promote the release of neurotransmitters such as substance P (SP), Calcitonin Gene-Related Peptide (CGRP) and glutamate, in the synaptic space (dorsal horn), leading to activation of secondary neurons (Brierley and Linden, 2014). SP and CGRP activate the neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R) (Sakurada et al., 1992; 1995), and calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CALCRL/RAMP1), respectively (Barber and Vasko, 1996; Bonnet et al., 2015; Scuteri et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017). Glutamate activates the ionotropic α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptor (AMPA) and metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGlu 1 & 5) (Lax et al., 2014).

Activation of these receptors on the second order neuron leads to an excitatory postsynaptic potential (EPSP) (**Figure 5**) (Baccus, 1998; Jackman and Regehr, 2017). If this EPSP is greater than threshold it triggers an action potential that travels through the anterolateral funiculus (spinothalamic tract) towards the brainstem (reticular formation, nucleus coeruleus, tectum and periaqueductal grey matter) and the thalamus (posterolateral and posteromedial ventral nucleus). From the thalamus, a third neuron (**second synapse**) is projected to the somatosensory cortex S1 and insular cortex (**Figure 2**) (Barber and Vasko, 1996; Kuner, 2010; Vergouts et al., 2017), where the brain will determine the location and intensity of the stimulus. Additionally, the nociceptive information also travels to the superior centre (brain) via the amygdala and hypothalamic spinoparabrachial tract (Buritova et al., 1998), both of which are involved with reactions related to pain including fear, memory and emotional behaviour.

Pain transmission is also modulated by interneurons (also known as association neurons), which are found exclusively in the CNS. Interneurons acts as an intermediate between primary sensory and secondary neurons, modulating neuronal activity by releasing the neurotransmitter gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), which decrease the firing and restore the resting state of neurons. In

Addition, inhibitory interneurons in the spinal cord are considered as a new pharmacological target. Pharmacological modification of interneurons overall modifies the tone of activity of this subset of neurons that may gate of amplify outputs in the spinal cord leading to a much greater analgesic effect (Hughes and Todd, 2020).



Physiological pain

Figure 5. Pain Pathway, first synapse. The primary afferent neurons release glutamate, substance P and CGRP to activate second order neurons. Glutamate binds to the a-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazoleproprionic acid receptor (AMPA), N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), and G protein-coupled metabotropic receptors (mGlu). In acute pain, NMDAR remains inactive due to magnesium bind to the core. Pathological pain is characterised by the enhanced release of glutamate, substance P and CGRP. The maintained nociceptive stimulation triggers the release of magnesium from the NMDA core, enhancing a short burst of low-medium frequency stimuli signal, that results into an exacerbated long-lasting post-synaptic strength or increase in the intensity of the action potential.

2. Pathological pain: transition from acute to chronic pain

Chronic pain is associated with structural and functional changes to pathways leading from the periphery to the brain such as increases in long-term potentiation at synapses and neuronal hypersensitivity resulting in **persistent pain**. Persistent pain can be caused by permanent nerve injury (e.g., following significant physical injury such as occurs in a car crash), or chronic inflammatory insult such as occurs in osteoarthritis. The change from acute to pathological pain is explained by modifications that are known to occur at different levels of the nociceptive pathway that ultimately lead to enhanced conduction of nociceptive information. Also known as **synaptic facilitation**, the processes that lead to such pathological states are described below.

2.1. Dysregulation of pain transmission: the periphery

In the periphery, repetitive noxious stimulation can promote to prolonged inflammation through activation of immune cells and subsequent release of pro-inflammatory molecules like lipids and cytokines. Exposure to these mediators can lead to hyperexcitability of nociceptive fibres (peripheral sensitisation). This can create a series of changes in the periphery by increasing primary afferent receptor signalling, leading to changes such as increased activity of protein kinase A and C (**PKA**, **PKC**) and extracellular signal-regulated kinases (**ERK**) (Barber and Vasko, 1996; Kuner, 2010; Vergouts et al., 2017) and upregulation of voltage-gated sodium channels and **TRP channel** expression and activity (Honda et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2007; Patapoutian et al., 2009). Collectively, these changes ultimately lead to a reduced **threshold** for activation of nociceptive neurons and hyperalgesia as described above (Ji and Woolf, 2001; Woolf and Salter, 2000). Increased afferent activity can also lead to enhanced production and release of neurotransmitters such as SP and CGRP in the periphery and spinal cord to promote neurogenic inflammation and amplify pain signalling, respectively (Chapman et al., 2008; D'Mello and Dickenson, 2008; Hunt and Mantyh, 2001).

The modifications outlined above create a positive feedback loop where the release of neurotransmitters triggers the further release of inflammatory mediators. This results in sustained activation even in the absence of the original noxious stimulus and increases responsiveness and promotes spontaneous activation of peripheral nociceptive endings. Inflammatory mediators such as bradykinin, histamine, and prostaglandins activate their respective GPCRs, leading to TPR sensitisation of pain pathways {Zhang:2007kh, Shim:2007jz, Bandell:2004td, Poole:2013es}. In addition, associated downstream signalling through PKA and PKC can modulate the sensory neuron

activity by phosphorylation of voltage-gated sodium channels and **TRP channels** (discussed in detail in section 4.2). This phosphorylation increases the excitability of the nociceptor by decreasing the threshold of sodium and TRP channels, leading to prolonged neuronal depolarisation and enhanced neuronal responses (Luo et al., 2008) (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Molecular mechanisms underlying dysregulated pain transmission. A) Phosphorylation of membrane receptors (sensitisation) by PKC and PKA, leads to changes in receptor threshold. B) Changes in synaptic settings (upregulation of channels and neurotransmitter release), increases the synthesis of neurotransmitter in the pre-synaptic neurons and/or increase of receptor in the post-synaptic membrane. The increase of synaptic strength leads to chronic pain. Taken and modified from (Kuner, 2010, Permission License Number; 5297640962247)

2.2. Central sensitisation: the spinal cord

In addition to the modification observed in the periphery, under chronic pain conditions the spinal cord undergoes extensive modifications such as **i**) increase in the release of classic neurotransmitters like glutamate and SP (Drdla and Sandkühler, 2008; Toyoda et al., 2009), **ii**) release of BDNF and ATP (Melemedjian et al., 2013; Panja and Bramham, 2014; Wang et al., 2016) **iii**) phosphorylation of membrane receptors (Kuner, 2010; Schröder et al., 2009; Tingley et al., 1997), **iv**) changes to the configuration of membrane receptors (Luo et al., 2008), increase in the synthesis of ionotropic receptors (Clapham, 2003; Hinman et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2007; Patapoutian et al., 2009), **vi**) increase of calcium in the post synaptic terminal (Luo et al., 2008), **vii**) synthesis and release of nitric oxide, **viii**) activation of microglia and astrocytes (Clark et al., 2007; Pascual et al., 2012; Trang et al., 2012; Wodarski et al., 2009), **iix**) changes in the regulatory activity of inhibitory interneurons (Hughes and Todd, 2020; Yam et al., 2018), and **ix**) the focus of this thesis, the capability of GPCRs to signal from intracellular compartments and participate in pain transmission (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas

et al., 2018; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Retamal et al., 2019; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017).

It is also essential to highlight the importance of the spinal N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDAR), given that its activity is associated with chronic pain states (Lipton, 2004; Paoletti and Neyton, 2007). NMDAR is an ionotropic glutamate receptor and nonselective ion channel that **remains inactive during acute pain states** due to magnesium binding to specific sites on the receptor, which blocks the passage of cations through this channel (Mayer et al., 1984; Nowak et al., 1984). However, maintained nociceptive stimulation causes a strong depolarisation of secondary neurons, leading to a massive influx of ions that create changes in the membrane potential, promoting the removal of magnesium from the NMDAR channel (**Figure 5**). Activated NMDAR enhances post-synaptic strength, turning a low intensity stimulus into an exacerbated long-lasting stimulus (days to months, (Constandil et al., 2011; Fang-Hu et al., 2015; Gao and Ji, 2010; Gomes et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2007; Hide et al., 2000; Suzuki, 2004; Wagner and Myers, 1996; Zhang et al., 2008) (**Figure 1 & Figure 5**).

Neuroglial cells in the spinal cord (microglia and astrocytes) also play an essential role in developing and maintaining chronic pain. In the late 1990s, our knowledge about pain focused solely on the role and importance of neurons, while microglia were considered only resident macrophages of the CNS (Gosselin et al., 2010). However, many studies now indicate that neuroglial cells are critical players in the modulation of neuronal network excitability (Aldskogius and Kozlova, 1998; Eyo and Dailey, 2013; Gao and Ji, 2010; Gao et al., 2010b; Inoue, 2017; Kobayashi et al., 2008; Milligan and Watkins, 2009; Trang et al., 2012).

In normal conditions, microglia and astrocytes are in a resting or quiescent state and are present in all adult spinal cord and brain regions at relatively high density (Jinno et al., 2007; Long et al., 1998). At primary stages of inflammation, neuroglial cells can be converted to reactive states and participate in the pathogenesis of neurological disorders. Microglia and astrocytes express a wide range of membrane receptors, and as a consequence, glial cells can sense neuronal activity, allowing bidirectional communication with neurons (Harry and Kraft, 2012; Pocock and Kettenmann, 2007). Activated microglial cells release a wide range of substances such as small molecules (reactive oxygen species, nitric oxide), chemokines, prostaglandins, and neurotrophic factors (BDNF). Whereas activation of astrocytes promotes release of glutamate, d-serine and ATP as well as prostaglandins and neuropeptides (Constandil et al., 2011; Fang-Hu et al., 2015; Gao and Ji, 2010; Gomes et al.,

2013; Guo et al., 2007; Hide et al., 2000; Suzuki, 2004; Wagner and Myers, 1996; Zhang et al., 2012). All these molecules can control and or modify neuronal function, enhancing neuronal excitability, up-regulating NMDA receptors, and down-regulating inhibitory receptors such as GABA receptors.

The majority of drugs used in the clinic to manage and regulate chronic pain target the receptors expressed in the membrane of cells in the spinal cord. However, none of the currently available drugs effectively manage chronic pain and most have side-effects that limit their use.

2.3. Dysregulation in the interpretation of pain: processing in the brain and descending pathways

The modifications and dysregulations that occur in the brain under pain states are not fully understood. However, imaging analysis such as radiological, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and positron emission tomography have revealed important centres and some changes that occur following onset of sensitisation. These changes are directly associated with clinical observations in the thalamus (Saab and Barrett, 2016), middle/anterior insula, anterior cingulate cortex and prefrontal cortex (Ong et al., 2019), periaqueductal grey (PAG) and rostral ventromedial medulla (RVM) (descending pathway) (Mills et al., 2018) and reticular formation (regulating descending pathways) (Martins and Tavares, 2017).

All these centres are associated with one or more pathophysiological changes in the brain. However, these centres are strongly correlated with dysregulation that can affect somatosensory discrimination, autonomic and sensory coordination, changes in affective and motivational components of pain, anxiety and depression-induced pain and psychological stressors that accentuate pain intensity (Becker et al., 2018). In addition, the most common and problematic issues associated with chronic pain is substance misuse and addiction to pain killers (Corbett et al., 2006; Devulder et al., 2005).

3. G Protein-Coupled Receptors in the synaptic facilitation of pain

3.1. G protein-coupled receptors: classification, structure and signalling

GPCRs are the largest superfamily of transmembrane receptors, characterised by seven transmembrane domains linked within three intracellular and extracellular loops of various lengths (Stevens et al., 2013). Genetic analysis found more than 800 GPCR sequences in humans (Fredriksson et al., 2003), and it is estimated that GPCRs are involved in almost every physiological and pathophysiological process. GPCRs are well-established therapeutic targets, with 475 drugs approved

by the FDA that act on 108 unique GPCR targets and more than 321 agents in clinical trials (Hauser et al., 2017; Lagerström and Schiöth, 2008).

GPCRs are involved in almost all physiological processes acting as mediators and/or modulators detecting a wide range of stimuli from physical stimuli to neurotransmitters, hormones, cytokines and chemical signals (Ca^{2+} , H^+) (Rosenbaum et al., 2009). The principal function of GPCRs is to sense these diverse extracellular stimuli and transduce these signals into a cellular response. These responses are mediated by binding or "coupling" to specific intracellular effector proteins known as heterotrimeric G proteins, leading to the modulation of downstream effector proteins (Downes and Gautam, 1999; Lagerström and Schiöth, 2008; Rosenbaum et al., 2009).

G proteins are comprised of three subunits; $G\alpha$, $G\beta$ and $G\gamma$, and according to genetic analysis, sixteen genes encode $G\alpha$ subunits, five genes encode $G\beta$ subunits, and twelve genes encode $G\gamma$ subunits. The $G\alpha$ -subunits are formed by two domains: a GTPase domain that catalyses the hydrolysis of GTP and a helical domain that bind the GTP within the core of the protein. In the quiescent state, the α -subunit binds to guanosine diphosphate (GDP) in the core. Upon ligand binding to the GPCR, a conformational change occurs in the GPCR structure leading to G protein recruitment, resulting in the exchange of GDP by GTP. The exchange triggers the reorganisation and dissociation of the G $\alpha\beta\gamma$ complex into G α and G $\beta\gamma$ units, leading to subsequent stimulation of downstream effector proteins such as adenylyl cyclase, phospholipase C (PLC) and RhoGEF (Cabrera-Vera et al., 2003; Offermanns, 2003; Stevens et al., 2013). Each unit (G α and G $\beta\gamma$) can exert independent functions, eliciting a variety of signalling cascades (Oldham and Hamm, 2008; Tuteja, 2009) (**Figure 7**). Most of these processes are known to contribute to signalling pathways associated with sensory processes and pain transmission. G proteins are classified into four groups based on their similarity in the α subunits; G $\alpha_{12/13}$, G α_s , G $\alpha_{i/o}$ and G $\alpha_{q/11}$ (Cabrera-Vera et al., 2003; Downes and Gautam, 1999; Offermanns, 2003; Rosenbaum et al., 2009).

Activation of GPCRs associated with Gαs proteins stimulates adenylyl cyclase activation, leading to increased intracellular production of **cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)** through ATP hydrolysis. cAMP binds and activates downstream effectors like protein kinase A (PKA), which can phosphorylate various transcriptional factors, such as cAMP element-binding protein (CREB), or ion channels. An examples of GPCRs coupled to Gαs involved in pain is the CLR/RAMP receptor, postulated as the key mediator in primary migraine and the bradykinin 1 and 2 (B1-2) receptors which

are associated with inflammatory pain and itch (Geppetti et al., 2015; Lennerz et al., 2008; Moore and Salvatore, 2012).



Figure 7. Classical G protein-dependent signalling by GPCRs. Agonist binding, G-protein exchange GDP by GTP, eliciting the dissociation of the G-protein trimeric complex into G α and G $\beta\gamma$ leading to the formation of a complex formed by agonist bound GPCR and G α subunit. Several effectors are activated depending on the G α subunit recruited. Activation of effector results in the increase of second messenger molecules, such as cAMP, calcium and pERK. The final outcome is the activation of transcription factor in the nucleus.

GPCRs that activate G α i/o protein, inhibit adenylate cyclase activity reducing cAMP production, and decreases PKC activity (Taussig et al., 1993). G α i and G α o family members regulate multiple physiological processes such as leukocyte chemotaxis and neuronal growth in inflammatory and sensory pathways. In terms of pain, GPCRs that mediate analgesia such as cannabinoid, opioid and GABAb receptors activate G α i/o signalling (Glass and Northup, 1999; Padgett and Slesinger, 2010; Rios et al., 2006; Senese et al., 2020).

GPCRs coupled to $G\alpha_q$ directly activate **phospholipase C (PLC)**. PLC catalyses the cleavage of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2) into inositol trisphosphate (IP3) and diacylglycerol

(DAG). IP3 acts on IP3 receptors found in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to mobilise Ca²⁺ and DAG activates PKC (Sweitzer et al., 2004; Tingley et al., 1997). Both IP3 and DAG are key players in regulating multiple physiological processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, channel regulation and gene transcription. GPCRs coupled to $G\alpha_q$ are the biggest group of receptors that participate in pain, and include the NK₁R and mGlu 1&5 (Honda et al., 2017; Laird et al., 2001; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Teodoro et al., 2013; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). The P2Y receptor 1, 2 and 4 (P2Y1-2 & 4), and chemokine CXC motif receptors (CXCR) both associated with glial cell activation in neuropathic pain (Akgün et al., 2015; Foster et al., 2011; Kobayashi et al., 2008; Trang et al., 2012; Tressel et al., 2011; Tsuda et al., 2009; Zhou et al., 2016).

The G $\alpha_{12/13}$ family, known as gap proto-oncogenes, highly overexpressed in breast, prostate and liver cancers (Kelly et al., 2006a; 2006b; Suzuki et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2020) as well as with cell migration and invasion. GPCRs coupled to G $\alpha_{12/13}$ activate Rho GTPase nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) and phospholipase D (PLD) and mediate diverse cellular functions through RhoGEF-RhoA pathway (Kozasa et al., 1998; Siehler, 2009; Suzuki et al., 2009). G $\alpha_{12/13}$ activation is associated with cellular effectors like the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger (Hooley et al., 1996). An example of GPCRs associated with G $\alpha_{12/13}$ in pain and inflammation are the Protease-Activated Receptor 1 and 2 subtypes (PAR1, 2), particularly PAR1 and 2 in inflammatory pain (Amadesi et al., 2004; Arora et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2007; Poole et al., 2013; Tillu et al., 2015).

Particularly in pain, GPCRs associated with G_s (CLR/RAMP1) and G_q (NK₁R, mGluR5) coupling are the most significant receptor reported to participate in pain. The main effectors are the activation of PKA and PKC, which phosphorylate key proteins that enhance the physiological activity of nociceptors such as TRP channels and other ionotropic receptors. This mechanism plays a critical role in nociceptive changes in peripheral and central sensitisation (Amadesi et al., 2006; Barber and Vasko, 1996; Decosterd and Woolf, 2000; Tingley et al., 1997; Vergouts et al., 2017; Willis, 2001; Zhang et al., 2007).

3.2. Trafficking of GPCRs

Trafficking of GPCRs is a crucial component of their activity cycle. GPCRs can trigger G proteindependent or independent signalling. However, this signalling is not maintained indefinitely but is instead regulated by the trafficking-dependent processes of receptor endocytosis, degradation, recycling and resensitisation. First, a ligand binds to its cognate GPCR in the extracellular space, then the GPCR bound to its ligand undergoes endocytosis mediated by clathrin/dynamin or caveolin/dynamin-dependent mechanisms or by clathrin and caveolin independent mechanisms (**Figure 8**). Once located in endosomes (pH 6.8-5.9), the receptor is dissociated from its agonist, neuropeptides are degraded by peptidases under the acidic condition of endosomes, interrupting the signalling. Dissociated receptors can follow two possible routes: targeting to lysosomes for degradation or recycling back to the plasma membrane, known as resensitisation. Resensitisation is a highly regulated system that plays an essential role in modulating GPCR signalling.

GPCRs can also be affected by the process of desensitisation. This process is described as the loss of response after prolonged or repeated administration of an agonist (Hausdorff et al., 1990; Kelly et al., 2008). Desensitisation can be classified as homologous and heterologous desensitisation.

Homologous desensitisation is characterised by the loss of response to agonists that act at a specific GPCR subtype (Kelly et al., 2008). This desensitisation can occur via phosphorylation of GPCRs on multiple residues by GRKs and favours β -arrestin recruitment and subsequent internalisation (Kelly et al., 2008; Magalhaes et al., 2012; Shukla et al., 2014). In contrast, heterologous desensitisation is a more generalised effect that involves loss of agonist responsiveness at multiple GPCR subtypes (Kelly et al., 2008). Heterologous desensitisation can happen when activating one GPCR desensitises a second GPCR through a phosphorylation-dependent mechanism or by auto-phosphorylation of the second messenger proteins PKA and PKC (Hausdorff et al., 1990; Kelly et al., 2008; Tuteja, 2009).



Figure 8. Endocytosis pathway. Scheme of endocytosis mediated by clathrin/dynamin and caveolin/ dynamin dependent internalisation and clathrin and caveolin independent internalisation. All these internalisation mechanisms may result in formation of early endosomes (EE). EE-associated receptors can be directed to either recycling or late endosomes (Gould and Lippincott-Schwartz, 2009. Permission License Number 5297640662952).

3.3. Endosomes: compartmentalised signalling by internalised GPCRs

The trafficking mechanisms described above suggest that all GPCR signalling terminates following endocytosis. For many years, GPCRs signalling was exclusively delimited to the plasma membrane, and internalisation was a mechanism through which GPCRs signalling was ended. However, it is now

accepted that endocytosis can also promote new and unique signalling by GPCRs.

Although the concept of GPCR signalling from the endosomal network is novel, the first receptor described to signal from endosomes was the receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), particularly the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and insulin receptor (IR) (Baass et al., 1995; Di Guglielmo

et al., 1994). Later, it was observed that upon nerve growth factor (NGF) stimulation, the tyrosine kinase A receptor (trkA) was able to signal from endosomes (Grimes et al., 1996, 1997; Beattie et al., 2000). Posterior work reinforced the concept of endosomal signalling by showing that another RTK, the platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) was also found to elicit a biological response

from their endosomal location (Pennock and Wang, 2003).

Toll-like receptors such as TLR3, TLR4 and TLR9 are also shown to redistribute in endosomes for optimal innate immune responses (Johnsen et al., 2006; Kagan et al., 2008) and the importance of

redistribution is exemplified by the disruption of TLR4 signalling elicited by the inhibition of TLR4 endocytosis (Kagan et al., 2008).

Similarly, studies on the β 2-adrenergic receptor (β_2AR) and thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR) revealed that unique, sustained signalling profiles were associated with internalised GPCRs (Daaka et al., 1998; Calebiro et al., 2009; Werthmann et al., 2012). Later work demonstrated similar endosomal-mediated signalling responses in the parathyroid hormone receptor (PTHR) and V2 vasopressin receptor (V2R)(Ferrandon et al., 2009; Feinstein et al., 2013; Wehbi et al., 2013). The first evidence that endocytosis can promote acute GPCR-G protein signalling was demonstrated for the D1 dopamine receptor (DRD1) with a prompt, acute and reversible form of G protein activation in endosomes (Kotowski et al., 2011)

Upon agonist stimulation, the receptor stabilises in an active conformation by interacting with G proteins to induce signalling (described in the previous section). This signalling is transient and derived from the activation of GPCRs at the plasma membrane (**Figure 9, point 1-3**). The GPCRs are then phosphorylated by GPCR kinases (GRKs), leading to the recruitment of β -arrestin (β ARRs). The association of β ARRs with GPCRs initiates receptor internalisation through clathrin interaction with the endocytic machinery (**Figure 9, point 4 & 5**). Once the GPCR reaches the endosomes, associated neuropeptide ligands, such as SP, are degraded by peptidases under these acidic conditions (Roosterman et al. 2007, Padilla et al. 2008). Endosomal GPCRs can continue to signal, promoting activation of second messenger molecules such as PKC and ERK1/2 (**Figure 9**, point 5), which can then regulate nuclear events (Pavlos and Friedman, 2017; Thomsen et al., 2018).

For GPCRs, the first evidence that endocytosis can promote distinct GPCR signalling was demonstrated for the D1 dopamine receptor (DRD1) with a prompt, acute and reversible form of G protein activation in endosomes. In addition to the DRD1, parathyroid hormone receptor (PTHR), vasopressin type 2 receptor (V2R), thyroid-stimulating hormone receptor (TSHR), luteinizing hormone receptor (LHR), sphingosine-1-phosphate 1 receptor (S1PR1), neurokinin type 1 receptor (NK1R), calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR), and C-C chemokine receptor-1 (CCR1) have been reported to signal from the endosomal network upon ligand stimulation (Pavlos and Friedman, 2017; Thomsen et al., 2018).



Figure 9. Compartmentalised signalling by GPCRs in endosomes. 1. Agonist binding at the plasma membrane stabilises GPCRs through interaction with heterotrimeric G proteins, triggering the plasma membrane signal. 2. GPCR kinases phosphorylate GPCRs. 3. Recruitment of β ARRs that then bind the GPCR core, 4. clathrin and AP2 bind to mediate GPCR endocytosis. 5 and 6. GPCRs continue to signal in endosomes to promote prolonged endosomal signalling, which can regulate nuclear events (Thomsen et al., 2018).

The GPCRs known to contribute to pain signalling can also signal from endosomes are discussed extensively in Chapter 2 of this PhD thesis

3.4. GPCRs involved in nociception.

Immune and non-immune cells associated with sites of injury respond to tissue damage by releasing an inflammatory soup that is composed of monoamine transmitters, pro-inflammatory cytokines, and peptides. This inflammatory soup produced by infiltrating and resident immune cells can activate a variety of receptor such as ionotropic channels and GPCRs that sensitise primary afferent neurons and contribute to pain hypersensitivity. Many of these GPCRs have been investigated as potential therapeutic targets for pain and some of the most relevant GPCRs are summarised in **Table 1** below.

Table 1. Summary of key excitatory and inhibitory GPCRs involved in pain.

Receptor Family	Agonist	Mechanism	Localisation	Reference
		Excitatory recep	otors	
Prostaglandin Receptor 1 – 4 (EP ₁₋₄)	Prostaglandin (PGE1-2), Prostacyclin (PGI2)	↑ PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Jang et al., 2020; Kanai et al., 2007; Lin et al., 2006; Sarkar et al., 2003)
Histamine Receptor 1 - 4 (HR ₁₋₄)	Histamine (Monoamine)	HR1:↑PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Coruzzi et al., 2007; Khalilzadeh et al., 2018; Obara et al., 2020; Raffa, 2001; Rosa and Fantozzi, 2013)

Metabotropic glutamate Receptor 1 & 5 (mGlu _{1/5})	Glutamate	↑ PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Fisher and Coderre, 1996; Honda et al., 2017; Osikowicz et al., 2013; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017)
Protease-activated Receptor 2 (PAR ₂)	Trypsin, Tryptase, Elastase, Cathepsin S	↑ GEF/PLD/Rho	PNS	(Amadesi et al., 2004; 2006; Bao et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2015; Grant et al., 2007; Poole et al., 2013; Tillu et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2016; Zhao et al., 2014)
Neurokinin 1 Receptor (NK1R)	Substance P (SP), Neurokinin A/B (NKA, NKB)	↑ PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Grimes et al., 1996; Howe et al., 2001b; Iadarola et al., 2017; Jensen et al., 2017; Laird et al., 2001; Lee and Kim, 2007; Mai et al., 2021; Mantyh, 2002; Marlin and Li, 2015; Ramírez- García et al., 2019; Yoshimura and Yonehara, 2006)
Calcitonin receptor-like Receptor (CRLR)	Calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP)	↑ AC/cAMP/PKA	CNS, PNS	(Bell, 2014; Moore and Salvatore, 2012; Scuteri et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017)
Angiotensin Receptor 1 (AT ₁ R)	Angiotensin II	↑ PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	PNS	(Anand et al., 2013; 2015; Danser and Anand, 2014; Shepherd et al., 2018a; 2018b; Smith et al., 2013a; 2013b)
Bradykinin Receptor 1 & 2 (B ₁ R & B ₂ R)	Bradykinin	↑ PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Bandell et al., 2004; Hall, 1997; Huang and Player, 2010; Steranka et al., 1988)
5-Hydroxytryptamine Receptor 1 - 7 (5-HT ₁₋₇)	Serotonin (5-HT)	5-HT₂a:↑PLC/IP3, DAG/PKC	CNS, PNS	(Ayme-Dietrich et al., 2017; Cortes-Altamirano et al., 2018; Koo and Balaban, 2006; Nascimento et al., 2011; Rocha-González et al., 2005; Sasaki et al., 2006)
Inhibitory receptors				
γ-Aminobutyric acid type B receptors (GABAB)	Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)	↓ AC/cAMP/PKA	CNS & PNS	(Enna, 1997; Liu et al., 2018; Malcangio, 2018; Martins et al., 2015)
Mu, Delta and kappa Opioid Receptor (MOR, DOR, KOR)	MOR: enkephalins & endorphins, KOR: Dynorphins, DOR: Enkephalins	↓ AC/cAMP/PKA	CNS & PNS	(Cahill and Coderre, 2002; Chen et al., 2014; Corbett et al., 2006; Przewłocki and Przewłocka, 2001; Scherrer et al., 2009; Vanderah, 2010)
Cannabinoid 1 & 2 receptors (CB1R & CB2R)	Anandamide, 2- Arachidonoylglycerol	↓AC/cAMP/PKA	CNS & PNS	(Freeman et al., 2019; Korzh et al., 2008; Lossignol, 2019; Romero-Sandoval et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2008)

*CNS: central nervous system; *PNS: peripheral nervous system; *↑ increase; *↓ decrease; *PLC: phospholipase C, *IP3: inositol trisphosphate, *DAG: diacylglycerol, *PKC: Protein Kinase C, *AC: adenylyl cyclase, *cAMP: cyclic adenosine monophosphate, *PKA: Protein Kinase A, *GEF: Guanine nucleotide exchange factors, *PLD: phospholipase D, *Rho: Rho factor.

The research presented in this thesis will focus on signalling by NK₁R and mGlu₅, and more detailed information for these specific receptors is provided in the compartmentalised signalling section.

3.5. Compartmentalised signalling by nociceptive GPCRs

In the pain field, it has been recently described that the signalling and trafficking of GPCRs plays an important role in determining the pain signalling profile. For example, the protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR₂) (Defea et al., 2000), calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR){Padilla:2007cd} and the neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R) {Cattaruzza:2009fb, Pelayo:2011gt, Roosterman:2007gk} elicit a signal from the endosomes and is this endosomal signalling the one that mediates pain transmission (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Yarwood et al., 2017). In addition to PAR₂, CLR

and NK₁R, the metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5), have been recently shown to signal from the nuclear membrane in chronic pain models (O'Malley et al., 2003; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017).

The endosomal network is positioned both temporally and physically between the plasma membrane and other organelles such as the nucleus and lysosomes. In addition, their organised structural network of physically and biochemically distinct membranous domains favours compartmentalised signalling (**Figure 8 & Figure 9**). Temporal regulation enables different activation profiles, which are dependent on the trafficking kinetics of agonist-stimulated receptors. Upon agonist stimulation, some receptors are rapidly redistributed into endosomes and their signalling from this location is dependent on the proportion of receptors undergoing degradation compared to those being recycled.

We know that GPCR signalling is not plasma membrane delimited. Instead, it is a highly dynamic event that can also occur in subcellular compartments, where many internalised receptors can continue to signal from intracellular locations (Defea et al., 2000; Grimes et al., 1996; Irannejad et al., 2017; Jensen et al., 2014; 2017; Tsvetanova et al., 2015; Vilardaga et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016). Moreover, these signalling events are distinct from those originating at the plasma membrane and regulated by different mechanisms (Geppetti et al., 2015; Jensen et al., 2014; Murphy et al., 2009; Tsvetanova et al., 2015).

This PhD thesis will discuss the contribution of compartmentalised signalling by NK₁R and mGlu₅ receptors to pain transmission. Opportunities to therapeutically exploit these signalling and trafficking relationships will be reviewed in detail below.

3.6. The Neurokinin 1 Receptor (NK₁R) in pain

NK₁R is a GPCR with the highest affinity for the neuropeptide substance P (SP) (Rupniak et al., 2018). NK₁R is predominantly distributed in immune cells, endothelial cells, myenteric neurons and neurons of the PNS and CNS, where SP stimulation can induce plasma leakage, inflammation and pain transmission (Bleazard et al., 1994; Garcia-Recio and Gascón, 2015; King et al., 2005; Laird et al., 2001; Mantyh et al., 2002).

The importance of NK₁R in pain transmission has been studied *in vivo* by the intrathecal administration of various NK₁R antagonists. These studies demonstrated their ability to reduce hyperalgesia initiated by tissue/nerve injury or inflammation in different pain models such as intraplantar injection of carrageenan, formalin or capsaicin (King et al., 2005; Laird et al., 2001; Liu et al., 1994; Liu and Sandkühler, 1997; Mansikka et al., 1999; Santos and Calixto, 1997; Teodoro et
al., 2013). In addition, electrophysiological studies using spinal cord slices have shown that antagonists of the NK₁R can suppress long-term potentiation (LTP) of afferent nociceptive neurons, demonstrating that NK₁R is necessary for the induction of C-fibre evoked spinal facilitation (Coste et al., 2008; Liu and Sandkühler, 1997; Ramírez-García et al., 2019).

Electrophysiological studies indicate that inflammatory pain triggered by capsaicin or formalin increases intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} in DRG neurons, releasing SP in the spinal cord followed by the depolarization of secondary neurons through activation of non-selective cation channels and PKC (Ito et al., 2002). In addition, inhibition of the PKC ϵ isoform decreased capsaicin-stimulated release of glutamate and CGRP in spinal cords and associated pain behaviour. In contrast, the PKC γ isoform contributes to formalin-induced nociception (Sweitzer et al., 2004).

The relevance of NK₁R in pain transmission has been studied using SP conjugated to the ribosome inactivating protein (Saporin; SP-SAP). SP selectively targets NK₁R+ spinal neurons that carry nociceptive signals, and saporin (effector molecule) destroys the targeted neuron. The administration into the intrathecal space, suggests that SP-SAP selectively destroys pain-transmitting neurons, reducing pain sensation in animal models (Nichols et al., 1999; Wiley and Lappi, 1997). Following the same strategy, SP conjugated to *Pseudomonas* exotoxin (SP-PE35) selectively ablates NK₁R expressing cells in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord but not NK₂R or NK₃R expressing neurons when administered in the subarachnoid space. The specific deletion of NK₁R using this approach robustly attenuated thermal and mechanical pain and inflammatory hyperalgesia (Iadarola et al., 2017).

Immunolabeling studies in the spinal cord indicated that the highest density of SP and NK₁R positive nociceptive neurons are found in lamina I and to a lesser extent in lamina II of the dorsal horn (Sakurada et al., 1992; 1995). In addition, Mantyh *et al.*, described that acute noxious stimulation by SP or capsaicin induced the **internalisation of NK₁R** in the soma of neurons in lamina I and in dendrites located in lamina III and IV in the spinal cord of rats (Mantyh et al., 1995a; 1995b; 1997).

The cell surface metalloendopeptidase neprilysin degrades SP in the extracellular space, which limits NK₁R activation and terminates its actions at the cell surface (Sturiale et al., 1999). However, once SP bound to NK₁R, the activated receptor interacts with β ARRs, which mediates receptor desensitisation and endocytosis (McConalogue et al., 1999). NK₁R recycling and resensitisation requires endosomal acidification and receptor dephosphorylation, promoting dissociation of β ARRs to initiate its return to the plasma membrane (Garland et al., 1996). In the recycling and resensitisation process, the metalloendopeptidase endothelin-converting enzyme 1 (ECE-1) degrades SP-bound to

 NK_1R in acidified early endosomes, disrupting SP- NK_1R - $\beta ARRs$ complex, resulting in rapid NK_1R recycling to the plasma membrane {Cattaruzza:2009fb, Cottrell:2009hk, Pelayo:2011gt, Jensen:2014ju, Roosterman:2007gk}.

Jensen *et al.*, ({Jensen:2017et}) explored the signalling by NK₁R located in endosomes. Their findings suggest that the NK₁R can signal from the plasma membrane and endosomes. NK₁R located in endosomes increases nuclear ERK, cytosolic PKC, and cytosolic cAMP (Jensen et al., 2017). In addition, the administration of the dynamin GTPase activity inhibitor (Dyngo4A) prevented sustained SP-induced excitation of neurons in spinal cord slices, and reduced nociception in the capsaicin model of evoked pain. Furthermore, conjugation of cholestanol (a flexible PEG linker of 27 carbon atoms length) to the NK₁R antagonist Spantide blocked NK₁R endosomal signalling and prolonged the antinociceptive effect of spantide.

The synthesis of NK₁R antagonists started in 1990 due to the high expression of NK₁R and SP in the CNS and its association with several pathologies like depression, anxiety, emesis and pain (Duffy, 2004). Currently available in the market, aprepitant is the first antagonist of NK₁R approved by the FDA (2003, Emed®, Merck) to prevent postoperative and chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (Quartara and Altamura, 2006; Quartara et al., 2009). Aprepitant was demonstrated to be efficacious as an analgesic drug in preclinical studies using animal models of pain. However, like many other NK₁R antagonists, aprepitant was ineffective in managing pain in humans (Quartara et al., 2009). It is postulated that the low efficacy of NK₁R antagonist for managing pain may be due to lack of access to the receptor population located in endosomes directly related to pain transmission.

These findings provide evidence to support the important role that endosomal signalling of the NK₁R plays in pain transmission and identifies endosomal NK₁R as a new target to develop strategies to deliver antinociceptive drugs into intracellular compartments to relieve pain.

3.7. The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGlu₅) in pain

Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGlu₅) is classified as a group I excitatory mGlu receptor, together with mGlu₁. mGlu₅ is mainly distributed in many regions of the brain, spinal cord, and sensory neurons (Alvarez et al., 2000; Vidnyánszky et al., 1994). mGlu₅ plays important roles in the brain such as synaptic plasticity, pain, learning and memory (Pin and Duvoisin, 1995). Dysregulations of mGlu₅ signalling is associated with several pathologies including bipolar disorder (Blacker et al.,

2017), neurodegenerative diseases (Akkus et al., 2017; Berry-Kravis et al., 2018; Ribeiro et al., 2017), and pain (Kotecha et al., 2003; Lax et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017).

The participation of mGlu₅ in pain has been studied using the selective group I mGluR agonist, (R,S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG). The administration of DHPG causes instantaneous thermal and mechanical pain in control mice that is reduced by the mGlu₅ antagonist, 2-methyl-6-(phenylethynyl) pyridine hydrochloride (MPEP) (Fisher and Coderre, 1996). In addition to MPEP, Fenobam, a potent mGlu₅ **negative allosteric modulator (NAM)**, is reported to have a robust analgesic effect in models of sciatic nerve ligation and inflammatory pain (Fisher and Coderre, 1996; Honda et al., 2017; Lax et al., 2014; Neugebauer, 2002).

Recently, mGlu₅ was found in intracellular compartments, particularly in the inner **nuclear membrane and cytosol** in neuropathic and inflammatory pain model. The activation of nuclear mGlu₅ leads to sustained nuclear Ca^{2+} responses and increased phosphorylated-ERK1/2 (pERK) and c-Fos in the nucleus (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Furthermore, the blockade of intracellular, but not plasma membrane mGlu₅, reduced pERK and Ca^{2+} in the nucleus and suppressed pain behaviour (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). In addition, the authors described that blocking the **neuronal glutamate transporter** (EAAT3) produced analgesia and decreased c-Fos expression, whereas blocking glial glutamate transporters (EAAT1 & 2) increased pain behaviour and c-fos expression (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Importantly, both studies demonstrated that internalised populations of mGlu₅ are involved in pain behaviours, supporting the concept that internalised GPCRs may play an important role in pain transmission.

Glutamate (endogenous orthosteric ligand of mGlu₅) is recognised by ionotropic, metabotropic receptors as well as transporters, and due to the high sequence similarity in the orthosteric binding site with other mGlu receptors, targeting allosteric binding pockets of mGlu₅ has emerged as a promising drug discovery strategy (Gregory and Goudet, 2021; Harpsøe et al., 2015; Leach and Gregory, 2017). Allosteric modulators interact with sites that are distinct from the orthosteric site, allowing simultaneously binding of both an orthosteric and an allosteric ligand to the receptor (Gregory and Goudet, 2021; Neubig et al., 2003). Allosteric modulators that enhance the affinity or efficacy of an orthosteric ligand are known as positive allosteric modulators (PAM), and those that inhibit are known as negative allosteric modulators (NAM) (Neubig et al., 2003).

Negative allosteric modulators (NAMs) of mGlu₅ diminish glutamate induced receptor responses in animal models, indicating that mGlu₅ inhibition is a viable therapeutic strategy for the treatment of

several pathologies, including pain (Akkus et al., 2017; Berry-Kravis et al., 2018; Matosin et al., 2017; Osikowicz et al., 2013; Pałucha-Poniewiera et al., 2013; Pereira and Goudet, 2018; Rook et al., 2015). Exciting advances in medical chemistry in the recent years have generated numerous allosteric modulators of mGlu₅. However, at the present fenobam is the best characterised and most commonly used mGlu₅ NAM with demonstrated anti-nociceptive effects in a broad range of models of inflammatory, neuropathic, and visceral pain in rodents (Crock et al., 2012a; 2012b; Lax et al., 2014; Montana et al., 2011; Pereira and Goudet, 2018; Roppe et al., 2004; Vincent et al., 2016). The anti-nociceptive effect of fenobam in pre-clinical models of pain provides strong support for the hypothesis that mGlu₅ modulates nociceptive sensitisation in humans.

Recently, a double-blind placebo-controlled study in humans utilising a model of cutaneous sensitisation by capsaicin cream evaluated pharmacokinetics and analgesic effects of fenobam (Cavallone et al., 2020). The study indicates that fenobam is highly tolerated after oral administration but present at highly variable plasma concentrations. In addition, fenobam was associated with a transient reduction in the area of hypersensitivity when plasma concentration were at their peak, but did not produce any persistent anti-hyperalgesic or anti-nociceptive effect compared to placebo (Cavallone et al., 2020). Thus, the variability in the effect of fenobam in human and rodent studies may be due to multiple factors, including the plasma concentration and receptor occupancy, reduced drug effect in humans relative to rodents or, as observed by Vincent and colleagues, mGlu₅ expression and signalling from intracellular location in pain conditions. However, a detailed investigation into the process of internalisation and signalling from intracellular locations such as the endosomes remain unexplored. Chapter 4 of this PhD thesis will explore the endosomal signalling of mGlu₅ that could open a new target alternative to design novel therapeutic agents.

4. GPCR- TRP channels interactions

Sensory nerves are equipped with receptors and ion channels to detect and respond to diverse thermal, mechanical, and chemical noxious stimuli. These receptors include GPCRs and TRP ion channels. GPCRs can modulate the activity of TRP that are involved in pain transmission (Chen et al., 2016; Peng et al., 2020; Poole et al., 2013; Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014; Zhao et al., 2014). Thus, it is imperative to understand how GPCRs can influence the activity of TRP channels and how GPCRs may contribute to pain and inflammation through TRP sensitisation.

TRPs are a group of non-selective cation channels located generally in the plasma membrane, allowing ions to pass in and out of the cell. TRP channels are formed by four similar subunits, each with six transmembrane domains and intracellular N and C termini (Clapham, 2003). Some of the members of the TRP family are the vanilloid (TRPV1, 2, 3 & 4), melastatin (TRPM2 & 8) and ankyrin (TRPA1) channels (Sun and Dong, 2016; Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014). TRP channels play critical roles in various sensory functions, such as thermal, mechanical, pain, itch, and chronic inflammation (Chai et al., 2017; Clapham, 2003; Sun and Dong, 2016; Veldhuis et al., 2015). For example, TRPV1 and TRPA1 are implicated in the transduction of GPCR activation into membrane depolarisation in nociceptive neurons (Ding et al., 2010; Honda et al., 2017).

TRP channels are a major downstream effector of GPCR signalling, and the GPCR-TRP axis is vital for pain, itch, cough, neurogenic inflammation and oedema (Basbaum et al., 2009; Bautista et al., 2006; Grace et al., 2014a; 2014b; Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014). The signal emanated from activated-GPCRs (protein kinases) can alter TRP channel activity or even increase the expression of TRP channels at the cell surface. GPCR signalling can generate mediators that stimulate and directly activate TRP channels (GPCR-TRP channel coupling) or enhance their responsiveness to TRP activators, a process known as TRP sensitisation (Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014).

The sensitivity to a ligand, and the magnitude and duration of TRP activation can be augmented by functional interactions (termed 'coupling') with GPCRs. These interactions are bidirectional, where the functional coupling of a GPCR to an ionotropic channel such as TRPs can lead to augmentation of GPCR signalling (Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014). GPCRs alter TRP activity by two general mechanisms: G_{α} -mediated activation of phospholipases C and A2 (PLC, PLA2) to cleave fatty acids and generate endogenous activators of TRPs such as arachidonic acid (AA) and phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP2). The second mechanism is through activation of PKC and PKA Serine/threonine kinases that phosphorylate the intracellular C-tail of the TRPs to increase cell surface expression and activity (Amadesi et al., 2004; 2006; Geppetti et al., 2015; Meents et al., 2017; Peng et al., 2020; Poole et al., 2013; Premkumar and Ahern, 2000; Veldhuis and Bunnett, 2014; Zhao et al., 2014).

The ability of GPCRs to alter TRP activity is illustrated through the interactions between PAR₁/PAR₂ and TRPV4 (Grant et al., 2007; Peng et al., 2020; Poole et al., 2013). PAR activation can sensitise TRPV4 through channel phosphorylation and enhance TRPV4 signalling through the production of endogenous TRPV4 activators (e.g., arachidonic acid and 5',6'-EET) (Amadesi et al., 2006; Grant et

al., 2007; Poole et al., 2015). On the other hand, TRPV4 activity augments PAR1- and PAR2dependent signalling, and this bidirectional PAR-TRPV4 relationship play an important role in PARevoked oedema (Grace et al., 2014a; Peng et al., 2020; Poole et al., 2013). Another example is the histamine receptor 1 (H₁R) that activates TRPV1 in sensory neurons by activating the PLC/PKC and PLA2/fatty acid-pathways, leading to scratching in mice (Kim et al., 2004; Shim et al., 2007).

Chapter 5 of this PhD thesis describes a novel mechanism through which TRPV4 contributes to 5- HT_{2A} -induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract, with evidence supporting a mechanism of action involving SP and CGRP release.

5. Current treatment for pain: Pain management

Worldwide, pain is one of the principal reasons for seeking medical care, where the main reasons are pain associated with surgery, severe illness, joint pain, osteoarthritis, migraine, trauma, childbirth, and burns (Dahlhamer et al., 2018; Mills et al., 2019). Surveys have identified that between 17-30% of adults suffer pain at any given time, with increasing prevalence with advancing age, where more than 40% of patients report insufficient relief of moderate to high levels of pain (Brennan et al., 2007; Dahlhamer et al., 2018; Goldberg and McGee, 2011; Johannes et al., 2010; Millan, 1999; Mills et al., 2019; Nahin, 2015; Vargas et al., 2018). In recent years, many significant advances in basic and clinical pain research have been made. However, the analgesic landscape has not changed dramatically due to the limited availability of effective analgesic agents and the potential abuse of routinely prescribed drugs (Blanch et al., 2014; Dowell et al., 2016; Goodman and Brett, 2017; Retamal et al., 2019). Thus, there is a critical need for more effective and safer analgesics to manage pain.

Pain affects more than 70 million adults in the USA alone (Becker et al., 2018; Gaskin and Richard, 2012; Johannes et al., 2010), with an estimated economic cost of between \$560 and \$635 billion annually (Gaskin and Richard, 2012). In Australia, the government spent more than \$270 million in treatments related to opioid usage in 2012 only (Blanch et al., 2014). In recent years, the misuse of pain medications has grown (Schuchat et al., 2017), emphasizing the critical need to develop new pain medicines with greater efficacy and better safety profiles (Dowell et al., 2016; Goodman and Brett, 2017).

In the midst of a growing opioid crisis, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has recommended that clinicians consider other medications before turning to opioids for patients with chronic non-cancer pain (Goodman and Brett, 2017). The CDC guidelines also recommended for

safety, and logistical reasons, approved drugs that are currently used for other indications to treat pain as co-adjuvant drugs (e.g., anti-depressants and gabapentinoids (Cooper et al., 2017; Kremer et al., 2016)) as first-line agents for neuropathic pain. However, these recommendations may also lead to safety concerns through excessive usage of gabapentinoids to manage pain (Goodman and Brett, 2017; Johansen, 2018), where their misuse is normally associated with euphoria (Schjerning et al., 2016). Thus, there is an urgent need for effective novel or alternative analgesic agents to advance beyond current mainstay therapies in the clinic.

The most utilised analgesics in the clinic involve non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), paracetamol, cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors (coxibs) and opioids. Acute pain is largely and effectively managed by NSAIDs (Ibuprofen, naproxen, etc.) and low doses of opioids (morphine, tramadol). However, these drugs have low and poor efficacy or are associated with significant side-effect liabilities treating chronic pain, as demonstrated in many types of cancer, neuralgia and arthritis (Mantyh et al., 2002).

Nevertheless, the chronic usage of coxibs and NSAIDs have cardiovascular and gastrointestinal side effects (Blanch et al., 2014; Whelton, 2000a), while paracetamol carries a risk of hepatotoxicity with excessive use (Mahadevan et al., 2006). Opioids have well-known side effects, such as tolerance, dependence, nausea, vomiting, constipation, and respiratory depression. In chronic pain cases, the persistent sensation of pain requires long-term administration of analgesics, which exacerbates side effects and can lead to treatment suspension (Blanch et al., 2014; Gerra et al., 2004).

On the other hand, the development of new treatments for pain is challenging because animal pain models **i**) do not represent the complexity of clinical pain conditions and **ii**) do not assess subjective pain experiences; **iii**) preclinical data provide little assurance regarding the direction of new analgesic development; and **iv**) clinical trials routinely use specific population groups and fail to capture the multi-factorial nature of chronic pain (Mao, 2012).

Currently, access to proper treatments to modulate pain is still a major medical challenge. However, despite the advances in medicinal chemistry, with thousands of morphine analogues and structurally distinct opioids, there has not been an appreciable improvement in diminishing the undesired side effects of opioid analgesics (Che and Roth, 2021).

5.1. Paracetamol, NSAIDs and Coxibs

Paracetamol is a para-aminophenol used for the treatment of acute pain. In the clinic, paracetamol is normally administered in addition to opioids as a strategy to reduce opioid consumption and as a synergic combination to manage pain (Busse et al., 2020; Gatti et al., 2010). Additionally, its combination with NSAIDs or caffeine has been shown to be more effective than either paracetamol or NSAID alone (Maund et al., 2011).

NSAIDs are very effective analgesics in various acute pain states. For example coxibs are effective for postoperative pain, lower back pain and inflammatory pain (Bian et al., 2018; Maund et al., 2011; Ramachandran et al., 2012). When given in combination with opioids after surgery, coxibs and NSAIDs reduced opioid consumption more effectively than paracetamol (Gatti et al., 2010; Ramachandran et al., 2012). The primary concern with coxibs and NSAID use is the high dose and dosing frequency required, which can lead to potential renal, cardiovascular and gastrointestinal side effects (Mahadevan et al., 2006; Maund et al., 2011; Whelton, 2000b).

5.2. Local anaesthetics

Local anaesthetics are another strategy to achieve analgesia without a loss of consciousness. Local anaesthetics can be classified into ester (e.g. benzocaine, procaine) or amine (e.g. bupvicaine, lidocaine) anaesthetics, among many others. (Elliott et al., 2019). Local anaesthetics are effective for managing acute and some types of chronic pain, such as neuropathic pain (Elliott et al., 2019). For example, intravenous administration of lignocaine or lidocaine are effective in providing analgesia after a wide range of surgeries (Barreveld et al., 2013). Despite their effectiveness, all local anaesthetics require frequent administration, and they exhibit neurotoxicity when given in high concentrations for a prolonged period (Jevtovic-Todorovic, 2016).

5.3. Tricyclic antidepressant and gabapentinoids

Tricyclic antidepressants (TCAs) and gabapentinoids can be safe and effective alternatives to relieve pain. Since the 1980s, clinical trials have confirmed the benefit of TCA to relieve post-herpetic neuropathic pain (Watson et al., 1982) as well as painful diabetic polyneuropathy (Max et al., 1987; Micó et al., 2006; Perahia et al., 2006). The effectiveness of TCAs may be mediated by the upregulation and release of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 by peripheral monocytes and macrophages and by increasing inhibitory GABA_b function (Liu et al., 2018; McCarson et al., 2006; Sud et al., 2008).

Gabapentinoids, which include gabapentin and pregabalin, have proved to be clinically effective in several neuropathic pain conditions (Finnerup et al., 2015). Gabapentin, which is FDA approved for post-herpetic neuropathic pain, was initially developed to be an anticonvulsant agent. Gabapentin binds selectively to the $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of voltage-dependent calcium channels (VDCCs) (Li et al., 2011; Zamponi et al., 2015), which mediates Ca²⁺ channel influx and neuronal hyperexcitability (Field et al., 2006; Gee et al., 1996; Matsuzawa et al., 2014). In the clinic, antidepressants and gabapentinoids exhibit an efficient antiallodynic/antihyperalgesic effect in neuropathic pain, diabetic polyneuropathy, and arthritis {Martins:2015es, Goodman:2017dia, Liu:2018hc}.

5.4. NMDA receptor antagonists

NMDA is an ionotropic receptor activated by the excitatory neurotransmitter glutamate, which is released centrally after noxious peripheral stimuli (Chizh and Headley, 2005). The NMDA receptor has been associated with hyperalgesia, neuropathic pain, and reduced functionality of opioids (Brenner et al., 2004; Paoletti and Neyton, 2007; Willis, 2001). There are several drugs with NMDA receptor antagonist activity used in the clinic, including ketamine, memantine and amantadine (Hewitt, 2000; Kreutzwiser and Tawfic, 2019). Ketamine is the most well-established NMDA antagonist. It is routinely used in the treatment of pain and is effective in neuropathic and cancerrelated pain (Mercadante et al., 2000; Visser and Schug, 2006). However, ketamine use remains a secondary option due to the significant side effects such as hallucinations, confusion, drowsiness and transient loss of consciousness (Allen and Ivester, 2017).

Type of analgesic	Examples	Mechanism of action
Opioids	Codeine, Fentanyl, Hydromorphone, Methadone, Morphine, Oxycodone, Tramadol	↑ MOR, DOR, KOR
Non-selective NSAIDS and Coxibs	Aspirin, Paracetamol, Celecoxib, parecoxib	↓ COX ₁₋₂ ↓ prostaglandins and prostacyclin
Local anaesthetics	Lidocaine, procaine, mexiletine, Ropivacaine	↑ GABA _A , \downarrow NMDA
NMDA-receptor antagonists	Ketamine, dextromethorphan, amantadine, memantine	↓ NMDA
Antidepressant medicines	Amitriptyline, Desipramine, duloxetine, venlafaxine, Milnacipran	\downarrow VDCCs, \uparrow GABA _b
Anticonvulsant medicines	Gabapentin, pregabalin, sodium valproate, carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine	↓ VDCCs

Table 2. Summary of key analgesic classes used in the clinic.

cannabinoids and cannabimimetic	Nabiximols, Dronabinol, nabilone, Cannador	↑ CB ₁₋₂
Corticosteroids	Dexamethasone, betamethasone, methylprednisolone, prednisolone, ketorolac	\downarrow Prostaglandin, phospholipase

* \uparrow increase activity, * \downarrow decrease activity

5.5. Corticosteroids

In the clinic, dexamethasone, betamethasone, methylprednisolone, prednisolone, and ketorolac are the most utilised corticosteroids for pain management. Corticoids reduce pain by inhibiting prostaglandin synthesis and inhibiting phospholipase, which leads to reduction of the inflammation and vascular permeability that promote tissue oedema (Vyvey, 2010). Corticosteroids are particularly useful as adjuvant therapy for metastatic bone pain, neuropathic pain, and visceral pain (Koh et al., 2013). However, corticosteroid usage is associated with fluid retention and electrolyte imbalances, bone demineralisation, gastrointestinal disease, and impaired glucose metabolism (Grennan and Wang, 2019).

6. New pharmacological strategies to relieve pain.

Opioids are the most widely used and effective drugs available to manage pain. However, the chronic use of opioids is associated with a wide range of detrimental and debilitating side effects, leading to the need to develop or redesign currently available drugs to manage pain without side effects associated with their usage. Many new strategies and drug discovery programs have been initiated to identify novel targets and develop improved analgesics. Some of these new strategies will be discussed below.

6.1.1 Chemical modification to target the mu opioid receptor (MOR)

Pain associated with tissue damage or inflammation is often characterised by acidosis, decreasing the acidity in the injured area (pH < 7). The decrease of pH allows for redesigning agonists of the mu opioid receptor (MOR) to bind the receptor only under acid conditions. Protonation of the MOR agonist fentanyl is essential for binding to the MOR and its dissociation constant (pK_a) of 8.43, allows it to be in its protonated form at physiological pH. Fluorination of fentanyl lowered its pK_a to 6.8, allowing the protonation to occur at pH 6.8, hence leading to activity only in conditions of acidosis (Thurlkill et al., 2005). This new molecule, NFEPP, has been successfully used in animal models of peripheral nerve injury, sciatic nerve injury, and abdominal pain, where a decrease of side effects

associated with the usage of fentanyl was observed (Jiménez-Vargas et al., 2021; Machelska and Celik, 2018; Spahn et al., 2017).

6.1.2 Bivalent and Bifunctional ligands

Chemokine receptor 5 (CCR5), CB1, and mGluR5 are some examples of GPCRs co-expressed with MOR on nociceptive neurons (Maguire and France, 2014; Rios et al., 2006; Schröder et al., 2009).

Bivalent hybrid (bivalent ligands) compounds have emerged as a safe strategy to manage pain while decreasing opioid-related side effects (Cataldo et al., 2019; Foster and Conn, 2017; Le Naour et al., 2013; Machelska and Celik, 2018; Peterson et al., 2017). Based on the evidence of co-expression of different excitatory and inhibitory GPCRs on nociceptive neurons, bivalent ligands have been structurally designed to simultaneously deliver an opioid agonist with a GPCR antagonist. Bivalent ligands are comprised of pharmacophores of mu agonist (oxymorphamine) connected to mGlu₅ antagonist (MPEP), CB1 inverse agonist (Rimonabant) or CCR5 antagonist (TAK220) through a spacer linker of varying length (20-22 atoms) to target MOR heteromers (Akgün et al., 2013; 2015; 2019; Guillemyn et al., 2015; Le Naour et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2017; Starnowska et al., 2017).

The effectiveness of MOR agonists is increased upon co-administration of an antagonist for another GPCR such as mGlu5 or CCR5, which is associated with decreased MOR phosphorylation, internalisation and desensitisation (Schröder et al., 2009). Bivalent hybrid compounds are effective at decreasing pain behaviour in models of inflammatory pain, bone cancer pain and chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy, and decreasing side effects associated with opioid usage (Akgün et al., 2015; 2019; Cataldo et al., 2019; Guillemyn et al., 2015; Le Naour et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2017; Starnowska et al., 2017).

6.1.3 Gene therapy

Gene therapy or gene transfer refers to introducing, expressing, silencing, or interfering DNA or RNA in a specific tissue or cell. There are three possible gene therapy approaches: i) cell-based therapies, such as transplantation of transformed cells, ii) delivery of plasmid or oligonucleotides, encapsulated in liposomes and, iii) packaging in viral-based vectors (Guedon et al., 2015; Li and Samulski, 2020).

Viral vectors, normally based on herpes simplex virus-1 (HSV-1), have been used to transfer the enkephalin precursor proenkephalin (PENK) gene in the dorsal root ganglia, leading to decreased pain in capsaicin, formalin and bone cancer pain models (Goss et al., 2001; 2002; Wilson et al., 1999). In addition, the HSV-1-vector has been used to deliver mRNA to express anti-inflammatory cytokines

such as IL-4, IL-10 and L-13 (Hao et al., 2003; Meunier et al., 2005). Recently, adeno-associated virus (AAV) vector was used to encode glutamate decarboxylase 65 (GAD65), glial cell-derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF) and IL-10 genes, showing a potent efficacy in spared nerve injury model by decreasing inflammation and fibre hyperexcitability that provides long-lasting analgesia (Kim et al., 2020).

7. Targeting endosomal signalling using nanoparticles

Over the last 20 years, nanomaterials and nanoparticles have been developed and investigated as drug carriers due to their ability to improve existing treatments by enhancing drug tolerability, circulation half-life and specificity (Ojea-Jiménez et al., 2013; Uhrich et al., 1999). Nanoparticles have been designed using a wide number of different materials, variable in chemical nature that can be classified into four categories; i) carbon nanostructures, ii) polymeric-based, iii) lipid-based and iv) inorganic nanocarriers (Hawkins et al., 2008).

When we think about targeting and blocking at specific locations, the first issue are the spatial aspects of delivery. With this concept in mind, nanoparticles and nanomaterials are designed and developed to interact in a biological environment and respond to specific stimuli such as changes in pH (e.g., reduced pH in endosomes or in tissues such as the gastrointestinal tract or solid tumours), temperature or oxygen concentration. Once nanoparticles interact with their stimuli, an environmentally-induced 'change to the properties of the material' typically leads to the release of the loaded drug at the target site (Gao et al., 2010a; Hawkins et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2012).

To achieve spatially-directed delivery, nanocarriers must reach the bloodstream for sufficiently long periods to accumulate in the target tissue. However, nanocarriers are susceptible to opsonisation (capability of the immune system to recognise and coat antigens or exogenous bodies with antibodies for further elimination), retention and clearance, impeding accumulation. One strategy to overcome this difficulty is to coat nanocarriers with water-soluble polymers, increasing the molar mass and biocompatibility, reducing kidney clearance, and preventing opsonisation by the immune system (Owens and Peppas, 2006).

The use of nanocarriers offers an advantage of controlling and prolonging drug release and a stable drug concentration maintained in the therapeutic range for an extended period of time, decreasing drug toxicity. Overall, nanocarriers enhance the pharmacokinetics of drugs by maintaining a stable

drug concentration in the target tissue that avoids toxic peaks and side effects, reduces the frequency of administration, and protects the drug from degradation.

7.1.1 Nanomedicine and endosomal targeting to achieve analgesia pain

At present, there are over 50 FDA-approved nanomedicines for drug delivery, of which only five are indicated for the treatment of pain. SkyePharma Inc. develops DepoDur, the first FDA-approved liposome-based nanoparticles that increase drug release time, which are used for loading morphine sulphate. DepoDur is a liposome injection indicated to treat postoperative pain following major surgical procedures (Gambling et al., 2005).

Another example is Exparel, a liposome-based nanoparticle for prolonged-release of the local anaesthetic bupivacaine. The ensemble of bupivacaine into liposome increases the time-release effects by 72 hours (Richard et al., 2012). Exparel administration resulted in reduced length of hospitalisation, hospital cost per patient, opioid consumption and necessity for postoperative narcotic medications.

Transdermal or oral transmucosal systems for the prolonged release of fentanyl are also approved and are currently available marketed as DURAGESIC and Actiq, respectively. DURAGESIC is indicated for the management of moderate to severe chronic pain. Meanwhile, Actiq is indicated for breakthrough pain in cancer patients (Beiranvand and Sorori, 2019; Bulbake et al., 2017; Saraghi and Hersh, 2013).

In preclinical studies, Poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA), nanocarriers loading tramadol hydrochloride and functionalised with the glycoproteins transferrin and lactoferrin, enhanced the pharmacological effect and circulation times of tramadol (Lalani et al., 2013). Another key example is the use of PLGA-ketamine as an adjuvant for neuropathic pain, as the PLGA formulation increases the analgesia time of ketamine up to 34h (Han et al., 2018; 2015).

Polymeric nanocarriers (poly-e-caprolactone and polyethene glycol) loaded with minocycline (an antibiotic with microglial inhibition activity) were tested in a spinal cord injury model. Nanocarriers decreased the expression of IL-6 in the spinal cord, decreasing hyperalgesia and thermal allodynia in rodents (Papa et al., 2013).

Subcellular compartments such as endosomes and lysosomes can be targeted using nanocarriers to release and increase intracellular drug accumulation without disrupting endosomes. For example, pH-responsive nanoparticles targeting endosomes take advantage of the acidic pH of endosomes as a triggering stimulus to deliver a drug and effectively block endosomal signalling. Another example of

nanoparticles targeting organelles in the cells are LED light-responsive nanoparticles to target the nucleus (Liu et al., 2021; Peng et al., 2017; Zelmer et al., 2020).

The CLR/RAMP1, NK₁R and PAR₂ are demonstrated to mediate nociceptive signals from their endosomal location (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Yarwood et al., 2017). Ramírez-García *et al.*, showed that by selectively targeting endosomal receptors by pH-responsive nanoparticles, superior analgesia is achieved. Importantly, these studies repurpose clinically approved drugs for other conditions to target endosomal targeting selectively.

Nevertheless, several requisites need to be fulfilled in order to target endosomal signalling effectively. First, the drug needs to be able to cross the plasma membrane. Second, the drugs need to enter into the endosomes and remain for a sufficient period to effectively block the receptor to decrease its signalling without disrupting the endosome formation and structure.

One strategy to achieve this goal is to use lipidated antagonists to promote endosomal delivery and retention. Drugs are conjugated to membrane lipids, such as cholestanol that anchors to the plasma membrane allowing antagonist passive internalisation. An example is proposed by Jensen *et al.* (2017). Here, the authors used a cholestanol conjugated-NK₁R antagonist (Spantide) for endosomal delivery, promoting incorporation into endosomes to block pain transmission (Jensen et al., 2017). Additional studies by Yarwood *et al.* and Jimenez-Vargas *et al.* supported the utilisation of conjugated antagonists for the successful targeting of endosomal CLR/RAMP1 and PAR₂ receptors, respectively (Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Yarwood et al., 2017). However, one of the disadvantages of this strategy is the slow internalisation rate of cholestanol conjugated-drugs that required at least 3 h for accumulation into endosomes *in vitro* (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Mai et al., 2021; Yarwood et al., 2017). A suitable alternative for selective drug delivery into endosomes is the use of nanoparticles. However, to successfully achieve endosomal delivery, nanoparticle disassembly must be fast, and it must also respond to subtle changes of pH encountered in the endosomes.

The studies presented in this PhD thesis provide proof of the concept that nanotechnology may have potential utility in targeting or redistributing drug cargo to specific location in the cells, such as endosomes, to achieve greater drug efficacy and kinetics. I have focused on delivery drugs to pain-transmitting GPCR targets in the central nervous system, which warrants some discussion about the challenges of administration routes and limitations of drugs or nanomaterials that can pass the BBB. Approximately more than 98% of small molecules and most large molecules cannot reach the brain through the blood-brain barrier (Arvanitis et al., 2020). While it is known that some small molecules

can pass the blood-brain barrier, including the NK1R antagonist Aprepitant that was studied in Chapter 3 (Ramírez-García et al., 2019), their ability to target specific cellular membranes is a potential limitation for achieving maximal efficacy and therefore poses a challenge for finding the balance between dose and safety. To address this, nanotechnology has emerged as a potential solution for increasing drug concentrations in specific cellular sites or tissues. Indeed, there are an increasing number of studies that support this concept, and this includes programs focused on developing new therapies via improved brain delivery (Teleanu et al., 2018; Asefy et al., 2021).

Drug targeting and delivery to the brain represent critical challenges due to the blood-brain barrier, being a tightly regulated series of cells that enable uptake of required nutrients while protecting the brain against foreign substances, including pathogens and therapeutic agents (Patel and Patel, 2017). BBB is formed by the brain microvascular endothelial cells, and the blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier, comprised of the epithelial layer of choroid plexus, the cerebral ventricles, and the arachnoid mater covering the outer brain surface (Teleanu et al., 2018). Some of the main routes for nanoparticles delivery to the central nervous system includes nasal and systemic administration (Teleanu et al., 2018).

Nanomaterials can also be engineered in various ways to optimize BBB permeability. This includes chemical modification through addition of targeting ligands, for example, with conjugation to molecules such as albumin, or by making nanoparticles that a small enough to freely move across the BBB through junctions (between cells) or via transcellular pathways, typically following uptake into the endothelial endocytic network. In our studies, nanoparticles were injected direct to the spinal cord to avoid the low nanoparticles permeability through the BBB and enhance nanoparticles disposition on the CNS.

In this thesis, nanoparticles were administered directly into the spinal cord avoiding problem with the nanoparticles the crossing the BBB. However, if you were progress this further as a therapeutic, approaches such as these would be critical, given that intrathecal administration is a challenging drug administration route in the clinic, that is typically avoided and only used in extreme cases of chronic pain.

The pathways for delivering therapeutic agents to the brain can either be invasive or non-invasive. The non-invasive administration strategies are based on the anatomical structure of the brain capillaries, vessels that form a tight barrier as a part of a neurovascular unit, that includes pericytes and astrocytes, and extracellular environment ^{3,5,}(Bernardo-Castro et al., 2020)

Nanotechnology is an emerging field that encompasses knowledge from multiple disciplines and represents the capacity to manipulate and control matter at atomic levels. Therefore, the implication of nanotechnology for the development of non-invasive drug delivery strategies could lead to the design of novel and improved formulations to enhance the delivery of therapeutic agents across the blood-brain barrier (Dong, 2018; Wu et al., 2019). However, further research is needed to understand and mediate the blood-brain barrier crossing mechanisms and improve brain delivery methods' efficiency using nanotechnology.

Chapter 4 demonstrates that mGlu5 signals from endosomes, and that this signalling depends on the nature of the agonist used and their availability in the cytosol. Additionally, we demonstrated that pH-responsive nanoparticles loaded with a mGlu5 NAM are a potent tool to modulate pain transmission by decreasing neuronal excitability and nociceptive neuron firing compared to free drug *in vivo*.

Lastly, Chapter 5 expands our understanding of GPCR-TRP interactions, particularly how the serotonin subtype 2A receptor ($5HT_{2A}$) interacts with TRPV4 to enhance vascular permeability in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract *in vivo*.

This thesis demonstrates the importance of endosomal signalling in pain transmission and supports the utilisation of pH-responsive nanoparticles as a promising tool for endosomal targeting of receptors. Additionally, endosomal signalling by receptors may explain the failure of many drugs at the clinical level. Finally, this thesis also investigates the GPCR-TRP axis, a crucial interaction in pain and inflammation, where the interaction of TRPV4 contributes to 5-HT_{2A}-induced plasma extravasation, with evidence supporting a neurogenic mechanism of action. Our novel findings open new opportunities for therapeutic drugs to decrease inflammation.

8. References

Akgün, E., Javed, M. I., Lunzer, M. M., Powers, M. D., Sham, Y. Y., Watanabe, Y., et al. (2015). Inhibition of Inflammatory and Neuropathic Pain by Targeting a Mu Opioid Receptor/Chemokine Receptor5 Heteromer (MOR-CCR 5). *J. Med. Chem.* 58, 8647–8657. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01245.

Akgün, E., Javed, M. I., Lunzer, M. M., Smeester, B. A., Beitz, A. J., and Portoghese, P. S. (2013). Ligands that interact with putative MOR-mGluR5 heteromer in mice with inflammatory pain produce potent antinociception. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 11595–11599. doi:10.1073/pnas.1305461110.

Akgün, E., Lunzer, M. M., and Portoghese, P. S. (2019). Combined Glia Inhibition and Opioid Receptor Agonism Afford Highly Potent Analgesics without Tolerance. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 10, 2004–2011. doi:10.1021/acschemneuro.8b00323.

Akkus, F., Treyer, V., Ametamey, S. M., Johayem, A., Buck, A., and Hasler, G. (2017). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 neuroimaging in schizophrenia. *Schizophr. Res.* 183, 95–101. doi:10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.008.

Aldskogius, H., and Kozlova, E. N. (1998). Central neuron-glial and glial-glial interactions following axon injury. *Progress in Neurobiology* 55, 1–26.

Allen, C. A., and Ivester, J. R. (2017). Ketamine for Pain Management-Side Effects & Potential Adverse Events. *Pain Manag Nurs* 18, 372–377. doi:10.1016/j.pmn.2017.05.006.

Alvarez, F. J., Villalba, R. M., Carr, P. A., Grandes, P., and Somohano, P. M. (2000). Differential distribution of metabotropic glutamate receptors 1a, 1b, and 5 in the rat spinal cord. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 422, 464–487.

Amadesi, S., Cottrell, G. S., Divino, L., Chapman, K., Grady, E. F., Bautista, F., et al. (2006). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes TRPV1 by protein kinase Cepsilon- and A-dependent mechanisms in rats and mice. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 575, 555–571. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.111534.

Amadesi, S., Nie, J., Vergnolle, N., Cottrell, G. S., Grady, E. F., Trevisani, M., et al. (2004). Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes the capsaicin receptor transient receptor potential vanilloid receptor 1 to induce hyperalgesia. *J. Neurosci.* 24, 4300–4312. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5679-03.2004.

Anand, U., Facer, P., Yiangou, Y., Sinisi, M., Fox, M., McCarthy, T., et al. (2013). Angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT2 R) localization and antagonist-mediated inhibition of capsaicin responses and neurite outgrowth in human and rat sensory neurons. *Eur J Pain* 17, 1012–1026. doi:10.1002/j.1532-2149.2012.00269.x.

Anand, U., Yiangou, Y., Sinisi, M., Fox, M., MacQuillan, A., Quick, T., et al. (2015). Mechanisms underlying clinical efficacy of Angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT2R) antagonist EMA401 in neuropathic pain: clinical tissue and in vitro studies. *Molecular Pain* 11, 38. doi:10.1186/s12990-015-0038-x.

Arora, P., Ricks, T. K., and Trejo, J. (2007). Protease-activated receptor signalling, endocytic sorting and dysregulation in cancer. J. Cell. Sci. 120, 921–928. doi:10.1242/jcs.03409.

Arvanitis, C. D., Ferraro, G. B., and Jain, R. K. (2020). The blood-brain barrier and blood-tumour barrier in brain tumours and metastases. Nat Rev Cancer 20, 26-41. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0205-x.

Asefy, Z., Hoseinnejhad, S., and Ceferov, Z. (2021). Nanoparticles approaches in neurodegenerative diseases diagnosis and treatment. Neurol Sci 42, 2653–2660. doi: 10.1007/s10072-021-05234-x.

Ayme-Dietrich, E., Aubertin-Kirch, G., Maroteaux, L., and Monassier, L. (2017). Cardiovascular remodeling and the peripheral serotonergic system. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* 110, 51–59. doi:10.1016/j.acvd.2016.08.002.

Baass, P. C., Di Guglielmo, G. M., Authier, F., Posner, B. I., and Bergeron, J. J. (1995). Compartmentalized signal transduction by receptor tyrosine kinases. *Trends Cell Biol* 5, 465–470. doi:10.1016/s0962-8924(00)89116-3.

Baccus, S. A. (1998). Synaptic facilitation by reflected action potentials: enhancement of transmission when nerve impulses reverse direction at axon branch points. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 8345–8350. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.14.8345.

Beattie, E. C., Howe, C. L., Wilde, A., Brodsky, F. M., and Mobley, W. C. (2000). NGF signals through TrkA to increase clathrin at the plasma membrane and enhance clathrin-mediated membrane trafficking. J Neurosci Official J Soc Neurosci 20, 7325–33

Bandell, M., Story, G. M., Hwang, S. W., Viswanath, V., Eid, S. R., Petrus, M. J., et al. (2004). Noxious cold ion channel TRPA1 is activated by pungent compounds and bradykinin. *Neuron* 41, 849–857.

Bao, Y., Hou, W., Liu, R., Gao, Y., Kong, X., Yang, L., et al. (2014). PAR2-mediated upregulation of BDNF contributes to central sensitization in bone cancer pain. *Molecular Pain* 10, 28. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-10-28.

Barber, L. A., and Vasko, M. R. (1996). Activation of Protein Kinase C Augments Peptide Release from Rat Sensory Neurons. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 67, 72–80.

Baron, R. (2006). Mechanisms of Disease: neuropathic pain—a clinical perspective. *Nat Rev Neurol* 2, 95–106. doi:10.1038/ncpneuro0113.

Barreveld, A., Witte, J., Chahal, H., Durieux, M. E., and Strichartz, G. (2013). Preventive analgesia by local anesthetics: the reduction of postoperative pain by peripheral nerve blocks and intravenous drugs. *Anesth. Analg.* 116, 1141–1161. doi:10.1213/ANE.0b013e318277a270.

Basbaum, A. I., and Fields, H. L. (1978). Endogenous pain control mechanisms: review and hypothesis. *Ann. Neurol.* 4, 451–462. doi:10.1002/ana.410040511.

Basbaum, A. I., Bautista, D. M., Scherrer, G., and Julius, D. (2009). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of pain. *Cell* 139, 267–284. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.09.028.

Bautista, D. M., Jordt, S.-E., Nikai, T., Tsuruda, P. R., Read, A. J., Poblete, J., et al. (2006). TRPA1 mediates the inflammatory actions of environmental irritants and proalgesic agents. *Cell* 124, 1269–1282. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.023.

Becker, S., Navratilova, E., Nees, F., and Van Damme, S. (2018). Emotional and Motivational Pain Processing: Current State of Knowledge and Perspectives in Translational Research. *Pain Res Manag* 2018, 5457870. doi:10.1155/2018/5457870.

Beiranvand, S., and Sorori, M. M. (2019). Pain management using nanotechnology approaches. *Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol* 47, 462–468. doi:10.1080/21691401.2018.1553885.

Bell, I. M. (2014). Calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor antagonists: new therapeutic agents for migraine. *J. Med. Chem.* 57, 7838–7858. doi:10.1021/jm500364u.

Bernardo-Castro, S., Sousa, J. A., Brás, A., Cecília, C., Rodrigues, B., Almendra, L., et al. (2020). Pathophysiology of Blood–Brain Barrier Permeability Throughout the Different Stages of Ischemic Stroke and

Its Implication on Hemorrhagic Transformation and Recovery. Front Neurol 11, 594672. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.594672

Berry-Kravis, E. M., Lindemann, L., Jønch, A. E., Apostol, G., Bear, M. F., Carpenter, R. L., et al. (2018). Drug development for neurodevelopmental disorders: lessons learned from fragile X syndrome. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 17, 280–299. doi:10.1038/nrd.2017.221.

Bian, Y.-Y., Wang, L.-C., Qian, W.-W., Lin, J., Jin, J., Peng, H.-M., et al. (2018). Role of Parecoxib Sodium in the Multimodal Analgesia after Total Knee Arthroplasty: A Randomized Double-blinded Controlled Trial. *Orthop Surg* 10, 321–327. doi:10.1111/os.12410.

Blacker, C. J., Lewis, C. P., Frye, M. A., and Veldic, M. (2017). Metabotropic glutamate receptors as emerging research targets in bipolar disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 257, 327–337. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2017.07.059.

Blanch, B., Pearson, S.-A., and Haber, P. S. (2014). An overview of the patterns of prescription opioid use, costs and related harms in Australia. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 78, 1159–1166. doi:10.1111/bcp.12446.

Bleazard, L., Hill, R. G., and Morris, R. (1994). The correlation between the distribution of the NK1 receptor and the actions of tachykinin agonists in the dorsal horn of the rat indicates that substance P does not have a functional role on substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience* 14, 7655–7664.

Bonnet, C. S., Williams, A. S., Gilbert, S. J., Harvey, A. K., Evans, B. A., and Mason, D. J. (2015). AMPA/kainate glutamate receptors contribute to inflammation, degeneration and pain related behaviour in inflammatory stages of arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 74, 242–251. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203670.

Brennan, F., Carr, D. B., and Cousins, M. (2007). Pain management: a fundamental human right. *Anesth. Analg.* 105, 205–221. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000268145.52345.55.

Brenner, G. J., Ji, R.-R., Shaffer, S., and Woolf, C. J. (2004). Peripheral noxious stimulation induces phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit at the PKC-dependent site, serine-896, in spinal cord dorsal horn neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* 20, 375–384. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03506.x.

Brown, J. L., Liu, H., Maggio, J. E., Vigna, S. R., Mantyh, P. W., and Basbaum, A. I. (1995). Morphological characterization of substance P receptor-immunoreactive neurons in the rat spinal cord and trigeminal nucleus caudalis. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 356, 327–344. doi:10.1002/cne.903560302.

Bulbake, U., Doppalapudi, S., Kommineni, N., and Khan, W. (2017). Liposomal Formulations in Clinical Use: An Updated Review. *Pharmaceutics* 9. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics9020012.

Buritova, J., Besson, J. M., and Bernard, J. F. (1998). Involvement of the spinoparabrachial pathway in inflammatory nociceptive processes: a c-Fos protein study in the awake rat. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 397, 10–28.

Busse, J. W., Sadeghirad, B., Oparin, Y., Chen, E., Goshua, A., May, C., et al. (2020). Management of Acute Pain From Non-Low Back, Musculoskeletal Injuries : A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis of Randomized Trials. *Ann Intern Med* 173, 730–738. doi:10.7326/M19-3601.

Cabrera-Vera, T. M., Vanhauwe, J., Thomas, T. O., Medkova, M., Preininger, A., Mazzoni, M. R., et al. (2003). Insights into G protein structure, function, and regulation. *Endocr Rev* 24, 765–781. doi:10.1210/er.2000-0026.

Cahill, C. M., and Coderre, T. J. (2002). Attenuation of hyperalgesia in a rat model of neuropathic pain after intrathecal pre- or post-treatment with a neurokinin-1 antagonist. *Pain* 95, 277–285.

Calebiro, D., Nikolaev, V. O., Gagliani, M. C., Filippis, T. de, Dees, C., Tacchetti, C., et al. (2009). Persistent cAMP-Signals Triggered by Internalized G-Protein–Coupled Receptors. Plos Biol 7, e1000172. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000172.

Cataldo, G., Erb, S. J., Lunzer, M. M., Luong, N., Akgün, E., Portoghese, P. S., et al. (2019). The bivalent ligand MCC22 potently attenuates hyperalgesia in a mouse model of cisplatin-evoked neuropathic pain without tolerance or reward. *Neuropharmacology*. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2019.04.004.

Cattaruzza, F., Cottrell, G. S., Vaksman, N., and Bunnett, N. W. (2009a). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 promotes re-sensitization of neurokinin 1 receptor-dependent neurogenic inflammation. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 156, 730–739. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00039.x.

Cattaruzza, F., Cottrell, G. S., Vaksman, N., and Bunnett, N. W. (2009b). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 promotes re-sensitization of neurokinin 1 receptor-dependent neurogenic inflammation. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 156, 730–739. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00039.x.

Cavallone, L. F., Montana, M. C., Frey, K., Kallogjeri, D., Wages, J. M., Rodebaugh, T. L., et al. (2020). The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 negative allosteric modulator fenobam: pharmacokinetics, side effects, and analgesic effects in healthy human subjects. *Pain* 161, 135–146. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001695.

Chai, Z., Chen, Y., and Wang, C. (2017). β -arrestin-1: Bridging GPCRs to active TRP channels. *Channels* (*Austin*) 11, 357–359. doi:10.1080/19336950.2017.1324003.

Chapman, C. R., Tuckett, R. P., and Song, C. W. (2008). Pain and stress in a systems perspective: reciprocal neural, endocrine, and immune interactions. *The Journal of Pain* 9, 122–145. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2007.09.006.

Che, T., and Roth, B. L. (2021). Structural Insights Accelerate the Discovery of Opioid Alternatives. *Annu Rev Biochem*. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-061620-044044.

Chen, D., Liu, N., Li, M., and Liang, S. (2016). Blocking PAR2 Alleviates Bladder Pain and Hyperactivity via TRPA1 Signal. *Translational Neuroscience* 7, 133–138. doi:10.1515/tnsci-2016-0020.

Chen, K., Zhang, Z.-F., Liao, M.-F., Yao, W.-L., Wang, J., and Wang, X.-R. (2015). Blocking PAR2 attenuates oxaliplatin-induced neuropathic pain via TRPV1 and releases of substance P and CGRP in superficial dorsal horn of spinal cord. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 352, 62–67. doi:10.1016/j.jns.2015.03.029.

Chen, W., McRoberts, J. A., and Marvizón, J. C. G. (2014). μ-Opioid receptor inhibition of substance P release from primary afferents disappears in neuropathic pain but not inflammatory pain. *Neuroscience* 267, 67–82. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.02.023.

Chizh, B. A., and Headley, P. M. (2005). NMDA antagonists and neuropathic pain--multiple drug targets and multiple uses. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 11, 2977–2994. doi:10.2174/1381612054865082.

Clapham, D. E. (2003). TRP channels as cellular sensors. Nature 426, 517–524. doi:10.1038/nature02196.

Clark, A. K., Yip, P. K., Grist, J., Gentry, C., Staniland, A. A., Marchand, F., et al. (2007). Inhibition of spinal microglial cathepsin S for the reversal of neuropathic pain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 10655–10660. doi:10.1073/pnas.0610811104.

Constandil, L., Aguilera, R., Goich, M., Hernández, A., Alvarez, P., Infante, C., et al. (2011). Involvement of spinal cord BDNF in the generation and maintenance of chronic neuropathic pain in rats. *Brain Research Bulletin* 86, 454–459. doi:10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.08.008.

Cooper, T. E., Heathcote, L. C., Clinch, J., Gold, J. I., Howard, R., Lord, S. M., et al. (2017). Antidepressants for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 8, CD012535. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012535.pub2.

Corbett, A. D., Henderson, G., McKnight, A. T., and Paterson, S. J. (2006). 75 years of opioid research: the exciting but vain quest for the Holy Grail. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 147 Suppl 1, S153–62. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706435.

Cortes-Altamirano, J. L., Olmos-Hernandez, A., Jaime, H. B., Carrillo-Mora, P., Bandala, C., Reyes-Long, S., et al. (2018). Review: 5-HT1, 5-HT2, 5-HT3 and 5-HT7 Receptors and their Role in the Modulation of Pain Response in the Central Nervous System. *Curr Neuropharmacol* 16, 210–221. doi:10.2174/1570159X15666170911121027.

Coruzzi, G., Adami, M., Guaita, E., de Esch, I. J. P., and Leurs, R. (2007). Antiinflammatory and antinociceptive effects of the selective histamine H4-receptor antagonists JNJ7777120 and VUF6002 in a rat model of carrageenan-induced acute inflammation. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 563, 240–244. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.02.026.

Coste, J., Voisin, D. L., Miraucourt, L. S., Dallel, R., and Luccarini, P. (2008). Dorsal horn NK1-expressing neurons control windup of downstream trigeminal nociceptive neurons. *Pain* 137, 340–351. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2007.09.017.

Cottrell, G. S., Padilla, B. E., Amadesi, S., Poole, D. P., Murphy, J. E., Hardt, M., et al. (2009). Endosomal endothelin-converting enzyme-1: a regulator of beta-arrestin-dependent ERK signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 284, 22411–22425. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.026674.

Craig, A. D. (2003). Distribution of trigeminothalamic and spinothalamic lamina I terminations in the cat. *Somatosens Mot Res* 20, 209–222. doi:10.1080/08990220310001623013.

Crock, L. W., Kolber, B. J., Morgan, C. D., Sadler, K. E., Vogt, S. K., Bruchas, M. R., et al. (2012a). Central amygdala metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 in the modulation of visceral pain. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 14217–14226. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1473-12.2012.

Crock, L. W., Stemler, K. M., Song, D. G., Abbosh, P., Vogt, S. K., Qiu, C.-S., et al. (2012b). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) regulates bladder nociception. *Molecular Pain* 8, 20. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-8-20.

D'Mello, R., and Dickenson, A. H. (2008). Spinal cord mechanisms of pain. Br J Anaesth 101, 8–16. doi:10.1093/bja/aen088.

Daaka, Y., Luttrell, L. M., Ahn, S., Rocca, G. J. D., Ferguson, S. S. G., Caron, M. G., et al. (1998). Essential Role for G Protein-coupled Receptor Endocytosis in the Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase*. J Biol Chem 273, 685–688. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.2.685

Dahlhamer, J., Lucas, J., Zelaya, C., Nahin, R., Mackey, S., DeBar, L., et al. (2018). Prevalence of Chronic Pain and High-Impact Chronic Pain Among Adults - United States, 2016. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 67, 1001–1006. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6736a2.

Danser, A. H. J., and Anand, P. (2014). The angiotensin II type 2 receptor for pain control. *Cell* 157, 1504–1506. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2014.05.030.

Decosterd, I., and Woolf, C. J. (2000). Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. *Pain* 87, 149–158.

Defea, K. A., Zalevsky, J., Thoma, M. S., Déry, O., Mullins, R. D., and Bunnett, N. W. (2000). beta-arrestindependent endocytosis of proteinase-activated receptor 2 is required for intracellular targeting of activated ERK1/2. *J. Cell Biol.* 148, 1267–1281. doi:10.1083/jcb.148.6.1267.

Devulder, J., Richarz, U., and Nataraja, S. H. (2005). Impact of long-term use of opioids on quality of life in patients with chronic, non-malignant pain. *Curr Med Res Opin* 21, 1555–1568. doi:10.1185/030079905X65321.

Di Guglielmo, G. M., Baass, P. C., Ou, W. J., Posner, B. I., and Bergeron, J. J. (1994). Compartmentalization of SHC, GRB2 and mSOS, and hyperphosphorylation of Raf-1 by EGF but not insulin in liver parenchyma. *EMBO J* 13, 4269–4277.

Ding, X.-L., Wang, Y.-H., Ning, L.-P., Zhang, Y., Ge, H.-Y., Jiang, H., et al. (2010). Involvement of TRPV4-NO-cGMP-PKG pathways in the development of thermal hyperalgesia following chronic compression of the dorsal root ganglion in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 208, 194–201. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.11.034.

Dong, X. (2018). Current Strategies for Brain Drug Delivery. Theranostics 8, 1481–1493. doi: 10.7150/thno.21254.

Dowell, D., Haegerich, T. M., and Chou, R. (2016). CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain--United States, 2016. *JAMA* 315, 1624–1645. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.1464.

Downes, G. B., and Gautam, N. (1999). The G protein subunit gene families. *Genomics* 62, 544–552. doi:10.1006/geno.1999.5992.

Drdla, R., and Sandkühler, J. (2008). Long-term potentiation at C-fibre synapses by low-level presynaptic activity in vivo. *Molecular Pain* 4, 18. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-4-18.

Duffy, R. A. (2004). Potential therapeutic targets for neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists. *Expert Opin Emerg Drugs* 9, 9–21. doi:10.1517/eoed.9.1.9.32956.

Elliott, L., Morley, R. L., Mouton, R., and Hinchliffe, R. (2019). Choice of anaesthetic in emergency operations: a protocol for a scoping review. *BMJ Open* 9, e030817. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-030817.

Enna, S. J. (1997). GABAB receptor agonists and antagonists: pharmacological properties and therapeutic possibilities. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 6, 1319–1325. doi:10.1517/13543784.6.10.1319.

Eyo, U. B., and Dailey, M. E. (2013). Microglia: key elements in neural development, plasticity, and pathology. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* 8, 494–509. doi:10.1007/s11481-013-9434-z.

Fang-Hu, Zhang, H.-H., Yang, B.-X., Huang, J.-L., Shun, J.-L., Kong, F.-J., et al. (2015). Cdk5 contributes to inflammation-induced thermal hyperalgesia mediated by the p38 MAPK pathway in microglia. *Brain Research*, 1–10. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2015.01.056.

Feinstein, T. N., Yui, N., Webber, M. J., Wehbi, V. L., Stevenson, H. P., King, J. D., et al. (2013). Noncanonical Control of Vasopressin Receptor Type 2 Signaling by Retromer and Arrestin*. J Biol Chem 288, 27849–27860. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m112.445098.

Feizerfan, A., and Sheh, G. (2015). Transition from acute to chronic pain. *Continuing Education in Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain* 15, 98–102. doi:10.1093/bjaceaccp/mku044.

Ferrandon, S., Feinstein, T. N., Castro, M., Wang, B., Bouley, R., Potts, J. T., et al. (2009). Sustained cyclic AMP production by parathyroid hormone receptor endocytosis. Nat Chem Biol 5, 734–742. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.206.

Field, M. J., Cox, P. J., Stott, E., Melrose, H., Offord, J., Su, T.-Z., et al. (2006). Identification of the alpha2delta-1 subunit of voltage-dependent calcium channels as a molecular target for pain mediating the analgesic actions of pregabalin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 17537–17542. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409066103.

Finnerup, N. B., Attal, N., Haroutounian, S., McNicol, E., Baron, R., Dworkin, R. H., et al. (2015). Pharmacotherapy for neuropathic pain in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Neurol* 14, 162–173. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70251-0.

Fisher, K., and Coderre, T. J. (1996). Comparison of nociceptive effects produced by intrathecal administration of mGluR agonists. *Neuroreport* 7, 2743–2747.

Foster, D. J., and Conn, P. J. (2017). Allosteric Modulation of GPCRs: New Insights and Potential Utility for Treatment of Schizophrenia and Other CNS Disorders. *Neuron* 94, 431–446. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017.03.016.

Foster, R., Jung, J., Farooq, A., McClung, C., Ripsch, M. S., Fitzgerald, M. P., et al. (2011). Sciatic nerve injury induces functional pro-nociceptive chemokine receptors in bladder-associated primary afferent neurons in the rat. *Neuroscience* 183, 230–237. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.03.035.

Fredriksson, R., Lagerström, M. C., Lundin, L.-G., and Schiöth, H. B. (2003). The G-protein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. *Molecular Pharmacology* 63, 1256–1272. doi:10.1124/mol.63.6.1256.

Freeman, T. P., Hindocha, C., Green, S. F., and Bloomfield, M. A. P. (2019). Medicinal use of cannabis based products and cannabinoids. *BMJ* 365, 11141. doi:10.1136/bmj.11141.

Gambling, D., Hughes, T., Martin, G., Horton, W., and Manvelian, G. (2005). A comparison of Depodur, a novel, single-dose extended-release epidural morphine, with standard epidural morphine for pain relief after lower abdominal surgery. *Anesth. Analg.* 100, 1065–1074. doi:10.1213/01.ANE.0000145009.03574.78.

Gao, W., Chan, J. M., and Farokhzad, O. C. (2010a). pH-Responsive nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Mol. Pharm.* 7, 1913–1920. doi:10.1021/mp100253e.

Gao, Y.-J., and Ji, R.-R. (2010). Targeting astrocyte signaling for chronic pain. *Neurotherapeutics* 7, 482–493. doi:10.1016/j.nurt.2010.05.016.

Gao, Y.-J., Zhang, L., and Ji, R.-R. (2010b). Spinal injection of TNF-α-activated astrocytes produces persistent pain symptom mechanical allodynia by releasing monocyte chemoattractant protein-1. *Glia* 58, 1871–1880. doi:10.1002/glia.21056.

Garcia-Recio, S., and Gascón, P. (2015). Biological and Pharmacological Aspects of the NK1-Receptor. *BioMed Research International* 2015, 1–14. doi:10.1155/2015/495704.

Garland, A. M., Grady, E. F., Lovett, M., Vigna, S. R., Frucht, M. M., Krause, J. E., et al. (1996). Mechanisms of desensitization and resensitization of G protein-coupled neurokinin1 and neurokinin2 receptors. *Molecular Pharmacology* 49, 438–446.

Gaskin, D. J., and Richard, P. (2012). The economic costs of pain in the United States. *J Pain* 13, 715–724. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2012.03.009.

Gatti, A., Sabato, E., Di Paolo, A. R., Mammucari, M., and Sabato, A. F. (2010). Oxycodone/paracetamol: a low-dose synergic combination useful in different types of pain. *Clin Drug Investig* 30 Suppl 2, 3–14. doi:10.2165/1158414-S0-000000000-00000.

Gee, N. S., Brown, J. P., Dissanayake, V. U., Offord, J., Thurlow, R., and Woodruff, G. N. (1996). The novel anticonvulsant drug, gabapentin (Neurontin), binds to the alpha2delta subunit of a calcium channel. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 5768–5776. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.10.5768.

Geppetti, P., Veldhuis, N. A., Lieu, T., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). G Protein-Coupled Receptors: Dynamic Machines for Signaling Pain and Itch. *Neuron* 88, 635–649. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.001.

Gerra, G., Borella, F., Zaimovic, A., Moi, G., Bussandri, M., Bubici, C., et al. (2004). Buprenorphine versus methadone for opioid dependence: predictor variables for treatment outcome. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence* 75, 37–45. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2003.11.017.

Giuliodori, M. J., and Zuccolilli, G. (2004). Postsynaptic potential summation and action potential initiation: function following form. *Adv Physiol Educ* 28, 79–80. doi:10.1152/advan.00051.2003.

Glass, M., and Northup, J. K. (1999). Agonist selective regulation of G proteins by cannabinoid CB(1) and CB(2) receptors. *Molecular Pharmacology* 56, 1362–1369. doi:10.1124/mol.56.6.1362.

Goldberg, D. S., and McGee, S. J. (2011). Pain as a global public health priority. *BMC Public Health* 11, 770. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-770.

Gomes, C., Ferreira, R., George, J., Sanches, R., Rodrigues, D. I., Gonçalves, N., et al. (2013). Activation of microglial cells triggers a release of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) inducing their proliferation in an adenosine A2A receptor-dependent manner: A2A receptor blockade prevents BDNF release and proliferation of microglia. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* 10, 16. doi:10.1186/1742-2094-10-16.

Goodman, C. W., and Brett, A. S. (2017). Gabapentin and Pregabalin for Pain - Is Increased Prescribing a Cause for Concern? *N Engl J Med* 377, 411–414. doi:10.1056/NEJMp1704633.

Goss, J. R., Harley, C. F., Mata, M., O'Malley, M. E., Goins, W. F., Hu, X., et al. (2002). Herpes vectormediated expression of proenkephalin reduces bone cancer pain. *Ann. Neurol.* 52, 662–665. doi:10.1002/ana.10343.

Goss, J. R., Mata, M., Goins, W. F., Wu, H. H., Glorioso, J. C., and Fink, D. J. (2001). Antinociceptive effect of a genomic herpes simplex virus-based vector expressing human proenkephalin in rat dorsal root ganglion. *Gene Ther.* 8, 551–556. doi:10.1038/sj.gt.3301430.

Gosselin, R.-D., Suter, M. R., Ji, R.-R., and Decosterd, I. (2010). Glial Cells and Chronic Pain. *The Neuroscientist* 16, 519–531. doi:10.1177/1073858409360822.

Gottschalk, A., and Smith, D. S. (2001). New Concepts in Acute Pain Therapy: Preemptive Analgesia. *Am Fam Physician* 63, 1979–1984.

Gould, G. W., and Lippincott-Schwartz, J. (2009). New roles for endosomes: from vesicular carriers to multipurpose platforms. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 10, 287–292. doi:10.1038/nrm2652.

Grace, M. S., Lieu, T., Darby, B., Abogadie, F. C., Veldhuis, N., Bunnett, N. W., et al. (2014a). The tyrosine kinase inhibitor bafetinib inhibits PAR2-induced activation of TRPV4 channels in vitro and pain in vivo. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 171, 3881–3894. doi:10.1111/bph.12750.

Grace, P. M., Hutchinson, M. R., Maier, S. F., and Watkins, L. R. (2014b). Pathological pain and the neuroimmune interface. *Nat Rev Immunol* 14, 217–231. doi:10.1038/nri3621.

Grant, A. D., Cottrell, G. S., Amadesi, S., Trevisani, M., Nicoletti, P., Materazzi, S., et al. (2007). Proteaseactivated receptor 2 sensitizes the transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 ion channel to cause mechanical hyperalgesia in mice. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 578, 715–733. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.121111.

Gregory, K. J., and Goudet, C. (2021). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. CXI. Pharmacology, Signaling, and Physiology of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 73, 521–569. doi:10.1124/pr.119.019133.

Grennan, D., and Wang, S. (2019). *Steroid Side Effects*. American Medical Association doi:10.1001/jama.2019.8506.

Grimes, M. L., Zhou, J., Beattie, E. C., Yuen, E. C., Hall, D. E., Valletta, J. S., et al. (1996). Endocytosis of activated TrkA: evidence that nerve growth factor induces formation of signaling endosomes. *Journal of Neuroscience* 16, 7950–7964.

Grimes, M. L., Beattie, E., and Mobley, W. C. (1997). A signaling organelle containing the nerve growth factoractivated receptor tyrosine kinase, TrkA. P Natl Acad Sci Usa 94, 9909–14.

Guedon, J.-M. G., Wu, S., Zheng, X., Churchill, C. C., Glorioso, J. C., Liu, C.-H., et al. (2015). Current gene therapy using viral vectors for chronic pain. *Molecular Pain* 11, 27. doi:10.1186/s12990-015-0018-1.

Guglielmo, G. M. D., Baass, P. C., Ou, W. J., Posner, B. I., and Bergeron, J. J. (1994). Compartmentalization of SHC, GRB2 and mSOS, and hyperphosphorylation of Raf-1 by EGF but not insulin in liver parenchyma. Embo J 13, 4269–4277. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1994.tb06747.x.

Guillemyn, K., Kleczkowska, P., Lesniak, A., Dyniewicz, J., Van der Poorten, O., Van den Eynde, I., et al. (2015). Synthesis and biological evaluation of compact, conformationally constrained bifunctional opioid agonist - neurokinin-1 antagonist peptidomimetics. *Eur J Med Chem* 92, 64–77. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.12.033.

Guo, W., Wang, H., Watanabe, M., Shimizu, K., Zou, S., LaGraize, S. C., et al. (2007). Glial-Cytokine-Neuronal Interactions Underlying the Mechanisms of Persistent Pain. *Journal of Neuroscience* 27, 6006–6018. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0176-07.2007.

Hall, J. M. (1997). Bradykinin receptors. Gen. Pharmacol. 28, 1-6. doi:10.1016/s0306-3623(96)00174-7.

Han, F. Y., Thurecht, K. J., Lam, A.-L., Whittaker, A. K., and Smith, M. T. (2015). Novel polymeric bioerodable microparticles for prolonged-release intrathecal delivery of analgesic agents for relief of intractable cancer-related pain. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 104, 2334–2344. doi:10.1002/jps.24497.

Han, F., Whittaker, A., Howdle, S., Naylor, A., Shabir-Ahmed, A., Zhang, C., et al. (2018). Formulation of Bioerodible Ketamine Microparticles as an Analgesic Adjuvant Treatment Produced by Supercritical Fluid Polymer Encapsulation. *Pharmaceutics* 10, 264–14. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics10040264.

Hao, S., Mata, M., Goins, W., Glorioso, J. C., and Fink, D. J. (2003). Transgene-mediated enkephalin release enhances the effect of morphine and evades tolerance to produce a sustained antiallodynic effect in neuropathic pain. *Pain* 102, 135–142. doi:10.1016/s0304-3959(02)00346-9.

Harpsøe, K., Isberg, V., Tehan, B. G., Weiss, D., Arsova, A., Marshall, F. H., et al. (2015). Selective Negative Allosteric Modulation of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors – A Structural Perspective of Ligands and Mutants. *Sci Rep* 5, 13869. doi:10.1038/srep13869.

Harry, G. J., and Kraft, A. D. (2012). Microglia in the developing brain: a potential target with lifetime effects. *Neurotoxicology* 33, 191–206. doi:10.1016/j.neuro.2012.01.012.

Hashimoto, N., Zhang, W. R., and Goldstein, B. J. (1992). Insulin receptor and epidermal growth factor receptor dephosphorylation by three major rat liver protein-tyrosine phosphatases expressed in a recombinant bacterial system. Biochem J 284 (Pt 2), 569–76. doi: 10.1042/bj2840569.

Hausdorff, W. P., Caron, M. G., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (1990). turning off the signal: desensitization of betaadrenergic receptor function. *FASEB J.* 4, 2881–2889. doi:10.1096/fasebj.4.11.2165947.

Hauser, A. S., Attwood, M. M., Rask-Andersen, M., Schiöth, H. B., and Gloriam, D. E. (2017). Trends in GPCR drug discovery: new agents, targets and indications. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 16, 829–842. doi:10.1038/nrd.2017.178.

Hawkins, M. J., Soon-Shiong, P., and Desai, N. (2008). Protein nanoparticles as drug carriers in clinical medicine. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 60, 876–885. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2007.08.044.

Hewitt, D. J. (2000). The use of NMDA-receptor antagonists in the treatment of chronic pain. *Clin J Pain* 16, S73–9. doi:10.1097/00002508-200006001-00013.

Hide, I., Tanaka, M., Inoue, A., Nakajima, K., Kohsaka, S., Inoue, K., et al. (2000). Extracellular ATP triggers tumor necrosis factor-alpha release from rat microglia. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 75, 965–972.

Hinman, A., Chuang, H.-H., Bautista, D. M., and Julius, D. (2006). TRP channel activation by reversible covalent modification. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 19564–19568. doi:10.1073/pnas.0609598103.

Honda, K., Shinoda, M., Kondo, M., Shimizu, K., Yonemoto, H., Otsuki, K., et al. (2017). Sensitization of TRPV1 and TRPA1 via peripheral mGluR5 signaling contributes to thermal and mechanical hypersensitivity. *Pain* 158, 1754–1764. doi:10.1097/j.pain.0000000000000973.

Hooley, R., Yu, C. Y., Symons, M., and Barber, D. L. (1996). G alpha 13 stimulates Na+-H+ exchange through distinct Cdc42-dependent and RhoA-dependent pathways. *J. Biol. Chem.* 271, 6152–6158. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.11.6152.

Howe, C. L., Valletta, J. S., Rusnak, A. S., and Mobley, W. C. (2001a). NGF signaling from clathrin-coated vesicles: evidence that signaling endosomes serve as a platform for the Ras-MAPK pathway. *Neuron* 32, 801–814. doi:10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00526-8.

Howe, C. L., Valletta, J. S., Rusnak, A. S., and Mobley, W. C. (2001b). NGF signaling from clathrin-coated vesicles: evidence that signaling endosomes serve as a platform for the Ras-MAPK pathway. *Neuron* 32, 801–814.

Huang, H., and Player, M. R. (2010). Bradykinin B1 receptor antagonists as potential therapeutic agents for pain. J. Med. Chem. 53, 5383–5399. doi:10.1021/jm1000776.

Hughes, D. I., and Todd, A. J. (2020). Central Nervous System Targets: Inhibitory Interneurons in the Spinal Cord. *Neurotherapeutics* 17, 874–885. doi:10.1007/s13311-020-00936-0.

Hunt, S. P., and Mantyh, P. W. (2001). The molecular dynamics of pain control. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2, 83–91. doi:10.1038/35053509.

Iadarola, M. J., Sapio, M. R., Wang, X., Carrero, H., Virata-Theimer, M. L., Sarnovsky, R., et al. (2017). Analgesia by deletion of spinal neurokinin 1 receptor expressing neurons using a bioengineered substance P-Pseudomonasexotoxin conjugate. *Molecular Pain* 13, 174480691772765–14. doi:10.1177/1744806917727657.

Ikeda, H., Heinke, B., Ruscheweyh, R., and Sandkühler, J. (2003). Synaptic plasticity in spinal lamina I projection neurons that mediate hyperalgesia. *Science* 299, 1237–1240. doi:10.1126/science.1080659.

Inoue, K. (2017). Purinergic signaling in microglia in the pathogenesis of neuropathic pain. *Proceedings of the Japan Academy. Ser. B: Physical and Biological Sciences* 93, 174–182. doi:10.2183/pjab.93.011.

Irannejad, R., Pessino, V., Mika, D., Huang, B., Wedegaertner, P. B., Conti, M., et al. (2017). Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 799–806. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2389.

Ito, K., Rome, C., Bouleau, Y., and Dulon, D. (2002). Substance P mobilizes intracellular calcium and activates a nonselective cation conductance in rat spiral ganglion neurons. *Eur J Neurosci* 16, 2095–2102. doi:10.1046/j.1460-9568.2002.02292.x.

Jackman, S. L., and Regehr, W. G. (2017). The Mechanisms and Functions of Synaptic Facilitation. *Neuron* 94, 447–464. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.047.

Jang, Y., Kim, M., and Hwang, S. W. (2020). Molecular mechanisms underlying the actions of arachidonic acid-derived prostaglandins on peripheral nociception. *Journal of Neuroinflammation* 17, 30–27. doi:10.1186/s12974-020-1703-1.

Jensen, D. D., Halls, M. L., Murphy, J. E., Canals, M., Cattaruzza, F., Poole, D. P., et al. (2014). Endothelinconverting enzyme 1 and β -arrestins exert spatiotemporal control of substance P-induced inflammatory signals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 20283–20294. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.578179.

Jensen, D. D., Lieu, T., Halls, M. L., Veldhuis, N. A., Imlach, W. L., Mai, Q. N., et al. (2017). Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaal3447. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3447.

Jevtovic-Todorovic, V. (2016). General Anesthetics and Neurotoxicity: How Much Do We Know? *Anesthesiol Clin* 34, 439–451. doi:10.1016/j.anclin.2016.04.001.

Ji, R.-R., and Woolf, C. J. (2001). Neuronal Plasticity and Signal Transduction in Nociceptive Neurons: Implications for the Initiation and Maintenance of Pathological Pain. *Neurobiology of Disease* 8, 1–10. doi:10.1006/nbdi.2000.0360.

Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Pattison, L. A., Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Latorre, R., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2018). Proteaseactivated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E7438–E7447. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721891115.

Jiménez-Vargas, N. N., Yu, Y., Jensen, D. D., Bok, D. D., Wisdom, M., Latorre, R., et al. (2021). Agonist that activates the μ -opioid receptor in acidified microenvironments inhibits colitis pain without side effects. *Gut*. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324070.

Jinno, S., Fleischer, F., Eckel, S., Schmidt, V., and Kosaka, T. (2007). Spatial arrangement of microglia in the mouse hippocampus: A stereological study in comparison with astrocytes. *Glia* 55, 1334–1347. doi:10.1002/glia.20552.

Johannes, C. B., Le, T. K., Zhou, X., Johnston, J. A., and Dworkin, R. H. (2010). The prevalence of chronic pain in United States adults: results of an Internet-based survey. *J Pain* 11, 1230–1239. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2010.07.002.

Johansen, M. E. (2018). Gabapentinoid Use in the United States 2002 Through 2015. *JAMA Intern Med* 178, 292–294. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.

Johnsen, I. B., Nguyen, T. T., Ringdal, M., Tryggestad, A. M., Bakke, O., Lien, E., et al. (2006). Toll-like receptor 3 associates with c-Src tyrosine kinase on endosomes to initiate antiviral signaling. Embo J 25, 3335–3346. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.76012227856.

Kakigi, R., Endo, C., Neshige, R., Kuroda, Y., and Shibasaki, H. (1991). Estimation of conduction velocity of A delta fibers in humans. *Muscle Nerve* 14, 1193–1196. doi:10.1002/mus.880141209.

Kagan, J. C., Su, T., Horng, T., Chow, A., Akira, S., and Medzhitov, R. (2008). TRAM couples endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4 to the induction of interferon-beta. Nat Immunol 9, 361–8. doi: 10.1038/ni1569.

Kanai, A., Osawa, S., Suzuki, A., Ishimaru, R., and Hoka, S. (2007). Effectiveness of prostaglandin E1 for the treatment of patients with neuropathic pain following herpes zoster. *Pain Med* 8, 36–40. doi:10.1111/j.1526-4637.2007.00249.x.

Kelly, E., Bailey, C. P., and Henderson, G. (2008). Agonist-selective mechanisms of GPCR desensitization. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 153 Suppl 1, S379–88. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707604.

Kelly, P., Moeller, B. J., Juneja, J., Booden, M. A., Der, C. J., Daaka, Y., et al. (2006a). The G12 family of heterotrimeric G proteins promotes breast cancer invasion and metastasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 8173–8178. doi:10.1073/pnas.0510254103.

Kelly, P., Stemmle, L. N., Madden, J. F., Fields, T. A., Daaka, Y., and Casey, P. J. (2006b). A role for the G12 family of heterotrimeric G proteins in prostate cancer invasion. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 26483–26490. doi:10.1074/jbc.M604376200.

Khalilzadeh, E., Azarpey, F., Hazrati, R., and Saiah, G. V. (2018). Evaluation of different classes of histamine H1 and H2 receptor antagonist effects on neuropathic nociceptive behavior following tibial nerve transection in rats. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 834, 221–229. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.07.011.

Kim, B. M., Lee, S. H., Shim, W. S., and Oh, U. (2004). Histamine-induced Ca(2+) influx via the PLA(2)/lipoxygenase/TRPV1 pathway in rat sensory neurons. *Neurosci. Lett.* 361, 159–162. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2004.01.019.

Kim, D., Kim, K.-R., Kwon, Y., Kim, M., Kim, M.-J., Sim, Y., et al. (2020). AAV-Mediated Combination Gene Therapy for Neuropathic Pain: GAD65, GDNF, and IL-10. *Mol Ther Methods Clin Dev* 18, 473–483. doi:10.1016/j.omtm.2020.06.018.

King, T., Gardell, L. R., Wang, R., Vardanyan, A., Ossipov, M. H., Malan, T. P., et al. (2005). Role of NK-1 neurotransmission in opioid-induced hyperalgesia. *Pain* 116, 276–288. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2005.04.014.

Kobayashi, K., Yamanaka, H., Fukuoka, T., Dai, Y., Obata, K., and Noguchi, K. (2008). P2Y12 receptor upregulation in activated microglia is a gateway of p38 signaling and neuropathic pain. *J. Neurosci.* 28, 2892–2902. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5589-07.2008.

Koh, I. J., Chang, C. B., Lee, J. H., Jeon, Y.-T., and Kim, T. K. (2013). Preemptive low-dose dexamethasone reduces postoperative emesis and pain after TKA: a randomized controlled study. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 471, 3010–3020. doi:10.1007/s11999-013-3032-5.

Koo, J.-W., and Balaban, C. D. (2006). Serotonin-induced plasma extravasation in the murine inner ear: possible mechanism of migraine-associated inner ear dysfunction. *Cephalalgia* 26, 1310–1319. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2982.2006.01208.x.

Korzh, A., Keren, O., Gafni, M., Bar-Josef, H., and Sarne, Y. (2008). Modulation of extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK) by opioid and cannabinoid receptors that are expressed in the same cell. *Brain Research* 1189, 23–32. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2007.10.070.

Kotecha, S. A., Jackson, M. F., Al-Mahrouki, A., Roder, J. C., Orser, B. A., and MacDonald, J. F. (2003). Costimulation of mGluR5 and N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors is required for potentiation of excitatory synaptic transmission in hippocampal neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 27742–27749. doi:10.1074/jbc.M301946200.

Kotowski, S. J., Hopf, F. W., Seif, T., Bonci, A., and von Zastrow, M. (2011). Endocytosis Promotes Rapid Dopaminergic Signaling. Neuron 71, 278–290. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.05.036.

Kozasa, T., Jiang, X., Hart, M. J., Sternweis, P. M., Singer, W. D., Gilman, A. G., et al. (1998). p115 RhoGEF, a GTPase activating protein for Galpha12 and Galpha13. *Science* 280, 2109–2111. doi:10.1126/science.280.5372.2109.

Kremer, M., Salvat, E., Muller, A., Yalcin, I., and Barrot, M. (2016). Antidepressants and gabapentinoids in neuropathic pain: Mechanistic insights. *Neuroscience* 338, 183–206. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.06.057.

Kreutzwiser, D., and Tawfic, Q. A. (2019). Expanding Role of NMDA Receptor Antagonists in the Management of Pain. *CNS Drugs* 33, 347–374. doi:10.1007/s40263-019-00618-2.

Kuner, R. (2010). Central mechanisms of pathological pain. Nat Med 16, 1258–1266. doi:10.1038/nm.2231.

Lagerström, M. C., and Schiöth, H. B. (2008). Structural diversity of G protein-coupled receptors and significance for drug discovery. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 7, 339–357. doi:10.1038/nrd2518.

Laird, J. M., Roza, C., De Felipe, C., Hunt, S. P., and Cervero, F. (2001). Role of central and peripheral tachykinin NK1 receptors in capsaicin-induced pain and hyperalgesia in mice. *Pain* 90, 97–103.

Lalani, J., Rathi, M., Lalan, M., and Misra, A. (2013). Protein functionalized tramadol-loaded PLGA nanoparticles: preparation, optimization, stability and pharmacodynamic studies. *Drug Dev Ind Pharm* 39, 854–864. doi:10.3109/03639045.2012.684390.

Lax, N. C., George, D. C., Ignatz, C., and Kolber, B. J. (2014). The mGluR5 antagonist fenobam induces analgesic conditioned place preference in mice with spared nerve injury. *PLoS ONE* 9, e103524. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103524.

Le Bars, D., and Chitour, D. (1983). Do convergent neurones in the spinal dorsal horn discriminate nociceptive from non-nociceptive information? *Pain* 17, 1–19. doi:https://doi.org.10.1016/0304-3959(83)90123-9.

Le Naour, M., Akgün, E., Yekkirala, A., Lunzer, M. M., Powers, M. D., Kalyuzhny, A. E., et al. (2013). Bivalent ligands that target μ opioid (MOP) and cannabinoid1 (CB1) receptors are potent analgesics devoid of tolerance. *J. Med. Chem.* 56, 5505–5513. doi:10.1021/jm4005219.

Leach, K., and Gregory, K. J. (2017). Molecular insights into allosteric modulation of Class C G proteincoupled receptors. *Pharmacol. Res.* 116, 105–118. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.12.006.

Lee, S. E., and Kim, J.-H. (2007). Involvement of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide in development and maintenance of neuropathic pain from spinal nerve injury model of rat. *Neurosci. Res.* 58, 245–249. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2007.03.004.

Lennerz, J. K., Rühle, V., Ceppa, E. P., Neuhuber, W. L., Bunnett, N. W., Grady, E. F., et al. (2008). Calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR), receptor activity-modifying protein 1 (RAMP1), and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) immunoreactivity in the rat trigeminovascular system: differences between peripheral and central CGRP receptor distribution. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 507, 1277–1299. doi:10.1002/cne.21607.

Li, C., and Samulski, R. J. (2020). Engineering adeno-associated virus vectors for gene therapy. *Nat Rev Genet* 21, 255–272. doi:10.1038/s41576-019-0205-4.

Li, Z., Taylor, C. P., Weber, M., Piechan, J., Prior, F., Bian, F., et al. (2011). Pregabalin is a potent and selective ligand for $\alpha(2)\delta$ -1 and $\alpha(2)\delta$ -2 calcium channel subunits. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 667, 80–90. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2011.05.054.

Lin, C.-R., Amaya, F., Barrett, L., Wang, H., Takada, J., Samad, T. A., et al. (2006). Prostaglandin E2 receptor EP4 contributes to inflammatory pain hypersensitivity. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 319, 1096–1103. doi:10.1124/jpet.106.105569.

Lin, Q., Li, D., Xu, X., Zou, X., and Fang, L. (2007). Roles of TRPV1 and neuropeptidergic receptors in dorsal root reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammation induced by intradermal injection of capsaicin. *Molecular Pain* 3, 30. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-3-30.

Liptom, S. A. (1994). Chapter 29 Nitric oxide in the central nervous system. *Pain* 103, 359–364. doi:https://doi.org./10.1016/S0079-6123(08)61149-8.

Lipton, S. A. (2004). Failures and successes of NMDA receptor antagonists: molecular basis for the use of open-channel blockers like memantine in the treatment of acute and chronic neurologic insults. *NeuroRx* 1, 101–110. doi:10.1602/neurorx.1.1.101.

Littlewood, N. K., Todd, A. J., Spike, R. C., Watt, C., and Shehab, S. A. (1995). The types of neuron in spinal dorsal horn which possess neurokinin-1 receptors. *Neuroscience* 66, 597–608.

Liu, H., Brown, J. L., Jasmin, L., Maggio, J. E., Vigna, S. R., Mantyh, P. W., et al. (1994). Synaptic relationship between substance P and the substance P receptor: light and electron microscopic characterization of the mismatch between neuropeptides and their receptors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 1009–1013.

Liu, J., Yin, Y., Yang, L., Lu, B., Yang, Z., Wang, W., et al. (2021). Nucleus-Targeted Photosensitizer Nanoparticles for Photothermal and Photodynamic Therapy of Breast Carcinoma. *Int J Nanomedicine* 16, 1473–1485. doi:10.2147/IJN.S284518.

Liu, P., Yuan, H.-B., Zhao, S., Liu, F.-F., Jiang, Y.-Q., Guo, Y.-X., et al. (2018). Activation of GABAB Receptor Suppresses Diabetic Neuropathic Pain through Toll-Like Receptor 4 Signaling Pathway in the Spinal Dorsal Horn. *Mediators Inflamm* 2018, 6016272. doi:10.1155/2018/6016272.

Liu, X., and Sandkühler, J. (1997). Characterization of long-term potentiation of C-fiber-evoked potentials in spinal dorsal horn of adult rat: essential role of NK1 and NK2 receptors. *J. Neurophysiol.* 78, 1973–1982. doi:10.1152/jn.1997.78.4.1973.

Long, J. M., Kalehua, A. N., Muth, N. J., Calhoun, M. E., Jucker, M., Hengemihle, J. M., et al. (1998). Stereological analysis of astrocyte and microglia in aging mouse hippocampus. *Neurobiol. Aging* 19, 497–503.

Lossignol, D. (2019). Cannabinoids: a new approach for pain control? *Curr Opin Oncol* 31, 275–279. doi:10.1097/CCO.000000000000523.

Lubetzki, C., Sol-Foulon, N., and Desmazières, A. (2020). Nodes of Ranvier during development and repair in the CNS. *Nat Rev Neurol* 16, 426–439. doi:10.1038/s41582-020-0375-x.

Luo, C., Seeburg, P. H., Sprengel, R., and Kuner, R. (2008). Activity-dependent potentiation of calcium signals in spinal sensory networks in inflammatory pain states. *Pain* 140, 358–367. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2008.09.008.

Machelska, H., and Celik, M. Ö. (2018). Advances in Achieving Opioid Analgesia Without Side Effects. *Front Pharmacol* 9, 1388. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.01388.

Magalhaes, A. C., Dunn, H., and Ferguson, S. S. (2012). Regulation of GPCR activity, trafficking and localization by GPCR-interacting proteins. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 165, 1717–1736. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01552.x.

Maguire, D. R., and France, C. P. (2014). Impact of efficacy at the μ -opioid receptor on antinociceptive effects of combinations of μ -opioid receptor agonists and cannabinoid receptor agonists. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 351, 383–389. doi:10.1124/jpet.114.216648.

Mahadevan, S. B. K., McKiernan, P. J., Davies, P., and Kelly, D. A. (2006). Paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 91, 598–603. doi:10.1136/adc.2005.076836.

Mai, Q. N., Shenoy, P., Quach, T., Retamal, J. S., Gondin, A. B., Yeatman, H. R., et al. (2021). A lipid-anchored neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist prolongs pain relief by a three-pronged mechanism of action targeting the receptor at the plasma membrane and in endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 100345. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100345.

Malcangio, M. (2018). GABAB receptors and pain. *Neuropharmacology* 136, 102–105. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2017.05.012.

Mansikka, H., Shiotani, M., Winchurch, R., and Raja, S. N. (1999). Neurokinin-1 receptors are involved in behavioral responses to high-intensity heat stimuli and capsaicin-induced hyperalgesia in mice. *Anesthesiology* 90, 1643–1649.

Mantyh, P. W. (2002). Neurobiology of substance P and the NK1 receptor. *J Clin Psychiatry* 63 Suppl 11, 6–10.

Mantyh, P. W., Allen, C. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., Liu, H., et al. (1995a). Rapid endocytosis of a G protein-coupled receptor: substance P evoked internalization of its receptor in the rat striatum in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2622–2626.

Mantyh, P. W., Clohisy, D. R., Koltzenburg, M., and Hunt, S. P. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of cancer pain. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 2, 201–209. doi:10.1038/nrc747.

Mantyh, P. W., DeMaster, E., Malhotra, A., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., et al. (1995b). Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. *Science* 268, 1629–1632.

Mantyh, P. W., Rogers, S. D., Honore, P., Allen, B. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Li, J., et al. (1997). Inhibition of hyperalgesia by ablation of lamina I spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. *Science* 278, 275–279.

Mao, J. (2012). Current challenges in translational pain research. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 33, 568–573. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2012.08.001.

Marlin, M. C., and Li, G. (2015). Biogenesis and function of the NGF/TrkA signaling endosome. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol* 314, 239–257. doi:10.1016/bs.ircmb.2014.10.002.

Martins, I., and Tavares, I. (2017). Reticular Formation and Pain: The Past and the Future. *Front Neuroanat* 11, 51. doi:10.3389/fnana.2017.00051.

Martins, I., Carvalho, P., de Vries, M. G., Teixeira-Pinto, A., Wilson, S. P., Westerink, B. H. C., et al. (2015). GABA acting on GABAB receptors located in a medullary pain facilitatory area enhances nociceptive behaviors evoked by intraplantar formalin injection. *Pain* 156, 1555–1565. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000203.

Matosin, N., Fernandez-Enright, F., Lum, J. S., and Newell, K. A. (2017). Shifting towards a model of mGluR5 dysregulation in schizophrenia: Consequences for future schizophrenia treatment. *Neuropharmacology* 115, 73–91. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.08.003.

Matsuzawa, R., Fujiwara, T., Nemoto, K., Fukushima, T., Yamaguchi, S., Akagawa, K., et al. (2014). Presynaptic inhibitory actions of pregabalin on excitatory transmission in superficial dorsal horn of mouse spinal cord: further characterization of presynaptic mechanisms. *Neurosci. Lett.* 558, 186–191. doi:10.1016/j.neulet.2013.11.017.

Maund, E., McDaid, C., Rice, S., Wright, K., Jenkins, B., and Woolacott, N. (2011). Paracetamol and selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the reduction in morphine-related side-effects after major surgery: a systematic review. *Br J Anaesth* 106, 292–297. doi:10.1093/bja/aeq406.

Max, M. B., Culnane, M., Schafer, S. C., Gracely, R. H., Walther, D. J., Smoller, B., et al. (1987). Amitriptyline relieves diabetic neuropathy pain in patients with normal or depressed mood. *Neurology* 37, 589–596. doi:10.1212/wnl.37.4.589.

Mayer, M. L., Westbrook, G. L., and Guthrie, P. B. (1984). Voltage-dependent block by Mg2+ of NMDA responses in spinal cord neurones. *Nature* 309, 261–263. doi:10.1038/309261a0.

McCarson, K. E., Duric, V., Reisman, S. A., Winter, M., and Enna, S. J. (2006). GABA(B) receptor function and subunit expression in the rat spinal cord as indicators of stress and the antinociceptive response to antidepressants. *Brain Research* 1068, 109–117. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2005.11.015.

McConalogue, K., Déry, O., Lovett, M., Wong, H., Walsh, J. H., Grady, E. F., et al. (1999). Substance Pinduced trafficking of beta-arrestins. The role of beta-arrestins in endocytosis of the neurokinin-1 receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274, 16257–16268. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.23.16257.

Meents, J. E., Fischer, M. J. M., and McNaughton, P. A. (2017). Sensitization of TRPA1 by Protein Kinase A. *PLoS ONE* 12, e0170097. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170097.

Melemedjian, O. K., Tillu, D. V., Asiedu, M. N., Mandell, E. K., Moy, J. K., Blute, V. M., et al. (2013). BDNF regulates atypical PKC at spinal synapses to initiate and maintain a centralized chronic pain state. *Molecular Pain* 9, 1–1. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-9-12.

Mercadante, S., Arcuri, E., Tirelli, W., and Casuccio, A. (2000). Analgesic effect of intravenous ketamine in cancer patients on morphine therapy: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover, double-dose study. *J Pain Symptom Manage* 20, 246–252. doi:10.1016/s0885-3924(00)00194-9.

Merskey, H. (1982). Management of chronic pain. *Can Med Assoc J* 127, 677–678. doi:doi.org/10.1016/0304-3959(82)90129-4.

Meunier, A., Latrémolière, A., Mauborgne, A., Bourgoin, S., Kayser, V., Cesselin, F., et al. (2005). Attenuation of pain-related behavior in a rat model of trigeminal neuropathic pain by viral-driven enkephalin overproduction in trigeminal ganglion neurons. *Mol. Ther.* 11, 608–616. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2004.12.011.

Micó, J. A., Ardid, D., Berrocoso, E., and Eschalier, A. (2006). Antidepressants and pain. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 27, 348–354. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2006.05.004.

Millan, M. J. (1999). The induction of pain: an integrative review. Progress in Neurobiology 57, 1–164.

Milligan, E. D., and Watkins, L. R. (2009). Pathological and protective roles of glia in chronic pain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10, 23–36. doi:10.1038/nrn2533.

Mills, E. P., Di Pietro, F., Alshelh, Z., Peck, C. C., Murray, G. M., Vickers, E. R., et al. (2018). Brainstem Pain-Control Circuitry Connectivity in Chronic Neuropathic Pain. *J. Neurosci.* 38, 465–473. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1647-17.2017.

Mills, S. E. E., Nicolson, K. P., and Smith, B. H. (2019). Chronic pain: a review of its epidemiology and associated factors in population-based studies. *Br J Anaesth* 123, e273–e283. doi:10.1016/j.bja.2019.03.023.

Montana, M. C., Conrardy, B. A., Cavallone, L. F., Kolber, B. J., Rao, L. K., Greco, S. C., et al. (2011). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonism with fenobam: examination of analgesic tolerance and side effect profile in mice. *Anesthesiology* 115, 1239–1250. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e318238c051.

Moore, E. L., and Salvatore, C. A. (2012). Targeting a family B GPCR/RAMP receptor complex: CGRP receptor antagonists and migraine. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 166, 66–78. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2011.01633.x.

Murphy, J. E., Padilla, B. E., Hasdemir, B., Cottrell, G. S., and Bunnett, N. W. (2009). Endosomes: a legitimate platform for the signaling train. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 17615–17622. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906541106.

Nahin, R. L. (2015). Estimates of pain prevalence and severity in adults: United States, 2012. *J Pain* 16, 769–780. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2015.05.002.

Nakaya, Y., Kaneko, T., Shigemoto, R., Nakanishi, S., and Mizuno, N. (1994). Immunohistochemical localization of substance P receptor in the central nervous system of the adult rat. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 347, 249–274. doi:10.1002/cne.903470208.

Nascimento, E. B., Seniuk, J. G. T., Godin, A. M., Ferreira, W. C., Dutra, M. B., Oliveira, A. C. P., et al. (2011). Peripheral 5-HT1B and 5-HT2A receptors mediate the nociceptive response induced by 5-hydroxytryptamine in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 99, 598–603. doi:10.1016/j.pbb.2011.06.016.

Neubig, R. R., Spedding, M., Kenakin, T., Christopoulos, A., International Union of Pharmacology Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification (2003). International Union of Pharmacology Committee on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification. XXXVIII. Update on terms and symbols in quantitative pharmacology. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 55, 597–606. doi:10.1124/pr.55.4.4.

Neugebauer, V. (2002). Metabotropic glutamate receptors--important modulators of nociception and pain behavior. *Pain* 98, 1–8.

Nichols, M. L., Allen, B. J., Rogers, S. D., Ghilardi, J. R., Honore, P., Luger, N. M., et al. (1999). Transmission of chronic nociception by spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. *Science* 286, 1558–1561. doi:10.1126/science.286.5444.1558.

Nowak, L., Bregestovski, P., Ascher, P., Herbet, A., and Prochiantz, A. (1984). Magnesium gates glutamateactivated channels in mouse central neurones. *Nature* 307, 462–465. doi:10.1038/307462a0.

O'Malley, K. L., Jong, Y.-J. I., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., and Romano, C. (2003). Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5 on nuclear membranes mediates intranuclear Ca2+ changes in heterologous cell types and neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 28210–28219. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300792200.

Obara, I., Telezhkin, V., Alrashdi, I., and Chazot, P. L. (2020). Histamine, histamine receptors, and neuropathic pain relief. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 177, 580–599. doi:10.1111/bph.14696.

Obi, T., Takatsu, M., Yamazaki, K., Kuroda, R., Terada, T., and Mizoguchi, K. (2007). Conduction velocities of Adelta-fibers and C-fibers in human peripheral nerves and spinal cord after CO2 laser stimulation. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 24, 294–297. doi:10.1097/WNP.0b013e318038f45f.

Offermanns, S. (2003). G-proteins as transducers in transmembrane signalling. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol* 83, 101–130. doi:10.1016/s0079-6107(03)00052-x.

Ojea-Jiménez, I., Comenge, J., García-Fernández, L., Megson, Z. A., Casals, E., and Puntes, V. F. (2013). Engineered inorganic nanoparticles for drug delivery applications. *Curr. Drug Metab.* 14, 518–530.

Oldham, W. M., and Hamm, H. E. (2008). Heterotrimeric G protein activation by G-protein-coupled receptors. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 9, 60–71. doi:10.1038/nrm2299.

Ong, W.-Y., Stohler, C. S., and Herr, D. R. (2019). Role of the Prefrontal Cortex in Pain Processing. *Mol Neurobiol* 56, 1137–1166. doi:10.1007/s12035-018-1130-9.

Osikowicz, M., Mika, J., and Przewlocka, B. (2013). The glutamatergic system as a target for neuropathic pain relief. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 372–384. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2012.069922.

Owens, D. E., and Peppas, N. A. (2006). Opsonization, biodistribution, and pharmacokinetics of polymeric nanoparticles. *Int J Pharm* 307, 93–102. doi:10.1016/j.ijpharm.2005.10.010.

Padgett, C. L., and Slesinger, P. A. (2010). GABAB receptor coupling to G-proteins and ion channels. *Adv Pharmacol* 58, 123–147. doi:10.1016/S1054-3589(10)58006-2.

Padilla, B. E., Cottrell, G. S., Roosterman, D., Pikios, S., Muller, L., Steinhoff, M., et al. (2007). Endothelinconverting enzyme-1 regulates endosomal sorting of calcitonin receptor-like receptor and beta-arrestins. *J. Cell Biol.* 179, 981–997. doi:10.1083/jcb.200704053.

Panja, D., and Bramham, C. R. (2014). BDNF mechanisms in late LTP formation: A synthesis and breakdown. *Neuropharmacology* 76 Pt C, 664–676. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2013.06.024.

Paoletti, P., and Neyton, J. (2007). NMDA receptor subunits: function and pharmacology. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 7, 39–47. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2006.08.011.

Papa, S., Rossi, F., Ferrari, R., Mariani, A., De Paola, M., Caron, I., et al. (2013). Selective nanovector mediated treatment of activated proinflammatory microglia/macrophages in spinal cord injury. *ACS Nano* 7, 9881–9895. doi:10.1021/nn4036014.

Pascual, O., Ben Achour, S., Rostaing, P., Triller, A., and Bessis, A. (2012). Microglia activation triggers astrocyte-mediated modulation of excitatory neurotransmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, E197–205. doi:10.1073/pnas.1111098109.

Patapoutian, A., Tate, S., and Woolf, C. J. (2009). Transient receptor potential channels: targeting pain at the source. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 8, 55–68. doi:10.1038/nrd2757.

Patel, M. M., and Patel, B. M. (2017). Crossing the Blood–Brain Barrier: Recent Advances in Drug Delivery to the Brain. Cns Drugs 31, 109–133. doi: 10.1007/s40263-016-0405-9.

Pavlos, N. J., and Friedman, P. A. (2017). GPCR Signaling and Trafficking: The Long and Short of It. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 28, 213–226. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2016.10.007.

Pałucha-Poniewiera, A., Wierońska, J. M., Brański, P., Burnat, G., Chruścicka, B., and Pilc, A. (2013). Is the mGlu5 receptor a possible target for new antidepressant drugs? *Pharmacol Rep* 65, 1506–1511. doi:10.1016/S1734-1140(13)71511-1.

Peng, H., Tang, J., Zheng, R., Guo, G., Dong, A., Wang, Y., et al. (2017). Nuclear-Targeted Multifunctional Magnetic Nanoparticles for Photothermal Therapy. *Adv Healthc Mater* 6. doi:10.1002/adhm.201601289.

Peng, S., Grace, M. S., Gondin, A. B., Retamal, J. S., Dill, L., Darby, W., et al. (2020). The transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel mediates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1)-induced vascular hyperpermeability. *Lab. Invest.* 5, 4–11. doi:10.1038/s41374-020-0430-7.

Pennock, S., and Wang, Z. (2003). Stimulation of cell proliferation by endosomal epidermal growth factor receptor as revealed through two distinct phases of signaling. *Mol Cell Biol* 23, 5803–5815. doi:10.1128/mcb.23.16.5803-5815.2003.

Perahia, D. G. S., Pritchett, Y. L., Desaiah, D., and Raskin, J. (2006). Efficacy of duloxetine in painful symptoms: an analgesic or antidepressant effect? *Int Clin Psychopharmacol* 21, 311–317. doi:10.1097/01.yic.0000224782.83287.3c.

Pereira, V., and Goudet, C. (2018). Emerging Trends in Pain Modulation by Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors. *Front Mol Neurosci* 11, 464. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2018.00464.

Peterson, C. D., Kitto, K. F., Akgün, E., Lunzer, M. M., Riedl, M. S., Vulchanova, L., et al. (2017). Bivalent ligand that activates mu opioid receptor and antagonizes mGluR5 receptor reduces neuropathic pain in mice. *Pain* 158, 2431–2441. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001050.

Pin, J. P., and Duvoisin, R. (1995). The metabotropic glutamate receptors: structure and functions. *Neuropharmacology* 34, 1–26.

Pocock, J. M., and Kettenmann, H. (2007). Neurotransmitter receptors on microglia. *Trends in Neurosciences* 30, 527–535. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2007.07.007.

Poole, D. P., Amadesi, S., Veldhuis, N. A., Abogadie, F. C., Lieu, T., Darby, W., et al. (2013). Proteaseactivated receptor 2 (PAR2) protein and transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) protein coupling is required for sustained inflammatory signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 5790–5802. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.438184.

Poole, D. P., Lieu, T., Pelayo, J. C., Eriksson, E. M., Veldhuis, N. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). Inflammationinduced abnormalities in the subcellular localization and trafficking of the neurokinin 1 receptor in the enteric nervous system. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 309, G248–59. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00118.2015.

Premkumar, L. S., and Ahern, G. P. (2000). Induction of vanilloid receptor channel activity by protein kinase C. *Nature* 408, 985–990. doi:10.1038/35050121.

Przewłocki, R., and Przewłocka, B. (2001). Opioids in chronic pain. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 429, 79–91. doi:10.1016/s0014-2999(01)01308-5.

Quartara, L., Altamura, M., Evangelista, S., and Maggi, C. A. (2009). Tachykinin receptor antagonists in clinical trials. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* 18, 1843–1864. doi:10.1517/13543780903379530.

Quartara, L., and Altamura, M. (2006). Tachykinin receptors antagonists: from research to clinic. *Curr Drug Targets* 7, 975–992.

Raffa, R. B. (2001). Antihistamines as analgesics. J Clin Pharm Ther 26, 81-85. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2710.2001.00330.x.

Ramachandran, A., Khan, S. I. R., Mohanavelu, D., and Kumar, K. S. (2012). The efficacy of pre-operative oral medication of paracetamol, ibuprofen, and aceclofenac on the success of maxillary infiltration anesthesia in patients with irreversible pulpitis: A double-blind, randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Conserv Dent* 15, 310–314. doi:10.4103/0972-0707.101881.

Ramírez-García, P. D., Retamal, J. S., Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. *Nat Nanotechnol* 14, 1150–1159. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Retamal, J. S., Ramírez-García, P. D., Shenoy, P. A., Poole, D. P., and Veldhuis, N. A. (2019). Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain. *Front Mol Neurosci* 12, 273. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2019.00273.

Ribeiro, F. M., Vieira, L. B., Pires, R. G. W., Olmo, R. P., and Ferguson, S. S. G. (2017). Metabotropic glutamate receptors and neurodegenerative diseases. *Pharmacol. Res.* 115, 179–191. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2016.11.013.

Richard, B. M., Newton, P., Ott, L. R., Haan, D., Brubaker, A. N., Cole, P. I., et al. (2012). The Safety of EXPAREL ® (Bupivacaine Liposome Injectable Suspension) Administered by Peripheral Nerve Block in Rabbits and Dogs. *J Drug Deliv* 2012, 962101. doi:10.1155/2012/962101.

Rios, C., Gomes, I., and Devi, L. A. (2006). mu opioid and CB1 cannabinoid receptor interactions: reciprocal inhibition of receptor signaling and neuritogenesis. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 148, 387–395. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706757.

Rocha-González, H. I., Meneses, A., Carlton, S. M., and Granados-Soto, V. (2005). Pronociceptive role of peripheral and spinal 5-HT7 receptors in the formalin test. *Pain* 117, 182–192. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2005.06.011.

Romero-Sandoval, E. A., Kolano, A. L., and Alvarado-Vázquez, P. A. (2017). Cannabis and Cannabinoids for Chronic Pain. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* 19, 67–10. doi:10.1007/s11926-017-0693-1.
Rook, J. M., Xiang, Z., Lv, X., Ghoshal, A., Dickerson, J. W., Bridges, T. M., et al. (2015). Biased mGlu5-Positive Allosteric Modulators Provide In Vivo Efficacy without Potentiating mGlu5 Modulation of NMDAR Currents. *Neuron* 86, 1029–1040. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.063.

Roosterman, D., Cottrell, G. S., Padilla, B. E., Muller, L., Eckman, C. B., Bunnett, N. W., et al. (2007). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 degrades neuropeptides in endosomes to control receptor recycling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 11838–11843. doi:10.1073/pnas.0701910104.

Roppe, J. R., Wang, B., Huang, D., Tehrani, L., Kamenecka, T., Schweiger, E. J., et al. (2004). 5-[(2-Methyl-1,3-thiazol-4-yl)ethynyl]-2,3'-bipyridine: a highly potent, orally active metabotropic glutamate subtype 5 (mGlu5) receptor antagonist with anxiolytic activity. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 14, 3993–3996. doi:10.1016/j.bmcl.2004.05.037.

Rosa, A. C., and Fantozzi, R. (2013). The role of histamine in neurogenic inflammation. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 170, 38–45. doi:10.1111/bph.12266.

Rosenbaum, D. M., Rasmussen, S. G. F., and Kobilka, B. K. (2009). The structure and function of G-proteincoupled receptors. *Nature* 459, 356–363. doi:10.1038/nature08144.

Rupniak, N. M. J., Perdona, E., Griffante, C., Cavallini, P., Sava, A., Ricca, D. J., et al. (2018). Affinity, potency, efficacy, and selectivity of neurokinin A analogs at human recombinant NK2 and NK1 receptors. *PLoS ONE* 13, e0205894. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0205894.

Saab, C. Y., and Barrett, L. F. (2016). Thalamic Bursts and the Epic Pain Model. *Front Comput Neurosci* 10, 147. doi:10.3389/fncom.2016.00147.

Sakurada, T., Katsumata, K., Tan-No, K., Sakurada, S., and Kisara, K. (1992). The capsaicin test in mice for evaluating tachykinin antagonists in the spinal cord. *Neuropharmacology* 31, 1279–1285.

Sakurada, T., Katsumata, K., Yogo, H., Tan-No, K., Sakurada, S., Ohba, M., et al. (1995). The neurokinin-1 receptor antagonist, sendide, exhibits antinociceptive activity in the formalin test. *Pain* 60, 175–180.

Santos, A. R., and Calixto, J. B. (1997). Further evidence for the involvement of tachykinin receptor subtypes in formalin and capsaicin models of pain in mice. *Neuropeptides* 31, 381–389.

Saraghi, M., and Hersh, E. V. (2013). Three newly approved analgesics: an update. *Anesth Prog* 60, 178–187. doi:10.2344/0003-3006-60.4.178.

Sarkar, S., Hobson, A. R., Hughes, A., Growcott, J., Woolf, C. J., Thompson, D. G., et al. (2003). The prostaglandin E2 receptor-1 (EP-1) mediates acid-induced visceral pain hypersensitivity in humans. *Gastroenterology* 124, 18–25. doi:10.1053/gast.2003.50022.

Sasaki, M., Obata, H., Kawahara, K., Saito, S., and Goto, F. (2006). Peripheral 5-HT2A receptor antagonism attenuates primary thermal hyperalgesia and secondary mechanical allodynia after thermal injury in rats. *Pain* 122, 130–136. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2006.01.021.

Scherrer, G., Imamachi, N., Cao, Y.-Q., Contet, C., Mennicken, F., O'Donnell, D., et al. (2009). Dissociation of the opioid receptor mechanisms that control mechanical and heat pain. *Cell* 137, 1148–1159. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.019.

Schjerning, O., Rosenzweig, M., Pottegård, A., Damkier, P., and Nielsen, J. (2016). Abuse Potential of Pregabalin: A Systematic Review. *CNS Drugs* 30, 9–25. doi:10.1007/s40263-015-0303-6.

Schröder, H., Wu, D. F., Seifert, A., Rankovic, M., Schulz, S., HOllt, V., et al. (2009). Allosteric modulation of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 affects phosphorylation, internalization, and desensitization of the micro-opioid receptor. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 768–778. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.12.010.

Schuchat, A., Houry, D., and Guy, G. P. (2017). New Data on Opioid Use and Prescribing in the United States. *JAMA* 318, 425–426. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.8913.

Scuteri, D., Adornetto, A., Rombolà, L., Naturale, M. D., Morrone, L. A., Bagetta, G., et al. (2019). New Trends in Migraine Pharmacology: Targeting Calcitonin Gene-Related Peptide (CGRP) With Monoclonal Antibodies. *Front Pharmacol* 10, 363. doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.00363.

Senese, N. B., Kandasamy, R., Kochan, K. E., and Traynor, J. R. (2020). Regulator of G-Protein Signaling (RGS) Protein Modulation of Opioid Receptor Signaling as a Potential Target for Pain Management. *Front Mol Neurosci* 13, 5. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2020.00005.

Shepherd, A. J., Copits, B. A., Mickle, A. D., Karlsson, P., Kadunganattil, S., Haroutounian, S., et al. (2018a). Angiotensin II Triggers Peripheral Macrophage-to-Sensory Neuron Redox Crosstalk to Elicit Pain. *J. Neurosci.* 38, 7032–7057. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3542-17.2018.

Shepherd, A. J., Mickle, A. D., Golden, J. P., Mack, M. R., Halabi, C. M., de Kloet, A. D., et al. (2018b). Macrophage angiotensin II type 2 receptor triggers neuropathic pain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E8057–E8066. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721815115.

Shim, W. S., Tak, M.-H., Lee, M.-H., Kim, M., Kim, M., Koo, J.-Y., et al. (2007). TRPV1 mediates histamineinduced itching via the activation of phospholipase A2 and 12-lipoxygenase. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 2331–2337. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4643-06.2007.

Shukla, A. K., Westfield, G. H., Xiao, K., Reis, R. I., Huang, L.-Y., Tripathi-Shukla, P., et al. (2014). Visualization of arrestin recruitment by a G-protein-coupled receptor. *Nature* 512, 218–222. doi:10.1038/nature13430.

Siehler, S. (2009). Regulation of RhoGEF proteins by G12/13-coupled receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 158, 41–49. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00121.x.

Smith, M. T., Woodruff, T. M., Wyse, B. D., Muralidharan, A., and Walther, T. (2013a). A small molecule angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT₂R) antagonist produces analgesia in a rat model of neuropathic pain by inhibition of p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and p44/p42 MAPK activation in the dorsal root ganglia. *Pain Med* 14, 1557–1568. doi:10.1111/pme.12157.

Smith, M. T., Wyse, B. D., and Edwards, S. R. (2013b). Small molecule angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT₂R) antagonists as novel analgesics for neuropathic pain: comparative pharmacokinetics, radioligand binding, and efficacy in rats. *Pain Med* 14, 692–705. doi:10.1111/pme.12063.

Spahn, V., Del Vecchio, G., Labuz, D., Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Massaly, N., Temp, J., et al. (2017). A nontoxic pain killer designed by modeling of pathological receptor conformations. *Science* 355, 966–969. doi:10.1126/science.aai8636.

Starnowska, J., Costante, R., Guillemyn, K., Popiolek-Barczyk, K., Chung, N. N., Lemieux, C., et al. (2017). Analgesic Properties of Opioid/NK1 Multitarget Ligands with Distinct in Vitro Profiles in Naive and Chronic Constriction Injury Mice. *ACS Chem. Neurosci.* 8, 2315–2324. doi:10.1021/acschemneuro.7b00226.

Steeds, C. E. (2016). The anatomy and physiology of pain. Surgery (Oxford) 34, 55–59. doi:10.1016/j.mpsur.2015.11.005.

Steranka, L. R., Manning, D. C., DeHaas, C. J., Ferkany, J. W., Borosky, S. A., Connor, J. R., et al. (1988). Bradykinin as a pain mediator: receptors are localized to sensory neurons, and antagonists have analgesic actions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 3245–3249. doi:10.1073/pnas.85.9.3245.

Stevens, R. C., Cherezov, V., Katritch, V., Abagyan, R., Kuhn, P., Rosen, H., et al. (2013). The GPCR Network: a large-scale collaboration to determine human GPCR structure and function. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 12, 25–34. doi:10.1038/nrd3859.

Sturiale, S., Barbara, G., Qiu, B., Figini, M., Geppetti, P., Gerard, N., et al. (1999). Neutral endopeptidase (EC 3.4.24.11) terminates colitis by degrading substance P. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 11653–11658. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.20.11653.

Sud, R., Spengler, R. N., Nader, N. D., and Ignatowski, T. A. (2008). Antinociception occurs with a reversal in alpha 2-adrenoceptor regulation of TNF production by peripheral monocytes/macrophages from pro- to anti-inflammatory. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 588, 217–231. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.04.043.

Sun, S., and Dong, X. (2016). Trp channels and itch. *Semin Immunopathol* 38, 293–307. doi:10.1007/s00281-015-0530-4.

Suzuki, N., Hajicek, N., and Kozasa, T. (2009). Regulation and physiological functions of G12/13-mediated signaling pathways. *Neurosignals* 17, 55–70. doi:10.1159/000186690.

Suzuki, T. (2004). Production and Release of Neuroprotective Tumor Necrosis Factor by P2X7 Receptor-Activated Microglia. *Journal of Neuroscience* 24, 1–7. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3792-03.2004.

Sweitzer, S. M., Wong, S. M. E., Peters, M. C., Mochly-Rosen, D., Yeomans, D. C., and Kendig, J. J. (2004). Protein kinase C epsilon and gamma: involvement in formalin-induced nociception in neonatal rats. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 309, 616–625. doi:10.1124/jpet.103.060350.

Taussig, R., Iñiguez-Lluhi, J. A., and Gilman, A. G. (1993). Inhibition of adenylyl cyclase by Gi alpha. *Science* 261, 218–221. doi:10.1126/science.8327893.

Teleanu, D. M., Chircov, C., Grumezescu, A. M., Volceanov, A., and Teleanu, R. I. (2018). Blood-Brain Delivery Methods Using Nanotechnology. Pharm 10, 269. doi: 10.3390/pharmaceutics10040269.

Teodoro, F. C., Júnior, M. F. T., Zampronio, A. R., Martini, A. C., Rae, G. A., and Chichorro, J. G. (2013). Peripheral substance P and neurokinin-1 receptors have a role in inflammatory and neuropathic orofacial pain models. *Neuropeptides* 47, 199–206. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2012.10.005.

Thomas Cheng, H. (2010). Spinal cord mechanisms of chronic pain and clinical implications. *Curr Pain Headache Rep* 14, 213–220. doi:10.1007/s11916-010-0111-0.

Thomsen, A. R. B., Jensen, D. D., Hicks, G. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2018). Therapeutic Targeting of Endosomal G-Protein-Coupled Receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 879–891. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2018.08.003.

Thurlkill, R. L., Cross, D. A., Scholtz, J. M., and Pace, C. N. (2005). pKa of fentanyl varies with temperature: implications for acid-base management during extremes of body temperature. *J. Cardiothorac. Vasc. Anesth.* 19, 759–762. doi:10.1053/j.jvca.2004.11.039.

Tillu, D. V., Hassler, S. N., Burgos-Vega, C. C., Quinn, T. L., Sorge, R. E., Dussor, G., et al. (2015). Protease-activated receptor 2 activation is sufficient to induce the transition to a chronic pain state. *Pain* 156, 859–867. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000000125.

Tingley, W. G., Ehlers, M. D., Kameyama, K., Doherty, C., Ptak, J. B., Riley, C. T., et al. (1997). Characterization of protein kinase A and protein kinase C phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit using phosphorylation site-specific antibodies. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272, 5157–5166.

Toyoda, H., Zhao, M.-G., Ulzhöfer, B., Wu, L.-J., Xu, H., Seeburg, P. H., et al. (2009). Roles of the AMPA receptor subunit GluA1 but not GluA2 in synaptic potentiation and activation of ERK in the anterior cingulate cortex. *Molecular Pain* 5, 46. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-5-46.

Trang, T., Beggs, S., and Salter, M. W. (2012). ATP receptors gate microglia signaling in neuropathic pain. *Exp. Neurol.* 234, 354–361. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2011.11.012.

Tressel, S. L., Koukos, G., Tchernychev, B., Jacques, S. L., Covic, L., and Kuliopulos, A. (2011). Pharmacology, biodistribution, and efficacy of GPCR-based pepducins in disease models. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 683, 259–275. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-919-2_19.

Tsuda, M., Kuboyama, K., Inoue, T., Nagata, K., Tozaki-Saitoh, H., and Inoue, K. (2009). Behavioral phenotypes of mice lacking purinergic P2X4 receptors in acute and chronic pain assays. *Molecular Pain* 5, 28. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-5-28.

Tsvetanova, N. G., Irannejad, R., and Zastrow, von, M. (2015). G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins from endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 6689–6696. doi:10.1074/jbc.R114.617951.

Tuteja, N. (2009). Signaling through G protein coupled receptors. *Plant Signal Behav* 4, 942–947. doi:10.4161/psb.4.10.9530.

Uhrich, K. E., Cannizzaro, S. M., Langer, R. S., and Shakesheff, K. M. (1999). Polymeric systems for controlled drug release. *Chem. Rev.* 99, 3181–3198. doi:10.1021/cr940351u.

Vanderah, T. W. (2010). Delta and kappa opioid receptors as suitable drug targets for pain. *Clin J Pain* 26 Suppl 10, S10–5. doi:10.1097/AJP.0b013e3181c49e3a.

Vargas, C., Bilbeny, N., Balmaceda, C., Rodríguez, M. F., Zitko, P., Rojas, R., et al. (2018). Costs and consequences of chronic pain due to musculoskeletal disorders from a health system perspective in Chile. *Pain Rep* 3, e656. doi:10.1097/PR9.0000000000656.

Veldhuis, N. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2014). Proteolytic regulation of TRP channels: Implications for pain and neurogenic inflammation. 1–8.

Veldhuis, N. A., Poole, D. P., Grace, M., McIntyre, P., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). The G protein-coupled receptor-transient receptor potential channel axis: molecular insights for targeting disorders of sensation and inflammation. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 67, 36–73. doi:10.1124/pr.114.009555.

Vergouts, M., Doyen, P. J., Peeters, M., Opsomer, R., Michiels, T., and Hermans, E. (2017). PKC epsilondependent calcium oscillations associated with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 prevent agonist-mediated receptor desensitization in astrocytes. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 141, 387–399. doi:10.1111/jnc.14007.

Vidnyánszky, Z., Hámori, J., Négyessy, L., Rüegg, D., Knöpfel, T., Kuhn, R., et al. (1994). Cellular and subcellular localization of the mGluR5a metabotropic glutamate receptor in rat spinal cord. *Neuroreport* 6, 209–213.

Vilardaga, J.-P., Jean-Alphonse, F. G., and Gardella, T. J. (2014). Endosomal generation of cAMP in GPCR signaling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10, 700–706. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1611.

Vincent, K., Cornea, V. M., Jong, Y.-J. I., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., Mickeviciute, A., et al. (2016). Intracellular mGluR5 plays a critical role in neuropathic pain. *Nat Commun* 7, 10604. doi:10.1038/ncomms10604.

Vincent, K., Wang, S. F., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., and Coderre, T. J. (2017). Spinal intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) contributes to pain and c-fos expression in a rat model of inflammatory pain. *Pain* 158, 705–716. doi:10.1097/j.pain.0000000000823.

Visser, E., and Schug, S. A. (2006). The role of ketamine in pain management. *Biomed Pharmacother* 60, 341–348. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2006.06.021.

Vyvey, M. (2010). Steroids as pain relief adjuvants. Can Fam Physician 56, 1295-7-e415.

Wagner, R., and Myers, R. R. (1996). Endoneurial injection of TNF-a produces neuropathic pain behaviors. J. Neurosci. Res. 7, 2897–2901.

Walker, A. K., Kavelaars, A., Heijnen, C. J., and Dantzer, R. (2014). Neuroinflammation and comorbidity of pain and depression. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 66, 80–101. doi:10.1124/pr.113.008144.

Wang, J. Y., Chang, J. Y., Woodward, D. J., Baccalá, L. A., Han, J. S., and Luo, F. (2007). Corticofugal influences on thalamic neurons during nociceptive transmission in awake rats. *Synapse* 61, 335–342. doi:10.1002/syn.20375.

Wang, P., Du, C., Chen, F.-X., Li, C.-Q., Yu, Y.-B., Han, T., et al. (2016). BDNF contributes to IBS-like colonic hypersensitivity via activating the enteroglia-nerve unit. *Nature chemical biology*, 1–15. doi:10.1038/srep20320.

Wang, T., Collet, J.-P., Shapiro, S., and Ware, M. A. (2008). Adverse effects of medical cannabinoids: a systematic review. *CMAJ* 178, 1669–1678. doi:10.1503/cmaj.071178.

Watson, C. P., Evans, R. J., Reed, K., Merskey, H., Goldsmith, L., and Warsh, J. (1982). Amitriptyline versus placebo in postherpetic neuralgia. *Neurology* 32, 671–673. doi:10.1212/wnl.32.6.671.

Wehbi, V. L., Stevenson, H. P., Feinstein, T. N., Calero, G., Romero, G., and Vilardaga, J.-P. (2013). Noncanonical GPCR signaling arising from a PTH receptor–arrestin–Gβγ complex. Proc National Acad Sci 110, 1530–1535. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1205756110.

Wei, H., Wei, Y., Tian, F., Niu, T., and Yi, G. (2016). Blocking proteinase-activated receptor 2 alleviated neuropathic pain evoked by spinal cord injury. *Physiol Res* 65, 145–153.

Werthmann, R. C., Volpe, S., Lohse, M. J., and Calebiro, D. (2012). Persistent cAMP signaling by internalized TSH receptors occurs in thyroid but not in HEK293 cells. Faseb J 26, 2043–2048. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-195248.

Whelton, A. (2000a). Renal and related cardiovascular effects of conventional and COX-2-specific NSAIDs and non-NSAID analgesics. *Am J Ther* 7, 63–74. doi:10.1097/00045391-200007020-00004.

Whelton, A. (2000b). Renal and related cardiovascular effects of conventional and COX-2-specific NSAIDs and non-NSAID analgesics. *Am J Ther* 7, 63–74.

Wiley, R. G., and Lappi, D. A. (1997). Destruction of neurokinin-1 receptor expressing cells in vitro and in vivo using substance P-saporin in rats. *Neurosci. Lett.* 230, 97–100. doi:10.1016/s0304-3940(97)00490-4.

Willis, W. D. (2001). Role of neurotransmitters in sensitization of pain responses. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 933, 142–156.

Wilson, S. P., Yeomans, D. C., Bender, M. A., Lu, Y., Goins, W. F., and Glorioso, J. C. (1999). Antihyperalgesic effects of infection with a preproenkephalin-encoding herpes virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 96, 3211–3216. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.6.3211.

Wodarski, R., Clark, A. K., Grist, J., and Marchand, F. (2009). Gabapentin reverses microglial activation in the spinal cord of streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Eur J Pain* 13, 807–811. doi:10.1016/j.ejpain.2008.09.010.

Woolf, C. J., and Salter, M. W. (2000). Neuronal plasticity: increasing the gain in pain. *Science* 288, 1765–1769.

Wu, X., Yang, H., Yang, W., Chen, X., Gao, J., Gong, X., et al. (2019). Nanoparticle-based diagnostic and therapeutic systems for brain tumors. J Mater Chem B 7, 4734–4750. doi: 10.1039/c9tb00860h.

Yam, M. F., Loh, Y. C., Tan, C. S., Khadijah Adam, S., Abdul Manan, N., and Basir, R. (2018). General Pathways of Pain Sensation and the Major Neurotransmitters Involved in Pain Regulation. *Int J Mol Sci* 19, 2164. doi:10.3390/ijms19082164.

Yang, Y. M., Kuen, D.-S., Chung, Y., Kurose, H., and Kim, S. G. (2020). Ga12/13 signaling in metabolic diseases. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine* 52, 896–910. doi:10.1038/s12276-020-0454-5.

Yarwood, R. E., Imlach, W. L., Lieu, T., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., Klein Herenbrink, C., et al. (2017). Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 12309–12314. doi:10.1073/pnas.1706656114.

Yoshimura, M., and Yonehara, N. (2006). Alteration in sensitivity of ionotropic glutamate receptors and tachykinin receptors in spinal cord contribute to development and maintenance of nerve injury-evoked neuropathic pain. *Neurosci. Res.* 56, 21–28. doi:10.1016/j.neures.2006.04.015.

Zamponi, G. W., Striessnig, J., Koschak, A., and Dolphin, A. C. (2015). The Physiology, Pathology, and Pharmacology of Voltage-Gated Calcium Channels and Their Future Therapeutic Potential. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 67, 821–870. doi:10.1124/pr.114.009654.

Zelmer, C., Zweifel, L. P., Kapinos, L. E., Craciun, I., Güven, Z. P., Palivan, C. G., et al. (2020). Organellespecific targeting of polymersomes into the cell nucleus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 117, 2770–2778. doi:10.1073/pnas.1916395117.

Zhang, H., Cang, C.-L., Kawasaki, Y., Liang, L.-L., Zhang, Y.-Q., Ji, R.-R., et al. (2007). Neurokinin-1 receptor enhances TRPV1 activity in primary sensory neurons via PKCepsilon: a novel pathway for heat hyperalgesia. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 12067–12077. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0496-07.2007.

Zhang, H., Yoon, S.-Y., Zhang, H., and Dougherty, P. M. (2012). Evidence That Spinal Astrocytes but Not Microglia Contribute to the Pathogenesis of Paclitaxel-Induced Painful Neuropathy. *The Journal of Pain* 13, 293–303. doi:10.1016/j.jpain.2011.12.002.

Zhang, R.-X., Li, A., Liu, B., Wang, L., Ren, K., Zhang, H., et al. (2008). IL-1ra alleviates inflammatory hyperalgesia through preventing phosphorylation of NMDA receptor NR-1 subunit in rats. *Pain* 135, 232–239. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2007.05.023.

Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Barlow, N., Metcalf, M., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2014). Cathepsin S causes inflammatory pain via biased agonism of PAR2 and TRPV4. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 27215–27234. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.599712.

Zhou, J., Wang, L., Wang, J., Wang, C., Yang, Z., Wang, C., et al. (2016). Paeoniflorin and Albiflorin Attenuate Neuropathic Pain via MAPK Pathway in Chronic Constriction Injury Rats. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med* 2016, 8082753–11. doi:10.1155/2016/8082753.

Zhu, Q., Talton, J., Zhang, G., Cunningham, T., Wang, Z., Waters, R. C., et al. (2012). Large intestine-targeted, nanoparticle-releasing oral vaccine to control genitorectal viral infection. *Nat Med* 18, 1291–1296. doi:10.1038/nm.2866.

Chapter 2:

Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain

Jeffri S. Retamal, Paulina D. Ramírez-García, Priyank A. Shenoy, Daniel P. Poole and Nicholas A. Veldhuis



Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain

Jeffri S. Retamal^{1,2}, Paulina D. Ramírez-García^{1,2}, Priyank A. Shenoy^{1,2}, Daniel P. Poole^{1,2,3} and Nicholas A. Veldhuis^{1,2*}

¹Drug Discovery Biology Theme, Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ²Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia, ³Department of Anatomy and Neuroscience, The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Peripheral and central neurons in the pain pathway are well equipped to detect and respond to extracellular stimuli such as pro-inflammatory mediators and neurotransmitters through the cell surface expression of receptors that can mediate rapid intracellular signaling. Following injury or infection, activation of cell surface G proteincoupled receptors (GPCRs) initiates cell signaling processes that lead to the generation of action potentials in neurons or inflammatory responses such as cytokine secretion by immune cells. However, it is now appreciated that cell surface events alone may not be sufficient for all receptors to generate their complete signaling repertoire. Following an initial wave of signaling at the cell surface, active GPCRs can engage with endocytic proteins such as the adaptor protein β-arrestin (βArr) to promote clathrin-mediated internalization. Classically, BArr-mediated internalization of GPCRs was hypothesized to terminate signaling, yet for multiple GPCRs known to contribute to pain, it has been demonstrated that endocytosis can also promote a unique "second wave" of signaling from intracellular membranes, including those of endosomes and the Golgi, that is spatiotemporally distinct from initial cell-surface events. In the context of pain, understanding the cellular and molecular mechanisms that drive spatiotemporal signaling of GPCRs is invaluable for understanding how pain occurs and persists, and how current analgesics achieve efficacy or promote side-effects. This review article discusses the importance of receptor localization for signaling outcomes of pro- and anti-nociceptive GPCRs, and new analgesic opportunities emerging through the development of "location-biased" ligands that favor binding with intracellular GPCR populations.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Michael Streicher, University of Arizona, United States

Reviewed by:

Dietmar Benke, University of Zurich, Switzerland Temugin Berta, University of Cincinnati, United States

*Correspondence:

Nicholas A. Veldhuis nicholas.veldhuis@monash.edu

Received: 04 September 2019 Accepted: 28 October 2019 Published: 12 November 2019

Citation:

Retamal JS, Ramírez-García PD, Shenoy PA, Poole DP and Veldhuis NA (2019) Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain. Front. Mol. Neurosci. 12:273. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2019.00273 Keywords: pain, analgesia, GPCR, trafficking, endosome, drug delivery, signal transduction

Abbreviations: GPCRs, G protein couple receptors; β Arr, adaptor protein β -arrestin; FDA, Food and Drug Administration; NSAIDs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs; Coxibs, cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors; CB1-2, Cannabinoid 1-2 receptors; SP, Substance P; NK₁R, Neurokinin receptor 1; CGRP, Calcitonin gene-related peptide; CLR, Calcitonin receptor-like receptor; RAMP1, Receptor activity-modifying protein; MOR, Mu-opioid receptor; DOR, Delta-opioid receptor; mGluR5, Metabotropic glutamate 5 receptor; PAR2, Protease-activated receptor-2; 5-HT, serotoninergic; CCR5, Chemokine receptor 5; GRKs, GPCR kinases; PTHR, parathyroid; TSHR, thyroid-stimulating hormone; β_1 AR, β_1 Adrenergic; NFEPP, N-(3-fluoro-1-phenethylpiperidine-4-yl)-N-phenyl propionamide; ERK, Extracellular signal-regulated kinases; PKC, Protein kinase C; cAMP, Cyclic adenosine monophosphate; FRET, Resonance Energy Transfer; BRET, Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer; ER, endoplasmic reticulum; TRPV1, TRPV4, Transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V member 1-4.

INTRODUCTION

The sensation and transmission of pain are essential physiological processes that allow us to detect and react to harmful stimuli and initiate inflammatory responses to protect damaged tissue and promote wound healing. Peripheral and central processes that lead to pain transmission are highly adaptive, and the pain experienced is usually proportional to the extent of the injury. As a part of this adaptive physiological response, a heightened sensitivity to pain occurs to provide awareness of damaged tissue and maintain protective behavior for the duration of an injury.

As healing occurs, this sensitization typically reduces over time. In contrast, in chronic inflammatory and neuropathic pain conditions such as arthritis, fibromyalgia or diabeticrelated neuropathy, where damaged tissue is unable to heal or inflammatory mediators continue to be produced, this sensitization fails to diminish and can cause significant discomfort and loss of function over extended time periods (Scholz and Woolf, 2002). This is typically described through two phenomena: (a) allodynia, where one feels pain in response to a normally non-painful stimulus; and (b) hyperalgesia, where one experiences an exacerbated pain sensation to a moderately painful stimulus (Baron, 2006; Steeds, 2016). Due to the complexity of chronic pain and significant limitations with safety and compliance for available analgesics, these conditions are extremely difficult to manage, thus impacting the quality of life for many patients.

Despite many advances in basic research and in the clinic, the analgesic landscape in recent decades has seen few changes. due to the limited availability of effective analgesic agents and the potential for abuse of routinely prescribed drugs (Dowell et al., 2016; Goodman and Brett, 2017). In the midst of a growing opioid crisis (Schuchat et al., 2017), the development of new pain medicines is becoming increasingly important. For safety and logistical reasons, the most obvious gains can be made by repurposing Food and Drug Administration (FDA)approved drugs that are currently used for other indications (e.g., anti-depressants; Kremer et al., 2016; Cooper et al., 2017) or re-formulating established analgesics such as opioids to improve pharmacokinetic profiles (Saraghi and Hersh, 2013). However, new and effective therapeutic approaches may also be gained through greater characterization of the underlying cellular and molecular mechanisms that lead to pain, as a means to identify new molecular targets and further define how analgesic side-effects occur and can be avoided.

G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) are important mediators of pain or analgesia and many of these receptors participate in dynamic trafficking processes such as endocytosis, as a part of their activity cycle. It is now evident that receptor trafficking is also critical for the initiation of spatially and temporally distinct signaling events, and importantly, some of these location-specific or compartmentalized processes are associated with greater modulation of pain (Geppetti et al., 2015; Irannejad et al., 2017; Stoeber et al., 2018; Thomsen et al., 2018). Here, we address limitations of the current analgesic landscape and look to new drug discovery studies focused on GPCRs that participate in dynamic trafficking processes in neurons. New biophysical tools that have been used to characterize compartmentalized signaling reveal how the membrane partitioning properties of drugs influence their functional selectivity for location-specific processes. This knowledge has been exploited through the use of lipid-anchored drug conjugates that increase GPCR targeting in specific subcellular domains, to enhance analgesic outcomes through the inhibition of endosomal signaling.

CHALLENGES AND LIMITATIONS OF CURRENT ANALGESICS

Chronic or persistent pain incorporates a complex range of disorders that requires a combination of non-pharmacological and pharmacological approaches for treatment. From a pharmacological perspective, treatment is possible by administering one or more therapeutic agents such as paracetamol/acetaminophen, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors (Coxibs) followed by careful use of opioids for elevated pain (e.g., morphine or oxycodone). Unfortunately, each of these drugs has associated side-effects that limit their use. NSAIDs and Coxibs have potential cardiovascular and gastrointestinal side effects (Whelton, 2000), and should be used more sparingly than paracetamol/acetaminophen, which carries a risk of hepatotoxicity with excessive use (Mahadevan et al., 2006). While opioids remain some of the most effective analgesics available in the clinic, they have a high abuse potential due to their euphoric or addictive properties, and where repeated use leads to receptor desensitization and tolerance. To overcome tolerance, patients with chronic pain can be subjected to sustained increases in dosing or switching to other more potent opioids to improve analgesia, which often provides only temporary gains in pain relief. However, this approach may increase the risk of tolerance and addiction over time, in addition to increasing the likelihood of debilitating side-effects such as constipation and respiratory depression (Corbett et al., 2006; Boudreau et al., 2009; Volkow et al., 2011).

Alternative GPCR targets have been identified to reduce reliance on opioid analgesics. Cannabinoids, which are proposed as effective opioid alternatives, reduce pain through activation of G_{i/o}-coupled cannabinoid receptors (primarily CB₁), which leads to the downregulation of excitatory processes, and modulation of serotoninergic (5-HT) and noradrenergic pathways. Although widely available and used for millennia, we are yet to see the outcomes of systematic use in the clinic for treating pain, and it is also acknowledged to lead to behavioral risks that require further investigation (Mendiguren et al., 2018). Gabapentinoids such as gabapentin or pregabalin, target the $\alpha 2\delta$ subunit of voltage-gated calcium channels and have been approved as first-line medications to manage neuropathic pain (e.g., postherpetic neuralgia, fibromyalgia). These were initially used for the treatment of epilepsy, and in some cases for anxiety disorders. Although regarded as relatively safe drugs, safety concerns for gabapentinoids have grown and include excessive usage and behavioral risks such as suicidal behavior (Johansen, 2018; Molero et al., 2019). Together, this provides a small insight into established and emerging risks associated with common analgesics. This raises the question of whether any of these compounds can be modified to improve their safety profiles and if new or emerging targets are available. We discuss these points below in the context of receptor trafficking, which is a critical component of the activity cycle for many molecular pain targets.

TARGETING GPCRs FOR THE TREATMENT OF PAIN

Members of the GPCR superfamily are considered to be druggable targets due to high levels of cell surface expression and their ability to contribute to all pathophysiological processes, including pain. Accordingly, GPCR-selective drugs represent more than one-third of all FDA-approved medicines (Hauser et al., 2017). There are at least 40 members of the GPCR family that are considered to be potential therapeutic targets for the regulation of pain (Stone and Molliver, 2009). Yet despite advanced drug discovery programs for multiple receptors, and abuse concerns for opioid receptors, very few targets have clinically succeeded beyond opioids in the past decade, with notable exceptions being the recent approval of Fremanezumab, Eptinezumab, Galcanezumab, and Erenumab for treatment of migraine, being monoclonal antibodies that target the neuropeptide calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) or its receptor, Calcitonin Receptor-Like Receptor/Receptor Activity-Modifying Protein 1 (CLR/RAMP1; see review by Scuteri et al., 2019).

There are a number of challenges in the early phase of analgesic drug discovery for GPCRs. This includes safety concerns for targets that have overlapping functions in other tissues, and inaccurate evaluations of efficacy when using relatively simplified rodent-based pre-clinical pain models to represent the complexity of clinical pain conditions or characterize human-selective compounds (Mao, 2012). Furthermore, the localization of receptors in pre-synaptic and post-synaptic neurons is critical for the activity cycle and nociceptive outputs of several GPCRs (**Figure 1**). On a cellular level, considerations for the intracellular disposition of analgesics and their ability to regulate receptor trafficking and localization have also recently been proposed to be an important part of the drug discovery process (Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Stoeber et al., 2018).

RECEPTOR TRAFFICKING LEADS TO SPATIOTEMPORALLY DISTINCT SIGNALING PROCESSES

GPCRs are highly dynamic proteins that achieve distinct signaling outcomes by adopting different conformational states (Rasmussen et al., 2011; Latorraca et al., 2017). Extracellular ligands that bind cell surface GPCRs promote receptor conformations that activate heterotrimeric G proteins to transduce downstream signaling and also favor phosphorylation by GPCR kinases (GRKs). This phosphorylation occurs primarily at the C-terminus to enhance engagement with β -arrestins (β Arrs), which can function as adaptor proteins to mediate distinct signaling processes such as MAPK activity, and also facilitate interactions with clathrin-coated membranes to promote endocytosis into endosomes (Ferguson et al., 1996). This was historically considered to facilitate termination of signaling by targeting receptors to degradative pathways, or rapid receptor recycling to reset the activity cycle during the internalization process, and increase the potential for sustained signaling once the receptor is recovered at the plasma membrane (PM; Ferguson et al., 1996; Shukla et al., 2014).

A more recent theory has emerged, suggesting that a third trafficking possibility exists, whereby receptors can remain on intracellular membranes such as endosomes for sustained periods of time, to facilitate distinct signaling processes in a β Arr- or a G protein-dependent manner. This paradigm shift was initially revealed by studies on Gs-coupled receptors such as the parathyroid (PTHR), thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSHR) and β 2 adrenergic receptors to demonstrate that endosomal-mediated sustained cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production could be observed after endocytosis has occurred (reviewed in detail by Vilardaga et al., 2014; Tsvetanova et al., 2015; Thomsen et al., 2018).

The development of genetically encoded tools such as conformation-selective nanobodies, Förster/Fluorescence Resonance Energy Transfer (FRET) or Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer (BRET) biosensors, have provide highly sensitive approaches for observing and measuring dynamic activation states and spatiotemporal signaling [e.g., compartmentalized cAMP production, Protein kinase C (PKC) and Extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERK) activity] of GPCRs in real-time (Irannejad et al., 2017; Halls and Canals, 2018). Given the prevalence and importance of trafficking GPCRs in neurons, the internalization and location-specific signaling of several GPCRs with established roles in pain have been described, including but not limited to the Neurokinin 1 Receptor (NK1R), CLR/RAMP1, metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5), chemokine receptor (CCR1), Protease-Activated Receptor 2 (PAR₂) and the Mu Opioid Receptor (MOR; Mantyh et al., 1995a; O'Malley et al., 2003; Gilliland et al., 2013; Poole et al., 2015; Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Stoeber et al., 2018). An overview of these trafficking outcomes is summarized in Table 1, to reveal how stimulation with endogenous ligands alters receptor localization in vitro, or in pre-clinical pain models.

LIGANDS EXERT LOCATION BIASED EFFECTS BY ACCESSING DIFFERENT RECEPTOR POOLS

More recently, conformation-selective single-domain camelid antibodies (nanobodies) that can detect and bind active-state receptors have been instrumental for advancing this concept to other organelles. Distinct nanobody clones that are known to engage with the β_1 Adrenergic Receptor (β_1AR) or MOR

Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org



have been shown to be recruited to the Golgi apparatus in a GPCR activity-dependent manner independently from initial stimulation at the cell surface. Specifically, this is achieved using relatively lipophilic ligands that can freely diffuse throughout the cell, or hydrophilic compounds that are proposed to access Golgi pools *via* transporters (Irannejad et al., 2017; Stoeber et al., 2018).

These important pharmacological insights have significant implications for understanding how drugs may exert their

Receptor family	Endogenous stimuli	Localization (unstimulated)	Pain/Stimulus-induced trafficking	Reference
Mu and Delta Opioid Receptors	Enkephalins	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	Sternini et al. (1996), Haberstock-Debic
(MOR, DOR)	Dynorphins	TGN	Direct activation on TGN by morphine	et al. (2005) and Stoeber et al. (2018)
Endocannabinoid Receptors	AEA	PM	PM, Endosomes	Rozenfeld and Devi (2008), Lever et al.
(CB1, CB2)	2-AG			(2009) and Flores-Otero et al. (2014)
Metabotropic Glutamate	Glutamate	PM	PM	O'Malley et al. (2003) and Vincent et al.
Receptor 5 (mGluR5)		ER	Direct activation on Nuclear	(2016, 2017)
		Nucleus	inner membrane	
Protease-Activated Receptor 2	Trypsin,	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	DeFea et al. (2000), Ricks and Trejo
(PAR ₂)	Tryptase,	TGN	$\text{PM} \rightarrow \text{Lysosomes}$	(2009) and Jimenez-Vargas et al. (2018)
	Elastase,			
	Cathepsin S			
Neurokinin 1 Receptor (NK1R)	Substance P	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	Mantyh et al. (1995a,b) and Jensen
	Neurokinin A/B			et al. (2017)
Calcitonin Receptor-Like	CGRP	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	Padilla et al. (2007) and Yarwood et al.
Receptor; Receptor	Amylin			(2017)
Activity-Modifying Protein 1				
(CLR/RAMP1)				
Angiotensin Receptor 1 (AT ₁ R)	Angiotensin II	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	Hein et al. (1997)
5-Hydroxytryptamine Receptor (5-HT2A)	Serotonin	PM	$PM \rightarrow Endosomes$	Bhattacharyya et al. (2002) and Freeman et al. (2006)

 TABLE 1
 Receptors in pain pathways that undergo stimulation-induced endocytosis

PM, plasma membrane; ER, endoplasmic reticulum, TGN, trans-Golgi Network; → denotes direction of receptor trafficking, from unstimulated receptor location to stimulated receptor location.

effects (or side-effects) and are consistent with other receptors that contribute to pain transmission. For example, endogenous peptide-based enkephalins can stimulate MOR and Delta-Opioid Receptor (DOR) to activate rapid signaling processes in micro-domains of the cell surface and sustained signaling from endosomes (Finn and Whistler, 2001; Groer et al., 2011; Halls et al., 2016; Stoeber et al., 2018), whereas non-peptide opioids such as morphine can freely diffuse through cells to stimulate Golgi pools of the MOR, and initiate a spatiotemporally distinct wave of signaling. The importance of opioid-induced Golgi signaling for analgesia and its association with safety outcomes remains to be determined *in vivo* (Stoeber et al., 2018).

Under pathological pain conditions, the excitatory mGluR5 has been detected in intracellular locations, including the inner nuclear membrane and endoplasmic reticulum (ER; Jong et al., 2014; Purgert et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016, 2017). Stimulated mGluR5 couples with $G\alpha_q$ to evoke cytoplasmic and nuclear calcium mobilization (Jong et al., 2009). Furthermore, in models of spared-nerve injury (Vincent et al., 2016) and inflammatory pain (Vincent et al., 2017), 60% of the mGluR5 receptor population was shown to be localized to the inner nuclear membrane in spinal dorsal horn neurons (Vincent et al., 2016). Importantly, activation of nuclear mGluR5 leads to sustained nuclear Ca²⁺ signaling, phosphorylation of ERK1/2 and induction of c-fos expression, leading to increased nociceptive hypersensitivity (Lee et al., 2008; Jong et al., 2009; Purgert et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016, 2017). Blockade of cell surface mGluR5 by the impermeable antagonist LY393053 resulted in limited analgesia and modest reductions in second messenger coupling. In contrast, the membrane-permeable antagonist fenobam significantly reduced mechanical allodynia, MAP kinase (ERK1/2) phosphorylation and c-fos expression in a spared-nerve injury pain model.

Although these differences may be caused by a range of factors including drug disposition and differences in potencies, it may also provide indirect evidence for the initiation of distinct mGluR5-dependent pain responses from different cellular locations (Lax et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016, 2017). Focused drug discovery around cell-permeant compounds biased toward intracellular mGluR5 pools is warranted and may lead to new opportunities for targeting glutamate signaling for analgesia.

MODIFYING INTRINSIC DRUG PROPERTIES TO INFLUENCE LOCATION BIAS

The studies above suggest that GPCRs that undergo endocytosis may be modulated more effectively by ligands that can diffuse to intracellular sites. This raises questions about whether the intrinsic properties of analgesic agents can be enhanced by chemical modification, to increase activity or partitioning into membranes where GPCRs are known to initiate signals associated with pain.

Lipid-Anchored Ligands for Increased Endosomal Accumulation

The NK₁R, has an established role in pain transmission and is well known to internalize when stimulated by the neurotransmitter, Substance P (SP). Peripheral inflammationinduced either acutely with intraplantar capsaicin or over sustained periods with Complete Freund's Adjuvant, leads to pre-synaptic release of SP from primary afferent terminals onto the dorsal horn, and evokes robust NK₁R internalization in Lamina I and II neurons of the spinal cord (Mantyh et al., 1995a; Abbadie et al., 1996, 1997; Jensen et al., 2017). Analogous to the endosomal signaling phenomena

described above, it has also recently been reported that NK₁R can mediate compartmentalized signaling processes including sustained PKC, nuclear ERK activity and cAMP production, in a clathrin/dynamin and ßArr-dependent manner (Jensen et al., 2014, 2017; Poole et al., 2015). Similarly, CLR/RAMP1 which has an established role in central pain transmission and migraine pain (Lee and Kim, 2007; Bell, 2014), can undergo a CGRP-mediated redistribution into endosomes in HEK cells (Padilla et al., 2007) and in spinal cord sections (Yarwood et al., 2017). In vitro studies to clarify CLR/RAMP1-mediated compartmentalized signaling also showed that endocytosed receptor is associated with sustained nuclear ERK activity, cytosolic PKC activity and cytosolic cAMP production in HEK cells, and mediates sustained neuronal excitation in electrophysiological studies on rat spinal cord slices (Yarwood et al., 2017).

To demonstrate a similar potential for targeting endosomal receptor populations in peripheral neurons, PAR₂ expressed on primary afferents is proposed to mediate inflammatory pain responses and its activity is strongly associated with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). PAR₂ signaling is also a stimulationdependent process, where cleavage by different proteases can lead to distinct trafficking and location-based signaling outcomes. Trypsin proteolytically cleaves the extracellular amino terminus to activate PAR₂ and promote PAR₂ internalization into endosomes (DeFea et al., 2000; Ricks and Trejo, 2009). Endosomal PAR₂ continues to signal through nuclear ERK and cytosolic PKC (Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018). In contrast, elastase and cathepsin S mediated cleavage of the N-terminus activates PAR₂ but does not stimulate PAR₂ endocytosis (Zhao et al., 2014, 2015). Consequently, PM-delimited PAR₂ signaling is relatively transient and is proposed to only mediate sustained signaling via activation of downstream effectors such as TRPV1 and TRPV4 ion channels (Poole et al., 2013; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018).

These data indicate that the internalization of excitatory GPCRs into endosomes may be associated with the generation of spatiotemporally distinct signaling profiles (Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018). Paradoxically, these internalized signaling processes are associated with persistent hyper-excitability of nociceptors and enhanced pain transmission through mechanisms that are not entirely clear, but require sustained kinase activity (Thomsen et al., 2018).

Pharmacological strategies have been employed to understand the importance of location bias of these receptors in pain transmission. Chemical modification by conjugation to the sterol cholestanol has previously been used by Simons and colleagues as a strategy to increase membrane affinity and the endosomal accumulation of a β -secretase transition state inhibitor (Rajendran et al., 2008). Using a similar lipidanchor approach, antagonists for NK₁R, CLR/RAMP1, and PAR₂ were functionalized with the sterol moiety cholestanol, separated by a flexible polyethylene glycol (PEG₁₂) linker. Focusing on the NK₁R peptide antagonist spantide I (Jensen et al., 2017), the CLR/RAMP1 peptide antagonist CGRP_{8–37} (Yarwood et al., 2017) and I-343, a small molecule PAR₂ antagonist (Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018), the lipid anchor increased efficacy at the PM for all three compounds, and promoted incorporation and accumulation into endosomes, and is proposed to be maintained on the outer leaflet of membranes to target extracellular GPCR binding pockets, that are also accessible within the lumen of endosomes. This resulted in greater antagonism of endosomal-delimited signaling processes and more effective analgesia relative to unlipidated control compounds.

Alternative membrane-targeted antagonists have been developed for GPCRs, and the best studied of these are pepducins. Using peptides antagonists based on the sequences of GPCR intracellular domains to competitively bind G protein coupling, pepducins are anchored to membranes by chemical modification with palmitic acid (Covic et al., 2002), and these palmitoylated peptides have been proposed to flip to the inner leaflet of the PM to provide cell surface-delimited signaling inhibition. Pepducins are efficacious in inflammatory models (edema, osteoarthritis, sepsis) by selectively targeting GPCRs including PARs (PAR1, 2, 4) and chemokine receptors (CXCR1, 2, 4; Tressel et al., 2011; Tsuji et al., 2013).

Together, these studies support the use of lipid conjugation as a strategy for modifying the location biased profiles of drugs. The lipophilic properties of the anchor dominate the membrane partitioning of ligands, even hydrophobic small molecules, and are therefore a critical determinant for achieving unique membrane distributions, to improve ligand efficacy at specific subcellular locations (**Figure 2**). While pepducins have entered clinical trials (Gurbel et al., 2016), cholestanol conjugates that lead to the accumulation of ligands in endosomes have not advanced beyond pre-clinical pain models, but suggest that targeting endosomes through drug delivery strategies may be a useful therapeutic approach for the management of pathological pain.

Modifying pH-Sensitivity of MOR-Opioid Interactions

Increasing ligand selectivity for GPCR binding under acidic conditions is a potential alternative strategy for favoring the modulation of GPCRs in endosomes. Relative to the physiological pH of the extracellular environment, trafficking proteins are exposed to an increasingly acidic gradient, as cargo is sorted deeper into the endosomal network. The reduction in pH increases proteolytic activity, which is essential for lysosomal protein degradation, and also for modulating the activity and presence of peptides such as SP or CGRP in endosomal compartments (Padilla et al., 2007).

With a need to reduce opioid-MOR interactions that lead to on-target side effects such as sedation, addiction and constipation, Stein and colleagues recently explored the potential for a pH-sensitive analog of the MOR agonist fentanyl to selectively engage with MOR only in pathological conditions, where acidosis is likely to occur (Spahn et al., 2017). The acid dissociation constant (pK_a) of fentanyl is >8 and can activate MOR in physiological conditions (pH 7.4) and between pH 5 and 7, being the expected pH range within the microenvironment of inflamed tissue (Ludwig et al., 2003; Thurlkill et al., 2005). It was therefore hypothesized that reducing the pKa of fentanyl >7 by



replacement of side-chain hydrogens would favor binding exclusively in pathological conditions.

Utilizing atomic-level structural information for MOR (Manglik et al., 2012) hydrogen replacement fentanyl analogs were designed and binding energies were measured in computational simulations, to identify candidates for further in vitro testing and assessment in pain models. The substitution of hydrogen by fluorine resulted in the development of (\pm) -N-(3-fluoro-1-phenethylpiperidine-4-yl)-N-phenyl propionamide (NFEPP) with a pKa of 6.8 (Spahn et al., 2017). NFEPP and fentanyl were intravenously administered and compared using two models of persistent or acute inflammatory pain (Spahn et al., 2017) and more recently in neuropathic and abdominal pain in rats (Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi et al., 2018). Fentanyl produced analgesia in both injured and non-injured tissue. However, NFEPP analgesia was restricted to inflamed, acidic tissues. High doses of fentanyl induced respiratory depression, sedation and CNS-associated side-effects such as decrease of defecation, heart rate, and blood oxygen saturation, whereas NFEPP did not (Spahn et al., 2017; Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi et al., 2018).

These studies demonstrate the importance of protonation of ligands for receptor binding and activation, and the potential to modulate receptor affinity at pathological pH, thus limiting on-target side effects and unwanted MOR interactions in healthy tissues. The pH range of endosomes is comparable to inflamed tissue and hence, further *in vitro* studies may be useful to determine if the properties of NFEPP also enhance binding with endosomal receptor pools. Furthermore, if NFEPP maintains its ability to partition into membranes to access and activate the Golgi pool of MOR, this may suggest that MOR activation in the Golgi is favorable for analgesia, rather than being associated with poor safety outcomes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The signaling and trafficking of GPCRs is important for mediating physiological processes at the PM and can also drive distinct, compartmentalized signaling events from intracellular sites. In the context of pain, defining this relationship may provide significant opportunities for neuropharmacology and analgesic drug discovery. However, while this may provide important insights that pinpoint discrete signaling outcomes most closely associated with modulating pain behaviors, or favorable drug properties that achieve analgesia while avoiding safety issues, it also critical to translate these proof of concept studies to human tissues and diseases. It remains unknown (and very challenging), for example, to demonstrate how the Golgispecific MOR-signaling component influences analgesia or other side-effects in animals or humans, or if pH-sensitive fentanyl analogs provide genuine advantages over the parent compound in humans with chronic pain.

Although a relatively new phenomenon, ligands that have been identified or modified to possess unique location-biased properties have provided both interesting and valuable proof of concept findings that warrant further investigation. This includes receptors discussed in this review article and many others that contribute to pain in both neurons and non-neuronal cells that drive signaling processes that lead to sustained pain. With the availability of powerful new technologies and biophysical tools, it is predicted that further in-depth compartmentalized signalingfocused drug discovery studies on other trafficking receptors will provide many more valuable insights and other location-specific drug targets.

REFERENCES

- Abbadie, C., Brown, J. L., Mantyh, P. W., and Basbaum, A. I. (1996). Spinal cord substance P receptor immunoreactivity increases in both inflammatory and nerve injury models of persistent pain. *Neuroscience* 70, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/0306-4522(95)00343-h
- Abbadie, C., Trafton, J., Liu, H., Mantyh, P. W., and Basbaum, A. I. (1997). Inflammation increases the distribution of dorsal horn neurons that internalize the neurokinin-1 receptor in response to noxious and non-noxious stimulation. J. Neurosci. 17, 8049–8060. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.17-20-080 49.1997
- Baron, R. (2006). Mechanisms of disease: neuropathic pain-a clinical perspective. Nat. Clin. Pract. Neurol. 2, 95–106. doi: 10.1038/ncpneuro0113
- Bell, I. M. (2014). Calcitonin gene-related peptide receptor antagonists: new therapeutic agents for migraine. J. Med. Chem. 57, 7838–7858. doi: 10.1021/jm500364u
- Bhattacharyya, S., Puri, S., Miledi, R., and Panicker, M. M. (2002). Internalization and recycling of 5-HT2A receptors activated by serotonin and protein kinase C-mediated mechanisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 14470–14475. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212517999
- Boudreau, D., Von Korff, M., Rutter, C. M., Saunders, K., Ray, G. T., Sullivan, M. D., et al. (2009). Trends in long-term opioid therapy for chronic non-cancer pain. *Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf.* 18, 1166–1175. doi: 10.1002/pds.1833
- Cooper, T. E., Heathcote, L. C., Clinch, J., Gold, J. I., Howard, R., Lord, S. M., et al. (2017). Antidepressants for chronic non-cancer pain in children and adolescents. *Cochrane Database Syst. Rev.* 8:CD012535. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD012535.pub2
- Corbett, A. D., Henderson, G., McKnight, A. T., and Paterson, S. J. (2006). 75 years of opioid research: the exciting but vain quest for the Holy Grail. Br. J. Pharmacol. 147, S153–S162. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0706435
- Covic, L., Gresser, A. L., Talavera, J., Swift, S., and Kuliopulos, A. (2002). Activation and inhibition of G protein-coupled receptors by cell-penetrating membrane-tethered peptides. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 99, 643–648. doi: 10.1073/pnas.022460899
- DeFea, K. A., Zalevsky, J., Thoma, M. S., Déry, O., Mullins, R. D., and Bunnett, N. W. (2000). β-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of proteinaseactivated receptor 2 is required for intracellular targeting of activated ERK1/2. *J. Cell Biol.* 148, 1267–1281. doi: 10.1083/jcb.148.6.1267
- Dowell, D., Haegerich, T. M., and Chou, R. (2016). CDC guideline for prescribing opioids for chronic pain-United States, 2016. JAMA 315, 1624–1645. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Ferguson, S. S., Downey, W. E., Colapietro, A. M., Barak, L. S., Ménard, L., and Caron, M. G. (1996). Role of β-arrestin in mediating agonistpromoted G protein-coupled receptor internalization. *Science* 271, 363–366. doi: 10.1126/science.271.5247.363
- Finn, A. K., and Whistler, J. L. (2001). Endocytosis of the mu opioid receptor reduces tolerance and a cellular hallmark of opiate withdrawal. *Neuron* 32, 829–839. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(01)00517-7
- Flores-Otero, J., Ahn, K. H., Delgado-Peraza, F., Mackie, K., Kendall, D. A., and Yudowski, G. A. (2014). Ligand-specific endocytic dwell times control

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JR, PR-G, PS, DP and NV wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

NV and DP are supported by the Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology and Monash University (NV), NHMRC grants 1121029, 1083480 (DP). JR and PR-G are supported by Becas Chile (CONICYT) Ph.D. scholarships.

functional selectivity of the cannabinoid receptor 1. Nat. Commun. 5:4589. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5589

- Freeman, S. L., Glatzle, J., Robin, C. S., Valdellon, M., Sternini, C., Sharp, J. W., et al. (2006). Ligand-induced 5-HT3 receptor internalization in enteric neurons in rat ileum. *Gastroenterology* 131, 97–107. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.04.013
- Geppetti, P., Veldhuis, N. A., Lieu, T., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). G proteincoupled receptors: dynamic machines for signaling pain and itch. *Neuron* 88, 635–649. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.001
- Gilliland, C. T., Salanga, C. L., Kawamura, T., Trejo, J., and Handel, T. M. (2013). The chemokine receptor CCR1 is constitutively active, which leads to G protein-independent, β-arrestin-mediated internalization. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 32194–32210. doi: 10.1074/jbc.m113.503797
- Goodman, C. W., and Brett, A. S. (2017). Gabapentin and pregabalin for pain-is increased prescribing a cause for concern? N. Engl. J. Med. 377, 411–414. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1704633
- Groer, C. E., Schmid, C. L., Jaeger, A. M., and Bohn, L. M. (2011). Agonist-directed interactions with specific β-arrestins determine mu-opioid receptor trafficking, ubiquitination and dephosphorylation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 31731–31741. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.248310
- Gurbel, P. A., Bliden, K. P., Turner, S. E., Tantry, U. S., Gesheff, M. G., Barr, T. P., et al. (2016). Cell-penetrating pepducin therapy targeting PAR1 in subjects with coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 36, 189–197. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.306777
- Haberstock-Debic, H., Kim, K.-A., Yu, Y. J., and von Zastrow, M. (2005). Morphine promotes rapid, arrestin-dependent endocytosis of mu-opioid receptors in striatal neurons. J. Neurosci. 25, 7847–7857. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5045-04.2005
- Halls, M. L., and Canals, M. (2018). Genetically encoded FRET biosensors to illuminate compartmentalised GPCR signalling. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 148–157. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2017.09.005
- Halls, M. L., Yeatman, H. R., Nowell, C. J., Thompson, G. L., Gondin, A. B., Civciristov, S., et al. (2016). Plasma membrane localization of the μ-opioid receptor controls spatiotemporal signaling. Sci. Signal. 9:ra16. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aac9177
- Hauser, A. S., Attwood, M. M., Rask-Andersen, M., Schiöth, H. B., and Gloriam, D. E. (2017). Trends in GPCR drug discovery: new agents, targets and indications. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 16, 829–842. doi: 10.1038/nrd. 2017.178
- Hein, L., Meinel, L., Pratt, R. E., Dzau, V. J., and Kobilka, B. K. (1997). Intracellular trafficking of angiotensin II and its AT1 and AT2 receptors: evidence for selective sorting of receptor and ligand. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 11, 1266–1277. doi: 10.1210/mend.11.9.9975
- Irannejad, R., Pessino, V., Mika, D., Huang, B., Wedegaertner, P. B., Conti, M., et al. (2017). Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 799–806. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2389
- Jensen, D. D., Halls, M. L., Murphy, J. E., Canals, M., Cattaruzza, F., Poole, D. P., et al. (2014). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 and β -arrestins exert spatiotemporal control of substance P-induced inflammatory signals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 20283–20294. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.578179
- Jensen, D. D., Lieu, T., Halls, M. L., Veldhuis, N. A., Imlach, W. L., Mai, Q. N., et al. (2017). Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained

Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience | www.frontiersin.org

8

nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9:eaal3447. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3447

- Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Pattison, L. A., Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Latorre, R., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2018). Protease-activated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 115, E7438–E7447. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1721891115
- Johansen, M. E. (2018). Gabapentinoid use in the United States 2002 through 2015. JAMA Intern. Med. 178, 292–294. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.7856
- Jong, Y.-J. I., Kumar, V., and O'Malley, K. L. (2009). Intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) activates signaling cascades distinct from cell surface counterparts. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35827–35838. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109. 046276
- Jong, Y.-J. I., Sergin, I., Purgert, C. A., and O'Malley, K. L. (2014). Locationdependent signaling of the group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 86, 774–785. doi: 10.1124/mol.114.094763
- Kremer, M., Salvat, E., Muller, A., Yalcin, I., and Barrot, M. (2016). Antidepressants and gabapentinoids in neuropathic pain: mechanistic insights. *Neuroscience* 338, 183–206. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.06.057
- Latorraca, N. R., Venkatakrishnan, A. J., and Dror, R. O. (2017). GPCR dynamics: structures in motion. *Chem. Rev.* 117, 139–155. doi: 10.1021/acs.chemrev. 6b00177
- Lax, N. C., George, D. C., Ignatz, C., and Kolber, B. J. (2014). The mGluR5 antagonist fenobam induces analgesic conditioned place preference in mice with spared nerve injury. *PLoS One* 9:e103524. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0103524
- Lee, S. E., and Kim, J.-H. (2007). Involvement of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide in development and maintenance of neuropathic pain from spinal nerve injury model of rat. *Neurosci. Res.* 58, 245–249. doi: 10.1016/j. neures.2007.03.004
- Lee, J. H., Lee, J., Choi, K. Y., Hepp, R., Lee, J.-Y., Lim, M. K., et al. (2008). Calmodulin dynamically regulates the trafficking of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 105, 12575–12580. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0712033105
- Lever, I. J., Robinson, M., Cibelli, M., Paule, C., Santha, P., Yee, L., et al. (2009). Localization of the endocannabinoid-degrading enzyme fatty acid amide hydrolase in rat dorsal root ganglion cells and its regulation after peripheral nerve injury. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3766–3780. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI. 4071-08.2009
- Ludwig, M.-G., Vanek, M., Guerini, D., Gasser, J. A., Jones, C. E., Junker, U., et al. (2003). Proton-sensing G-protein-coupled receptors. *Nature* 425, 93–98. doi: 10.1038/nature01905
- Mahadevan, S. B. K., McKiernan, P. J., Davies, P., and Kelly, D. A. (2006). Paracetamol induced hepatotoxicity. Arch. Dis. Child. 91, 598–603. doi: 10.1136/adc.2005.076836
- Manglik, A., Kruse, A. C., Kobilka, T. S., Thian, F. S., Mathiesen, J. M., Sunahara, R. K., et al. (2012). Crystal structure of the μ -opioid receptor bound to a morphinan antagonist. *Nature* 485, 321–326. doi: 10.1038/nature10954
- Mantyh, P. W., Allen, C. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., Liu, H., et al. (1995a). Rapid endocytosis of a G protein-coupled receptor: substance P evoked internalization of its receptor in the rat striatum *in vivo*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 92, 2622–2626. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.7.2622
- Mantyh, P. W., DeMaster, E., Malhotra, A., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., et al. (1995b). Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. *Science* 268, 1629–1632. doi: 10.1126/science.7539937
- Mao, J. (2012). Current challenges in translational pain research. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 33, 568–573. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2012.08.001
- Mendiguren, A., Aostri, E., and Pineda, J. (2018). Regulation of noradrenergic and serotonergic systems by cannabinoids: relevance to cannabinoid-induced effects. *Life Sci.* 192, 115–127. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2017.11.029
- Molero, Y., Larsson, H., D'Onofrio, B. M., Sharp, D. J., and Fazel, S. (2019). Associations between gabapentinoids and suicidal behaviour, unintentional overdoses, injuries, road traffic incidents and violent crime: population based cohort study in Sweden. *BMJ* 365:l2147. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l2147
- O'Malley, K. L., Jong, Y.-J. I., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., and Romano, C. (2003). Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5 on nuclear membranes mediates intranuclear Ca²⁺ changes in heterologous cell types and neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 28210–28219. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300792200

- Padilla, B. E., Cottrell, G. S., Roosterman, D., Pikios, S., Muller, L., Steinhoff, M., et al. (2007). Endothelin-converting enzyme-1 regulates endosomal sorting of calcitonin receptor-like receptor and β-arrestins. J. Cell Biol. 179, 981–997. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200704053
- Poole, D. P., Amadesi, S., Veldhuis, N. A., Abogadie, F. C., Lieu, T., Darby, W., et al. (2013). Protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) protein and transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) protein coupling is required for sustained inflammatory signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 5790–5802. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 438184
- Poole, D. P., Lieu, T., Pelayo, J. C., Eriksson, E. M., Veldhuis, N. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). Inflammation-induced abnormalities in the subcellular localization and trafficking of the neurokinin 1 receptor in the enteric nervous system. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 309, G248–G259. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00118.2015
- Purgert, C. A., Izumi, Y., Jong, Y.-J. I., Kumar, V., Zorumski, C. F., and O'Malley, K. L. (2014). Intracellular mGluR5 can mediate synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 4589–4598. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3451-13.2014
- Rajendran, L., Schneider, A., Schlechtingen, G., Weidlich, S., Ries, J., Braxmeier, T., et al. (2008). Efficient inhibition of the Alzheimer's disease β-secretase by membrane targeting. *Science* 320, 520–523. doi: 10.1126/science.11 56609
- Rasmussen, S. G. F., Choi, H.-J., Fung, J. J., Pardon, E., Casarosa, P., Chae, P. S., et al. (2011). Structure of a nanobody-stabilized active state of the β_2 adrenoceptor. *Nature* 469, 175–180. doi: 10.1038/nature 09648
- Ricks, T. K., and Trejo, J. (2009). Phosphorylation of protease-activated receptor-2 differentially regulates desensitization and internalization. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 34444–34457. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.048942
- Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Spahn, V., Labuz, D., Machelska, H., and Stein, C. (2018). Analgesic effects of a novel pH-dependent μ-opioid receptor agonist in models of neuropathic and abdominal pain. *Pain* 159, 2277–2284. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000001328
- Rozenfeld, R., and Devi, L. A. (2008). Regulation of CB1 cannabinoid receptor trafficking by the adaptor protein AP-3. FASEB J. 22, 2311–2322. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-102731
- Saraghi, M., and Hersh, E. V. (2013). Three newly approved analgesics: an update. Anesth. Prog. 60, 178–187. doi: 10.2344/0003-3006-60.4.178
- Scholz, J., and Woolf, C. J. (2002). Can we conquer pain? Nat. Neurosci. 5, 1062–1067. doi: 10.1038/nn942
- Schuchat, A., Houry, D., and Guy, G. P. (2017). New data on opioid use and prescribing in the United States. JAMA 318, 425–426. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2017.8913
- Scuteri, D., Adornetto, A., Rombolà, L., Naturale, M. D., Morrone, L. A., Bagetta, G., et al. (2019). New trends in migraine pharmacology: targeting calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) with monoclonal antibodies. *Front. Pharmacol.* 10:363. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00363
- Shukla, A. K., Westfield, G. H., Xiao, K., Reis, R. I., Huang, L.-Y., Tripathi-Shukla, P., et al. (2014). Visualization of arrestin recruitment by a G-proteincoupled receptor. *Nature* 512, 218–222. doi: 10.1038/nature13430
- Spahn, V., Del Vecchio, G., Labuz, D., Rodriguez-Gaztelumendi, A., Massaly, N., Temp, J., et al. (2017). A nontoxic pain killer designed by modeling of pathological receptor conformations. *Science* 355, 966–969. doi: 10.1126/science.aai8636
- Steeds, C. E. (2016). The anatomy and physiology of pain. Surgery 34, 55–59. doi: 10.1016/j.mpsur.2015.11.005
- Sternini, C., Spann, M., Anton, B., Keith, D. E., Bunnett, N. W., von Zastrow, M., et al. (1996). Agonist-selective endocytosis of mu opioid receptor by neurons *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 93, 9241–9246. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93. 17.9241
- Stoeber, M., Jullié, D., Lobingier, B. T., Laeremans, T., Steyaert, J., Schiller, P. W., et al. (2018). A genetically encoded biosensor reveals location bias of opioid drug action. *Neuron* 98, 963.e5–976.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2018. 04.021
- Stone, L. S., and Molliver, D. C. (2009). In search of analgesia: emerging roles of GPCRs in pain. Mol. Interv. 9, 234–251. doi: 10.1124/mi.9.5.7
- Thomsen, A. R. B., Jensen, D. D., Hicks, G. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2018). Therapeutic targeting of endosomal G-protein-coupled

9

receptors. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 39, 879-891. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018. 08.003

- Thurlkill, R. L., Cross, D. A., Scholtz, J. M., and Pace, C. N. (2005). pKa of fentanyl varies with temperature: implications for acid-base management during extremes of body temperature. J. Cardiothorac. Vasc. Anesth. 19, 759–762. doi: 10.1053/j.jvca.2004.11.039
- Tressel, S. L., Koukos, G., Tchernychev, B., Jacques, S. L., Covic, L., and Kuliopulos, A. (2011). Pharmacology, biodistribution and efficacy of GPCR-based pepducins in disease models. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 683, 259–275. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60761-919-2_19
- Tsuji, M., Ueda, S., Hirayama, T., Okuda, K., Sakaguchi, Y., Isono, A., et al. (2013). FRET-based imaging of transbilayer movement of pepducin in living cells by novel intracellular bioreductively activatable fluorescent probes. Org. Biomol. Chem. 11, 3030–3037. doi: 10.1039/c3ob27445d
- Tsvetanova, N. G., Irannejad, R., and von Zastrow, M. (2015). G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins from endosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 6689–6696. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R114.617951
- Vilardaga, J.-P., Jean-Alphonse, F. G., and Gardella, T. J. (2014). Endosomal generation of cAMP in GPCR signaling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10, 700–706. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1611
- Vincent, K., Cornea, V. M., Jong, Y.-J. I., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., Mickeviciute, A., et al. (2016). Intracellular mGluR5 plays a critical role in neuropathic pain. *Nat. Commun.* 5:10604. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10604
- Vincent, K., Wang, S. F., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., and Coderre, T. J. (2017). Spinal intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) contributes to pain and c-fos expression in a rat model of inflammatory pain. *Pain* 158, 705–716. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000000823
- Volkow, N. D., McLellan, T. A., Cotto, J. H., Karithanom, M., and Weiss, S. R. B. (2011). Characteristics of opioid prescriptions in 2009. JAMA 305, 1299–1301. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.401

- Whelton, A. (2000). Renal and related cardiovascular effects of conventional and COX-2-specific NSAIDs and non-NSAID analgesics. Am. J. Ther. 7, 63–74. doi: 10.1097/00045391-200007020-00004
- Yarwood, R. E., Imlach, W. L., Lieu, T., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., Klein Herenbrink, C., et al. (2017). Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 114, 12309–12314. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1706656114
- Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Barlow, N., Metcalf, M., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2014). Cathepsin S causes inflammatory pain via biased agonism of PAR2 and TRPV4. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 27215–27234. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114. 599712
- Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Barlow, N., Sostegni, S., Haerteis, S., Korbmacher, C., et al. (2015). Neutrophil elastase activates protease-activated receptor-2 (PAR2) and transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) to cause inflammation and pain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 13875–13887. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.642736

Conflict of Interest: Research in NV and DP laboratories is funded in part by Takeda Pharmaceuticals Inc.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Retamal, Ramírez-García, Shenoy, Poole and Veldhuis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pre-Chapter 3:

Behavioural assessment of pH-responsive nanoparticles for targeting endosomal NK₁R as an alternative approach for pain management

Pre-chapter statement

The pre-chapter titled "Behavioural assessment of pH-responsive nanoparticles for targeting endosomal NK₁R as an alternative for pain management" explains in detail my contribution to the manuscript "*A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain*" published in *Nature Nanotechnology* in 2019, included in this thesis as appendix 1 and 2.

In this publication, we explored the concept of endosomal signalling as a potential therapeutic target for pain management. We demonstrate that polymeric nanoparticles that selectively deliver the NK₁R antagonist Aprepitant into endosomes decreased NK₁R-mediated signalling pathways associated with pain transmission without disrupting physiological cell function.

My contribution to this work was the assessment of the analgesic potency of nanoparticles in three rodent models of pain, examination of the biodistribution of nanoparticles, and the electrophysiological assessment of the effects of nanoparticles in the sciatic nerve ligation model of neuropathic pain in rats. These studies will be described in this pre-chapter.

My contribution to this work is presented in the following figures in the original manuscript (Appendix 1 and 2):

Figure 3. Panels A, B and D

- 1. Quantitative assessment of the biodistribution of DIPMA- Cy5 nanoparticles in the spinal cord.
- 2. Quantification of Aprepitant in the spinal cord.
- 3. Administration of nanoparticles and preparation of samples presented in panel C

Figure 4. Panels B, C, D, E, G and H

Design, interpretation and assessment of the analgesic potency of nanoparticles using von Frey filaments to assess mechanical allodynia in pain models: Capsaicin induced pain (acute inflammatory pain), CFA induced chronic inflammatory pain and Randall Selitto test for Neuropathic pain model (sural nerve sparing model).

Figure 5- Panels A - F

Design, interpretation and assessment of the analgesic efficacy of nanoparticles in the sciatic nerve ligation model of neuropathic pain in rats using electrophysiology to assess C- reflex and wind up.

Figure S6. Supplementary material

1. Introduction

GPCRs are conventionally seen as cell surface receptors that detect extracellular stimuli and couple to G proteins, which lead to plasma membrane signalling events in certain tissue (Defea et al., 2000; Vilardaga et al., 2014; Geppetti et al., 2015). However, growing evidence indicates that GPCRs can also signal from intracellular locations such as endosomes (Roosterman et al., 2007; Cattaruzza et al., 2009; Murphy et al., 2009; Pelayo et al., 2011; Vilardaga et al., 2014; Poole et al., 2015; Tsvetanova et al., 2015; Irannejad et al., 2017; Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Stoeber et al., 2018; Retamal et al., 2019; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2020).

The neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R), a GPCR with a high affinity for the neuropeptide substance P (SP) (McConalogue et al., 1999), is predominantly expressed in immune, endothelial, neurons of the peripheral (PNS) and central nervous systems (CNS) (Bleazard et al., 1994; Mantyh et al., 1997; Mantyh, 2002; King et al., 2005), and dysregulation of its signalling is associated with autoimmune diseases, inflammation and pain (Coudoré-Civiale et al., 1998; Lieb et al., 2002; Mantyh, 2002; Duffy, 2004; Johnson et al., 2017; Mishra and Lal, 2021).

Substance P is the first discovered peptide neurotransmitter (Euler and Gaddum, 1931; Lembeck and Donnerer, 2004), and the involvement of NK₁R in pain transmission is well-established, and its role has been studied by the central or peripheral administration of NK₁R antagonists in both chronic and acute models of pain (Liu and Sandkühler, 1997; Mansikka et al., 1999; Laird et al., 2001; King et al., 2005; Teodoro et al., 2013). The capability of NK₁R antagonists to decrease pain is correlated with electrophysiological studies on spinal cord slices, where NK₁R antagonists suppress long-term potentiation (LTP) of afferent nociceptive spinal neurons, demonstrating that NK₁R is an essential receptor for the activation of C-fibres in pain transmission (Liu and Sandkühler, 1997; Coste et al., 2008; Jensen et al., 2017). Furthermore, the requirement for NK₁R in pain transmission has been demonstrated using the selective ablation of NK₁R+ spinal neurons using SP conjugated to the ribosome-inactivating protein, Saporin (SP-SAP). SP-SAP is internalised and selectively depleted cells in the spinal cord that express NK₁R, leading to decreased pain-transmitting afferent neurons of the laminae I and II. NK₁R+ spinal cord neurons depletion reduced capsaicin-induced mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia, providing further support that NK₁R is a central player in the pain transmission pathway (Mantyh et al., 1997; Wiley and Lappi, 1997; Nichols et al., 1999; Iadarola et al., 2017).

Mantyh *et al.*, described that acute noxious stimulation by SP or capsaicin-induced NK_1R internalisation in the soma of neurons in lamina I and in dendrites located in lamina III & IV in the

spinal cord of rats. It was assumed that pre-synaptic SP release had occurred following a pain stimulus, and upon activation of NK_1R , the observed internalisation was hypothesised to be involved in neuronal plasticity, particularly in pain transmission (Mantyh et al., 1995a, 1995b; Abbadie et al., 1997; Nichols et al., 1999).

Following this observation, some years later, others explored the trafficking mechanism for NK₁R and related the concept of internalisation to unique signalling outcomes. Initially, using microscopy and western blot to measure kinase activity, studies in model cells and neurons demonstrated that NK₁R activation by SP promotes receptor interaction with βARRs, which mediates clathrin-mediated endocytosis (McConalogue et al., 1999). The metalloendopeptidase endothelin converting enzyme 1 (ECE-1) degrades SP-bound to NK₁R in acidified early endosomes, disrupting SP-NK₁R-βARRs complex, resulting in rapid NK₁R recycling to the plasma membrane (Padilla et al., 2007; Roosterman et al., 2007; Cattaruzza et al., 2009; Cottrell et al., 2009; Pelayo et al., 2011; Jensen et al., 2014, 2017; Poole et al., 2015). However, when ECE-1 is inhibited, NK₁R remains in endosomes for extended periods (Padilla et al., 2007; Roosterman et al., 2007; Cottrell et al., 2007; Cottrell et al., 2009).

Together, their findings suggest that the NK₁R can signal from the plasma membrane and endosomes, this hypothesis was substantially supported in 2017 through a study that utilised a series of compartmentalised FRET-based signalling biosensors and endocytosis inhibitors to confirm how NK₁R internalisation is associated with specific signalling events. NK₁R in endosomes was specifically associated with sustained increases in nuclear ERK, cytosolic PKC, and cytosolic cAMP (Jensen et al., 2017). In addition, the dynamin GTPase activity inhibitor (Dyngo4A) prevented sustained SP-induced excitation of neurons in spinal cord slices, and reduced nociception of the capsaicin-evoked pain. However, this inhibitor was considered a potent inhibitor of multiple neuronal processes, including synaptic turnover. It provided further indirect support for a role for NK₁R in promoting pain transmission from an endosomal location (Jensen et al., 2017).

The NK₁R antagonist Aprepitant, currently used to treat emesis, showed promising analgesic effects in preclinical models. However, Aprepitant failed in subsequent clinical trials to treat pain (Kramer et al., 1998; Quartara et al., 2009). The clinical failure of Aprepitant for pain treatment might relate to its inability to effectively target and antagonise the NK₁R within acidified endosomes. Initial efforts to address this utilised an endosomal targeting technique, whereby the low potency NK₁R peptide antagonist spantide I, was conjugated to a cholestanol-based lipid anchor to enhance membrane association and increase the accumulation of the antagonist in endosomal membranes. This was shown

to be effective and selective for inhibiting the FRET-based, endosomal-associated NK₁R signalling events described above. However, related studies have characterised this lipidated compound in greater detail using a range of quantitative imaging and signalling approaches, to show that the lipid-anchored antagonists may be effective for pain inhibition, by targeting NK1R in endosomes, but also by blocking arresting mediated endocytosis at the cell surface (Mai et al., 2021).

As an alternative delivery approach to the lipid conjugates, we describe a new delivery system, pHresponsive nanoparticles (DIPMA Np), that were utilised to alter the distribution and efficacy of the antagonist Aprepitant *in vivo*. It was hypothesised to be superior to lipid-conjugates due to its ability to deliver a drug to specific cellular sites without chemically modifying it and bypass cell surface receptors to achieve selective, enhanced delivery of Aprepitant to endosomes where SP-stimulated NK₁R is known to reside during pain. In this broader study, the Np-mediated delivery was more effective than "free" non-formulated Aprepitant, decreasing ERK signalling *in vitro* and nerve firing as measured by electrophysiology. In addition, this delivery method enhanced the antinociceptive capability of Aprepitant in clinical pain models, and the delivery of nanoparticles within endosomes decreased the concentration required to achieve antinociception. The efficacy of DIPMA nanoparticles to suppress nociception could be due to the antagonism of endosomal NK₁R that is directly related to C-fibre activation.

Nanoparticles have potential use to direct drugs to subcellular compartments, such as endosomes, from where GPCRs can generate disease-relevant signals. Here, we demonstrated that nanoparticle encapsulation enhances and prolongs analgesia and provides proof-of-concept and new opportunities for developing new alternatives for non-opioid therapies for pain.

2. Material and method

Animals. Male C57BL/6 mice (6-10 weeks) were obtained from the Monash Animal Research Platform, and male Sprague–Dawley rats (225-250 g) were obtained from the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Chile. Mice and rats were housed in groups of four, in a temperature (22 ± 4 °C) and humidity-controlled environment with a 12 h light/dark cycle and food and water *ad libitum*. All studies were performed following the ARRIVE guideline and the ethical guidelines of the International Association for the Study of Pain (Zimmermann, 1983; Kilkenny et al., 2010). Studies were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences and the Bioethics Committee of the University of Santiago of Chile. In behavioural tests, animals were randomly assigned to treatment groups, investigators were blinded to the treatment groups, and the studies were performed during the light cycle. At the end of the experiments, animals were euthanised by anaesthetic overdose and thoracotomy.

Drug administration. The following drugs were administered by intrathecal injection into the lumbar intervertebral space (L4/L5) in a volume of 5μ L for mice and 10μ L for rats: Aprepitant (100 and 300nM), DIPMA nanoparticles delivering an equivalent dose of Aprepitant (DIPMA-AP, 100 or 300nM), non-pH-responsive nanoparticles (BMA-AP, 100 or 300nM), controls (empty DIPMA-Ø, or a mixture of DIPMA-Ø and Aprepitant 100nM) or vehicle (artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF). Drugs treatments were administered 30 min before the induction of acute nociceptive pain (capsaicin), 48 h after the establishment of inflammatory nociception (CFA), or 10 days post neuropathic sural nerve sparing (SNS) surgery. Morphine was used as the gold standard pain treatment (3 mg/kg intraperitoneal) to compare the antinociceptive efficacy of DIPMA nanoparticles in the inflammatory and neuropathic model of pain.

Biodistribution studies. Sedated mice (2% isoflurane) were placed in an *in vivo* imaging system (IVIS spectrum Lumina II, Perkin Elmer). Control images were obtained before DIPMA conjugated to Cy5 administration (time 0). Followed by the intrathecal administration of DIPMA or BMA-Cy5 (5µL, 50µg/ml). Images were obtained at 1 min and at 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 8 and 24 h post nanoparticle administration.

Uptake of nanoparticles in the spinal cord. DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were administered intrathecally in mice under sedation (2% isoflurane) to mimic the therapeutic situation where nanoparticles might be used to treat pain. After 30 min, capsaicin (5 μ g) was administered (10 μ L, intraplantar) into the left hind paw. After 1 h post-nanoparticle administration, mice were

transcardially perfused with 50 ml of PBS followed by 50 ml of ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). The spinal cord (L3-L6) was removed, post-fixed in 4% PFA (2 h, 4 °C) and cryoprotected in PBS containing 30% (w/v) sucrose (24 h, 4 °C). The spinal cord was embedded in tissue freezing medium (TFM, General Data), and 30 µm serial coronal sections were cut. Sections were blocked in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 and 10% normal horse serum (NHS; 1 h, room temperature). Sections were incubated with rabbit anti-PGP9.5 (1:500, Abcam ab27053) in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 and 3% NHS (overnight at 4 °C). Sections were washed four times in PBS and incubated with donkey anti-rabbit Alexa488 (1:1,000, ThermoFisher Scientific; 30 min, room temperature). Sections were imaged on a Leica SP8 confocal microscope with HC PLAPO ×40 or ×63 oil objectives.

Determination of Aprepitant concentrations in the spinal cord. Free Aprepitant (100nM) or DIPMA-AP nanoparticles delivering the same Aprepitant concentration $(10\mu g/ml - 100nM$ Aprepitant) was administered by intrathecal injection. Mice were killed at 1 h or 4 h post-treatment. The spinal cord (L2–L6) was removed to determine the tissue concentration of Aprepitant by Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS), as described in the Supplementary Methods (Appendix 2).

Acute and inflammatory nociception in mice. Acute inflammatory pain was induced by the intraplantar administration of Capsaicin (5µg) or vehicle (0.9% NaCl, control) into the left hind paw of sedated mice (2% isoflurane). Chronic inflammatory pain was induced by the administration of Complete Freund's Adjuvant (CFA) (0.5 mg/m1) or vehicle (0.9% NaCl) by intraplantar injection (10µL) into the left hind paw of sedated mice (2% isoflurane) (Jensen et al., 2017). Drugs were administered by intrathecal injection 48 h after CFA.

Pain assessment. Mice were acclimatised to the experimental apparatus and environment for 2 h on two successive days. Calibrated Von Frey Filaments, VVF (Jensen et al., 2017) were used to assess mechanical allodynia in acute and chronic inflammatory models of pain by measuring withdrawal thresholds to stimulation of the plantar surfaces of hind paws using an up-down regiment. VFF withdrawal thresholds were measured in triplicate to establish a baseline for each mouse. In the capsaicin model, VFF withdrawal was measured every 30 min for the first 2 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the next 2 h, and finally after 24 h. In the CFA model, VFF withdrawal was measured every 30 min for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the first 3 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the next 5 h, and finally after 24 h. Results were normalised to the baseline withdrawal thresholds of each mouse and expressed as a percentage of baseline.

Neuropathic pain. Neuropathic nociception was induced in rats using a variation of the SNS injury model, which induces rapid onset and sustained mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000). Briefly, rats were anaesthetised (2% isoflurane), the right hind leg was shaved to the level of the pelvic origin of the sciatic nerve, then a skin incision (~10 mm in length) was made. The subcutaneous tissue and the *biceps femoris* muscle were dissected to expose the sciatic nerve, the three-terminal distal branches of the sciatic nerve (tibial, common peroneal and sural nerves) were identified, and the sural nerve was transected (Bravo et al., 2014). Control (sham) rats underwent a similar surgery but without transection of the sural nerve. The animals were given daily 3 mg/kg of ketoprofen and 5 mg/kg of enrofloxacin during the two days following surgery.

Neuropathic pain assessment. Nociceptive behaviour (mechanical hyperalgesia) was assessed in rats by measuring hind paw withdrawal pressure thresholds using an algesimeter (Ugo Basile) with a cutoff value of 570 g/cm² to prevent injury (Hargreaves et al., 1988; Bravo et al., 2014). Briefly, the right hind paw of the rat was subjected to increasing pressure until the paw withdrawal occurred, and the threshold obtained was recorded. Mechanical hyperalgesia was evaluated before (basal) and 5, 9 and 10 days after surgery. On day 10, drugs were administered by intrathecal injection, and withdrawal thresholds were recorded every 30 min for 7 h.

Electrophysiological recording of the nociceptive C-reflex (electromyography). The electromyographic activity (EMG) of nociceptive C fibres (C-reflex) were recorded from the biceps femoris muscle of neuropathic rats (Bravo et al., 2014). Rats were under 1.8% isoflurane and placed on a regulated thermal pad ($37 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C) throughout this procedure. Briefly, low-frequency (0.1 Hz, for basal C-reflex) or high-frequency (1 Hz, for C-reflex wind-up) rectangular electrical pulses of supramaximal strength (double C-fiber threshold) were applied every 10 seconds in the receptive field of the right common peroneal and tibial nerves utilising two stainless steel needle electrodes inserted under the skin of the second and third toes of the right hind paw. Using another stainless steel needle electrode, the C-reflex was recorded from the ipsilateral biceps femoris muscle. The EMG activity was sampled at 100 kHz and integrated into a 150 to 450 ms time window after the stimulus. Wind-up is a potentiation of the C-reflex response when the stimulating frequency is increased to 1 Hz. The wind-up score corresponds to the slope of the first seven consecutive C-reflex recordings obtained at 1 Hz stimulation.

Statistical analysis. Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m. For multiple comparisons, results were compared using one- or two-way

ANOVA followed by posthoc multiple comparison tests, as described in the figure legends. P<0.05 was considered significantly different to the null hypothesis at the 95% confidence level.

3. Results

3.1. Biodistribution and delivery of nanoparticle cargo in vivo.

Initial studies of nanoparticle uptake *in vitro* showed that DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles are localised to early (RAB5) and late (RAB11) endosomes after 30 to 60 min (*Figure 2a, appendix 1. Figure 3a, appendix 2*). HEK cells expressing NK₁R-GFP were similarly treated with DIPMA-Cy5 and stimulated with SP (30-60 min) to evoke NK₁R endocytosis. DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in these cells were codistributed with NK₁R-GFP in endosomes (*Figure 2b, appendix 1. Figure 3b, appendix 2*). The internalisation mechanism through which nanoparticles entered cells was determined using inhibitors of clathrin (PitStop2,(Robertson et al., 2014)) and dynamin (Dyngo4a, dependent endocytosis. Both PitStop2 and Dyngo4a decreased the cellular uptake of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles, consistent with clathrin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis (*Figure 2d–f, appendix 1*). These studies indicated that DIPMA nanoparticles are internalised into NK₁R containing endosomes *in vitro*.

We next examined nanoparticle biodistribution *in vivo*. DIPMA-Cy5 or BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were administered intrathecally (L4/L5) in mice. Cy5 fluorescence associated to DIPMA nanoparticles was detectable after 1 min post-nanoparticle administration, and the fluorescence was retained at the injection site for up to 24 h (**Figure I A, B**. *Figure 3 a, b, appendix 1*). We used confocal imaging of spinal cord slices to explore the cellular uptake *in vivo*. DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were found within laminae I-III of the dorsal horn overlapping with the neuronal marker PGP9.5 (*Figure 3c, appendix 1*).

To evaluate nanoparticles as a drug delivery system, free Aprepitant, DIPMA or BMA nanoparticles loaded with Aprepitant were injected intrathecally to mice. After 1 or 4 h post-administration, the spinal cord was harvested, and LC-MS was used to quantify the concentration of Aprepitant. After 1h post-drug administration, the Aprepitant concentration was two-fold higher for DIPMA-Ap than BMA-Ap and approximately four-fold higher than free Aprepitant (**Figure I C**. *Figure 3d, appendix 1*). LC-MS analysis of spinal cord samples after 4 h post-administration showed that the Aprepitant concentration for DIPMA-Ap and BMA-Ap were similar, while almost undetectable for free Aprepitant. These results indicate that encapsulation in nanoparticles causes retention of Aprepitant in the spinal cord compared to the free drug, which was almost undetectable at 4 h.



Figure 10. In vivo biodistribution nanoparticles and Aprepitant in the spinal cord. A) Distribution of DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles at different time points after intrathecal injection. Representative images of n= 8 mice. The Y axis is expressed as Cy5 fluorescence intensity measured as radiant efficiency with units $ps\mu/Wcm^2$. (p, photons. s, seconds. W, watts). B) Quantification of DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5-nanoparticles after intrathecal administration. Data are expressed as mean \pm s.e.m., n= 8 mice. C) Aprepitant concentrations in the spinal cord measured 1 h and 4 h after intrathecal administration. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m.; n= 7 mice. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.01, #P< 0.001, ##P< 0.0001. Two-way ANOVA, Tukey's posthoc test.

3.2. Aprepitant loaded in nanoparticles decrease nociception.

We examined the hypothesis that incorporating Aprepitant into nanoparticles enhances its antinociceptive actions by selectively inhibiting endosomal NK₁R *in spinal neurons*.

The antinociceptive efficacy of free or nanoparticle-encapsulated Aprepitant was evaluated in preclinical pain models (nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic pain) (**Figure 11-14**. *Figure 4d, appendix 1*). For this purpose, nanoparticles, free Aprepitant or vehicle was injected intrathecally, and mechanical nociception was studied as an indicator of nociception by measuring hind paw withdrawal responses to stimulation of the plantar surface. Hindpaw withdrawal in mice was induced by calibrated

von Frey filaments (VFFs) and in rats by applying sufficient pressure to induce withdrawal of the hind paw (Randall-Selitto test).

Nociceptive model of pain (Capsaicin). The intraplantar injection of capsaicin activates the transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) on primary sensory neurons to enhance release SP in the dorsal horn, which evokes NK₁R endocytosis in spinal neurons and development of allodynia (Mantyh et al., 1995b; Jensen et al., 2017).

In vehicle and DIPMA-Ø (empty) pre-treated mice (veh, black circle or Ø, open grey circle), intraplantar capsaicin injection significantly decreased the VFF threshold from 0.5 to 4h, which returned to baseline values after 24h (**Figure 11 B. Figure 4b, appendix 1**). Free Aprepitant (100nM) or DIPMA-Ø mixed with free Aprepitant (100nM) caused modest antinociception after 1 h (16 \pm 4 and 15 \pm 3% inhibition, respectively). BMA-Ap (100nM Aprepitant) had a similar effect to free Aprepitant. However, DIPMA-Ap (100nM Aprepitant) caused a marked antinociception effect observed at 0.5 h (1 h, 34 \pm 3% inhibition). This antinociceptive effect was sustained for at least 4 h (35 \pm 2% inhibition).



Figure 11. Effects of nanoparticles on preclinical models of capsaicin-evoked acute nociceptive pain in mice. A) Aprepitant, nanoparticles (NPs) or vehicle (Veh) was injected intrathecally (i.t. 5 μ l) 30 min before intraplantar (i.pl.) injection of capsaicin (CAP). B) Withdrawal responses were measured to stimulation of the plantar surface of the injected hind paw with Von Frey Filaments. C) Integrated response as the area under the curve (AUC). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n= 6 animals for all experiments. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.005, ***, #P< 0.001, ##P< 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.

DIPMA-Ap reduces nociception on CFA-induced inflammatory pain. Intraplantar administration of CFA causes sustained mechanical allodynia and NK₁R endocytosis in spinal neurons (Stein et al., 1988; Jensen et al., 2017), allowing assessment of the capacity of encapsulated Aprepitant to reverse inflammatory pain. CFA injection after 48 h induced a marked decrease in VFF threshold in vehicle-treated animals (Veh) (**Figure 12** A. *Figure 4d–f, appendix 1*). Aprepitant (100 and 300nM) decreased hyperalgesia induced by CFA for approximately 2h. BMA nanoparticles loaded with Aprepitant (100nM) had similar effects to free Aprepitant. Meanwhile, DIPMA nanoparticles loading the lowest Aprepitant concentration (100nM) produced significantly greater allodynia inhibition than the same dose of free Aprepitant (54 \pm 4%), and this inhibition was maintained for 6 h. The analgesic effects of DIPMA nanoparticles was compared against the gold standard pain treatment morphine (3 mg/kg, intraperitoneal). Morphine fully reversed the mechanical allodynia after 0.5 h. However, the morphine effect diminished rapidly following peak analgesia after 3 h.



Figure 12. Effects of nanoparticles in the CFA-model of inflammatory pain. A) CFA-evoked sustained inflammatory nociception in mice. B) AP, NP or Veh was administered by i.t. injection (5 μ l) 48 h after CFA intraplantar injection. Withdrawal responses were measured to VFF stimulation of the plantar surface of the injected hind paw. C) Integrated response as the area under the curve (AUC). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n= 6 animals for all experiments. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.005, ***, #P< 0.001, ##P< 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.

NPs are effective at reducing mechanical hyperalgesia in the sural nerve spreading model. The analgesic effects of DIPMA-Ap was assessed in the spared of the sural nerve (SNS) model of neuropathic pain. This well-established model produces mechanical hyperalgesia in rats for >50 days (Decosterd and Woolf, 2000; Bravo et al., 2014).

Aprepitant 300nM transiently decreased withdrawal thresholds after 0.5 h to a maximum of $40 \pm 2\%$ inhibition after 1 h, whereas 100nm did not affect the withdrawal threshold (**Figure 13 A**. *Figure 4, appendix 2*). A higher dose of free Aprepitant (1µM) decreased significantly hyperalgesia after 1 h (75 ± 4% inhibition), returning to baseline values after 3 h (**Figure 14**, *Figure 4, appendix 2*). BMA nanoparticles loaded with Aprepitant (300 and 500nM) decreased hyperalgesia to a similar level to that of free Aprepitant (**Figure 13 B**. *Figure 4, appendix 2*). DIPMA-Ap (100 and 300nM) enhanced the antinociceptive effect of Aprepitant compared to the same concentration of free Aprepitant. These effects were observed for 4.5 h when none of the other treatments was effective (**Figure 13 B**. *Figure 4g appendix 1*).

In addition, DIPMA loading a higher concentration of Aprepitant (500 nM) completely reversed hyperalgesia for a period of 4.5 h (**Figure 14 A**. *Figure 6a, appendix 2*).

The preclinical pain models assessed in this study revealed that nanoparticle encapsulation and endosomal delivery enhance and prolong the analgesic effects of Aprepitant and validate the potential use of nanoparticles to enhance the antinociceptive effect drugs that had failed in the clinic.



Figure 13. Analgesic effect of nanoparticles in the SNS model of neuropathic pain. A) AP, NP or Veh (10µl, i.t.) was injected 10 days after the establishment of the sural nerve spared (SNS) model. B) Withdrawal responses to pressure stimulus were assessed using the Randall-Selitto test. C) Integrated responses expressed as AUC. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n= 6 animals for all experiments. *P< 0.05, **P< 0.005, ***, #P< 0.001, ##P< 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.



Figure 14. Effects of nanoparticles on neuropathic nociception. A) Vehicle (Veh), free Aprepitant $(1\mu M)$, DIPMA (500nM) or BMA nanoparticles (500nM) loaded with Aprepitant were administered by intrathecal

injection 10 days after SNS or sham surgery. Paw withdrawal responses were assessed using Randall-Selitto test. **B)** Integrated responses were expressed as area under the curve (AUC) from 0-7 h. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM from n= 6 rats. *P<0.05, **P<0.005, #P<0.001, ##P<0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.

3.3. NK₁R endosomal inhibition decrease neuronal activity.

C-nociceptive fibres transmit painful stimuli toward the CNS by releasing SP, CGRP and glutamate in the dorsal horn (Geppetti et al., 2015). Chronic pain is the hallmark of central sensitisation, which is an amplified nociceptive transmission that decreases nociceptive threshold. We assessed the effects of DIPMA-Ap on the C-fiber reflex in the sural nerve spare model of neuropathic pain.

First, we measured the threshold current required to activate C-fibre reflexes in sham control and neuropathic rats to examine central sensitisation. Our findings indicate that an electrical current of 10.3 ± 1.2 mA is required to trigger C-fibre reflex in sham control rats, whereas 3.2 ± 2.8 mA was necessary to activate C-fibre. In addition, repeated low frequency electrical stimuli (0.1 Hz) caused a constant and stable C-reflex activity over time (**Figure 15 A-C**. Figure 5a-c, Appendix 1), while high repeated frequency stimuli (1.0 Hz) evoked a progressive increase in C-reflex activity, known as wind-up (**Figure 15 D-F**. Figure 5a-f, Appendix 1).

In rats with neuropathic pain, intrathecal administration of Aprepitant (1 μ M) decreased C-reflex only at 30 min but did not affect wind-up activity at any time. In contrast, DIPMA nanoparticles loaded with 3 times less Aprepitant (300nM) significantly decreased C-reflex activity at 45 min and wind-up activity at 15 min post-administration. The decrease of C-reflex and wind-up activity was inhibited for the total duration of the experiments (120 min) (**Figure 15 B and E**). The effectiveness of DIPMA-AP to suppress nociception could be due to antagonism of sustained SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons, which requires NK₁R signalling from endosomes (Jensen et al., 2017).



Figure 15. Effect of nanoparticles on C-fiber activity *in vivo*. C-fibre and wind-up activity were studied in rats10 days post-SNS. A-C) C-fibre reflexes and D-F) wind-up responses were measured after AP, DIPMA-AP, or Veh administered by i.t. injection (10 μ l). A and D) representative recordings comparing AP and DIPMA-AP. B and E) Time course effects of treatments. C and F) integrated responses expressed as AUC. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n= 5 rats per group. **P< 0.005, #P< 0.001, ##P< 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunn's posthoc test.

4. Discussion

This study was developed based on the knowledge that painful stimuli can evoke NK₁R endocytosis in spinal neurons (Mantyh et al., 1995a, 1995b; Abbadie et al., 1996; Jensen et al., 2017), leading to the hypothesis that endosomal NK₁R signalling can mediate neuronal excitation and enhanced nociception (Jensen et al., 2017). Clathrin and dynamin are essential proteins required for endosomal NK₁R signalling, and endocytosis inhibitors significantly decrease NK₁R signalling *in vitro* and nociception *in vivo* (Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018). However, dynamin and clathrin inhibitors may affect the trafficking of many other receptors and the normal function of the cells. Thus, considerable efforts are required to advance these compounds to the clinic to manage pain.

Lipid-conjugated antagonists are a potent alternative to target receptors located into endosomes as shown for NK₁R, PAR₂ and CLR, where lipid conjugation improved endosomal targeting, leading to a decrease of nociception (Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Mai et al., 2021). However, lipid conjugated antagonists may lose selectivity due to the wide membrane distribution (Jensen et al., 2017; Mai et al., 2021). Furthermore, these compounds are large and require chemical modification of an antagonist to enable attachment the lipid anchor via a PEG-based spacer. While limited studies have indicated that Aprepitant modification is possible (Halik et al., 2020), this has yet to be investigated further.

Here, we developed a pH-responsive nanoparticle incorporating the polymeric unit DIPMA into the hydrophobic core. The specific details of this synthesis are described in greater detail in the associated broader study (Appendix 1 and 2), with *in vitro* and cellular characterisation, it was shown to provide fast and selective distribution of aprepitant into the endosomal network. Functional tests using the FRET-based ERK sensor demonstrated that DIPMA-mediated delivery of aprepitant into endosomes decreased endosomal-associated NK₁R-mediated ERK activity *in vitro* more effectively than Aprepitant. Additional studies to track a fluorescently-labelled variant of the DIPMA-Cy5 Np showed that the administration remains in the injection site (spinal cord), and confocal microscopy studies indicated that DIPMA-Cy5 are incorporated into neurons when looking more closely at spinal cord sections. We subsequently tested the hypothesis that the encapsulation of Aprepitant into pH-responsive nanoparticles enhances its antinociceptive actions by selectively inhibiting endosomal NK₁R *in spinal neurons*.
In this pre-chapter, which provided key data to contribute to a large, international collaborative publication, we demonstrated that DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles are detectable within 1 min following administration of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and the fluorescence remained within the injection site for up to 24 h. In addition, LC-MS analysis showed that encapsulation of Aprepitant in DIPMA nanoparticles causes drug retention in the spinal cord. We examined the hypothesis that incorporating Aprepitant into nanoparticles enhances antinociceptive actions by selectively inhibiting endosomal NK₁R signalling in spinal neurons. The antinociceptive efficacy of targeting endosomal NK₁R utilising DIPMA-Ap was evaluated in nociceptive pain, inflammatory and neuropathic pain. Nanoparticle encapsulation enhanced the antinociceptive actions of Aprepitant in preclinical models of pain. These findings were consistent with the capacity of DIPMA-AP to inhibit sustained endosomal signalling in vitro (Appendix 1). Finally, we examined the effect of DIPMA-Ap in central sensitisation through the study of C-nociceptive fibre excitability. DIPMA-Ap significantly decreased the C-nociceptive fibres activity and wind-up activity in the SNS model of neuropathic pain, where free Aprepitant had no effect. These findings indicate that inhibiting endosomal NK₁R signalling decreases C-nociceptive fibres excitability, leading to nociceptive decrease, consistent with the capacity of DIPMA-Ap to inhibit SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons in vitro (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019).

The potential mechanisms involved may be inhibition of the endosomal signalling that affects ERK activity and promotes neuronal hyperexcitability (Schmidlin et al., 2001; Woolf, 2011; Geppetti et al., 2015; Gegelashvili and Bjerrum, 2017; Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Stoeber et al., 2018; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Mai et al., 2021). However, the precise mechanisms require further characterisation. For example, while ERK activity is associated with enhanced pain transmission and may promote transcriptional changes and therefore affect neuroplastic events during chronic pain states, the immediate signalling processes that enable a GPCR within an endosome to drive a largely cell-surface membrane depolarisation event, remain unknown. PKC is one candidate that is known to have a significant effect on neuronal excitability and pain (Barber and Vasko, 1996; Tingley et al., 1997; Déry et al., 2001; Brenner et al., 2004; Kelly et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2008; Vergouts et al., 2017) and further studies into how NK1R-mediated upregulation of PKC related to direct changes in neuronal excitability would be valuable to investigate.

The enhanced effects of DIPMA-AP in the preclinical pain model could be related to delivery and retention of Aprepitant in endosomes of spinal neurons and the continued release of drug as nanoparticles encounter increasingly acidified endosomal compartments. The electrophysiological studies support the

antinociceptive enhancement of Aprepitant indicates that inhibiting the endosomal signalling of NK_1R decreases pain transmission by reducing the activity of C-fibres and decreasing the excitation of spinal neurons. However, further studies are required to fully understand the mechanism of action and interactions of these nanoparticles in the spinal cord.

In this study, Aprepitant was loaded at a maximum of 50% into DIPMA nanoparticles, and further modification of the chemistry may improve the encapsulation ratio of the drugs, including pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamic studies PK/PD. Indeed, similar studies using related micelle-based drug delivery systems have been used to deliver anticancer cargo into a murine cancer model. These studies found that nanoparticles with lower loading present a superior PK/PD profile and enhanced efficacy in the murine cancer model, reducing cytotoxicity (Chu et al., 2013; Rodallec et al., 2018; Lin et al., 2020).

The therapeutic efficacy of nanoparticles such as these could also be improved by testing other antagonists for GPCRs known to participate in pain transmission such as NK₁R, CLR and PAR2 (Jensen et al., 2017; Yarwood et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018). This could be valuable for delivering a large drug payload, containing other drugs alone, and even delivering other antagonists as a co-loaded system with aprepitant in the same nanoparticles. While these Nps were administered directly into the spine, the current expectation is that peripheral administration would not be able to achieve the same therapeutic effect due to the challenges of nanoparticles crossing the blood-brain barrier (Zhou et al., 2018; Feng et al., 2019), while this remains to be tested, other strategies may aid this approach. In addition, these particles may be optimised for drug delivery to specific tissues, for example, by incorporating targeted molecules such as antibodies or agonists to the exterior of the particles to increase cell selectivity (MacKay et al., 2014; Kaur et al., 2016; Chamseddine and Kokkolaras, 2018; Mitchell et al., 2020). This has been investigated for related nanoparticle systems, for example, antibody conjugation to gold nanoparticles resulting in a sensitive bioconjugation to detect specific bacteria (Arruebo et al., 2009; Busch et al., 2019) or by functionalisation that incorporate glutathione (GSH) to the outer face of NPs. GSH on the surface enhances neuronal uptake of nanoparticles and avoid the lysosomal degradation (Paka and Ramassamy, 2017). These studies demonstrated that choosing the ideal molecule to decorate the exterior of nanoparticles is a crucial step to improving and innovating cells targeting through the use of nanomaterials.

Finally, GPCRs target most clinically approved drugs, representing more than 30% of all available therapeutics. However, many drugs for many GPCR targets have failed in the clinic. Indeed, those

drugs that have succeeded only target 15% of all GPCRs in this superfamily (Purcell and Hall, 2017; Congreve et al., 2020). In some cases, this may be for unknown reasons, however suboptimal formulation, leading to limited absorption, a lack of targeting and safety issues are major causes. In addition, a substantial explanation of the failure may be due to the wide intracellular distribution of GPCRs -many GPCRs are known to undergo internalisation processes and hence, in some cases at least, drugs may not be able to reach the concentration required to bind and modulate these internalised receptor pools effectively. While this is a proof-of-concept study that may have limited therapeutic potential in its current form, nanoparticle encapsulation more broadly may advance the development of drugs to treat multiple diseases by altering their intracellular distribution to fine-tune signalling processes of pathophysiological importance.

5. References

Abbadie, C., Brown, J. L., Mantyh, P. W., and Basbaum, A. I. (1996). Spinal cord substance P receptor immunoreactivity increases in both inflammatory and nerve injury models of persistent pain. Neuroscience 70, 201–209.

Abbadie, C., Trafton, J., Liu, H., Mantyh, P. W., and Basbaum, A. I. (1997). Inflammation increases the distribution of dorsal horn neurons that internalize the neurokinin-1 receptor in response to noxious and non-noxious stimulation. Journal of Neuroscience 17, 8049–8060.

Arruebo, M., Valladares, M., and González-Fernández, Á. (2009). Antibody-Conjugated Nanoparticles for Biomedical Applications. J Nanomater 2009, 1–24. doi:10.1155/2009/439389.

Barber, L. A., and Vasko, M. R. (1996). Activation of Protein Kinase C Augments Peptide Release from Rat Sensory Neurons. Journal of Neurochemistry 67, 72–80.

Bars, D. L., and Chitour, D. (1983). Do convergent neurones in the spinal dorsal horn discriminate nociceptive from non-nociceptive information? Pain 17, 1–19. doi:https://doi.org.10.1016/0304-3959(83)90123-9.

Bleazard, L., Hill, R. G., and Morris, R. (1994). The correlation between the distribution of the NK1 receptor and the actions of tachykinin agonists in the dorsal horn of the rat indicates that substance P does not have a functional role on substantia gelatinosa (lamina II) neurons. Journal of Neuroscience 14, 7655–7664.

Bravo, D., Ibarra, P., Retamal, J., Pelissier, T., Laurido, C., Hernández, A., et al. (2014). Pannexin 1: a novel participant in neuropathic pain signaling in the rat spinal cord. Pain 155, 2108–2115. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.024.

Brenner, G. J., Ji, R.-R., Shaffer, S., and Woolf, C. J. (2004). Peripheral noxious stimulation induces phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor NR1 subunit at the PKC-dependent site, serine-896, in spinal cord dorsal horn neurons. Eur J Neurosci 20, 375–384. doi:10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004.03506.x.

Brierley, S. M., and Linden, D. R. (2014). Neuroplasticity and dysfunction after gastrointestinal inflammation. Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol 11, 611–627. doi:10.1038/nrgastro.2014.103.

Busch, R. T., Karim, F., Weis, J., Sun, Y., Zhao, C., and Vasquez, E. S. (2019). Optimization and Structural Stability of Gold Nanoparticle–Antibody Bioconjugates. Acs Omega 4, 15269–15279. doi:10.1021/acsomega.9b02276.

Cattaruzza, F., Cottrell, G. S., Vaksman, N., and Bunnett, N. W. (2009). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 promotes re-sensitization of neurokinin 1 receptor-dependent neurogenic inflammation. British Journal of Pharmacology 156, 730–739. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2008.00039.x.

Chamseddine, I. M., and Kokkolaras, M. (2018). Nanoparticle Optimization for Enhanced Targeted Anticancer Drug Delivery. J Biomechanical Eng 140. doi:10.1115/1.4038202.

Chu, K. S., Schorzman, A. N., Finniss, M. C., Bowerman, C. J., Peng, L., Luft, J. C., et al. (2013). Nanoparticle drug loading as a design parameter to improve docetaxel pharmacokinetics and efficacy. Biomaterials 34, 8424–8429. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2013.07.038.

Congreve, M., Graaf, C. de, Swain, N. A., and Tate, C. G. (2020). Impact of GPCR Structures on Drug Discovery. Cell 181, 81–91. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.003.

Coste, J., Voisin, D. L., Miraucourt, L. S., Dallel, R., and Luccarini, P. (2008). Dorsal horn NK1-expressing neurons control windup of downstream trigeminal nociceptive neurons. Pain 137, 340–351. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2007.09.017.

Cottrell, G. S., Padilla, B. E., Amadesi, S., Poole, D. P., Murphy, J. E., Hardt, M., et al. (2009). Endosomal endothelin-converting enzyme-1: a regulator of beta-arrestin-dependent ERK signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry 284, 22411–22425. doi:10.1074/jbc.m109.026674.

Coudoré-Civiale, M. A., Courteix, C., Eschalier, A., and Fialip, J. (1998). Effect of tachykinin receptor antagonists in experimental neuropathic pain. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 361, 175–184.

Decosterd, I., and Woolf, C. J. (2000). Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. Pain 87, 149–158.

Defea, K. A., Zalevsky, J., Thoma, M. S., Déry, O., Mullins, R. D., and Bunnett, N. W. (2000). beta-arrestindependent endocytosis of proteinase-activated receptor 2 is required for intracellular targeting of activated ERK1/2. J. Cell Biol. 148, 1267–1281. doi:10.1083/jcb.148.6.1267.

Déry, O., Defea, K. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2001). Protein kinase C-mediated desensitization of the neurokinin 1 receptor. Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol. 280, C1097-106. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.2001.280.5.c1097.

Duffy, R. A. (2004). Potential therapeutic targets for neurokinin-1 receptor antagonists. Expert Opin Emerg Drugs 9, 9–21. doi:10.1517/eoed.9.1.9.32956.

Euler, U. S. v., and Gaddum, J. H. (1931). An unidentified depressor substance in certain tissue extracts. J Physiology 72, 74–87. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1931.sp002763.

Falinower, S., Willer, J. C., Junien, J. L., and Bars, D. L. (1994). A C-fiber reflex modulated by heterotopic noxious somatic stimuli in the rat. J. Neurophysiol. 72, 194–213. doi:10.1152/jn.1994.72.1.194.

Feng, T., Huang, X., Ni, R., Suen, W. L. L., and Chau, Y. (2019). Nanomaterials for Drug Delivery and Therapy. 149–183. doi:10.1016/b978-0-12-816505-8.00006-0.

Gegelashvili, G., and Bjerrum, O. J. (2017). Glutamate Transport System as a Novel Therapeutic Target in Chronic Pain: Molecular Mechanisms and Pharmacology. Adv Neurobiol 16, 225–253. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-55769-4_11.

Geppetti, P., Veldhuis, N. A., Lieu, T., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). G Protein-Coupled Receptors: Dynamic Machines for Signaling Pain and Itch. Neuron 88, 635–649. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.001.

Halik, P. K., Lipiński, P. F. J., Matalińska, J., Koźmiński, P., Misicka, A., and Gniazdowska, E. (2020). Radiochemical Synthesis and Evaluation of Novel Radioconjugates of Neurokinin 1 Receptor Antagonist Aprepitant Dedicated for NK1R-Positive Tumors. Molecules 25, 3756. doi:10.3390/molecules25163756.

Hargreaves, K., Dubner, R., Brown, F., Flores, C., and Joris, J. (1988). A new and sensitive method for measuring thermal nociception in cutaneous hyperalgesia. Pain 32, 77–88.

Hughes, D. I., and Todd, A. J. (2020). Central Nervous System Targets: Inhibitory Interneurons in the Spinal Cord. Neurotherapeutics 17, 874–885. doi:10.1007/s13311-020-00936-0.

Iadarola, M. J., Sapio, M. R., Wang, X., Carrero, H., Virata-Theimer, M. L., Sarnovsky, R., et al. (2017). Analgesia by deletion of spinal neurokinin 1 receptor expressing neurons using a bioengineered substance P-Pseudomonasexotoxin conjugate. Molecular Pain 13, 174480691772765–14. doi:10.1177/1744806917727657.

Irannejad, R., Pessino, V., Mika, D., Huang, B., Wedegaertner, P. B., Conti, M., et al. (2017). Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. Nat. Chem. Biol. 13, 799–806. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2389.

Jensen, D. D., Halls, M. L., Murphy, J. E., Canals, M., Cattaruzza, F., Poole, D. P., et al. (2014). Endothelinconverting enzyme 1 and β -arrestins exert spatiotemporal control of substance P-induced inflammatory signals. J. Biol. Chem. 289, 20283–20294. doi:10.1074/jbc.m114.578179.

Jensen, D. D., Lieu, T., Halls, M. L., Veldhuis, N. A., Imlach, W. L., Mai, Q. N., et al. (2017). Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. Sci Transl Med 9, eaal3447. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3447.

Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Gong, J., Wisdom, M. J., Jensen, D. D., Latorre, R., Hegron, A., et al. (2020). Endosomal signaling of delta opioid receptors is an endogenous mechanism and therapeutic target for relief from inflammatory pain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 117, 15281–15292. doi:10.1073/pnas.2000500117.

Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Pattison, L. A., Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Latorre, R., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2018). Proteaseactivated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115, E7438–E7447. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721891115.

Johnson, M. B., Young, A. D., and Marriott, I. (2017). The Therapeutic Potential of Targeting Substance P/NK1R Interactions in Inflammatory CNS Disorders. Front Cell Neurosci 10, 296. doi:10.3389/fncel.2016.00296.

Kaur, H., Kumar, V., Kumar, K., Rathor, S., Kumari, P., and Singh, J. (2016). Polymer Particulates in Drug Delivery. Curr Pharm Design 22, 2761–87.

Kelly, E., Bailey, C. P., and Henderson, G. (2008). Agonist-selective mechanisms of GPCR desensitization. British Journal of Pharmacology 153 Suppl 1, S379-88. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0707604.

Kilkenny, C., Browne, W. J., Cuthill, I. C., Emerson, M., and Altman, D. G. (2010). Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research.

King, T., Gardell, L. R., Wang, R., Vardanyan, A., Ossipov, M. H., Malan, T. P., et al. (2005). Role of NK-1 neurotransmission in opioid-induced hyperalgesia. Pain 116, 276–288. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2005.04.014.

Kramer, M. S., Cutler, N., Feighner, J., Shrivastava, R., Carman, J., Sramek, J. J., et al. (1998). Distinct Mechanism for Antidepressant Activity by Blockade of Central Substance P Receptors. Science 281, 1640–1645. doi:10.1126/science.281.5383.1640.

Laird, J. M., Roza, C., Felipe, C. D., Hunt, S. P., and Cervero, F. (2001). Role of central and peripheral tachykinin NK1 receptors in capsaicin-induced pain and hyperalgesia in mice. Pain 90, 97–103.

Lee, J. H., Lee, J., Choi, K. Y., Hepp, R., Lee, J.-Y., Lim, M. K., et al. (2008). Calmodulin dynamically regulates the trafficking of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 12575–12580. doi:10.1073/pnas.0712033105.

Lembeck, F., and Donnerer, J. (2004). Tachykinins. 1–23. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-18891-6 1.

Lieb, K., Treffurth, Y., Berger, M., and Fiebich, B. L. (2002). Substance P and Affective Disorders: New Treatment Opportunities by Neurokinin 1 Receptor Antagonists? Neuropsychobiology 45, 2–6. doi:10.1159/000049254.

Lin, Y.-N., Khan, S., Song, Y., Dong, M., Shen, Y., Tran, D. K., et al. (2020). A Tale of Drug-Carrier Optimization: Controlling Stimuli Sensitivity via Nanoparticle Hydrophobicity through Drug Loading. Nano Lett 20, 6563–6571. doi:10.1021/acs.nanolett.0c02319.

Liu, X., and Sandkühler, J. (1997). Characterization of long-term potentiation of C-fiber-evoked potentials in spinal dorsal horn of adult rat: essential role of NK1 and NK2 receptors. J. Neurophysiol. 78, 1973–1982. doi:10.1152/jn.1997.78.4.1973.

MacKay, J. A., Shi, P., and Gustafson, J. (2014). Genetically engineered nanocarriers for drug delivery. Int J Nanomed Volume 9, 1617–1626. doi:10.2147/ijn.s53886.

Mai, Q. N., Shenoy, P., Quach, T., Retamal, J. S., Gondin, A. B., Yeatman, H. R., et al. (2021). A lipid-anchored neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist prolongs pain relief by a three-pronged mechanism of action targeting the receptor at the plasma membrane and in endosomes. J. Biol. Chem., 100345. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100345.

Mansikka, H., Shiotani, M., Winchurch, R., and Raja, S. N. (1999). Neurokinin-1 receptors are involved in behavioral responses to high-intensity heat stimuli and capsaicin-induced hyperalgesia in mice. Anesthesiology 90, 1643–1649.

Mantyh, P. W. (2002). Neurobiology of substance P and the NK1 receptor. J Clin Psychiatry 63 Supp 11, 610.

Mantyh, P. W., Allen, C. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., Liu, H., et al. (1995a). Rapid endocytosis of a G protein-coupled receptor: substance P evoked internalization of its receptor in the rat striatum in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 2622–2626.

Mantyh, P. W., DeMaster, E., Malhotra, A., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., et al. (1995b). Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. Science 268, 1629–1632.

Mantyh, P. W., Rogers, S. D., Honore, P., Allen, B. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Li, J., et al. (1997). Inhibition of hyperalgesia by ablation of lamina I spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. Science 278, 275–279.

McConalogue, K., Déry, O., Lovett, M., Wong, H., Walsh, J. H., Grady, E. F., et al. (1999). Substance Pinduced trafficking of beta-arrestins. The role of beta-arrestins in endocytosis of the neurokinin-1 receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 274, 16257–16268. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.23.16257.

Mishra, A., and Lal, G. (2021). Neurokinin receptors and their implications in various autoimmune diseases. Curr Res Immunol 2, 66–78. doi:10.1016/j.crimmu.2021.06.001.

Mitchell, M. J., Billingsley, M. M., Haley, R. M., Wechsler, M. E., Peppas, N. A., and Langer, R. (2020). Engineering precision nanoparticles for drug delivery. Nat Rev Drug Discov 20, 1–24. doi:10.1038/s41573-020-0090-8.

Murphy, J. E., Padilla, B. E., Hasdemir, B., Cottrell, G. S., and Bunnett, N. W. (2009). Endosomes: a legitimate platform for the signaling train. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 17615–17622. doi:10.1073/pnas.0906541106.

Nichols, M. L., Allen, B. J., Rogers, S. D., Ghilardi, J. R., Honore, P., Luger, N. M., et al. (1999). Transmission of chronic nociception by spinal neurons expressing the substance P receptor. Science 286, 1558–1561. doi:10.1126/science.286.5444.1558.

Padilla, B. E., Cottrell, G. S., Roosterman, D., Pikios, S., Muller, L., Steinhoff, M., et al. (2007). Endothelinconverting enzyme-1 regulates endosomal sorting of calcitonin receptor-like receptor and beta-arrestins. J. Cell Biol. 179, 981–997. doi:10.1083/jcb.200704053.

Paka, G. D., and Ramassamy, C. (2017). Optimization of Curcumin-Loaded PEG-PLGA Nanoparticles by GSH Functionalization: Investigation of the Internalization Pathway in Neuronal Cells. Mol Pharmaceut 14, 93–106. doi:10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.6b00738.

Pelayo, J., Poole, D. P., Steinhoff, M., Cottrell, G. S., and Bunnett, N. W. (2011). Endothelin-converting enzyme-1 regulates trafficking and signalling of the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes of myenteric neurones. J Physiology 589, 5213–5230. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2011.214452.

Poole, D. P., Lieu, T., Pelayo, J. C., Eriksson, E. M., Veldhuis, N. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). Inflammationinduced abnormalities in the subcellular localization and trafficking of the neurokinin 1 receptor in the enteric nervous system. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 309, G248-59. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00118.2015.

Purcell, R. H., and Hall, R. A. (2017). Adhesion G Protein–Coupled Receptors as Drug Targets. Annu Rev Pharmacol 58, 1–21. doi:10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010617-052933.

Quartara, L., Altamura, M., Evangelista, S., and Maggi, C. A. (2009). Tachykinin receptor antagonists in clinical trials. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 18, 1843–1864. doi:10.1517/13543780903379530.

Ramírez-García, P. D., Retamal, J. S., Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. Nat Nanotechnol 14, 1150–1159. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Retamal, J. S., Ramírez-García, P. D., Shenoy, P. A., Poole, D. P., and Veldhuis, N. A. (2019). Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain. Front Mol Neurosci 12, 273. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2019.00273.

Robertson, M. J., Deane, F. M., Stahlschmidt, W., Kleist, L. von, Haucke, V., Robinson, P. J., et al. (2014). Synthesis of the Pitstop family of clathrin inhibitors. Nat Protoc 9, 1592–1606. doi:10.1038/nprot.2014.106.

Rodallec, A., Fanciullino, R., Lacarelle, B., and Ciccolini, J. (2018). Seek and destroy: improving PK/PD profiles of anticancer agents with nanoparticles. Expert Rev Clin Phar 11, 599–610. doi:10.1080/17512433.2018.1477586.

Roosterman, D., Cottrell, G. S., Padilla, B. E., Muller, L., Eckman, C. B., Bunnett, N. W., et al. (2007). Endothelin-converting enzyme 1 degrades neuropeptides in endosomes to control receptor recycling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 11838–11843. doi:10.1073/pnas.0701910104.

Schmidlin, F., Déry, O., DeFea, K. O., Slice, L., Patierno, S., Sternini, C., et al. (2001). Dynamin and Rab5adependent trafficking and signaling of the neurokinin 1 receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 276, 25427– 25437. doi:10.1074/jbc.m101688200.

Stein, C., Millan, M. J., and Herz, A. (1988). Unilateral inflammation of the hindpaw in rats as a model of prolonged noxious stimulation: Alterations in behavior and nociceptive thresholds. Pharmacol Biochem Be 31, 445–451. doi:10.1016/0091-3057(88)90372-3.

Stoeber, M., Jullié, D., Lobingier, B. T., Laeremans, T., Steyaert, J., Schiller, P. W., et al. (2018). A Genetically Encoded Biosensor Reveals Location Bias of Opioid Drug Action. Neuron 98, 963-976.e5. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2018.04.021.

Sweitzer, S. M., Wong, S. M. E., Peters, M. C., Mochly-Rosen, D., Yeomans, D. C., and Kendig, J. J. (2004). Protein kinase C epsilon and gamma: involvement in formalin-induced nociception in neonatal rats. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 309, 616–625. doi:10.1124/jpet.103.060350.

Teodoro, F. C., Júnior, M. F. T., Zampronio, A. R., Martini, A. C., Rae, G. A., and Chichorro, J. G. (2013). Peripheral substance P and neurokinin-1 receptors have a role in inflammatory and neuropathic orofacial pain models. Neuropeptides 47, 199–206. doi:10.1016/j.npep.2012.10.005.

Tingley, W. G., Ehlers, M. D., Kameyama, K., Doherty, C., Ptak, J. B., Riley, C. T., et al. (1997). Characterization of protein kinase A and protein kinase C phosphorylation of the N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor NR1 subunit using phosphorylation site-specific antibodies. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 5157–5166.

Tsvetanova, N. G., Irannejad, R., and Zastrow, M. von (2015). G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins from endosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 290, 6689–6696. doi:10.1074/jbc.r114.617951.

Vergouts, M., Doyen, P. J., Peeters, M., Opsomer, R., Michiels, T., and Hermans, E. (2017). PKC epsilondependent calcium oscillations associated with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 prevent agonist-mediated receptor desensitization in astrocytes. Journal of Neurochemistry 141, 387–399. doi:10.1111/jnc.14007.

Vilardaga, J.-P., Jean-Alphonse, F. G., and Gardella, T. J. (2014). Endosomal generation of cAMP in GPCR signaling. Nat. Chem. Biol. 10, 700–706. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1611.

Wiley, R. G., and Lappi, D. A. (1997). Destruction of neurokinin-1 receptor expressing cells in vitro and in vivo using substance P-saporin in rats. Neurosci. Lett. 230, 97–100. doi:10.1016/s0304-3940(97)00490-4.

Woolf, C. J. (2011). Central sensitization: implications for the diagnosis and treatment of pain. Pain 152, S2-15. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2010.09.030.

Yarwood, R. E., Imlach, W. L., Lieu, T., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., Herenbrink, C. K., et al. (2017). Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114, 12309–12314. doi:10.1073/pnas.1706656114.

Zhou, Y., Peng, Z., Seven, E. S., and Leblanc, R. M. (2018). Crossing the blood-brain barrier with nanoparticles. J Control Release 270, 290–303. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2017.12.015.

Zimmermann, M. (1983). Ethical guidelines for investigations of experimental pain in conscious animals. Pain 16, 109–110. doi:10.1016/0304-3959(83)90201-4.

Chapter 4:

Endosomal metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 mediates location-specific signalling and pain transmission

1. Abstract

The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGlu₅), a GPCR essential for biological process such as neuronal development and synaptic transmission. However, mGlu5 signalling dysregulation plays important roles in pathophysiological processes such as schizophrenia, fragile syndrome X and pain. Previous studies in neurons have shown that mGlu₅ is expressed on the plasma membrane, within the endoplasmic reticulum and can also undergo endocytosis. Recent studies investigating mGlu₅ in neuropathic and inflammatory animal pain models have also revealed that sustained stimulation promotes recruitment to the inner nuclear membrane. These data suggest that the intracellular distribution of mGlu₅ is dynamic and that trafficking between the plasma membrane and intracellular sites such as the nucleus can modulate gene expression and signalling pathways of importance to pain. Although mGlu₅ endocytosis is known, investigations into the role of mGlu₅ trafficking to endosomes and whether this contributes to pain are yet to be explored. Furthermore, many potent, selective mGlu₅ antagonists and allosteric modulators have been optimised to achieve superior pharmaco-kinetic properties and minimise off-target effects, but to date have led to limited success in preclinical development, potentially due to a lack of targeting or absorption into intracellular locations.

Consistent with other trafficking receptors, we hypothesised that mGlu₅ internalisation to endosomes promotes location-specific, sustained signalling, to contribute to physiological processes such as pain transmission. Using genetic encoded signalling biosensors and pharmacological tools, we report that cell surface stimulation leads to mGlu₅ recruitment of $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_s$ protein subunits at the plasma membrane. Following endocytosis mGlu₅ continue to recruit Ga_q in Rab5-positive membranes, to promote sustained intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation and ERK activity. The kinetics and amplitude of this signalling is reduced with inhibition of dynamin or the excitatory amino acid transporters (EAAT), suggesting that dynamin-dependent endocytosis and intracellular glutamate transport are required for trafficking and the complete mGlu₅ signalling response. To further demonstrate the importance of signalling from endosomes, we utilised pH-responsive micellar nanoparticles to selectively load and release the mGlu₅ negative allosteric modulator VU058 (DIPMA-VU058) within the acidified environment of endosomes. Biasing drug action toward endosomal mGlu₅ pools improved the efficacy of VU-058 for inhibiting sustained intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation and ERK activity in vitro. Furthermore, intrathecal administration of VU-058 nanoparticles achieved superior analgesia in acute and chronic models of pain when compared to VU-058 alone. Together, these findings suggest that mGlu₅ can signal from endosomes and can lead to more effective pain inhibition when biasing drug

toward these sites. It highlights the importance of profiling trafficking-signalling relationships and the need for inhibitors that modulate mGlu5 at multiple locations, when assessing drug efficacy and formulation.

2. Introduction

Glutamate is the most abundant excitatory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS), exerting its action by activating ionotropic (iGlu) and metabotropic glutamate (mGlu) receptors. iGlu receptors are ligand-gated ion channels and are involved in fast excitatory neurotransmission (Traynelis et al., 2010). The three iGlu receptor subclasses are the alpha amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionic acid (AMPA), kainic acid (KAr) and N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors Bonnet:2015hx, Paoletti:2007je, Traynelis:2010hi, Pollok:2020ee}. mGlu receptors are GPCRs responsible for the slow neuromodulatory response to glutamate, classified into three subgroups (I-III) based on their signalling pathway and sequence homology (Niswender and Conn, 2010; Pereira and Goudet, 2018).

The group I (mGlu₁ & ₅) are highly expressed in sensory neurons, and are excitatory receptors that canonically couple $G\alpha_{q/11}$ leading to activation of phospholipase C (PLC), followed by activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathways (Alvarez et al., 2000; Hubert et al., 2001; Rush et al., 2002; Vidnyánszky et al., 1994). The group II (mGlu₂ & ₃) and III (mGlu₄, ₆, ₇ & ₈) are involved in presynaptic inhibition and modulation through adenylate cyclase (AC) inhibition, which leads cAMP reduction and inactivation of protein kinase A (PKA) (Crupi et al., 2019; Pereira and Goudet, 2018).

mGlu receptor activity is directly affected by the availability of free glutamate, where an extracellular imbalance of glutamate is associated with pathogenesis of many neurological disorders (Dong et al., 2009; Olloquequi et al., 2018; Osikowicz et al., 2013; Petrenko and Shimoji, 2001). For example, high glutamate concentrations overstimulate glutamate receptors to trigger excitotoxicity, leading to apoptosis and necrosis, mainly as a consequence of the massive Ca^{2+} influx ($_i[Ca^{2+}]$) from extracellular sources (Dong et al., 2009; Olloquequi et al., 2018). Furthermore, there are no known extracellular enzymes that degrade glutamate. Thus, a tight regulation of the extracellular glutamate levels is essential for avoid neurotoxicity (Gegelashvili and Bjerrum, 2017; Pereira and Goudet, 2018).

Extracellular glutamate is highly regulated by uptake through five different excitatory amino acid transporter (EAATs). EAAT1 and EAAT2 are expressed predominantly in glial cells (microglia and astrocytes), whereas EAAT3 (or EAAC1) is neuron-specific. In pain, EAAT1-3 activity regulate the extracellular glutamate concentration, where an increased extracellular glutamate concentration induces pain-related behaviours (Liaw et al., 2005; Magi et al., 2019; Weng et al., 2006). Prior investigation indicates that EAAT3 undergoes constitutive clathrin-dependent endocytosis trafficking,

where a minor proportion of EAAT3 is at the cell surface, and the vast majority is found in intracellular compartments (endosomes) (He et al., 2000; Holmseth et al., 2012). However, EAAT3 trafficking is regulated by the levels of activated PKC, where high levels block constitutive exocytosis and promote endocytosis of EAAT3, causing its accumulation in Rab5 and Rab11 endosomes (Padovano et al., 2009). Furthermore, EAAT pharmacological inhibition elevates extracellular glutamate concentrations in the spinal cord inducing hypersensitivity, thermal and mechanical hyperalgesia through mGlu and iGlu receptors activation (Liaw et al., 2005; Scimemi et al., 2009). Nonetheless, EAAT3 inhibition decreases nuclear mGlus signalling and plays an important role in neuronal excitation that reduce pain behaviour in CFA-induced pain and neuropathic mice (Jong et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). While a detailed mechanism of how EAAT3 affects mGlu₅ signalling remains unclear, these findings suggest that iGlu receptors may be highly sensitive to extracellular glutamate whereas mGlu₅ signalling rely on glutamate uptake into intracellular sites for promoting pain.

mGlu₅ is widely expressed and distributed in many regions in the brain and spinal cord (Alvarez et al., 2000; Honda et al., 2017; Lax et al., 2014; Neugebauer, 2002; Vidnyánszky et al., 1994; Vincent et al., 2016), and is a crucial modulator of synaptic plasticity and neuronal development (Eng et al., 2016; Niu et al., 2020; Xiao et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2017). Indeed, dysregulation of mGlu₅ signalling is associated with neurological disorders including psychosis and schizophrenia (Kryszkowski and Boczek, 2021; Nicoletti et al., 2019), addiction (Ceccarini et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2016), fragile syndrome X (Hessl et al., 2019; Stoppel et al., 2017; Youssef et al., 2018) and pain (Peterson et al., 2017; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017; Yu et al., 2018) and is therefore considered an important therapeutic target in the CNS. This is also consistent with pain-focussed studies, where mGlu₅ antagonists have shown promise for decreasing mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia in a broad range of pain conditions, including pre-clinical inflammatory pain and long neuropathic pain models (Lax et al., 2014; Montana et al., 2011; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Unfortunately, for those ligands that have progressed to clinical safety and efficacy studies, mGlu₅ antagonists have resulted in increased opioid tolerance, locomotor deficits and minimal effect decreasing pain (Abou Farha et al., 2014; Cavallone et al., 2020; Schröder et al., 2009; Sevostianova and Danysz, 2006). Thus, better drug formulation and drug delivery system are required as well as understanding of the receptor biology at intracellular location could be the key to improve outcomes.

While most research effort is focused on $mGlu_5$ in the plasma membrane, the localisation of $mGlu_5$ is dynamic, and requires trafficking between the plasma membrane and intracellular membranes (Francesconi et al., 2009; Trivedi and Bhattacharyya, 2012; Vincent et al., 2016). Activated mGlu₅ can rapidly internalise via clathrin-mediated processes, as well as via caveolin mediated endocytosis (Dhami and Ferguson, 2006; Fourgeaud et al., 2003). Both internalisation mechanisms require the GTPase dynamin for scission of newly formed vesicles budding from the cell surface. Studies in other trafficking GPCRs in spinal neurons, such as the Neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R) and the Calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR), have shown that dynamin-mediated endocytosis is critical for these receptors to also undergo endocytosis and achieve a complete signalling repertoire that can stimulate neuronal excitability and pain transmission (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017). Several studies indicate that mGlu₅ receptors undergoing endocytosis via these pathways are initially recruited to Rab5-positive early endosomes (Francesconi et al., 2009; Jong et al., 2009a; Lee et al., 2008; Stoppel et al., 2017; Trivedi and Bhattacharyya, 2012). As for most GPCRs, including those that undergo beta-arrestin mediated endocytosis, the canonical view is that directing receptors to endosomes is required for termination of cell surface signalling. However, growing evidence indicates GPCRs in endosomes can generate persistent signals from intracellular sites and many of these are critical for the control of nociceptive neurons (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Jiménez-Vargas et al., 2021; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017).

In spinal neurons, mGlu₅ is expressed on the plasma membrane and endoplasmic reticulum (Jong et al., 2009b; O'Malley et al., 2003), and it was recently shown that mGlu₅ distribution or translocate from these sites to the inner nuclear membrane and cytosol after nerve injury and CFA-induced pain (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Intracellular mGlu₅ is associated with upregulation of Jun and c-Fos transcription factors to enhance pain behaviour. In addition, EAAT3 is also proposed to play an important role, by supplying glutamate to intracellular mGlu₅ enhancing its signalling repertoire (Jong et al., 2009a; O'Malley et al., 2003; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017).

Here, using genetic-encoded signalling biosensors, we show mGlu₅ activation leads $G\alpha_{q/11}$ recruitment into Rab5-positive endosomes in an agonist-dependent manner, which promotes sustained intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation and ERK activity. In addition, EAAT3 contributes as an intracellular supplier of glutamate, modulating mGlu₅ intracellular signalling. Furthermore, we used a recently described drug delivery system to show that endosomal delivery is more effective at blocking mGlu₅ intracellular signal *in vitro* and *in vivo* using acute and chronic pain models.

3. Methods

Drugs. Glutamate as L-Glutamic acid, (S)-3,5-dihydroxyphenylglycine (DHPG) were obtained from (Sigma Aldrich, NSW, Australia). DL-threo-β-benzyloxyaspartic acid (DL-TBOA), JNJ16259685 obtained from (Tocris, Bristol, United Kingdom). pH-responsive DIPMA and DIPMA-Cy5 block copolymers used for assembling nanoparticles were synthesized previously (Ramírez-García et al., 2019) and provided as a gift from Michael Whittaker (Monash University). Dyngo4A (Abcam, Cambridge, United Kingdom), VU0366058 (VU058; Medkoo Biosciences, North Carolina, USA).

Cell lines. HEK293A cells stably expressing wild-type rat mGlu₅ (HEK-mGlu₅), mGlu_{5-venus} or mGlu_{5-Rluc} (a gift from Professor Kevin Pfleger, University of Western Australia) were maintained at 37°C and 5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's modified eagle medium (DMEM) with 5% (vol/vol) fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 500µg/mL geneticin (G418) (Sigma Aldrich, Darmstadt, Germany) for cell line selection.

Intracellular calcium assay. HEK-mGlu₅ cells were seeded at a density of 30,000 cells/well onto poly-D-lysine coated clear-bottom 96 well plates (Corning, NY, USA) using assay media (glutamine-free DMEM supplemented with 5% dialyzed FBS and 20mM HEPES) for 24h. Cells were then loaded with Fura2-AM ester (1µM. Sigma Aldrich, NSW, Australia) in HEPES-buffered saline (150mM NaCl, 2.6mM KCl, 0.1mM CaCl₂, 1.18mM MgCl₂, 10mM D-glucose, 10mM HEPES and 0.5% BSA, pH 7.4) supplemented with 4 mM probenecid and pluronic F127 (0.02%; Sigma Aldrich, NSW, Australia) for 45min at 37°C. Fluorescence was measured at 340nm and 380nm excitation and 530nm emission using a FlexStation III Microplate Reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA) as previously described (Peng et al., 2020; Retamal et al., 2021). A baseline was recorded for 20 s before agonist addition. Agonist and antagonist treatments are as indicated in each experiment. Results are expressed as a percentage of the maximum i[Ca²⁺] response to ionomycin (1µM).

Cell transfection. HEK cells expressing stable wild type mGlu₅ or mGlu₅.RLuc8 (700.000 cells/dish) were seeded onto 10 cm petri dishes (CorningTM, USA) in DMEM (5% FBS-G418) and incubated for 24h (37°C, 5% CO₂). Prior to the transfection, media was changed to fresh DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS and 5 µg/ml G418. Plasmid DNA-encoding cytosolic or nuclear ERK sensor (nucEKAR, cytoEKAR; (Harvey et al., 2008), NES-venus-mG α or NES-NLuc-mG α (mG α _s, mG α _{q/11}, mG α _{i/0} or mG α _{12/13}) (gift from Prof. Nevin A. Lambert, Augusta University (Wan et al., 2018), or mutant

dynamin K44E plasmid (as indicated in relevant sections(Schmidlin et al., 2001)). Cells were transfected (2.5µg DNA per dish) using PEI at a 1:6 ratio and plated 24 h post-transfection.

Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) measurements. HEK-mGlu₅ cells transfected with nucEKAR and cytoEKAR sensor were seeded onto poly-D-lysine coated black 96 well culture plates (Perkin Elmer, USA) and incubated for 24h (37°C, 5% CO₂). Cells were serum-starved for 8-12h prior to use. On the day of the assay, cells were equilibrated in Hanks' balanced salt solution (HBSS) supplemented with 12mM HEPES at 37°C in a CO₂-free incubator. FRET signals were measured using a PHERAstar FS (BMG LABTECH, Germany) with an optic module FI 430/530/480 every 1min. Baseline readings were obtained for 5min followed by stimulation with either agonist or the positive control, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBu, 1 μ M). Measurements were then taken for a further 30min. The half-maximal effective concentration (EC₅₀) was determined by plotting the area under the curve (AUC) of the response for cells challenged with a concentration range of the agonist.

Bioluminescence resonance energy transfer (BRET). HEK-mGlu_{5-Rluc8} cells transfected with miniGα_{-Venus}, KRas_{-GFP} or RAB5_{-GFP} were seeded onto poly-D-lysine coated white 96-well plates and incubated for 24h. On the day of the assay, cells were equilibrated in HBSS supplemented with 12mM HEPES at 37°C in a CO₂-free incubator. BRET experiments were performed using coelenterazine-H (NanoLight Technologies, AZ) for *Renilla* luciferase (RLuc8) or furimazine (NLuc). BRET signal was measured using a PHERAstar FS and calculated as the emission ratio at 530nm by Venus over the emission at 430nm by RLuc8 (optic module FI 535 480). Baseline was measured for 5min followed by stimulation with agonist.

pH responsive nanoparticles (NPs). Polymer synthesis, nanoparticle assembly, and characterisation are described in detail (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Briefly, amphipathic block copolymers were synthesised with units of Di-isopropyl methacrylate (DIPMA) units in the hydrophobic portion to DIPMA co-assembling nanoparticles were made using a of DIPMA copolymer (1mg/mL) and 1mM of VU0366058 in tetrahydrofuran (THF). The mixture was added into PBS (pH 7.4) under vigorous stirring. Finally, nanoparticles were dialyzed against PBS using dialysis membrane MWCO 3500 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) for 24h. DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles for imaging studies were assembled following the same methodology without addition of drug.

mGlu₅ **trafficking and immunofluorescence.** HEK-mGlu_{5-Venus} cells were seeded onto poly-Dlysine coated glass coverslips in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS for 24h. Cells were challenged with agonist (1µM) for 5, 15, 30min or 1h. Cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before fixation (4% paraformaldehyde, 15min on ice), then incubated in permeabilizing/blocking buffer (5% normal horse serum, 0.1% saponin in PBS containing 0.1% sodium azide) for 1h at room temperature. Cells were incubated with a monoclonal purified anti-EEA1 (mouse, # 610457, BD bioscience, RRID: AB_397830, 1:500) in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C. Cells were then washed and incubated with secondary antibody (donkey anti-mouse Alexa 546, 1:500; ThermoFisher) in PBS for 2h at room temperature. Coverslips were mounted using ProLong Diamond Antifade Mountant (ThermoFisher).

Nanoparticle trafficking in HEK-mGlu₅ cells. HEK-mGlu₅ or HEK-mGlu_{5-Venus} cells were plated on poly-D-lysine coated glass coverslips in DMEM supplemented with 5% FBS for 24h. Cells were incubated with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles (20µg ml–1, 30 min, 37°C) or vehicle, followed by the addition of agonist (10µM). Endosomes were identified by immunofluorescence using a monoclonal purified anti-EEA1 as described above using secondary antibody (donkey anti-mouse Alexa 546, 1:500; ThermoFisher). HEK-mGlu₅ cells were used to identify the interaction of nanoparticles with endosomes after mGlu₅ internalisation. At the same time, HEK-mGlu_{5-Venus} was used to identify the interaction of nanoparticles with mGlu₅ after agonist addition.

Confocal microscopy. Cells were imaged using a Leica TCS- SP8 Lightning confocal microscope equipped with HCX PL APO $\times 10$ and 63 (NA 1.40) glycerol objective. Three regions for each treatment were captured at 16-bit depth and 1024 \times 1024- pixel resolution in six independent experiments. Images were analysed using the FIJI distribution of ImageJ, and co-localisation was evaluated by determining the Manders overlap coefficient (Manders et al., 1993).

Analysis of behavioural responses to pain. Male C57BL/6 mice (6-10 weeks) were sourced from the Monash Animal Research Platform and the New York University Langone Medical Center. This study was approved by the respective Animal Ethics Committees at Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University and New York University Langone Medical Center. Animals were maintained at 22 ± 3 °C in a controlled environment of 12h light/dark cycle with food and water *ad libitum*. Studies were performed following the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health and adhered to the ARRIVE guidelines (Kilkenny et al., 2010). Investigators were double blinded to the treatment groups, and animals were randomly assigned to treatments and studied during the light cycle. At the end of the study, animals were euthanised by anaesthetic overdose.

Drug administration. Drugs were administered by intrathecal injection (5µl) into the intervertebral space (L4/L5) 30min before capsaicin administration, 48h after complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) administration, or 10 days post sciatic nerve injury. The following compounds were tested: Fenobam (200nM), VU0366058 (300nM) or nanoparticles delivering an equivalent dose of VU0366058 (DIPMA-VU058, 30µg ml-1, 300nM) or vehicle (artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF).

Acute inflammatory pain model. The acute nociceptive pain model was assessed as previously described (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Briefly, capsaicin (5µg, 80% NaCl 0.9%, 20% tween20) or vehicle (0.9% NaCl) (10µl) was subcutaneously administered to the plantar left hind paw of sedated mice (3% isoflurane). After 30 min post-capsaicin injection drugs were administered intrathecally.

Chronic inflammatory pain model: The inflammatory chronic pain model was induced as previously described (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Briefly, CFA (200 μ L of *Mycobacterium* 1 mg/mL) was mixed with an equal volume (200 μ L) of saline solution (0.9 % NaCl) and vortexed to form an emulsion. This emulsion (10 μ L) was subcutaneously administered in the plantar left hind paw of sedated mice (3% isoflurane), and drugs or nanoparticles were administered intrathecally after 48 h post CFA administration.

Spared Nerve Injury Model. The spared nerve injury (SNI) procedure was performed as previously described (Cichon et al., 2018), with notable adaptations. Briefly, animals were anesthetised with 5% inhaled isoflurane, the left thigh was shaved, and the area sterilised using isopropyl alcohol and iodine wipes. a 1cm skin incision was made on the lateral surface of the left thigh, the muscle bluntly dissected to identify the sciatic nerve and its 3 terminal branches. The common peroneal and tibial nerves were ligated using 6-0 silk (DemeTECH, USA), and a 1mm segment of the two nerves was removed just distal to the ligature (SNI). For sham procedures, the trifurcation was identified, but the nerves left untouched. The muscle layer was closed using 5-0 vicryl (Ethicon, USA), and the skin closed with 5-0 surgipro (Ethicon, USA). Animals were given buprenorphine (2.2 mg/kg i.p) prior to cessation of anaesthesia and then dosed every 12h for 3 days post-surgery. Investigators were blinded to the surgery (SNI or Sham) and treatments (nanoparticles or free drug). Mice were randomly assigned to treatments and the experiments were performed during the light cycle.

Mechanical allodynia. Mechanical nociception was assessed by measuring withdrawal thresholds of the ipsilateral and contralateral hind paw using calibrated Von Frey Filaments (VFF) as previously described (Jensen et al., 2017; Mai et al., 2021; Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Briefly, before

experiments, animals were acclimatised for 2h in individual acrylic boxes. A baseline of withdrawal thresholds was measured before administration of drugs or nanoparticles to establish a normal response for each mouse. After capsaicin administration, withdrawal thresholds were measured every 30min for the first 2h, then every 60min for the next 3h, and finally after 24h. Results are normalised and expressed as a percentage of baseline.

Statistical analysis. Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., unless noted otherwise. For multiple comparisons, results were compared using one- or two- way ANOVA followed by post-hoc multiple comparison tests, as described in the figure legends. P values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

4. Results

4.1. mGlu5 internalisation process and G-protein coupling.

Upon activation by glutamate or DHPG mGlu₅ undergoes Clathrin and caveolin-mediated endocytosis and once internalised into endosomes. Previous studies have shown it can recycle or be recruited to lysosomes to terminate signalling (Fourgeaud et al., 2003; Francesconi et al., 2009; Mahato et al., 2015; Trivedi and Bhattacharyya, 2012). To support prior imaging studies, we used BRET to quantify the endocytosis of mGlu₅, in response to the orthosteric endogenous agonist glutamate and the nonpermeable and non-transported orthosteric agonist DHPG. To quantify mGlu₅ trafficking over time, HEK293 cells expressing stable recombinant mGlu5 with C-terminal fusion to Renilla luciferase 8 (HEK- mGlu_{5-RLuc8}; BRET donor) were transiently transfected with GFP-fusion proteins that reside the plasma membrane (KRas; KRas-GFP) or early endosomes (Rab5 GTPase; Rab5-GFP) (Bery et al., 2018; Khamlichi et al., 2019). Agonist-induced changes in proximity-dependent BRET energy transfer between mGlu_{5-RLuc8} and KRas-GFP or Rab5-GFP, were measured in the presence of luciferase substrate Coelanterazine H (Figure 16 A). A rapid decrease in the mGlu_{5-RLuc8}-Kras-GFP BRET signal was observed upon stimulation with glutamate or DHPG, indicating rapid translocation of mGlu₅ away from the plasma membrane (Figure 16 B-C, Supplementary Figure 1B). These findings were correlated with an increased BRET ratio between mGlu₅ and Rab5 after glutamate or DHPG addition. Together, these findings indicate that mGlu₅ activation leads to rapid receptor internalisation into Rab5 positive endosomes (Figure 16 C, Supplementary Figure 1D). Interestingly, within the 30 min period of measurement, glutamate induced sustained mGlu₅ dissociation from the plasma membrane and a sustained association with positive Rab5-positive early endosomes. In contrast, DHPG induced a transient mGlu₅ internalisation, and a return of the BRET ratio to baseline values within 20min, suggesting that DHPG may promote greater association with rapid recycling pathways (Figure 16 C, Supplementary Figure 1B, D).

mGlu₅ endocytosis has previously been shown to participate in clathrin-mediated and caveolindependent processes (Fourgeaud et al., 2003; Francesconi et al., 2009; Trivedi and Bhattacharyya, 2012). Both mechanisms require activity of the GTPase dynamin for vesicle scission from the plasma membrane. Thus, we used the dynamin inhibitor Dyngo4A to assess if blocking dynamin-mediated endocytosis could prevent the internalisation measured in this BRET system. Pre-treatment with Dyngo4A prevented the glutamate and DHPG-induced dissociation of mGlu₅ from the plasma membrane and association with the endosomal marker Rab5 (**Figure 16B-D, Supplementary Figure** **1C, D**). Confocal microscopy imaging of HEK cells expressing mGlu_{5-venus} was used to confirm these BRET-based observations (**Figure 16E, F**). In absence of agonist, mGlu₅ distribution is predominantly at the cell surface and shows minimal overlap with early endosome antigen 1 (EEA1) staining (**Figure 16E,** Vehicle treatment). In cells challenged with glutamate or DHPG (EC₈₀, 30 min treatment shown) minimal mGlu₅ remained at the cell surface and internalised receptor was highly consistent with EEA1-positive early endosome membranes (white arrows, (**Figure 16E**). Association with early endosomes in fixed cells over time was also quantified by Manders' coefficient analysis, and indicated that glutamate induces a significant increase in overlap between mGlu₅ and EEA1 fluorescence between 15 min and 1h, whereas DHPG caused a significant interaction 15min post addition and subsequently decreased at 30 and 60 min (**Figure 16F**).



Figure 16. mGlu₅ internalisation. A) and D) Representative diagram for BRET and confocal microscopy assay utilised for mGlu₅ internalisation. B) and C) Representative time trace of BRET assay for mGlu₅ internalisation in association with Kras or Rab5 upon glutamate (10 μ M) or DHPG (10 μ M) addition in presence or absence of Dyngo4a. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n = 6 independent experiments. E) Representative confocal images of vehicle, glutamate (1 μ M) and DHPG (1 μ M) treatment, 15 min post agonist addition. F) Analysis of Mander's overlapping coefficient after glutamate or DHPG-induced mGlu₅ internalisation into endosomes. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM of 20 cells, n = 6 independent experiments. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.001, ****P < 0.001 compared to control. one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.

4.2. Assessing location-specific mGlu5 coupling to Gq and Gs protein subunits

GPCRs signal by coupling to heterotrimeric G α proteins, which in turn activates kinases and other effector proteins to regulate nearly every aspect of cell function (Latorraca et al., 2017; Pavlos and Friedman, 2017; Tsvetanova et al., 2015). mGlu₅ is reported to couple to Gs and Gq proteins, and with knowledge that mGlu5 undergoes robust endocytosis. We hypothesised that mGlu5 recruitment to early endosomes influences the magnitude and duration of $G\alpha$ protein coupling, as observed for other nociceptive receptors (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017). mGlu₅ G α recruitment was investigated in HEK-293 cells expressing stable mGlu_{5-Rluc8}, by transfecting and transiently-expressing truncated, stabilised, catalytically inactive forms of G alpha protein subunits, known as "miniG" (mG) proteins, that contain a nuclear export sequence (NES) and are fused to a range of biophysical tags including Venus fluorescent protein (Wan et al., 2018). Established to investigate receptor engagement, a variety of mG fusions were developed, based on $G\alpha_s$, $G\alpha_{q/11}$, $G\alpha_{i/0}$ or $G\alpha_{12/13}$. mGq (consisting of mGs scaffold with Gq loop that is required receptor binding) and mGs were applied here in microscopy and BRET-based biophysical assays, to assess ligand engagement and location-specific coupling (Figure 17A). Upon glutamate or DHPG stimulation, we observed an increase in BRET ratio for mGs and mGq proteins (Figure 17B-D, supplementary Figure 2B-C). Notably, glutamate induced a fast recruitment of mGq and mGs protein that was maintained over time. Two waves of mGq recruitment were also observed. While this may be an assay artefact, it was not evident for mGs recruitment and therefore may suggest rapid coupling at the cell surface, followed by enhanced recruitment with a second pool of receptor, being either additional cell surface coupling with recycling mGlu5 or recruitment of mGq to intracellular membranes (Figure 17B, Supplementary Figure 2B). In contrast, DHPG induced a slow increase in mGq and mGs protein recruitment compared to glutamate (Figure 17C, supplementary Figure 2C). With use of Dyngo4A pre-treatment to inhibit mGlu₅ internalisation, mGq recruitment in glutamate and DHPG-stimulated cells was abolished. mGs recruitment was also diminished with glutamate treatment, therefore suggesting that glutamate has the potential to promote robust G coupling from intracellular membranes (Figure 17B-C, Supplementary Figure 2B-C).



Figure 17. Measurement of mGlu5-dependent global and early endosome-specific G α protein recruitment. A) and D) Illustrations of BRET tools applied to investigate global (B) or early endosome G α protein recruitment (D). B) and C) Representative time trace of BRET assay for mGlu5-induced G α q or G α s recruitment upon glutamate or DHPG addition. E) and F) Representative time trace of BRET assay for mGlu5-induced G α q or G α s recruitment into endosomes after glutamate or DHPG addition in presence of absence of dyngo4a. G) Confocal microscopy of recombinant HEK-mGlu5 expressing G α q or G α s recruited to endosomes, 20 min post glutamate addition. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 6 independent experiments.

4.3. mGlu₅ recruits mG $\alpha_{q/11}$ but not mG α_s in endosomes.

Our previous results indicate that mGlu₅ internalisation and G α protein coupling is dependent on the nature of the agonists examined. Notably, glutamate induces a fast and sustained internalisation of mGlu₅ into endosomes and G α protein recruitment. To examine whether mGlu₅ signals from the endosomes, we examined recruitment of G α proteins into early endosomes using a location-specific

BRET assay. HEK-293 cells expressing wild type mGlu₅ were co-transfected with Rab5_{-venus} and NES-NLuc-ms or mGq (Figure 17D).

An increase in the BRET ratio between Rab5-venus and mGq-NLuc but not mG α_s -NLuc8/Rab5-venus was observed in cells stimulated with glutamate, which is indicative of mG $\alpha_{q/11}$ protein recruitment to early endosomes that contain internalised mGlu₅ (Figure 17E, Supplementary Figure 3B). To confirm this observation, Dyngo4A pre-treatment revealed a significant reduction in Rab5-mGq BRET ratio in response to glutamate. In contrast, stimulating cells with DHPG did not increase Rab5-mGq or Rab5-mGs BRET ratios, indicating that DHPG does not induce mG α_s or mG α_q recruitment into endosomes that contain mGlu₅ (Figure 17F, Supplementary Figure 3B-C). To confirm the recruitment of mG α proteins into EAA1 positive endosome, confocal microscopy was used to assess mG localisation in cultured HEK293 cells stably expressing untagged mGlu₅ and transfected with Venus-tagged mGq or mGs. In cells treated with 1µM glutamate for 15 min, mGq, but not mGs, showed a distribution that was consistent with staining using EEA1 antibody (resident protein of early endosomes; (Figure 17G).

Together, these data suggest that in the presence of glutamate, stimulated internalised mGlu₅ has the potential to recruit mGq on endosomal membranes and may therefore signal in $G\alpha_{q/11}$ proteindependent manner from this location. DHPG-induced coupling to mGq is reduced with Dyngo4A treatment, but did not promote Rab5-specific mGq recruitment, further suggesting that DHPG can promote coupling on intracellular membranes, consistent with rapid recycling via a Rab5-independent mechanism.

4.4. Assessing endosome-mediated mGlu₅ signalling

Recent studies have indicated that the internalisation process is required for mGlu₅ to induce changes in intracellular Ca²⁺ concentrations ($_i$ [Ca²⁺]) via G protein-coupling dependent pathways (Honda et al., 2017; Jong et al., 2018; Neugebauer, 2002; Scheefhals et al., 2019; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). However, how the internalisation process and EAAT3 may affect global calcium signalling by mGlu₅ has not been systematically investigated. Here, $_i$ [Ca²⁺] was characterised by assessing glutamate- and DHPG-induced Ca²⁺ signalling in the presence of Dyngo4A or the EAAT3 inhibitor, DL-TBOA (TBOA). Glutamate triggered a rapid increase in $_i$ [Ca²⁺] (first phase, 0 - 50sec) with an Emax of 52.9 \pm 3.5% (relative to ionomycin control), followed by a second response (second phase 50-250sec), characterised by an Emax of 27.9 \pm 2.9% (**Figure 18B;** EC₅₀ reported in **Table 1**). To understand the importance of mGlu₅ internalisation for glutamate-induced _i[Ca²⁺], we pre-treated the cells with Dyngo4A (30 μ M) for 30 min. Inhibition of mGlu₅ internalisation decreased both phases of glutamate-induced _i[Ca²⁺] compared to the normal response (**Figure 18D, E; Table 1**).



Figure 18. mGlu₅-induced calcium signalling in recombinant HEK-293 cells. Glutamate-induced calcium influx is dependent of internalisation process and EAATs activity. A) Representative diagram of mGlu₅ activation induced calcium influx. Representative time trace of B) glutamate and C) DHPG-induced calcium mobilisation in presence or absence of DL-TBOA (50 μ M) or Dyngo4a (30 μ M). Concentration response curve of normalised glutamate or DHPG-induced calcium influx D) First phase (0-50 sec) and E) Second phase (50-250 sec). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and normalised to ionomycin (1 μ M). n = 6 independent experiments.

While EEAT transporters are critical for neuronal glutamate homeostasis, HEK293 cells endogenously express EAAT3, enabling assessment of the relative importance of EAAT3-dependent glutamate uptake in agonist-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ (Dunlop et al., 1999). To address this, we used the pharmacological inhibitor of EAATs, TBOA (50µM, 30 min). TBOA significantly decreased the second phase of the $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ response to glutamate (**Figure 18B**). The modification in the second phase of the response indicates that glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ is mediated by the availability of glutamate in the cytosol and signalling by intracellular mGlu₅.

DHPG was used to enable study of the specific $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ signalling initiated by mGlu₅ at the plasma membrane and in rapid recycling pools. Consistent with observations in cells stimulated with

glutamate, DHPG promoted two-phases of $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ signalling. The first phase was characterised by a rapid increase of $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ with an Emax of 57.9 ± 3.1% (Figure 18C-F. Table 1), and a second phase with an Emax of 28.2 ± 2.4%. In contrast to glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$, yet in agreement with G protein-coupling experiments, inhibition of mGlu₅ internalisation showed minimal effects on any phase of DHPG-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ (Figure 18C-F). Furthermore, inhibition of EAAT3 decreased the second phase of DHPG- induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ in a manner consistent with glutamate $_i[Ca^{2+}]$, where the Ca²⁺ signalling returns to baseline 2 min post-agonist addition.

4.5. mGlu₅ endocytosis mediates glutamate signalling in subcellular compartments.

mGlu₅ activation increases ERK activation and nuclear translocation to promote transcription and expression of proteins that enhance neuronal activity (Osterweil et al., 2010; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). However, a detailed study of location-driven signalling remains unexplored. Here, we studied the link between mGlu₅ endocytosis and signalling from intracellular membranes. To explore the downstream signalling of mGlu₅, we assessed cytosolic and nuclear ERK activity using FRET sensors for cytosolic (CytoEKAR) or nuclear (NucEKAR) ERK activity.

Glutamate induced a rapid and sustained increase in cytosolic ERK activity at concentrations above 100nM (Figure 19B. Table 1; Supplementary figure 4). To understand the importance of mGlu₅ internalisation for cytosolic ERK activity, we transfected the dominant negative mutant of dynamin (K44E, prevents dynamin activity via loss of GTP binding) to inhibit mGlu₅ endocytosis. The inhibition of dynamin-mediated endocytosis by K44E decreased the second phase of cytosolic ERK activity (15 – 30min) and was associated with an increased EC₅₀ (Figure 19B, D-F. Table 1). The non-permeable and non-transportable agonist DHPG induced a gradual increase in cytosolic ERK activity over time (Figure 19C-F. Table 1), which was not affected by K44E expression (Figure 19C-F). Collectively, these findings suggest that activation of cytosolic ERK by mGlu5 is independent of receptor trafficking or endocytosis.



Figure 19. mGlu₅ activation induced cytosolic ERK activation. mGlu₅-induced cytosolic ERK activity is not affected by inhibition of mGlu₅ internalisation. A) Representative diagram of mGlu₅ activation induced cytosolic ERK activity. Representative time trace of B) glutamate and C) DHPG-induced cytosolic ERK activity in the presence or absence of K44E. Concentration response curve showing normalised glutamate and DHPG induced cytosolic ERK activity D) First phase (0 - 15min) and E) Second phase (15 - 30min). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and normalised to PDBu (1 μ M), n = 6 independent experiments.

4.6. Glutamate induced nuclear ERK activity is dependent of mGlu₅ internalisation and EAAT.

As an indicator of intracellular signalling, we used a nuclear-localised FRET biosensor to assess glutamate or DHPG-induced nuclear ERK. This approach is supported by previous studies that have shown ERK translocation and activity is enhanced by GPCR recruited to endosomes (Irannejad et al., 2017; Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017). Cell stimulation with glutamate promoted a rapid increase in nuclear ERK activity. Robust responses were observed with 100nM glutamate, and a maximum response was observed 10 min post glutamate addition (**Figure 20B**). In cells expressing the K44E variant of Dynamin, Nuclear ERK activity was still sustained but the maximal response was significantly decreased, suggesting that the internalisation of mGlu₅ is critical for the complete ERK signalling output (**Figure 20C-E**). AUC analysis of the first and second phase (10 min and 15 min post-drug addition, respectively) indicated

inhibition of mGlu₅ endocytosis affects both phases of glutamate-induced nuclear ERK (Figure 20D-E. Table 1).



Figure 20. mGlu₅-mediated nuclear ERK activity. mGlu₅-induced nuclear ERK activity is dependent on the agonist, receptor internalisation process and EAAT activity. A) Representative diagram of mGlu₅-induced nuclear ERK activity, proposed to be activated in the cytosol, followed by translocation into the nucleus. Representative time trace of B) glutamate and C) DHPG-induced nuclear ERK activity in presence or absence of K44E or TBOA (50 μ M). Concentration response curve of normalised DHPG and glutamate induced nuclear ERK activity D) First phase (0 - 15min) and E) second phase (15 - 30 min). Data expressed as mean ± SEM and normalised to PDBu (1 μ M), n = 6.

Glutamate levels can alter mGlu₅ signalling, and glutamate can be transported from the extracellular space to the cytosol by EAAT transporter proteins, leading activation of intracellular mGlu₅ pools (Gegelashvili and Bjerrum, 2017; Purgert et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). We characterised the importance of EAATs for location-specific nuclear ERK signalling mediated by mGlu₅. TBOA exclusively abolished the second phase of nuclear ERK activity observed after the addition of glutamate (**Figure 20C. Table1**). AUC analysis indicated inhibition of EAAT3 significantly reduced the sustained phase of glutamate-induced nuclear ERK activity (**Figure 20D-F**). In addition, when both endocytosis and EAATs were inhibited in combination, a significant decrease was observed in both phases of nuclear ERK activity induced by glutamate (**Figure 20C-F. Table 1**).

Together, these results indicate that mGlu₅ endocytosis and glutamate levels in the cytosol are important for glutamate-induced mGlu₅ to achieve its complete repertoire. Importantly, while the precise role of EEAT3 and other transporters in distributing glutamate into the lumen of endosomes remains unclear and has not been tested in this study, cytosolic glutamate levels are shown to be an important determinant of the sustained phase of intracellular signalling, as measured in _i[Ca²⁺] and nuclear ERK assays. In addition, none of the concentrations of DHPG induced nuclear ERK activity (**Figure 20D**). DHPG cannot be transported or diffuse through the plasma membrane and therefore does not activate existing intracellular mGlu₅ pools (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). We hypothesise that the lack of nuclear ERK activation by DHPG is also due to the potential for limited internalisation into rapid recycling pools.

4.7. Characterisation of pH responsive nanoparticles for endosomal-specific drug delivery.

Our previous results indicated that mGlu₅ signalling is dependent on its location and the nature of the agonist examined. Recently, we developed a pH-responsive nanoparticle that consists of assembling amphipathic polymers in aqueous solutions, to form soft nanoparticles or micelles approximately 30-50nm in size, for passive uptake into cells and release of drug cargo when exposed to the acidic environment within the lumen of endosomes. In prior investigations (pre-chapter 3) nanoparticles were loaded with a hydrophobic antagonist for the NK₁R receptor, and due to the presence of unit were shown to enhance antagonism of endosomal-delimited NK₁R signalling, and decreasing pain behaviour relative to non-formulated drug. Here, we used DIPMA nanoparticles as a delivery tool for bypassing ligand-binding at the cell surface and directing mGlu₅-selective inhibitors to receptors that have been located and shown to be active in endosomes.



Figure 21. Characterisation of DIPMA nanoparticles. A) Structure of pH responsive (DIPMA) nanoparticles, pH responsive nanoparticles spontaneously assemble when using polymers comprised of a hydrophilic shell of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA) and hydrophobic core due to the presence of units of P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA). The lipophilic negative allosteric modulator VU0366058 (VU058) was chosen for drug loading. B) Representative transmission electron microscopy images of DIPMA-VU058 (100 nM VU-058) and DIPMA-Ø nanoparticles. C) Properties of DIPMA loaded VU058 (100 nM VU058) and DIPMA-Ø. Data are presented as mean \pm s.d. Values in parentheses indicate the percentage of the initial drug incorporated into 1mg/ml DIPMA copolymer (% initial VU058 (mean \pm s.d), n = 9 experiments. 100nm.

DIPMA nanoparticles were synthesised by as diblock copolymers, as previously described (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). The block copolymers used to generate these nanoparticles are comprised of a non-fouling hydrophilic portion with units of 2(p(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)) and a hydrophobic portion with units of 1p(DIPMA-co-DEGMA). The DIPMA units within the core were chosen due to its intrinsic pKa (6.1). When exposed to the acidic environment of endosomes (pH 7-5.5) these units within the nanoparticle become protonated and promote charge-charge repulsion within the core, as a mechanism to achieve pH-sensitive drug release (**Figure 21A**) (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Polymers solubilised in organic solvent were self-assembled by rapid co-injection into saline with VU0366058, a hydrophobic mGlu₅ negative allosteric modulator (NAM), to form micellar nanoparticles (described herein as DIPMA-VU058). Imaging by transmission electron microscopy indicated that nanoparticles loaded with VU0366058 present as a uniform spherical shape (**Figure**

21B). Dynamic light scattering studies (DLS) indicated that DIPMA-VU058 nanoparticles had a diameter of 44.4 ± 1.5 nm with a slight negative ζ potential (-0.41 ± 0.05mV), intended to minimise interactions with phospolipid bilayers. Liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) analyses indicated that DIPMA particles loaded approximately 40% of the initial drug added (**Figure 21C**). Empty particles were spherical in shape and had a smaller diameter of 38.6 ± 3.4 nm and a similar ζ potential (-0.5 ± 0.02mV).

4.8. Assessing trafficking and endosomal uptake of nanoparticles on HEK-293 cells.

As previously described, trafficking of DIPMA particles into endosomes was assessed using nanoparticle assembled from DIPMA copolymers with cyanine 5 conjugated to the hydrophobic portion (DIPMA-Cy5) and incubated in recombinant HEK-mGlu₅ expressing Rab5-GFP (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). To assess the if DIPMA nanoparticles can internalise into mGlu₅-positive endosomes, HEK-293 cells expressing mGlu_{5-Venus} or Rab5-GFP were incubated with DIPMA-Cy5 and imaged by confocal microscopy in live cells. DIPMA-Cy5 particles were detectable 5 min postnanoparticle addition, but there was minimal overlap of these particles with mGlu5-venus in unstimulated cells(Figure 22A-B). When cells were challenged with glutamate, the DIPMA-Cy5 particle distribution was punctate and remained in endosomes consistent with the localisation of mGlu5-venus. Subsequent pixel densitometry and Mander's overlapping analyses further indicated an increase in uptake of Cy5-DIPMA into mGlu₅-positive endosomes over time, peaking at 15 min post glutamate exposure (Figure 22B). Under the same conditions, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles also showed increasing co-distribution with the early endosome resident protein Rab5-GFP over time(Figure 22C) (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). These results indicate that once activated by glutamate, mGlu₅ is internalised into Rab5-positive endosomes where DIPMA nanoparticles accumulate. This observation supports the use of DIPMA particles as a delivery system to target endosomal mGlu₅ to modulate their location-specific signalling.



Figure 22. DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles overlap with mGlu₅ in recombinant HEK-293 cells. To determine whether nanoparticles traffic to endosomes containing the mGlu₅, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were incubated with HEK-293 cells expressing **A**) mGlu_{5-Venus} or **C**) RAB5-_{GFP}, after 15min, cells were challenged with 1µM glutamate to promote internalisation of mGlu₅. Confocal show overlapping of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and mGlu_{5-GFP} at 15 min after stimulation with glutamate. Manders' coefficient was used to assess the degree of colocalisation of DIPMA-Cy5 with **B**) mGlu_{5-venus} and **D**) RAB5-_{GFP}. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 5 independent experiments. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.001, ****P < 0.001 compared to time 0. One-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test

4.9. Effects of nanoparticles on mGlu₅ endosomal signalling.

We demonstrated endosomal mGlu₅ induced calcium influx $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ and nuclear ERK, consistent with previous ERK studies that have shown that stimulated mGlu₅ is associated with excitation of spinal neurons (Rook et al., 2015). To assess the efficacy of our drug release system, we compared the ability of free drug or nanoparticles encapsulating VU058 to prevent $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ and nuclear ERK signalling in mGlu₅-expressing cells. Previously, empty DIPMA (DIPMA-Ø) particles showed no ability to indirectly activate nuclear ERK activity in recombinant HEK-293 cells. DIPMA-Ø particles also had no effect on agonist-stimulated activation of nuclear ERK (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Extending our previous data indicating that endosomal mGlu₅ contributes to glutamate induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ (**Figure 18**), we pre-incubated HEK-mGlu₅ cells with vehicle, free VU0366058 or DIPMA loaded with VU058 (100 and 300nM) and stimulated the cells with increasing concentrations of glutamate (1nM to 100µM), to assess if endosomal drug delivery could inhibit the mGlu₅ Ca²⁺ response. In vehicle treated cells, glutamate induced a rapid and sustained increase in $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ (**Figure 23B**). In cells treated with free VU0366058 (100 and 300nM), we observed a moderate, concentration-dependent decrease in $_i[Ca^{2+}]$. In DIPMA-VU058 (100nM) treated cells, we observed a significant decrease in glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ in both signalling phases, that was super-imposable with concentration response curves of cells pre-treated with 300nM free drug (**Figure 23C-D, Table 1**). In addition, DIPMA-VU058 (300nM) treated cells showed the greatest capacity to inhibit glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$, and almost abolished the sustained phase.



Figure 23. Modulation of glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$ signalling in endosomes. A) Representative diagram of mGlu₅ activation induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$. B) Effect of DIPMA loaded with VU058 (100 and 300nM) on glutamate-induced $_i[Ca^{2+}]$. AUC analysis of glutamate induced $[Ca^{2+}]$ C) first phase (0-30 sec post-agonist) and D) second phase (50 - 250 sec post-agonist). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and normalised to ionomycin (1µM, $_i[Ca^{2+}]$). n = 6 independent experiments.

To compare the capacity of free VU0366058 and DIPMA-VU058 to modulate mGlu₅-dependent nuclear ERK activity, we measured glutamate-induced activation of nuclear ERK in recombinant HEK-mGlu₅ cells. Cells were pre-incubated with vehicle, free VU0366058 or DIPMA-VU058 (100

or 300nM) for 30min then challenged with glutamate ($1nM - 100\mu M$). In vehicle-treated cells, glutamate stimulated a rapid and sustained activation of nuclear ERK (**Figure 24B**).



Figure 24. Modulation of glutamate induced nuclear ERK signalling in endosomes. **A)** Representative diagram of mGlu₅ activation induced nuclear ERK activity in HEK-293 cells. **B)** Effect of DIPMA loading VU058 (100 and 300nM) in glutamate induced nuclear ERK activity. AUC analysis of glutamate induced nuclear ERK **C)** First phase (0 - 15 min) and **D)** Second phase (15 - 30min). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM and normalised to PDBu (1µM), n = 6 independent experiments.

DIPMA-VU058 (100nM) significantly decreased nuclear ERK induced by glutamate at all concentrations, where a higher concentration of DIPMA-VU058 (300nM) completely inhibited glutamate response. Analysis of integrated AUC indicated that DIPMA-loading VU058 decreased glutamate-induced nuclear ERK activity at both concentrations in the first and second phase signalling of nuclear ERK. In contrast, free VU058 did not significantly decrease glutamate-induced nuclear ERK at any signalling phase (**Figure 24B-D**).
Inhibition of dynamin and EEAT											
	1 st phase					2 nd phase					
	Vehicle	Dy4a	K44E	TBOA	TBOA + K44E	Vehicle	Dy4a	K44E	TBOA	TBO + K44E	
Calcium mobilisation assay (pEC ₅₀)											
Glutamate	6.52 ± 0.06	6.03 ± 0.19	N/A	5.45 ± 0.23	N/A	5.55 ± 0.12	-5.75 ± 0.03	N/A	4.37 ± 0.51	N/A	
DHPG	$\begin{array}{c} 6.52 \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 6.49 \pm \\ 0.06 \end{array}$	N/A	$\begin{array}{c} 6.50 \pm \\ 0.04 \end{array}$	N/A	$\begin{array}{c} 6.08 \pm \\ 0.08 \end{array}$	5.98± 0.12	N/A	5.41 ± 0.32	N/A	
Cytosolic ERK (pEC ₅₀)											
Glutamate	$\begin{array}{c} 6.38 \pm \\ 0.06 \end{array}$	N/A	6.61 ± 0.07	N/A	N/A	6.39 ± 0.06	N/A	6.34 ± 0.09	N/A	N/A	
DHPG	6.35 ± 0.07	N/A	6.26± 0.11	N/A	N/A	6.25 ± 0.14	N/A	6.28 ± 0.06	N/A	N/A	
Nuclear ERK (pEC ₅₀)											
Glutamate	7.69 ± 0.07	N/A	6.03 ± 0.17	$\begin{array}{c} 6.76 \pm \\ 0.09 \end{array}$	$5.78 \pm \\ 0.18$	7.26 ± 0.13	N/A	6.05 ± 0.12	5.81 ± 0.18	5.28 ± 0.22	
DHPG	N/D	N/A	N/D	N/A	N/A	N/D	N/A	N/D	N/A	N/A	
	Nanoparticle – free VU058 vs DIPMA-VU058										
Agonist	1 st phase					2 nd phase					
	Vehicle	Free VU058		DIPMA-VU058		Vehicle Free		U058	DIPMA	DIPMA-VU058	
		100nM	300nM	100nM	300nM		100nM	300nM	100nM	300nM	
Calcium mobilisation assay (pEC ₅₀)											
Glutamate	$\begin{array}{c} 6.60 \pm \\ 0.05 \end{array}$	6.27 ± 0.12	6.12 ± 0.08	$\begin{array}{c} 6.70 \pm \\ 0.07 \end{array}$	5.74 ±0.12	6.16± 0.20	$\begin{array}{c} 6.07 \pm \\ 0.07 \end{array}$	5.81 ± 0.15	5.92 ± 0.11	4.52 ± 0.23	
Nuclear ERK (pEC ₅₀)											
Glutamate	7.46 ± 0.03	6.95 ± 0.07	6.33 ± 0.05	5.89 ± 0.04	5.22 ± 0.06	6.09 ± 0.09	6.03 ± 0.14	5.93 ± 0.07	5.61 ±0.12	4.30 ±0.32	

Table 3. Potency (pEC₅₀) parameters for mGlu₅ wild type receptor in signalling assays

N/A; not tested, N/D; not detected, data expressed as negative LogEC $_{50}\pm s.e.m$

4.10. Effect of nanoparticles on nociceptive models of pain

We hypothesised that targeting mGlu₅ located into endosomes by nanoparticles would enhance the antinociceptive actions of VU0366058 when delivered to spinal neurons. The efficacy of free or nanoparticle encapsulated VU0366058 was evaluated in preclinical models of acute (capsaicin), inflammatory (complete Freund's adjuvant) and neuropathic pain (sciatic nerve innervation) (**Figure 25**). Nanoparticles (DIPMA-VU058), free VU0366058, fenobam (an established antinociceptive mGlu₅ NAM) or vehicle (aCSF) were injected intrathecally before or after intraplanar injection or nerve injury. Mechanical nociception was studied by measuring withdrawal responses to stimulation of the plantar surface of the hindpaw using von Frey filaments (VVF).

Acute model of pain. Intraplantar injection of capsaicin activates transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) on primary sensory neurons leading to release of glutamate and other neurotransmitters in the dorsal horn, which evokes glutamate receptor activation and mGlu₅ endocytosis in spinal neurons and causes transient-reversible acute pain (Mahato et al., 2015; Vidnyánszky et al., 1994; Yu et al., 2018). In vehicle pre-treated mice (aCSF, i.t.), capsaicin significantly decreased the VFF threshold from 0.5 to 5h, which returned to baseline after 24h (Figure 25A). The negative allosteric modulator fenobam (300nM, i.t.) resulted in significant antinociception after 0.5h (41 ± 14% inhibition), although the effect was decreased after 1.5h. Free VU0366058 (100nM, i.t.) had a similar effect after 0.5h (35 ± 5% inhibition) compared to fenobam. However, DIPMA-VU058 (100nM, i.t) caused marked anti-nociception at 1h (54 ± 11% inhibition) that was sustained for 5h (46 ± 7% inhibition). The use of DIPMA nanoparticles as a carrier to target endosomal mGlu₅ enhanced the antinociceptive effect of VU058 in an acute model of pain, whereas the free VU058 has not efficacy decreasing capsaicin-induced acute pain.

Inflammatory model of pain. Intraplantar injection of complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) is an established model of sustained inflammatory mechanical allodynia. This model was used to assess the analgesic capacity of DIPMA-VU058 to reverse inflammatory nociception. There was a marked decrease in VVF responses when assessed at 48h after intraplantar CFA injection (**Figure 25C**). The intrathecal administration of vehicle (aCSF, i.t.) did not affect mechanical hyperalgesia, which persisted for 24h. Fenobam administration (200μ M, i.t.) transiently decreased mechanical hyperalgesia-induced by CFA at 1.5h ($28 \pm 5\%$ inhibition). Whereas, the administration of free VU0366058 (300nM, i.t.) did not reverse hyperalgesia at any time. In contrast, DIPMA-VU058 (300nM, i.t.) induced a potent inhibition of mechanical hyperalgesia ($49 \pm 11\%$ inhibition) with a

maximal potency at 1.5h post NPs administration, where the inhibition was maintained for 4h, when other treatments were ineffective.

Neuropathic model of pain. The sciatic nerve innervation (SNI) model of neuropathic pain produces mechanical hyperalgesia that is sustained for >50 days (Bravo et al., 2014; Decosterd and Woolf, 2000). This model was used to examine the analgesic efficacy of DIPMA-VU058 to relieve chronic neuropathic nociception. After 10 days, SNI reduced the VVF of the ipsilateral hindpaw when compared to sham-operated mice, indicative of mechanical hyperalgesia (**Figure 25E**). Intrathecal administration of vehicle (aCSF, i.t.) did not affect mechanical hyperalgesia, which persisted for 5h. Fenobam administration (200μ M, i.t.) inhibited withdrawal thresholds after 0.5h to a maximum of 36 \pm 8% inhibition and returned to baseline after 2.5h. Free VU0366058 (300nM, i.t.) reversed hyperalgesia after 0.5h ($32 \pm 5\%$ inhibition), although hyperalgesia returned to baseline after 3h. DIPMA-VU058 (300nM, i.t.) strongly reversed hyperalgesia, reaching the highest analgesia after 1h ($72 \pm 6\%$ inhibition) and analgesia was maintained for 4.5h.

These data demonstrate nanoparticle encapsulation and endosomal delivery enhances and prolongs the analgesic effects of VU0366058. Potential mechanisms involved may be endosomal signalling inhibition that affect ERK activity and neuronal hyperexcitability. The enhanced effects of DIPMA-VU058 in each clinical model of pain could be related to delivery and retention of VU058 in endosomes of spinal neurons, and the continued release of drug as nanoparticles encounter increasingly acidified endosomal compartments (Ramírez-García et al., 2019).



Figure 25. Assessing antinociceptive efficacy of DIPMA-formulated Vu058 in mice. A) Capsaicin-evoked acute nociception model in mice; Free VU0366058 (100nM), DIPMA-VU058 (100nM), fenobam (200 μ M) or vehicle (veh) (5 μ l) were injected intrathecally (i.t.) 30 min before intraplantar (i.pl.) injection of capsaicin (5 μ g/paw). C) CFA-evoked sustained inflammatory model; Free VU0366058 (300nM), DIPMA-VU058 (300nM), fenobam (200 μ M) or veh administered i.t. (5 μ l) 48 h post intraplantar CFA. E) SNI model was induced 10 day before i.t administration of drugs at same concentrations described for CFA. Integrated response presented as the area under the curve (AUC), B) Capsaicin, D) CFA and F) SNI-induced pain models. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 6 animals for all experiments. *P < 0.005, **P < 0.001, ****P < 0.001 compared to veh/pain. one-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test.



Figure 26. Summary of data investigating endosomal mGlu₅ **signalling. A)** Glutamate and DHPG-induced mGlu₅ signalling at the plasma membrane generating Ca²⁺ mobilisation and cytosolic ERK in agreement with G protein coupling. Whereas only glutamate activates endosomal mGlu₅, leading to Gaq coupling into endosomes inducing Ca²⁺ mobilisation and nuclear ERK activity dependent of EAATs. **B)** Pharmacological and genetic dynamin inhibitor (dyngo4a or K44E), and EAATs inhibitor (DL-TBOA) decrease endosomal mGlu₅ signalling. **C)** The pH responsive nanoparticles, a novel drug delivery system that target endosomes, release the negative allosteric modulator VU0366058, decreasing mGlu₅ endosomal signalling *in vitro* and nociceptive behaviour.

5. Discussion

Growing evidence indicates GPCR signalling is not confined to the plasma membrane and that intracellular GPCRs can signal from endosomes or other organelles such as the nucleus or endoplasmic reticulum (Jong et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). For example, the endosomal signalling of the neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R), calcitonin receptor-like receptor (CLR) and proteaseactivated receptor-2 (PAR₂) in primary sensory and spinal neurons mediates nociception, generating persistent signalling in subcellular compartment that control gene transcript leading to neuronal excitation (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Ramírez-García et al., 2019; Retamal et al., 2019; Yarwood et al., 2017). Here we report that both mGlu₅ internalisation and the downstream signalling profile are highly dependent on the properties of the agonist examined. The endogenous membrane transportable agonist glutamate induces sustained mGlu5 internalisation, recruitment of $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_s$ protein to the plasma membrane, and $G\alpha_q$ protein recruitment into the endosomes. In contrast, the impermeable, non-transported agonist DHPG promoted transient recruitment of $G\alpha_q$ and $G\alpha_s$ proteins to the plasma membrane and limited recruitment of $G\alpha_a$ to endosomes. These differences in endosomal $G\alpha$ protein recruitment is consistent with the agonist-dependent differences in signalling profiles for mGlu₅, and the ability for glutamate to achieve a complete signalling response. It further provides indirect evidence that the pharmacological tool DHPG is promoting rapid recycling or entry into 'very early endosomes', and warrants further investigation using specific markers to these trafficking pathways.

 $G\alpha_q$ protein recruitment to endosomes by mGlu₅ is associated with sustained intracellular Ca²⁺ responses and nuclear ERK activity. To our knowledge, these are the first experiments demonstrating $G\alpha_q$ protein recruitment by mGlu₅ into endosomes. Intracellular signalling induced by glutamate is directly associated with mGlu₅ internalisation, where both pharmacological or genetic inhibition of dynamin decrease Ca²⁺ responses and nuclear ERK activity. In concordance with previous studies, inhibition of EAAT by TBOA significantly decreases glutamate induced Ca²⁺ responses and nuclear ERK activity and therefore supports a role for these transporters in mGlu₅ intracellular signalling (Liaw et al., 2005; Vincent et al., 2016; Weng et al., 2006). In combination, dynamin and EAAT inhibition abolished glutamate induced Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK responses. Indeed, we confirmed that responses to DHPG, which only activates mGlu₅ at or close to the plasma membrane, are not affected by the inhibition of dynamin or EAATs. In addition, DHPG does not induce nuclear ERK activity or intracellular Ca²⁺ signalling.

To further demonstrate that mGlu₅ can signal from endosomes, we used pH-responsive nanoparticles (DIPMA NPs), that were recently developed and utilised as a drug delivery system to target NK_1R located on endosomes, and associated with sustained neuronal excitability and pain transmission (Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Consistent with these studies, we confirmed that DIPMA-Cy5 NPs colocalised with early endosomes within 10 min, and showed an intracellular distribution that was consistent with stimulated mGlu₅ in endosomes after 20 min, thus indicating that DIPMA NPs may a useful tool for directing ligands to endosomal mGlu₅. DIPMA NPs were loaded with the mGlu₅ negative allosteric modulator VU0366058, loading 40% of the initial drug added to form DIPMA-VU058 NPs (3.8 μ M). The effects of DIPMA-VU058 on glutamate-induced Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK activity were tested in HEK expressing mGlu₅ and compared against free VU058 at the same concentrations. Free VU058 significantly decreased glutamate induced Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK activity only at 300nM but not at 100nM. DIPMA-VU058 (100nM) significantly inhibited glutamate-induced Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK activity, whereas DIPMA-VU058 at 300nM abolished completely Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK activity. The efficacy of free or DIPMA- encapsulated VU058 and fenobam on nocifensive behaviour was assessed in acute nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic pain models. Intrathecal administration was utilised for localised delivery (avoids systemic clearance and need to overcome the blood-brain barrier), and showed that fenobam had a modest effect on all three models and free VU058 had a modest effect on nociceptive and neuropathic pain, but did not reduce CFAinduced pain. In contrast, DIPMA NPs markedly enhanced the antinociceptive efficacy (maximum achievable analgesia and duration) of VU058 in nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic pain. when compared to free VU58. These findings are consistent with the improved capacity of nanoparticle-encapsulated VU058 to inhibit endosome-associated, sustained glutamate-dependent Ca²⁺ and nuclear ERK activity.

Here, all the signalling pathway assessed in this study are intracellular signalling. Thus, we used pharmacological and genetic inhibitors of dynamin to demonstrate the importance of mGlu₅ internalisation for signalling. Dynamin inhibitors disrupt trafficking of many receptors and channels that control nociception and it had showed significant reduction of pain behaviour (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Mai et al., 2021; Yarwood et al., 2017). However, considerable efforts are required to advance these compounds to the clinic, as dynamin inhibitors disrupt trafficking, degradation, recycling and fundamental cellular processes.

Consistent with our study, mGlu₅ activation in spinal cord dorsal horn neurons by glutamate produced sustained Ca²⁺ responses, whereas DHPG induced only transient Ca²⁺ responses (Vincent et al., 2016). Activation of intracellular mGlu₅ is Gq-dependent and is likely to require canonical PLC/IP₃R signalling to play a dynamic role in mobilising Ca²⁺ in a localised manner (Jong et al., 2014; Purgert et al., 2014; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Blocking only cell-surface mGlu₅ in vivo with a membrane impermeable antagonist had little effect on the severity of neuropathic pain, whereas intracellular mGlu₅ inhibition using a membrane permeable antagonist markedly reduced pain behaviour and pain protein markers such as pERK, Arc and c-fos expression (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Contrary to the idea that intracellular GPCRs are non-functional and merely constitute an internal reserve of receptors waiting to translocate to the cell surface, Vincent *et al.* demonstrated that mGlu₅ located on the inner nuclear membrane plays a dynamic role in signal transduction in response to CFA induced inflammatory and neuropathic pain, by signalling from this site to generate unique Ca²⁺ and ERK that is associated with neuronal hyperexcitability (Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). The importance of intracellular mGlu₅ is supported by the significant reduction of glutamate-induced pain behaviour following EAAT3 inhibition but not by EAAT1 or 2. Indeed, EAAT1 and 2 inhibition in sham animals was pronociceptive, with similar effects to glutamate-induced pain and mechanical allodynia (Vincent et al., 2016). Consistent with intracellular mGlu₅ driving pain behaviour, blocking glutamate entry into spinal cord neurons by inhibiting EAAT3 produced analgesia, whereas blocking glial glutamate transporters (EAAT1-2) increased pain behaviours and c-fos expression in the spinal cord (O'Malley et al., 2003; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017).

Previous studies have shown that HEK cells endogenously express the EAAT3 glutamate transporter subtype (Dunlop et al., 1999). In our study, one potential glutamate source for endosomal mGlus receptors is extracellular glutamate uptake via the EAAT3, explaining the lack of intracellular signalling by DHPG. In addition, Group 1 mGlu receptors exhibit overlapping distributions with glutamate transporters in the cerebellum and hippocampus, and it is conceivable that glutamate uptake serves many purposes including signal termination, modulation of firing, as well as activation of extra-and intracellular mGlu receptors (Jong et al., 2009a; O'Malley et al., 2003; Vincent et al., 2016; 2017). Furthermore, *in vivo* studies demonstrated that specific EAAT1 or 2 inhibitors increases spinal extracellular glutamate concentration in control rats, increasing glutamate availability and generates spontaneous pain. However, EAAT3 inhibition achieved analgesia by blocking the transporters responsible for ligand uptake into spinal cord neurons(Vincent et al., 2016).

It is established that mGlu₅-dependent activation increases MEK and ERK protein synthesis and synaptic plasticity in pyramidal CA1 and cortical neurons (Huber et al., 2001; Mukherjee and Manahan-Vaughan, 2013; Niu et al., 2020; Osterweil et al., 2010; Purgert et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2018). However, mGlu₅ activity is unaffected by inhibition of protein kinase C (PKC) and phospholipase C (PLC) (Fitzjohn et al., 2001; Ireland and Abraham, 2002; Rush et al., 2002; Stoppel et al., 2017; Vergouts et al., 2017). In contrast to our observations of endosome-specific recruitment G α sunits and subsequent signalling, mGlu₅ in fragile X syndrome can recruit β -arrestin2 (β arr2) and stimulates ERK activation, promoting protein synthesis independent of G α q recruitment and PLC activation (Eng et al., 2016; Stoppel et al., 2017). While these differences may be cell type specific, further studies are required to determine the precise role of PLC and β arr2 in our system.

Given that mGlu₅ is an important target in many diseases, mGlu₅ drugs have been optimised for selectivity, affinity, and pharmaco-kinetic parameters as well as overcoming off-target effects and short-half lives of the drugs (Gregory and Goudet, 2021; Sengmany and Gregory, 2016) (Lea et al., 2005; Montana et al., 2011). However, little emphasis has been placed on targeting the intracellular receptor pool (Gregory and Goudet, 2021; Sengmany and Gregory, 2016). Lipid-conjugated antagonist are a potential strategy to target intracellular locations, but lipid-conjugation can reduce antagonist potency due to significant chemical modifications required during the conjugation process. However, the lipid-conjugation strategy has shown potential advantages in drug retention in membranes to increase 'local drug potency' and due to the ability to block both cell surface and endosomal receptor populations (Jensen et al., 2017; Mai et al., 2021). Recently, pH-responsive nanoparticles (DIPMA NPs) were developed as a novel strategy to exploit the acidic environment of endosomes for bypassing cell surface receptors and releasing drug cargo into the endosomal network. By directing greater drug quantities to this specific location, DIPMA NPs decrease the concentration of total drug required for blocking endosome-delimited events. For studies into the NK1R, this resulted in sustained inhibition of endosomal signalling of NK₁R compared to cell treatment with an equivalent concentration of free drug prepared in standard formulation. Furthermore, DIPMA NPs enhanced the anti-nociceptive actions of NK₁R antagonist in preclinical models of pain by decreasing SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons (Ramírez-García et al., 2019).

Similar to these studies, further experiments are required to more comprehensively explore the advantages and mechanism for endosomal drug delivery with mGlu₅. The importance of mGlu₅ internalisation for excitation and firing of neurons, for example, should be explored by

electrophysiology. Prior electrophysiological data indicate that the inhibition of dynamin by dyngo4a in spinal cord slices decreases firing and excitation of nociceptive neurons in the laminae I & II of the spinal cord of neuropathic rats (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019). Furthermore, we have performed preliminary electrophysiology studies for this mGlu₅ system and although not shown, these findings indicate that DIPMA-VU058 NPs significantly decreases glutamate-induced firing and excitation of neurons in the laminae I & II compared to pre-treatment with free VU058.

Previous studies demonstrated that pH responsive nanoparticles improved the anti-nociceptive actions of the NK₁R antagonist aprepitant and here were demonstrated that nanoparticle encapsulation enhanced the anti-nociceptive action of VU-058. While these pH-responsive nanoparticles have limitations due to their capacity to only encapsulate limited quantities of highly hydrophobic drugs such as VU058 or aprepitant, due to their simple assembly process , future opportunities also include testing if nanoparticles loaded with multiple antagonists for different nociceptive GPCRs may have the potential to generate synergistic anti-nociceptive effects. A further limitation of our study is the use of pre-clinical models of pain, which analyse induced nociception rather than pain perception. Examination of nanoparticle action on primary neurons is also required to further explore the signalling mechanisms involved in a native system, including important studies into the functional interactions between EAAT3 and mGlu₅ located on endosomes, which was briefly investigated here and may provide important new insights into how glutamate transport may influence location-specific mGlu₅-signalling pathways

Acknowledgements: Thank professor Nevin A. Lambert (Augusta University, USA) for providing the mini G-protein/Venus or NLuc mG_s, mG_{q/11}, mG_{i/0} or mG_{12/13} DNA.

Funding

This project was supported by Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology (TPD, NWB, and NAV).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no competing interests.

6. Supplementary figure



Supplementary Figure 1. mGlu₅ internalisation in HEK cells. A) Representative diagram for BRET assay utilised for mGlu₅ internalisation. B) and C) Time trace of BRET assay for mGlu₅ internalisation, measured by association with Kras. D) and E) association with Rab5 upon glutamate or DHPG addition in presence or absence of Dyngo4a. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, n = 6 independent experiments.



Figure supplementary 2. G-protein recruitment upon mGlu₅ activation. A) Representative diagram for BRET assay utilised for G-protein recruitment. B) and C) Time trace of BRET assay for mGlu₅-induced $G\alpha_q$ or $G\alpha_s$ recruitment upon glutamate or DHPG addition. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 6 independent experiments.



Supplementary Figure 3. G protein recruitment upon mGlu₅ activation. A) Representative diagram for the BRET-based assay employing miniG constructs to measuring recruitment of G α protein subunits. B) and C) Time trace of BRET assay for mGlu₅-induced G α_q or G α_s recruitment upon glutamate or DHPG addition. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n = 6 independent experiments.

7. References

Abou Farha, K., Bruggeman, R., and Baljé-Volkers, C. (2014). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 negative modulation in phase I clinical trial: potential impact of circadian rhythm on the neuropsychiatric adverse reactions-do hallucinations matter? *ISRN Psychiatry* 2014, 652750. doi:10.1155/2014/652750.

Alvarez, F. J., Villalba, R. M., Carr, P. A., Grandes, P., and Somohano, P. M. (2000). Differential distribution of metabotropic glutamate receptors 1a, 1b, and 5 in the rat spinal cord. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 422, 464–487.

Bery, N., Cruz-Migoni, A., Bataille, C. J., Quevedo, C. E., Tulmin, H., Miller, A., et al. (2018). BRET-based RAS biosensors that show a novel small molecule is an inhibitor of RAS-effector protein-protein interactions. *Elife* 7. doi:10.7554/eLife.37122.

Bravo, D., Ibarra, P., Retamal, J., Pelissier, T., Laurido, C., Hernández, A., et al. (2014). Pannexin 1: a novel participant in neuropathic pain signaling in the rat spinal cord. *Pain* 155, 2108–2115. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2014.07.024.

Cavallone, L. F., Montana, M. C., Frey, K., Kallogjeri, D., Wages, J. M., Rodebaugh, T. L., et al. (2020). The metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 negative allosteric modulator fenobam: pharmacokinetics, side effects, and analgesic effects in healthy human subjects. *Pain* 161, 135–146. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000001695.

Ceccarini, J., Leurquin-Sterk, G., Crunelle, C. L., de Laat, B., Bormans, G., Peuskens, H., et al. (2020). Recovery of Decreased Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor 5 Availability in Abstinent Alcohol-Dependent Patients. *J Nucl Med* 61, 256–262. doi:10.2967/jnumed.119.228825.

Cichon, J., Sun, L., and Yang, G. (2018). Spared Nerve Injury Model of Neuropathic Pain in Mice. *Bio Protoc* 8, e2777–e2777. doi:10.21769/bioprotoc.2777.

Crupi, R., Impellizzeri, D., and Cuzzocrea, S. (2019). Role of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors in Neurological Disorders. *Front Mol Neurosci* 12, 20. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2019.00020.

Decosterd, I., and Woolf, C. J. (2000). Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. *Pain* 87, 149–158.

Dhami, G. K., and Ferguson, S. S. G. (2006). Regulation of metabotropic glutamate receptor signaling, desensitization and endocytosis. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 111, 260–271. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.01.008.

Dong, X.-X., Wang, Y., and Qin, Z.-H. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity and their relevance to pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* 30, 379–387. doi:10.1038/aps.2009.24.

Dunlop, J., Lou, Z., and McIlvain, H. B. (1999). Steroid hormone-inducible expression of the GLT-1 subtype of high-affinity l-glutamate transporter in human embryonic kidney cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 265, 101–105. doi:10.1006/bbrc.1999.1633.

Eng, A. G., Kelver, D. A., Hedrick, T. P., and Swanson, G. T. (2016). Transduction of group I mGluR-mediated synaptic plasticity by β -arrestin2 signalling. *Nat Commun* 7, 13571. doi:10.1038/ncomms13571.

Fitzjohn, S. M., Palmer, M. J., May, J. E., Neeson, A., Morris, S. A., and Collingridge, G. L. (2001). A characterisation of long-term depression induced by metabotropic glutamate receptor activation in the rat hippocampus in vitro. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 537, 421–430. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.2001.00421.x.

Fourgeaud, L., Bessis, A.-S., Rossignol, F., Pin, J.-P., Olivo-Marin, J.-C., and Hémar, A. (2003). The metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5 is endocytosed by a clathrin-independent pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 12222–12230. doi:10.1074/jbc.M205663200.

Francesconi, A., Kumari, R., and Zukin, R. S. (2009). Regulation of group I metabotropic glutamate receptor trafficking and signaling by the caveolar/lipid raft pathway. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 3590–3602. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5824-08.2009.

Gegelashvili, G., and Bjerrum, O. J. (2017). Glutamate Transport System as a Novel Therapeutic Target in Chronic Pain: Molecular Mechanisms and Pharmacology. *Adv Neurobiol* 16, 225–253. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-55769-4_11.

Gregory, K. J., and Goudet, C. (2021). International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. CXI. Pharmacology, Signaling, and Physiology of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 73, 521–569. doi:10.1124/pr.119.019133.

Harvey, C. D., Ehrhardt, A. G., Cellurale, C., Zhong, H., Yasuda, R., Davis, R. J., et al. (2008). A genetically encoded fluorescent sensor of ERK activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 19264–19269. doi:10.1073/pnas.0804598105.

Hessl, D., Harvey, D., Sansone, S., Crestodina, C., Chin, J., Joshi, R., et al. (2019). Effects of mavoglurant on visual attention and pupil reactivity while viewing photographs of faces in Fragile X Syndrome. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0209984. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0209984.

Honda, K., Shinoda, M., Kondo, M., Shimizu, K., Yonemoto, H., Otsuki, K., et al. (2017). Sensitization of TRPV1 and TRPA1 via peripheral mGluR5 signaling contributes to thermal and mechanical hypersensitivity. *Pain* 158, 1754–1764. doi:10.1097/j.pain.000000000000973.

Huber, K. M., Roder, J. C., and Bear, M. F. (2001). Chemical induction of mGluR5- and protein synthesisdependent long-term depression in hippocampal area CA1. *J. Neurophysiol.* 86, 321–325. doi:10.1152/jn.2001.86.1.321.

Hubert, G. W., Paquet, M., and Smith, Y. (2001). Differential subcellular localization of mGluR1a and mGluR5 in the rat and monkey Substantia nigra. *J. Neurosci.* 21, 1838–1847.

Irannejad, R., Pessino, V., Mika, D., Huang, B., Wedegaertner, P. B., Conti, M., et al. (2017). Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 799–806. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2389.

Ireland, D. R., and Abraham, W. C. (2002). Group I mGluRs increase excitability of hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons by a PLC-independent mechanism. *J. Neurophysiol.* 88, 107–116. doi:10.1152/jn.2002.88.1.107.

Jensen, D. D., Lieu, T., Halls, M. L., Veldhuis, N. A., Imlach, W. L., Mai, Q. N., et al. (2017). Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaal3447. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3447.

Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Pattison, L. A., Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Latorre, R., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2018). Proteaseactivated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E7438–E7447. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721891115. Jiménez-Vargas, N. N., Yu, Y., Jensen, D. D., Bok, D. D., Wisdom, M., Latorre, R., et al. (2021). Agonist that activates the μ -opioid receptor in acidified microenvironments inhibits colitis pain without side effects. *Gut.* doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324070.

Jong, Y.-J. I., Harmon, S. K., and O'Malley, K. L. (2018). GPCR signalling from within the cell. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 175, 4026–4035. doi:10.1111/bph.14023.

Jong, Y.-J. I., Kumar, V., and O'Malley, K. L. (2009a). Intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) activates signaling cascades distinct from cell surface counterparts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 35827–35838. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.046276.

Jong, Y.-J. I., Kumar, V., and O'Malley, K. L. (2009b). Intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) activates signaling cascades distinct from cell surface counterparts. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 35827–35838. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.046276.

Jong, Y.-J. I., Sergin, I., Purgert, C. A., and O'Malley, K. L. (2014). Location-dependent signaling of the group 1 metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5. *Molecular Pharmacology* 86, 774–785. doi:10.1124/mol.114.094763.

Khamlichi, El, C., Reverchon-Assadi, F., Hervouet-Coste, N., Blot, L., Reiter, E., and Morisset-Lopez, S. (2019). Bioluminescence Resonance Energy Transfer as a Method to Study Protein-Protein Interactions: Application to G Protein Coupled Receptor Biology. *Molecules* 24. doi:10.3390/molecules24030537.

Kilkenny, C., Browne, W. J., Cuthill, I. C., Emerson, M., and Altman, D. G. (2010). Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. *PLoS Biol* 8, e1000412. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1000412.

Kryszkowski, W., and Boczek, T. (2021). The G Protein-Coupled Glutamate Receptors as Novel Molecular Targets in Schizophrenia Treatment-A Narrative Review. *J Clin Med* 10. doi:10.3390/jcm10071475.

Latorraca, N. R., Venkatakrishnan, A. J., and Dror, R. O. (2017). GPCR Dynamics: Structures in Motion. *Chem. Rev.* 117, 139–155. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00177.

Lax, N. C., George, D. C., Ignatz, C., and Kolber, B. J. (2014). The mGluR5 antagonist fenobam induces analgesic conditioned place preference in mice with spared nerve injury. *PLoS ONE* 9, e103524. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103524.

Lea, P. M., Movsesyan, V. A., and Faden, A. I. (2005). Neuroprotective activity of the mGluR5 antagonists MPEP and MTEP against acute excitotoxicity differs and does not reflect actions at mGluR5 receptors. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 145, 527–534. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706219.

Lee, J. H., Lee, J., Choi, K. Y., Hepp, R., Lee, J.-Y., Lim, M. K., et al. (2008). Calmodulin dynamically regulates the trafficking of the metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 12575–12580. doi:10.1073/pnas.0712033105.

Liaw, W.-J., Stephens, R. L., Binns, B. C., Chu, Y., Sepkuty, J. P., Johns, R. A., et al. (2005). Spinal glutamate uptake is critical for maintaining normal sensory transmission in rat spinal cord. *Pain* 115, 60–70. doi:10.1016/j.pain.2005.02.006.

Magi, S., Piccirillo, S., Amoroso, S., and Lariccia, V. (2019). Excitatory Amino Acid Transporters (EAATs): Glutamate Transport and Beyond. *Int J Mol Sci* 20, 5674. doi:10.3390/ijms20225674.

Mahato, P. K., Pandey, S., and Bhattacharyya, S. (2015). Differential effects of protein phosphatases in the recycling of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5. *Neuroscience* 306, 138–150. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.08.031.

Mai, Q. N., Shenoy, P., Quach, T., Retamal, J. S., Gondin, A. B., Yeatman, H. R., et al. (2021). A lipid-anchored neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist prolongs pain relief by a three-pronged mechanism of action targeting the receptor at the plasma membrane and in endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 100345. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100345.

Manders, E. M. M., Verbeek, F. J., and Aten, J. A. (1993). Measurement of co-localization of objects in dualcolour confocal images. *J Microsc* 169, 375–382. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2818.1993.tb03313.x.

Montana, M. C., Conrardy, B. A., Cavallone, L. F., Kolber, B. J., Rao, L. K., Greco, S. C., et al. (2011). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 antagonism with fenobam: examination of analgesic tolerance and side effect profile in mice. *Anesthesiology* 115, 1239–1250. doi:10.1097/ALN.0b013e318238c051.

Mukherjee, S., and Manahan-Vaughan, D. (2013). Role of metabotropic glutamate receptors in persistent forms of hippocampal plasticity and learning. *Neuropharmacology* 66, 65–81. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2012.06.005.

Neugebauer, V. (2002). Metabotropic glutamate receptors--important modulators of nociception and pain behavior. *Pain* 98, 1–8.

Nicoletti, F., Orlando, R., Di Menna, L., Cannella, M., Notartomaso, S., Mascio, G., et al. (2019). Targeting mGlu Receptors for Optimization of Antipsychotic Activity and Disease-Modifying Effect in Schizophrenia. *Front Psychiatry* 10, 49. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00049.

Niswender, C. M., and Conn, P. J. (2010). Metabotropic glutamate receptors: physiology, pharmacology, and disease. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 50, 295–322. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.011008.145533.

Niu, Y., Zeng, X., Zhao, L., Zhou, Y., Qin, G., Zhang, D., et al. (2020). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 regulates synaptic plasticity in a chronic migraine rat model through the PKC/NR2B signal. *J Headache Pain* 21, 139–12. doi:10.1186/s10194-020-01206-2.

O'Malley, K. L., Jong, Y.-J. I., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., and Romano, C. (2003). Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5 on nuclear membranes mediates intranuclear Ca2+ changes in heterologous cell types and neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 28210–28219. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300792200.

Olloquequi, J., Cornejo-Córdova, E., Verdaguer, E., Soriano, F. X., Binvignat, O., Auladell, C., et al. (2018). Excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of neurological and psychiatric disorders: Therapeutic implications. *J Psychopharmacol* 32, 265–275. doi:10.1177/0269881118754680.

Osikowicz, M., Mika, J., and Przewlocka, B. (2013). The glutamatergic system as a target for neuropathic pain relief. *Exp. Physiol.* 98, 372–384. doi:10.1113/expphysiol.2012.069922.

Osterweil, E. K., Krueger, D. D., Reinhold, K., and Bear, M. F. (2010). Hypersensitivity to mGluR5 and ERK1/2 leads to excessive protein synthesis in the hippocampus of a mouse model of fragile X syndrome. *J. Neurosci.* 30, 15616–15627. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3888-10.2010.

Padovano, V., Massari, S., Mazzucchelli, S., and Pietrini, G. (2009). PKC induces internalization and retention of the EAAC1 glutamate transporter in recycling endosomes of MDCK cells. *Am. J. Physiol., Cell Physiol.* 297, C835–44. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00212.2009.

Pavlos, N. J., and Friedman, P. A. (2017). GPCR Signaling and Trafficking: The Long and Short of It. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* 28, 213–226. doi:10.1016/j.tem.2016.10.007.

Peng, S., Grace, M. S., Gondin, A. B., Retamal, J. S., Dill, L., Darby, W., et al. (2020). The transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel mediates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1)-induced vascular hyperpermeability. *Lab. Invest.* 5, 4–11. doi:10.1038/s41374-020-0430-7.

Pereira, V., and Goudet, C. (2018). Emerging Trends in Pain Modulation by Metabotropic Glutamate Receptors. *Front Mol Neurosci* 11, 464. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2018.00464.

Peters, J., Scofield, M. D., Ghee, S. M., Heinsbroek, J. A., and Reichel, C. M. (2016). Perirhinal Cortex mGlu5 Receptor Activation Reduces Relapse to Methamphetamine Seeking by Restoring Novelty Salience. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 41, 1477–1485. doi:10.1038/npp.2015.283.

Peterson, C. D., Kitto, K. F., Akgün, E., Lunzer, M. M., Riedl, M. S., Vulchanova, L., et al. (2017). Bivalent ligand that activates mu opioid receptor and antagonizes mGluR5 receptor reduces neuropathic pain in mice. *Pain* 158, 2431–2441. doi:10.1097/j.pain.00000000001050.

Petrenko, A. B., and Shimoji, K. (2001). A possible role for glutamate receptor-mediated excitotoxicity in chronic pain. *J Anesth* 15, 39–48. doi:10.1007/s005400170050.

Purgert, C. A., Izumi, Y., Jong, Y.-J. I., Kumar, V., Zorumski, C. F., and O'Malley, K. L. (2014). Intracellular mGluR5 can mediate synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 4589–4598. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3451-13.2014.

Ramírez-García, P. D., Retamal, J. S., Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. *Nat Nanotechnol* 14, 1150–1159. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Retamal, J. S., Grace, M. S., Dill, L. K., Ramirez-Garcia, P., Peng, S., Gondin, A. B., et al. (2021). Serotonininduced vascular permeability is mediated by transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice. *Lab. Invest.* 101, 851–864. doi:10.1038/s41374-021-00593-7.

Retamal, J. S., Ramírez-García, P. D., Shenoy, P. A., Poole, D. P., and Veldhuis, N. A. (2019). Internalized GPCRs as Potential Therapeutic Targets for the Management of Pain. *Front Mol Neurosci* 12, 273. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2019.00273.

Rook, J. M., Xiang, Z., Lv, X., Ghoshal, A., Dickerson, J. W., Bridges, T. M., et al. (2015). Biased mGlu5-Positive Allosteric Modulators Provide In Vivo Efficacy without Potentiating mGlu5 Modulation of NMDAR Currents. *Neuron* 86, 1029–1040. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2015.03.063.

Rush, A. M., Wu, J., Rowan, M. J., and Anwyl, R. (2002). Group I metabotropic glutamate receptor (mGluR)dependent long-term depression mediated via p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is inhibited by previous high-frequency stimulation and activation of mGluRs and protein kinase C in the rat dentate gyrus in vitro. *J. Neurosci.* 22, 6121–6128.

Scheefhals, N., Catsburg, L. A. E., Westerveld, M. L., Blanpied, T. A., Hoogenraad, C. C., and MacGillavry, H. D. (2019). Shank Proteins Couple the Endocytic Zone to the Postsynaptic Density to Control Trafficking and Signaling of Metabotropic Glutamate Receptor 5. *Cell Rep* 29, 258–269.e8. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2019.08.102.

Schmidlin, F., Déry, O., DeFea, K. O., Slice, L., Patierno, S., Sternini, C., et al. (2001). Dynamin and Rab5adependent trafficking and signaling of the neurokinin 1 receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 276, 25427– 25437. doi:10.1074/jbc.M101688200.

Schröder, H., Wu, D. F., Seifert, A., Rankovic, M., Schulz, S., HOllt, V., et al. (2009). Allosteric modulation of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 affects phosphorylation, internalization, and desensitization of the micro-opioid receptor. *Neuropharmacology* 56, 768–778. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2008.12.010.

Scimemi, A., Tian, H., and Diamond, J. S. (2009). Neuronal transporters regulate glutamate clearance, NMDA receptor activation, and synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 14581–14595. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4845-09.2009.

Sengmany, K., and Gregory, K. J. (2016). Metabotropic glutamate receptor subtype 5: molecular pharmacology, allosteric modulation and stimulus bias. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 173, 3001–3017. doi:10.1111/bph.13281.

Sevostianova, N., and Danysz, W. (2006). Analgesic effects of mGlu1 and mGlu5 receptor antagonists in the rat formalin test. *Neuropharmacology* 51, 623–630. doi:10.1016/j.neuropharm.2006.05.004.

Stoppel, L. J., Auerbach, B. D., Senter, R. K., Preza, A. R., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Bear, M. F. (2017). β -arrestin2 couples metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 to neuronal protein synthesis and is a potential target to treat fragile X. *Cell Rep* 18, 2807–2814. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2017.02.075.

Traynelis, S. F., Wollmuth, L. P., McBain, C. J., Menniti, F. S., Vance, K. M., Ogden, K. K., et al. (2010). Glutamate receptor ion channels: structure, regulation, and function. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 62, 405–496. doi:10.1124/pr.109.002451.

Trivedi, R. R., and Bhattacharyya, S. (2012). Constitutive internalization and recycling of metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5). *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 427, 185–190. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.09.040.

Tsvetanova, N. G., Irannejad, R., and Zastrow, von, M. (2015). G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins from endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 6689–6696. doi:10.1074/jbc.R114.617951.

Vergouts, M., Doyen, P. J., Peeters, M., Opsomer, R., Michiels, T., and Hermans, E. (2017). PKC epsilondependent calcium oscillations associated with metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 prevent agonist-mediated receptor desensitization in astrocytes. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 141, 387–399. doi:10.1111/jnc.14007.

Vidnyánszky, Z., Hámori, J., Négyessy, L., Rüegg, D., Knöpfel, T., Kuhn, R., et al. (1994). Cellular and subcellular localization of the mGluR5a metabotropic glutamate receptor in rat spinal cord. *Neuroreport* 6, 209–213.

Vincent, K., Cornea, V. M., Jong, Y.-J. I., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., Mickeviciute, A., et al. (2016). Intracellular mGluR5 plays a critical role in neuropathic pain. *Nat Commun* 7, 10604. doi:10.1038/ncomms10604.

Vincent, K., Wang, S. F., Laferrière, A., Kumar, N., and Coderre, T. J. (2017). Spinal intracellular metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) contributes to pain and c-fos expression in a rat model of inflammatory pain. *Pain* 158, 705–716. doi:10.1097/j.pain.0000000000823.

Wan, Q., Okashah, N., Inoue, A., Nehmé, R., Carpenter, B., Tate, C. G., et al. (2018). Mini G protein probes for active G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) in live cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 293, 7466–7473. doi:10.1074/jbc.RA118.001975.

Weng, H.-R., Chen, J. H., and Cata, J. P. (2006). Inhibition of glutamate uptake in the spinal cord induces hyperalgesia and increased responses of spinal dorsal horn neurons to peripheral afferent stimulation. *Neuroscience* 138, 1351–1360. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.11.061.

Xiao, X. L., Ma, D. L., Wu, J., and Tang, F.-R. (2013). Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 (mGluR5) regulates proliferation and differentiation of neuronal progenitors in the developmental hippocampus. *Brain Research* 1493, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2012.11.015.

Xie, J.-D., Chen, S.-R., and Pan, H.-L. (2017). Presynaptic mGluR5 receptor controls glutamatergic input through protein kinase C-NMDA receptors in paclitaxel-induced neuropathic pain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 292, 20644–20654. doi:10.1074/jbc.M117.818476.

Yarwood, R. E., Imlach, W. L., Lieu, T., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., Klein Herenbrink, C., et al. (2017). Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 12309–12314. doi:10.1073/pnas.1706656114.

Youssef, E. A., Berry-Kravis, E., Czech, C., Hagerman, R. J., Hessl, D., Wong, C. Y., et al. (2018). Effect of the mGluR5-NAM Basimglurant on Behavior in Adolescents and Adults with Fragile X Syndrome in a Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial: FragXis Phase 2 Results. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 43, 503–512. doi:10.1038/npp.2017.177.

Yu, W., Kwon, J., Sohn, J.-W., Lee, S. H., Kim, S., and Ho, W.-K. (2018). mGluR5-dependent modulation of dendritic excitability in CA1 pyramidal neurons mediated by enhancement of persistent Na+ currents. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 596, 4141–4156. doi:10.1113/JP275999.

Chapter 5:

5HT-induced vascular permeability is mediated by TRPV4 in the airways and upper GI tract

<u>Jeffri S. Retamal</u>, Megan S. Grace, Larissa K. Dill, Paulina Ramirez-Garcia, Scott Peng, Arisbel B. Gondin, Felix Bennetts, Sadia Alvi, Pradeep Rajasekhar, Juhura G. AlMazi, Simona E. Carbone, Nigel W. Bunnett, Thomas P. Davis, Nicholas A. Veldhuis, Daniel P. Poole, and Peter McIntyre

ARTICLE

Check for updates

Serotonin-induced vascular permeability is mediated by transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice

Jeffri S. Retamal 1,2 · Megan S. Grace^{3,4,5,6} · Larissa K. Dill^{3,7} · Paulina Ramirez-Garcia^{1,2} · Scott Peng^{1,2} · Arisbel B. Gondin^{1,2} · Felix Bennetts¹ · Sadia Alvi¹ · Pradeep Rajasekhar^{1,2} · Juhura G. Almazi³ · Simona E. Carbone 1,2 · Nigel W. Bunnett 1,2,8 · Thomas P. Davis² · Nicholas A. Veldhuis 1,2 · Daniel P. Poole 1,2 · Peter McIntyre^{3,9}

Received: 14 September 2020 / Revised: 12 March 2021 / Accepted: 14 March 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to United States and Canadian Academy of Pathology 2021

Abstract

Endothelial and epithelial cells form physical barriers that modulate the exchange of fluid and molecules. The integrity of these barriers can be influenced by signaling through G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) and ion channels. Serotonin (5-HT) is an important vasoactive mediator of tissue edema and inflammation. However, the mechanisms that drive 5-HTinduced plasma extravasation are poorly defined. The Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel is an established enhancer of signaling by GPCRs that promote inflammation and endothelial barrier disruption. Here, we investigated the role of TRPV4 in 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation using pharmacological and genetic approaches. Activation of either TRPV4 or 5-HT receptors promoted significant plasma extravasation in the airway and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice. 5-HT-mediated extravasation was significantly reduced by pharmacological inhibition of the 5-HT_{2A} receptor subtype, or with antagonism or deletion of TRPV4, consistent with functional interaction between 5-HT receptors and TRPV4. Inhibition of receptors for the neuropeptides substance P (SP) or calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) diminished 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation. Supporting studies assessing treatment of HUVEC with 5-HT, CGRP, or SP was associated with ERK phosphorylation. Exposure to the TRPV4 activator GSK1016790A, but not 5-HT, increased intracellular Ca²⁺ in these cells. However, 5-HT pre-treatment enhanced GSK1016790A-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling, consistent with sensitization of TRPV4. The functional interaction was further characterized in HEK293 cells expressing 5-HT_{2A} to reveal that TRPV4 enhances the duration of 5-HT-evoked Ca^{2+} signaling through a PLA₂ and PKC-dependent mechanism. In summary, this study demonstrates that TRPV4 contributes to 5-HT_{2A}-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract, with evidence supporting a mechanism of action involving SP and CGRP release.

These authors contributed equally: Jeffri S. Retamal, Megan S. Grace

 Nicholas A. Veldhuis Nicholas.Veldhuis@monash.edu
 Daniel P. Poole

- ¹ Drug Discovery Biology Theme, Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia
- ² ARC Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science & Technology, Monash University, Parkville, VIC, Australia
- ³ School of Medical Sciences and Health Innovations Research Institute, RMIT University, Bundoora, VIC, Australia

- ⁴ Department of Physiology, School of Medicine Nursing and Health Sciences, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia
- ⁵ Baker IDI Heart and Diabetes Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia
- ⁶ School of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia
- ⁷ Department of Neuroscience, Central Clinical School, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia
- ⁸ Department of Molecular Pathobiology, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA
- ⁹ The Florey Institute of Neuroscience and Mental Health, Parkville, VIC, Australia

Daniel.Poole@monash.edu

Introduction

The vasculature performs several important functions that are essential for maintaining fluid homeostasis. Endothelial cells make up the physical barrier in blood vessels that enables the control of fluid and molecule exchange from the circulation to the surrounding tissues. Physiological regulation of these barriers controls the extravasation of plasma proteins through inter-endothelial gaps, where cytoskeletal reorganization and disassembly of VE-cadherin junctions are essential regulators of endothelial permeability [1]. Disruption of these processes, as occurs in disease, is associated with unregulated movement and accumulation of fluids, leading to tissue edema.

Several inflammatory mediators, including proteases (e.g., thrombin), histamine, substance P (SP), and serotonin (5-HT) can activate specific receptors on vascular endothelial cells to promote changes in endothelial permeability. These changes can be mediated by an increase in intracellular calcium ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$) and activation of signaling pathways that regulate the contractile apparatus of cells, leading to cytoskeletal remodeling and disassembly of VE-Cadherin junctions [2]. This, in turn, causes endothelial cell contraction and cell junction disruption, resulting in increased endothelial permeability and tissue edema [2–6]. For example, increased endothelial $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in pulmonary blood vessels leads to their constriction and to subsequent edema formation [3, 7, 8].

It has been demonstrated that systemic administration of 5-HT produces detrimental effects on the integrity of the endothelial barrier, leading to plasma extravasation into the surrounding tissue [9]. The biological actions of 5-HT are mediated through specific serotonin receptors (5-HT₁₋₇) [10], all of which are G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), with the notable exception of the 5-HT₃ ligand-gated ion channel [11]. In addition to their well-defined roles in neurotransmission and clinical association with the pathogenesis of neurological diseases and neuropsychiatric disorders, 5-HT receptors are also key regulators of the homeostatic control of vasoconstriction and vascular permeability [12–14].

As previously described, elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in endothelial cells is required to cause barrier dysfunction. This elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is triggered by mechanical stimuli or by activation of GPCRs and occurs in two phases, initiated by the release of Ca^{2+} from ER-stores and followed by entry of extracellular Ca^{2+} through cation channels [15]. Additionally, GPCR activation can also promote Ca^{2+} entry by activating cation channels, including transient receptor potential channels (TRP), which are the main nonselective cation channels in endothelial cells [1, 16]. The principal TRP channels that mediate endothelial cell permeability are TRPM2, TRPC1, 4 and 6 and vanilloid family members TRPV1 and 4 [17].

Transient Receptor Potential Vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) is an established enhancer of vascular permeability and edema that is expressed by a variety of cells including endothelia, peripheral sensory neurons, and immune cells [18-21]. TRPV4 is also a recognized promoter of neurogenic inflammation through enhanced release of neuropeptides, including SP and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), from peptidergic peripheral nerve endings [22, 23]. The sensitivity to ligand or mechanical activation, as well as the magnitude and duration of TRPV4 activity can be augmented by functional interactions (termed 'coupling') with GPCRs. These interactions are also known to be reciprocal, where functional coupling of a GPCR to an ion channel such as TRPV4 can lead to augmentation of GPCR signaling outputs. Furthermore, coupling between GPCRs and TRPV4 is proposed to contribute to disease-associated including neurogenic inflammation processes, and pain [24].

A well-characterized example of reciprocal coupling is illustrated through functional interactions between proteaseactivated receptors 1 and 2 (PAR1 and PAR2) and TRPV4 [20, 25, 26]. PAR activation can "sensitize" or reduce the activation threshold through channel phosphorylation and enhance TRPV4 signaling through the production of endogenous TRPV4 activators (e.g., arachidonic acid and 5',6'-EET) [25–27]. Conversely, TRPV4 activity augments PAR1- and PAR2-dependent signaling, and this bidirectional PAR-TRPV4 relationship drives a significant component of PAR-evoked edema [20, 26, 27].

A variety of cell types co-express 5-HT receptors and TRPV4, highlighting their broader potential to functionally interact. Indeed, studies have demonstrated an important role for TRPV4 as an enhancer of 5-HT signaling associated with arterial smooth muscle proliferation [28, 29], pulmonary artery smooth muscle contraction [8, 19], itch [30], and visceral pain [31]. Immunohistochemistry and in situ hybridization studies have demonstrated that nociceptive dorsal root ganglion neurons mainly express 5-HT receptor subtypes 2A and 3 [32, 33]. Activation of 5-HT_{2A} expressed by these neurons promotes 5-HT-induced nociception and the release of SP and CGRP from peripheral nerve terminals, leading to a sustained increase in vascular permeability [34–38]. Neurogenic inflammation is initiated by the release of these neuropeptides [36, 39] and further studies have supported the involvement of neurogenic inflammation in 5-HT-evoked plasma extravasation by demonstrating significant inhibition of plasma protein extravasation with antimigraine drugs [40, 41].

Although there is strong evidence to support the importance of TRPV4 as an amplifier of 5-HT receptor signaling, the relative contribution of TRPV4 to 5-HT-induced edema has not been defined in detail. We hypothesized that 5-HTinduced plasma extravasation is augmented by TRPV4 activity and is mediated, in part, through release of SP and CGRP from nerve fibers associated with microvasculature. In the present study, we found that the systemic administration of 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airway and upper GI tract, particularly by the activation of $5HT_{2A}$, where the pharmacological inhibition or genetic deletion of TRPV4 attenuates 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract, indicating a reciprocal coupling between 5-HT_{2A} and TRPV4 in vivo. In addition, in vitro studies indicated that 5-HT_{2A} interact with TRPV4 through the activation of PLA₂ and PKC. Moreover, we establish that inhibitors of NK₁R (SR140333) or the CGRP receptor (Olcegepant; BIBN4096) block 5-HT- and TRPV4-induced plasma extravasation in mice. These observations provide further mechanistic understanding of the important contribution that GPCR-TRP channel interactions have in fundamental biological processes, including the control of vascular permeability.

Materials and methods

Drugs and reagents

Evans Blue dye and GSK1016790A were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO); 5-HT, HC067047, SR140333, GF 109203X (GFX), and BIBN 4096 (Olcegepant) were purchased from Tocris Bioscience (Bristol, UK); YM 26734 was from Cayman Chemical; WAY-100635 Maleate, GR 55562 dihydrochloride, GR113808 and SB 269970 hydrochloride were purchased from Abcam Australia (Melbourne, VIC Australia). Ketanserin and RS-127445 were purchased from Selleck Chemicals (Houston, TX. USA); Evans Blue was dissolved in sterile 0.9% saline. All drugs administered to mice were prepared on the day of experimentation in sterile 1% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) in 0.9% saline.

Animals

All animal experiments adhered to the ARRIVE guidelines [42] and were carried out in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. This study was approved by the Animal Ethics Committees of RMIT and Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences. Wild-type C57Bl/6J and TRPV4^{-/-} (kindly provided by Dr. W Liedtke, Duke University) (6–12 weeks, male) were obtained from the Animal Resources Center (Canning Vale, WA), or from Monash Animal Research Platform, Monash University. All animals were maintained in a temperature-

controlled (24 °C) environment with a 12 h light/dark cycle and with access to food and water ad libitum.

Measurement of plasma extravasation

Mice were anaesthetized with a combination of Ketamine (100 mg/kg i.p.) and Xylazine (10 mg/kg i.p.) and kept on a warming pad. The skin at the throat was removed to expose the jugular veins. Substances were i.v. administered by passing a needle through the *pectoralis major* muscle to prevent bleeding on withdrawal. Evans Blue dye (20 mg/kg) or 0.9% saline were administered into the jugular vein, 1 min before injection of agonist (5-HT or GSK1016790A, dosing as indicated in relevant sections) or vehicle (1% DMSO in 0.9% saline). Mice were killed (5 min postagonist administration) by exsanguination and perfused with saline solution. Tissue samples were collected, weighed, and placed in formamide (≥18 h at 37 °C) to facilitate dye extraction. Absorbance of the extracts was determined against standard concentrations of Evans Blue at 620 nm using a FlexStation III plate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA). Antagonists of 5-HT_{1A} (WAY-100635, 80 µg/kg) [43], 5-HT_{1B} (GR 55562, 300 µg/kg) [44], 5-HT_{2A} (ketanserin, 2 mg/kg) [45], 5-HT_{2B} (RS-127445, 300 µg/kg) [46], 5-HT₄ (GR 113808, 1 mg/kg) [47], 5-HT₇ (SB269973, 300 µg/kg) [46], TRPV4 (HC0670471, 10 mg/kg), NK1R (SR140333, 1 mg/kg), or CGRP receptor (Olcegepant, 1 mg/kg) were i.p. injected 60 min prior to anesthetics. Results were expressed as the amount of Evans Blue dye per wet weight tissue (ng of EB/ mg of tissue).

Human umbilical vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) culture

HUVEC were grown in endothelial growth medium (EGM, Lonza, Mount Waverley, VIC, Australia) containing 2% fetal bovine serum and a SingleQuots Supplement Pack (Lonza) as described [20].

Transient transfection

Constructs of pcDNA3.1⁺ human 5-HT receptors subtype 1A, 1B, 2A, 2B, 4, and 7 (hHT_{1A-7}) plasmids were purchased from the cDNA Resource Center (Bloomsburg, PA, USA). Human Embryonic Kidney 293 cell line with tetracycline-inducible (T-RexTM 293) TRPV4 over-expression (HEK-TRPV4) was grown at 37 °C in 5% CO₂ in DMEM containing 10% FBS (5 µg/mL blasticidin S). Cells were transiently transfected with hHT_{1A-7} plasmids (75 ng DNA/well, HEK-5-HT_{1A-7}) using the standard protocol for the FuGENE reagent system (Promega



Fig. 1 5-HT causes vascular hyperpermeability in the airways and upper GI tract. Vascular hyperpermeability was assessed by the presence of Evans Blue in tissues of the airways, esophagus, and stomach following the intravenous injection of increasing concentrations of 5-HT ($30-1000 \mu g/kg$). Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M.,

Corporation Madison, WI USA). Expression of TRPV4 was induced overnight with 0.1 µg/mL tetracycline.

Ca²⁺ signaling assays

HUVEC or HEK cells were seeded onto poly-D-lysine coated 96-well plates (15,000 cells/well) and cultured for 48 h. Cells were loaded with Fura2-AM ester (1 μ M) in Hank's Balanced Salt Solution (HBSS) supplemented with probenecid (2 mM) and pluronic acid (0.5 μ M) for 45 min at 37 °C. Fluorescence was measured at 340/380 nm excitation and 530 nm emission wavelengths using a FlexStation III plate reader. Baseline measurements were recorded for 20 s prior to agonist addition. Responses to agonists were recorded for 200 s post-addition. For the PKC and PLA₂ inhibition assay, cells were incubated 30 min prior to 5-HT addition, as previously described with GF 109203X (GFX, 100 nM) [26] or YM26734 (30 μ M) [48].

ERK phosphorylation assays

HUVEC were seeded onto non-coated 96-well plates (15,000 cells/well) and cultured for 48 h. Cells were serum starved for 6 h and treated as described in the

SPRINGER NATURE

n = 6-9 mice per group. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001; significantly different compared to vehicle treatment (1% DMSO in 0.9% saline); one-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test.

results section. Phospho-ERK 1/2 (pERK1/2) was measured using the AlphaScreen SureFire p-ERK 1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) Assay Kit (PerkinElmer, USA), according to the manufacturer's specifications. Fluorescence was measured using the EnVision multilabel plate reader (PerkinElmer). Data were normalized to the positive control (PDBu, $1 \mu M$).

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 8 software (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA). All treatments were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with Dunnett's post-test. All data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., with a *p* value < 0.05 considered to be significantly different to the null hypothesis at the 95% confidence level.

Results

5-HT induces plasma extravasation in the airways and upper gastrointestinal tract

Evans Blue dye is commonly used as an indicator of altered vascular permeability to macromolecules due to its high



Fig. 2 5-HT-induced vascular hyperpermeability is inhibited in the airways and upper GI tract by the 5-HT_{2A} selective antagonist ketanserin. Effect of WAY-100635 (5-HT_{1A} antagonist, $80 \mu g/kg$), GR 55562 (5-HT_{1B} antagonist, $300 \mu g/kg$), RS-127445 (5-HT_{2B} antagonist, $300 \mu g/kg$), GR 113808 (5-HT₄ antagonist, 1 mg/kg), or SB269973 (5-HT₇ antagonist, $300 \mu g/kg$) in the airways and upper GI

tract. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM for n = 5-6 experiments. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. * Indicates statistical significance compared to vehicle treatment, # indicates statistical significance compared to 5-HT 100 µg/kg treatment.

affinity for albumin. Under normal conditions, the vascular endothelium is impermeable to albumin, restricting albumin-bound Evans Blue to blood vessels. When inflammation occurs, albumin-bound Evans Blue is able to diffuse into surrounding tissues under conditions due to regulated, increased permeability of the vascular endothelium. Known as plasma extravasation, this process is important for promoting leukocyte infiltration, to initiate wound healing processes and subsequent swelling can also physically protect affected tissue [49].

To determine the effect of 5-HT on plasma extravasation, we examined the tissue distribution of Evans Blue following the administration of either vehicle (1% DMSO in 0.9% saline) or 5-HT (30–1000 μ g/kg). For assessment of the natural absorbance of each tissue, an additional control group received an injection of saline solution without Evans Blue, followed by vehicle treatment. The vehicle treatment group did not exhibit significant basal leakiness of Evans Blue in the airways (trachea, bronchi and lung parenchyma) and upper gastrointestinal (GI) tract (esophagus and stomach) (Fig. 1). In contrast, the systemic administration of 5-HT elicited a dose-dependent increase in the amount

of Evans Blue in tissues of the airways and upper GI tract, indicative of plasma extravasation (Fig. 1). A submaximal dose of 5-HT ($100 \mu g/kg$) was used in all subsequent experiments.

The pharmacological inhibition of 5-HT_{2A} attenuates plasma extravasation in the airways and esophagus

To study the specific subtype of 5-HT receptor that is involved in 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation, mice were pre-treated with selective antagonists for 5-HT subtypes 1A (WAY-100635), 1B (GR 55562), 2A (ketanserin), 2B (RS-127445), 4 (GR 113808), or 7 (SB269973). The inhibition of 5-HT_{2A} by ketanserin significantly attenuated plasma extravasation compared with vehicle pre-treated mice in the airways and esophagus (Fig. 2). However, ketanserin did not attenuate 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the stomach (Fig. 2). The inhibition of the 5-HT receptor subtypes 1A, 1B, 2B, 4, and 7 had no significant effect on 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract compared with vehicle pre-treated mice, indicating that only 5-HT_{2A} plays an important role on plasma extravasation.



Fig. 3 Selective inhibition of TRPV4 suppresses 5-HT-induced edema. Effects of pre-treatment with the TRPV4 inhibitor HC067047 (10 mg/kg, HC067) on 5HT-induced plasma extravasation. HC067 significantly reduced Evans Blue leakage induced by 5-HT (100 µg/kg, i.v.). Data are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M., n = 8 mice per

group. ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001; significantly different compared to vehicle treatment. ${}^{\#}p < 0.05$; ${}^{\#\#}p < 0.01$; significantly different compared to 5-HT treatment; one-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test.

GSK1016790A (GSK101) induced a dose-dependent

increase in plasma extravasation in wild-type mice [20]. Consistent with our prior report, the administration of

TRPV4 mediates 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract

We have previously demonstrated that TRPV4 contributes to PAR1- and PAR2-dependent intracellular signaling and to PAR2-induced plasma extravasation [20, 26]. To determine whether TRPV4 plays an equivalent role in 5-HTinduced plasma extravasation, we administered the selective TRPV4 blocker HC067047 (HC067; 10 mg/kg, i.p.) prior to delivery of 5-HT. Inhibition of TRPV4 significantly decreased 5-HT-induced Evans Blue extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract, consistent with a TRPV4dependent mechanism of action (Fig. 3).

5-HT-induced plasma extravasation requires TRPV4 expression

To confirm that 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation requires TRPV4 expression, we performed equivalent studies in TRPV4^{-/-} mice or matched TRPV4^{+/+} littermates. Previously, we reported that the selective TRPV4 activator

GSK101 (100 µg/kg) to wild-type mice induced a significant increase in plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract (Fig. 4). Both GSK101- and 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation were abolished in TRPV4^{-/-} mice (Fig. 4) when compared to TRPV4^{+/+} mice. These data demonstrate the TRPV4-dependence of the 5-HT-evoked extravasation described.

TRPV4 enhanced 5-HT_{2A} calcium signaling in HEK cells

The direct effect of 5-HT receptor signaling on TRPV4 activity was examined in an isolated cell system using HEK cells expressing the serotonin receptors (1A, 1B, 2A, 2B, or 4) alone or with co-expression of TRPV4. Assessment of 5-HT-mediated Ca²⁺ signaling over time (100 μ M) demonstrated that HEK cells expressing 5-HT_{1A}, _{1B}, _{2B} did not exhibit increased [Ca²⁺]_i in response to 5-HT (Fig. 5A).

SPRINGER NATURE



Fig. 4 5-HT and TRPV4-induced edema is absent in TRPV4^{-/-} mice. The TRPV4 agonist GSK1016790A (100 μ g/kg, i.v.; GSK) or 5-HT (100 μ g/kg, i.v.) caused significant leakage of Evans Blue in the airway and upper GI tract of wild-type mice. Both 5-HT- and TRPV4induced edema was significantly reduced in TRPV4^{-/-} mice compared to wild-type littermate controls. Data are presented as mean ± S.E.M.,

n = 6 mice per group. * Significantly different compared to vehicle treated wild-type; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001; ****p < 0.001. # Significantly different compared to 5-HT- or GSK1016790A-treated wild-type; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ***p < 0.001

Expression of TRPV4 did not influence this response. In contrast, stimulation of HEK-5-HT_{2A} cells resulted in a rapid, transient elevation in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ that returned to baseline within 40 s, consistent with Gq-coupled signaling. Furthermore, the duration of the Ca²⁺ response was markedly sustained in cells functionally expressing TRPV4 (Fig. 5B). Stimulation of HEK-5HT₄ also revealed a Ca²⁺ transient that was only moderately enhanced in cells co-expressing TRPV4 (Fig. 5C).

Based on the robust nature of $5HT_{2A}$ -TRPV4 coupling, we focused on 5-HT_{2A} and used known mediators of GPCR-TRPV4 coupling [24] to define the signaling mechanisms involved. The 5-HT_{2A} dependence of the Ca²⁺ response was initially confirmed using ketanserin (Fig. 5B). Changes in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ were then quantified over time by assessing the amplitude of the acute phase after 5-HT stimulation (0–20 s) and the magnitude of the sustained plateau phase (20–80 s post-stimulation). 5-HT_{2A} transactivates phospholipase A2 (PLA₂) to generate arachidonic acid (AA), an endogenous activator of TRPV4 [50–53]. G_q-coupled activation of Protein Kinase C (PKC) can lead to rapid phosphorylation of intracellular regulatory domains of non-selective cation channels to modulate their ionic permeability [24]. To determine if PLA₂ and PKC serve as intermediates of 5-HT_{2A}-TRPV4 coupling, cells were treated with the PLA₂ inhibitor YM 26734 (30 μ M) or the PKC inhibitor GF 109203X (GFX; 100 nM). Neither inhibitor affected the initial peak of the 5-HT response (Fig. 5D, E). Both inhibitors significantly suppressed the sustained phase (Fig. 5D, F). In addition, removal of extracellular Ca²⁺ abolished the transient and sustained phase of the 5-HTevoked [Ca²⁺]_i response (Fig. 5D). These results suggest that coupling to TRPV4 enhances 5-HT_{2A} receptor signaling predominantly through influx of extracellular Ca²⁺.

Neuropeptide receptors contribute to TRPV4- and 5-HT-induced edema

Neuropeptides including CGRP and SP are released from sensory terminals that innervate blood vessels. These neuropeptides can influence endothelial barrier function and promote tissue edema through direct actions on microvascular endothelial cells [22, 54]. We assessed the contribution of CGRP and SP receptors to 5-HT- and TRPV4induced plasma extravasation using selective antagonists of either the CGRP receptor (Olcegepant) or NK₁R



Fig. 5 5-HT induced a sustained increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in HEK cells co-expressing 5-HT_{2A} receptor and TRPV4. A Time traces showing responses to 5-HT (100 µM) by HEK cells expressing 5-HT_{1A}, 5-HT_{1B} or 5-HT_{2A} alone (circles) or with coexpression of TRPV4 (squares). B Time traces showing responses to 5-HT (100 µM) by HEK cells expressing 5-HT_{2A} or coexpressing 5-HT_{2A}/TRPV4. 5-HT-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ was abolished by ketanserin (10 µM). C Time traces showing responses to 5-HT (100 µM) by HEK cells expressing 5-HT₄ alone or with coexpression of TRPV4. D Effect of the depletion of extracellular

(SR140333). Both antagonists significantly decreased tissue edema in the airways, esophagus and stomach in animals treated with GSK101 (Fig. 6) and 5-HT (Fig. 7), consistent with a neurogenic mechanism of action.

5-HT signaling in vascular endothelial cells is independent of TRPV4

The direct effects of 5-HT-TRPV4 coupling on vascular endothelial cells were examined using HUVEC, which are known to functionally express both targets [20, 55]. Focusing initially on Ca²⁺ mobilization, exposure to 100 nM or $1 \mu M$ 5-HT did not increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. This is consistent with signaling through a G_q-independent mechanism (Fig. 8A). In contrast, GSK101 evoked a concentration-dependent elevation of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and this was attenuated with prior treatment with HC067 (Fig. 8A), thus confirming functional expression of TRPV4. Pretreatment with 5-HT (100 nM; 30 min) enhanced GSK101-mediated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signaling in HUVECs (Fig. 8A, B). Specifically, 5-HT pre-treatment promoted a modest shift in pEC_{50} from -8.69 M to -9 M and increased E_{max} from 49.52 to 64.58 (Fig. 8A). This demonstrates a significant 5-HT-evoked amplification of

Ca²⁺, PLA₂ inhibitor YM 26734 (30 µM), or PKC inhibitor GF 109203X (GFX; 100 nM) in HEK cells co-expressing 5-HT_{2A}/TRPV4. **E**, **F** Area under the curve analysis from 60 to 100 s post 5-HT (100 µM) addition. Data are expressed as mean ± SEM for n = 5–6 independent replicates. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. * Indicates statistical significance compared to HEK cells expressing 5-HTR subtype, # indicates statistical significance compared to HEK co-expressing 5-HTR and TRPV4.

TRPV4 signaling. Functional expression of 5-HT receptors was further confirmed by measuring levels of phosphorylated ERK (pERK), which allows for assessment of signaling through convergent pathways downstream of GPCRs. ERK activation was maximal at 2 min post-5-HT addition (100 nM or 1 µM) and decreased gradually over the 30 min assessment period. In contrast, GSK101 did not stimulate pERK in these cells (Fig. 8C). We confirmed that exposure to either SP (100 nM or 1 µM) or CGRP (100 nM or 1 µM) promotes a rapid and robust increase in pERK levels in HUVEC (Fig. 8D). Together, these data indicate that 5-HT receptors can sensitize and augment TRPV4 activity. These observations suggest that enhanced vascular permeability in response to 5-HT is potentially mediated through an indirect mechanism involving the TRPV4-dependent release of the neuropeptides SP and CGRP, possibly from external cellular sources such as primary afferent terminals.

Discussion

TRPV4 activation is important for the pathogenesis of pulmonary edema associated with heart failure or



Fig. 6 TRPV4-induced edema is decreased by inhibition of CGRP or NK₁ receptors. Pre-treatment with the CGRP receptor antagonist BIBN4906 (BIBN; 1 mg/kg) or NK₁R antagonist SR140333 (SR; 1 mg/kg) significantly decreased tissue edema induced by GSK1016790A ($100 \mu g/kg$) compared to vehicle treatment in the

airways and upper GI tract. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., n = 9-10 mice per group. **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, significantly different compared to vehicle treated control (Veh).

chemically-induced acute lung injury [18, 21]. TRPV4 is also a mediator of sepsis-induced endothelial dysfunction and increased vascular permeability [56]. Consistent with this, 5-HT is also a potent vasoactive and signaling mediator and can promote disruption of cell–cell junctions at concentrations not much higher than those normally present under resting conditions [56, 57]. Here, we showed that 5-HT promotes pulmonary and esophageal plasma extravasation through a TRPV4-dependent mechanism. This also involves activation of NK₁R and the CGRP receptor, consistent with a putative neurogenic mechanism involving release of SP and CGRP from nerve fibers innervating the vasculature.

5-HT is mainly produced by enterochromaffin cells of the intestine, and is largely taken up and stored by platelets, or metabolized by the liver [57]. However, the lungs also play an important role in both 5-HT production and removal, and release of 5-HT by platelets may be important in the pathology of certain pulmonary diseases [57–60]. Additionally, 5-HT can be locally synthesized and released from peripheral arteries [61–63]. The 5-HT-TRPV4 signaling pathway may mediate a number of pathologies, including pulmonary hypertension, arterial smooth muscle proliferation, visceral hypersensitivity, and itch [8, 28, 30, 31]. Results of the present study suggest that the 5-HT receptor-TRPV4 axis could be an important pathway in pathologies, such as sepsis, where plasma 5-HT levels are known to be significantly elevated [64].

We have recently demonstrated that the potent and selective TRPV4 agonist, GSK101, caused dosedependent extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract of mice, which was inhibited by the selective TRPV4 antagonist HC067 [20]. In contrast, GSK101 did not cause plasma extravasation in the bladder, heart, liver or kidney, suggesting that edema is not a general systemic effect of TRPV4 activation [20]. In the present study, we report that 5-HT induces plasma extravasation in the airways, esophagus and the stomach. Plasma extravasation induced by 5-HT was decreased by HC067 or TRPV4 deletion and limited to the tissues in which the TRPV4 activation caused edema, namely the airways and upper gut. These results support a role for TRPV4 in promoting 5-HTinduced plasma extravasation in the airways, esophagus and stomach. Extravasation in response to 5-HT was almost completely blocked by the TRPV4-specific



Fig. 7 Inhibition of CGRP or NK₁ receptors blocks 5-HT induced edema. Pre-treatment with the CGRP receptor antagonist BIBN4906 (BIBN; 1 mg/kg) or the NK₁R antagonist SR140333 (SR; 1 mg/kg) decreased plasma extravasation induced by 5-HT ($100 \mu g/kg$) in the airways and upper GI tract. Data are presented as mean ± S.E.M.,

n = 9-10 mice per group. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; One-way ANOVA and Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, significantly different compared to vehicle treated control (Veh).

inhibitor HC067. In contrast, the extent of GSK101induced TRPV4-dependent vascular leak was markedly lower. Although this may be due to differences in the respective signaling pathways involved, it may also reflect the physicochemical properties of the ligands investigated and their relative bioavailability following systemic administration.

The release of neuropeptide transmitters from airway innervating nerves leads to inflammation and to vascular leak. This neurogenic response can also be initiated by exogenous irritants via airway nerves and may contribute to the development of airway pathologies [65–67]. We demonstrated that inhibitors of CGRP and SP receptors reduced TRPV4- and 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and esophagus, supporting a mechanistic role for these neuropeptide receptors. It has been reported that CGRP does not cause microvascular leak in the airways and bladder of the guinea pig [68]. In contrast, CGRP has been reported to contribute to edema formation in mice [66] and rats [69], indicating potential species differences. Our results suggest that 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and esophagus is mediated by activation of afferent nerves, requires TRPV4, and is likely to involve release of pro-inflammatory peptides (SP and CGRP) (Fig. 9).

Pre-clinically, TRPV4 plays important roles in pathological pulmonary edema and may therefore be a therapeutically useful target. Importantly, chronic treatment with a TRPV4 inhibitor in animal models did not affect osmoregulation or interfere with the activity of diuretics, which are often used to resolve edema in the clinic [18, 70– 72]. Recently, a double-blind, placebo-controlled study using a selective TRPV4 antagonist reported that treatment with GSK2798745 resulted in a trend to improve pulmonary gas exchange in symptomatic patients with chronic heart failure [71, 73]. However, the use of inhibitors that directly target TRPV4 in pulmonary injury may be contraindicated by the role that TRPV4 plays in the complex signaling cascade that mediates hypoxic pulmonary vasoconstriction [74]. This mechanism helps to redistribute blood flow from poorly ventilated to more aerated lung areas, and inhibition of this response could be detrimental to patients with lung



Fig. 8 Functional expression and interaction of TRPV4 and 5-HT receptors in HUVEC. A Pre-treatment with 5-HT augmented the magnitude (E_{max}) of responses to GSK101. GSK101-induced Ca²⁺ signaling was attenuated by the TRPV4 antagonist HC067. No change in [Ca²⁺]_i was detected following treatment with 5-HT. **B** Time traces demonstrating the effect of pre-treatment with 5-HT (open circle, 100 nM;

disease [71, 73]. The benefits of TRPV4 antagonists for reducing pulmonary edema-associated lethality from severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) have also recently been proposed to outweigh the risks of contraindications such as these. Together, this highlights the need to further understand the relative cellular contribution of TRPV4 activity and also the upstream signaling mediators that lead to TRPV4 activation, to provide potential alternatives to these potent antagonists that directly inhibit TRPV4.

Our pharmacological data indicate that 5-HT_{2A} is the primary receptor subtype involved in promoting 5-HTevoked plasma extravasation. Evidence supporting the in vivo requirement for TRPV4 activity is provided by the demonstration that 5-HT_{2A} mediated Ca²⁺ signaling is augmented by TRPV4 through a PLA₂- and PKC-dependent mechanism. Although our data support an indirect neurogenic mechanism of action involving enhanced neuropeptide release [23], the specific locations where 5-HT_{2A}-TRPV4 interactions occur (pre- or post-synaptic [75]) could not be definitively determined using available methodology. We cannot exclude a direct effect



30 min) on GSK101-induced elevations in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (closed circles). **C**, **D** Elevated ERK phosphorylation (pERK) in response to treatment of HUVEC with 5-HT, GSK101, CGRP or SP. Data are presented as mean \pm S.E.M., n = 6 technical replicates, pERK data are normalized to the positive control (PDBu, 1 μ M).

on endothelial cells as the HUVEC that we examined may not be the most suitable model for the microvasculature involved in 5-HT-dependent vascular leak as they are of a different origin and may not express the precise machinery required. Our results suggest that 5-HT and TRPV4 receptors are also expressed by endothelial cells and may cause protein leak via disruption of the vascular junctions in mice. In addition to expression by peptidergic afferent nerves [76] and vascular endothelial cells [77, 78], 5-HT receptors and TRPV4 are also expressed by immune cells, including macrophages [79-81]. Given the important immunomodulatory role of 5-HT, it is possible that the TRPV4-dependent effects of 5-HT on vascular permeability that we describe are mediated in part through immune cell activation. Future analysis to better define the relative contributions of 5-HT receptors and TRPV4 in endothelial and immune cells and on nerve endings of the different vascular beds would help to clarify the primary location of TRPV4-driven edema and the precise mechanisms involved.

In summary, we have established that TRPV4 mediates 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and



Fig. 9 Postulated neurogenic and direct mechanisms through which 5-HT receptors and TRPV4 may induce tissue edema. 5-HT activates 5-HT_{2A} receptor subtypes on afferent nerve terminals, immune cells, and vascular endothelial cells. Activation of peripheral sensory neurons or local immune cells promotes release of neuropeptides including SP and CGRP, activating NK₁R and CGRP receptors expressed by endothelial cells. Signaling downstream of these receptors leads to retraction of cell-cell junction proteins, leading to increased vascular leak and to tissue edema. Activation of 5-HT_{2A} sensitizes or activates TRPV4 through a PLA₂- and PKC-dependent mechanism, leading to enhanced neuropeptide release.

upper GI tract of mice through interaction with the $5-HT_{2A}$ receptor subtype. We have provided evidence to support an indirect, potentially neurogenic mechanism of action involving the neuropeptides SP and CGRP.

Data availability

Data presented in this study are available upon request from the corresponding authors.

Acknowledgements The authors thank Dr Wolfgang Liedtke (Duke University) for providing TRPV4^{-/-} mice.

Author contributions Participated in research design: JSR, MSG, NWB, NAV, DPP, and PM. Conducted experiments: MSG, LKD, SP, FB, JSR, JGA, and SA. Performed data analysis: JSR, NAV, DPP, MSG, and PM. Contributed to writing or critical assessment of the paper: JSR, MSG, ABG, PR, PRG, SEC, NAV, DPP, and PM.

Funding Australian Research Council Center of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology (TPD, NWB, and NAV), NHMRC Australia 1046860 (PM, NWB), 1083480 (DPP).

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare no competing interests.

Ethical approval Studies using mice were approved by the Animal Ethics Committees of RMIT and Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences.

SPRINGER NATURE

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

References

- Tiruppathi C, Ahmmed GU, Vogel SM, Malik AB. Ca²⁺ signaling, TRP channels, and endothelial permeability. Microcirculation. 2006;13:693–708.
- Tiruppathi C, Minshall RD, Paria BC, Vogel SM, Malik AB. Role of Ca²⁺ signaling in the regulation of endothelial permeability. Vascul Pharmacol. 2002;39:173–85.
- Bhattacharya J, Nanjo S, Staub NC. Micropuncture measurement of lung microvascular pressure during 5-HT infusion. J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol. 1982;52:634–7.
- Friedrich EE, Hong Z, Xiong S, Zhong M, Di A, Rehman J, et al. Endothelial cell Piezo1 mediates pressure-induced lung vascular hyperpermeability via disruption of adherens junctions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2019;116:12980–5.
- Lee HZ, Wu CH. Serotonin-stimulated increase in cytosolic Ca(²
 ⁺) in cultured rat heart endothelial cells. Eur J Pharmacol. 1999;384:53–60.
- Stolwijk JA, Zhang X, Gueguinou M, Zhang W, Matrougui K, Renken C, et al. Calcium signaling is dispensable for receptor regulation of endothelial barrier function. J Biol Chem. 2016;291:22894–912.
- Kamiya I, Sumita T, Ishikawa N. S1-receptor participation in serotonin-induced pulmonary edema in the dog. Jpn J Pharmacol. 1987;45:121–4.
- Xia Y, Fu Z, Hu J, Huang C, Paudel O, Cai S, et al. TRPV4 channel contributes to serotonin-induced pulmonary vasoconstriction and the enhanced vascular reactivity in chronic hypoxic pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2013;305: C704–15.
- Majno G, Palade GE. Studies on inflammation. 1. The effect of histamine and serotonin on vascular permeability: an electron microscopic study. J Biophys Biochem Cytol. 1961;11:571–605.
- Andrade R, Barnes NM, Baxter G, Bockaert J, Branchek T, Butler A, et al. 5-Hydroxytryptamine receptors (version 2019.4) in the IUPHAR/BPS Guide to Pharmacology Database. IUPHAR/BPS Guide to Pharmacology CITE Volume 2019, No. 4. 2019.
- Barnes NM, Sharp T. A review of central 5-HT receptors and their function. Neuropharmacology. 1999;38:1083–152.
- Koo JW, Balaban CD. Serotonin-induced plasma extravasation in the murine inner ear: possible mechanism of migraine-associated inner ear dysfunction. Cephalalgia. 2006;26:1310–9.
- Ayme-Dietrich E, Aubertin-Kirch G, Maroteaux L, Monassier L. Cardiovascular remodeling and the peripheral serotonergic system. Arch Cardiovasc Dis. 2017;110:51–9.
- Yildiz O, Smith JR, Purdy RE. Serotonin and vasoconstrictor synergism. Life Sci. 1998;62:1723–32.
- Tran QK, Ohashi K, Watanabe H. Calcium signalling in endothelial cells. Cardiovasc Res. 2000;48:13–22.
- Dalal PJ, Muller WA, Sullivan DP. Endothelial cell calcium signaling during barrier function and inflammation. Am J Pathol. 2020;190:535–42.
- Thakore P, Earley S. Transient receptor potential channels and endothelial cell calcium signaling. Compr Physiol. 2019;9:1249–77.
- Huh D, Leslie DC, Matthews BD, Fraser JP, Jurek S, Hamilton GA, et al. A human disease model of drug toxicity-induced pulmonary edema in a lung-on-a-chip microdevice. Sci Transl Med. 2012;4:159ra147.
- 19. Morgan JT, Stewart WG, McKee RA, Gleghorn JP. The mechanosensitive ion channel TRPV4 is a regulator of lung

development and pulmonary vasculature stabilization. Cell Mol Bioeng. 2018;11:309-20.

- Peng S, Grace MS, Gondin AB, Retamal JS, Dill L, Darby W, et al. The transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel mediates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1)-induced vascular hyperpermeability. Lab Investig. 2020;100:1057–67.
- Balakrishna S, Song W, Achanta S, Doran SF, Liu B, Kaelberer MM, et al. TRPV4 inhibition counteracts edema and inflammation and improves pulmonary function and oxygen saturation in chemically induced acute lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2014;307:L158–72.
- Queiroz BFG, Almeida MPA, Bakhle YS, Francischi JN. Calcitonin-gene related peptide is a potent inducer of oedema in rat orofacial tissue. Neuropeptides. 2018;68:43–8.
- Vergnolle N, Cenac N, Altier C, Cellars L, Chapman K, Zamponi GW, et al. A role for transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 in tonicity-induced neurogenic inflammation. Br J Pharmacol. 2010;159:1161–73.
- Veldhuis NA, Poole DP, Grace M, McIntyre P, Bunnett NW. The G protein-coupled receptor-transient receptor potential channel axis: molecular insights for targeting disorders of sensation and inflammation. Pharmacol Rev. 2015;67:36–73.
- 25. Grant AD, Cottrell GS, Amadesi S, Trevisani M, Nicoletti P, Materazzi S, et al. Protease-activated receptor 2 sensitizes the transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 ion channel to cause mechanical hyperalgesia in mice. J Physiol. 2007;578:715–33.
- Poole DP, Amadesi S, Veldhuis NA, Abogadie FC, Lieu T, Darby W, et al. Protease-activated receptor 2 (PAR2) protein and transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) protein coupling is required for sustained inflammatory signaling. J Biol Chem. 2013;288:5790–802.
- 27. Grace MS, Lieu T, Darby B, Abogadie FC, Veldhuis N, Bunnett NW, et al. The tyrosine kinase inhibitor bafetinib inhibits PAR2induced activation of TRPV4 channels in vitro and pain in vivo. Br J Pharmacol. 2014;171:3881–94.
- Ducret T, Guibert C, Marthan R, Savineau JP. Serotonin-induced activation of TRPV4-like current in rat intrapulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells. Cell Calcium. 2008;43:315–23.
- Ahn MS, Eom YW, Oh JE, Cha SK, Park KS, Son JW, et al. Transient receptor potential channel TRPV4 mediates TGF-beta1induced differentiation of human ventricular fibroblasts. Cardiol J. 2020;27:162–70.
- Akiyama T, Ivanov M, Nagamine M, Davoodi A, Carstens MI, Ikoma A, et al. Involvement of TRPV4 in serotonin-evoked scratching. J Investig Dermatol. 2016;136:154–60.
- Cenac N, Altier C, Motta JP, d'Aldebert E, Galeano S, Zamponi GW, et al. Potentiation of TRPV4 signalling by histamine and serotonin: an important mechanism for visceral hypersensitivity. Gut. 2010;59:481–8.
- 32. Maeshima T, Ito R, Hamada S, Senzaki K, Hamaguchi-Hamada K, Shutoh F, et al. The cellular localization of 5-HT2A receptors in the spinal cord and spinal ganglia of the adult rat. Brain Res. 1998;797:118–24.
- Okamoto K, Imbe H, Morikawa Y, Itoh M, Sekimoto M, Nemoto K, et al. 5-HT2A receptor subtype in the peripheral branch of sensory fibers is involved in the potentiation of inflammatory pain in rats. Pain. 2002;99:133–43.
- Chiu IM, von Hehn CA, Woolf CJ. Neurogenic inflammation and the peripheral nervous system in host defense and immunopathology. Nat Neurosci. 2012;15:1063–7.
- 35. Nascimento EB Jr., Seniuk JG, Godin AM, Ferreira WC, Dutra MB, Oliveira AC, et al. Peripheral 5-HT1B and 5-HT2A receptors mediate the nociceptive response induced by 5-hydroxytryptamine in mice. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2011;99:598–603.
- 36. Saria A, Lundberg JM, Skofitsch G, Lembeck F. Vascular protein linkage in various tissue induced by substance P, capsaicin,

bradykinin, serotonin, histamine and by antigen challenge. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol. 1983;324:212-8.

- Sasaki M, Obata H, Kawahara K, Saito S, Goto F. Peripheral 5-HT2A receptor antagonism attenuates primary thermal hyperalgesia and secondary mechanical allodynia after thermal injury in rats. Pain. 2006;122:130–6.
- Sukriti S, Tauseef M, Yazbeck P, Mehta D. Mechanisms regulating endothelial permeability. Pulm Circ. 2014;4:535–51.
- Markowitz S, Saito K, Moskowitz MA. Neurogenically mediated leakage of plasma protein occurs from blood vessels in dura mater but not brain. J Neurosci. 1987;7:4129–36.
- Ramachandran R. Neurogenic inflammation and its role in migraine. Semin Immunopathol. 2018;40:301–14.
- Tajti J, Szok D, Majlath Z, Tuka B, Csati A, Vecsei L. Migraine and neuropeptides. Neuropeptides. 2015;52:19–30.
- Kilkenny C, Browne WJ, Cuthill IC, Emerson M, Altman DG. Improving bioscience research reporting: the ARRIVE guidelines for reporting animal research. PLoS Biol. 2010;8:e1000412.
- Misane I, Ogren SO. Selective 5-HT1A antagonists WAY 100635 and NAD-299 attenuate the impairment of passive avoidance caused by scopolamine in the rat. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2003;28:253–64.
- 44. Hansen-Schwartz J, Lovland Hoel N, Nilsson E, Tfelt-Hansen P, Edvinsson L. Endothelium-dependent relaxant responses to selective 5-HT(1B/1D) receptor agonists in the isolated middle cerebral artery of the rat. J Vasc Res. 2003;40:561–6.
- Ninan I, Kulkarni SK. Ketanserin reverses dizocilpine-suppression of morphine dependence but not tolerance in mice. Brain Res. 2000;876:215–9.
- 46. Mbaki Y, Ramage AG. Investigation of the role of 5-HT2 receptor subtypes in the control of the bladder and the urethra in the anaesthetized female rat. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;155:343–56.
- Spohn SN, Bianco F, Scott RB, Keenan CM, Linton AA, O'Neill CH, et al. Protective actions of epithelial 5-hydroxytryptamine 4 receptors in normal and inflamed colon. Gastroenterology. 2016;151:933–44.e3.
- Swain SM, Romac JM, Shahid RA, Pandol SJ, Liedtke W, Vigna SR, et al. TRPV4 channel opening mediates pressure-induced pancreatitis initiated by Piezo1 activation. J Clin Investig. 2020;130:2527–41.
- Wick MJ, Harral JW, Loomis ZL, Dempsey EC. An optimized evans blue protocol to assess vascular leak in the mouse. J Vis Exp. 2018;57037.
- Kurrasch-Orbaugh DM, Parrish JC, Watts VJ, Nichols DE. A complex signaling cascade links the serotonin2A receptor to phospholipase A2 activation: the involvement of MAP kinases. J Neurochem. 2003a;86:980–91.
- Kurrasch-Orbaugh DM, Watts VJ, Barker EL, Nichols DE. Serotonin 5-hydroxytryptamine 2A receptor-coupled phospholipase C and phospholipase A2 signaling pathways have different receptor reserves. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 2003b;304:229–37.
- Qu Y, Villacreses N, Murphy DL, Rapoport SI. 5-HT2A/2C receptor signaling via phospholipase A2 and arachidonic acid is attenuated in mice lacking the serotonin reuptake transporter. Psychopharmacology. 2005;180:12–20.
- Watanabe H, Vriens J, Prenen J, Droogmans G, Voets T, Nilius B. Anandamide and arachidonic acid use epoxyeicosatrienoic acids to activate TRPV4 channels. Nature. 2003;424:434–8.
- Baluk P, Thurston G, Murphy TJ, Bunnett NW, McDonald DM. Neurogenic plasma leakage in mouse airways. Br J Pharmacol. 1999;126:522–8.
- Machida T, Iizuka K, Hirafuji M. 5-hydroxytryptamine and its receptors in systemic vascular walls. Biol Pharm Bull. 2013;36:1416–9.
- 56. Dalsgaard T, Sonkusare SK, Teuscher C, Poynter ME, Nelson MT. Pharmacological inhibitors of TRPV4 channels reduce

cytokine production, restore endothelial function and increase survival in septic mice. Sci Rep. 2016;6:33841.

- Egermayer P, Town GI, Peacock AJ. Role of serotonin in the pathogenesis of acute and chronic pulmonary hypertension. Thorax. 1999;54:161–8.
- Cloutier N, Allaeys I, Marcoux G, Machlus KR, Mailhot B, Zufferey A, et al. Platelets release pathogenic serotonin and return to circulation after immune complex-mediated sequestration. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2018;115:E1550–9.
- Duerschmied D, Suidan GL, Demers M, Herr N, Carbo C, Brill A, et al. Platelet serotonin promotes the recruitment of neutrophils to sites of acute inflammation in mice. Blood. 2013;121:1008–15.
- Ulrich S, Huber LC, Fischler M, Treder U, Maggiorini M, Eberli FR, et al. Platelet serotonin content and transpulmonary platelet serotonin gradient in patients with pulmonary hypertension. Respiration. 2011;81:211–6.
- Neumann J, Hofmann B, Gergs U. Production and function of serotonin in cardiac cells. In Shad KF, editor. Serotonin—a chemical messenger between all types of living cells. London: IntechOpen; 2017.
- Ni W, Geddes TJ, Priestley JR, Szasz T, Kuhn DM, Watts SW. The existence of a local 5-hydroxytryptaminergic system in peripheral arteries. Br J Pharmacol. 2008;154:663–74.
- Rouzaud-Laborde C, Hanoun N, Baysal I, Rech JS, Mias C, Calise D, et al. Role of endothelial AADC in cardiac synthesis of serotonin and nitrates accumulation. PLoS ONE. 2012;7:e34893.
- 64. Li Y, Hadden C, Cooper A, Ahmed A, Wu H, Lupashin VV, et al. Sepsis-induced elevation in plasma serotonin facilitates endothelial hyperpermeability. Sci Rep. 2016;6:22747.
- Groneberg DA, Quarcoo D, Frossard N, Fischer A. Neurogenic mechanisms in bronchial inflammatory diseases. Allergy. 2004;59:1139–52.
- Aoki-Nagase T, Nagase T, Oh-Hashi Y, Kurihara Y, Yamaguchi Y, Yamamoto H, et al. Calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates acid-induced lung injury in mice. Respirology. 2007;12:807–13.
- Sio SW, Puthia MK, Lu J, Moochhala S, Bhatia M. The neuropeptide substance P is a critical mediator of burn-induced acute lung injury. J Immunol. 2008;180:8333–41.
- Rogers DF, Belvisi MG, Aursudkij B, Evans TW, Barnes PJ. Effects and interactions of sensory neuropeptides on airway microvascular leakage in guinea-pigs. Br J Pharmacol. 1988;95:1109–16.
- 69. Bileviciute I, Stenfors C, Theodorsson E, Lundeberg T. Unilateral injection of calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) induces bilateral oedema formation and release of CGRP-like immunoreactivity in the rat hindpaw. Br J Pharmacol. 1998;125:1304–12.

- Dietrich A. Modulators of transient receptor potential (TRP) channels as therapeutic options in lung disease. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2019;12:23.
- 71. Goyal N, Skrdla P, Schroyer R, Kumar S, Fernando D, Oughton A, et al. Clinical pharmacokinetics, safety, and tolerability of a novel, first-in-class TRPV4 ion channel inhibitor, GSK2798745, in healthy and heart failure subjects. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 2019;19:335–42.
- Kuebler WM, Jordt SE, Liedtke WB. Urgent reconsideration of lung edema as a preventable outcome in COVID-19: inhibition of TRPV4 represents a promising and feasible approach. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2020;318:L1239–43.
- Stewart GM, Johnson BD, Sprecher DL, Reddy YNV, Obokata M, Goldsmith S, et al. Targeting pulmonary capillary permeability to reduce lung congestion in heart failure: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. Eur J Heart Fail. 2020;22:1641–5.
- 74. Yang XR, Lin AH, Hughes JM, Flavahan NA, Cao YN, Liedtke W, et al. Upregulation of osmo-mechanosensitive TRPV4 channel facilitates chronic hypoxia-induced myogenic tone and pulmonary hypertension. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2012;302: L555–68.
- Zhao H, Sprunger LK, Simasko SM. Expression of transient receptor potential channels and two-pore potassium channels in subtypes of vagal afferent neurons in rat. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. 2010;298:G212–21.
- Brierley SM, Page AJ, Hughes PA, Adam B, Liebregts T, Cooper NJ, et al. Selective role for TRPV4 ion channels in visceral sensory pathways. Gastroenterology. 2008;134:2059–69.
- 77. Kohler R, Heyken WT, Heinau P, Schubert R, Si H, Kacik M, et al. Evidence for a functional role of endothelial transient receptor potential V4 in shear stress-induced vasodilatation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:1495–502.
- Sonkusare SK, Bonev AD, Ledoux J, Liedtke W, Kotlikoff MI, Heppner TJ, et al. Elementary Ca²⁺ signals through endothelial TRPV4 channels regulate vascular function. Science. 2012;336:597–601.
- Ahern GP. 5-HT and the immune system. Curr Opin Pharmacol. 2011;11:29–33.
- Hamanaka K, Jian MY, Townsley MI, King JA, Liedtke W, Weber DS, et al. TRPV4 channels augment macrophage activation and ventilator-induced lung injury. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2010;299:L353–62.
- Scheraga RG, Abraham S, Niese KA, Southern BD, Grove LM, Hite RD, et al. TRPV4 mechanosensitive ion channel regulates lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophage phagocytosis. J Immunol. 2016;196:428–36.

SPRINGER NATURE

Summary

1. The challenges of treating pain

Pain incorporates a complex range of disorders that affects up to 30% of adults at some point during their lifetime and requires a combination of physical therapy and pharmacological approaches for treatment. From a pharmacological perspective, treatment is possible by administering one or more therapeutic agents such as paracetamol/acetaminophen, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) or cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors (Coxibs) followed by careful use of opioids for elevated pain (e.g., morphine or oxycodone). Unfortunately, each of these drugs has associated side-effects that limit their use. Opioids, for example, remain some of the most effective, efficacious analgesic classes available and continue to be prescribed, especially for extreme acute pain (e.g., post-surgery) or for chronic pain conditions. However, opioids have high abuse potential due to euphoric or addictive properties, as well as receptor desensitisation or tolerance. To overcome tolerance, patients with chronic pain can be subjected to sustained increases in dosing or switching to other more potent opioids to improve analgesia, which often provides only temporary gains in pain relief. However, this approach may increase the risk of tolerance and addiction over time, in addition to increasing the likelihood of debilitating side-effects such as constipation and respiratory depression (Boudreau et al., 2009; Corbett et al., 2006; Scholz and Woolf, 2002; Volkow et al., 2011). Thus, there is a clear need for other analgesics that are both safe and effective. But to do this, we need to better understand other pain targets and investigate how they can modulate pain.

2. Beyond opioids – analgesic Drug discovery in GPCR targets

Alternative GPCR targets have been identified to be to major therapeutic targets that offer effective pain relief without the safety concerns posed by opioids. Cannabinoids, for example, are emerging as effective non-opioid analgesics and primarily function through activation of Gi/o-coupled cannabinoid receptors (CB1, CB2) to downregulate excitatory processes and modulate serotoninergic (5-HT) and noradrenergic pathways. Although widely available and used for millennia, cannabinoids are also associated with behavioural or psychological liabilities that require further investigation. We also are yet to see the outcomes of systematic use in the clinic and the benefit of more recently discovered synthetic ligands for treating pain (Banister et al., 2019; Brennan et al., 2007).
GPCRs are highly dynamic proteins that achieve distinct signalling outcomes by adopting different conformational states (Latorraca et al., 2017). Extracellular ligands that bind cell surface GPCRs promote receptor conformations that activate heterotrimeric G proteins to transduce downstream signalling that engages with β Arr. β Arr can function as adaptor proteins to mediate distinct signalling processes such as MAPK activity, and also facilitate interactions with clathrin-coated membranes to promote endocytosis (Ferguson et al., 1996). This was historically considered to facilitate termination of signalling, either by directing receptors to degradative lysosomal pathways, or by promoting rapid receptor recycling to reset the activity cycle during the internalisation process, and increase the potential for sustained signalling once the receptor is recovered at the plasma membrane (Ferguson et al., 1996; Shukla et al., 2014).

There are an increasing number of studies interrogating the relationship between GPCR trafficking and signalling suggest a third possibility exists for the cellular need for GPCR endocytosis. Receptors can remain on intracellular membranes such as endosomes for sustained periods of time, to facilitate a unique signalling complex distinct signalling processes in a β Arr- or a G protein-dependent manner. This paradigm shift was initially revealed by studying signalling and trafficking relationships on Gscoupled receptors such as the parathyroid (PTHR), thyroid-stimulating hormone (TSHR) and $\beta 2$ adrenergic receptors to demonstrate that endosomal-mediated sustained cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) production could be observed after endocytosis has occurred. This has been extensively reviewed (Calebiro et al., 2010; Tsvetanova et al., 2015; Vilardaga et al., 2014). This was initially studied by combining standard signalling assays with endocytic inhibitors and traffickingdeficient receptors. Recently, the development of sensitive new signalling tools has been advantageous for providing an expanded view of the spatiotemporal nature of signalling. Genetically encoded tools such as conformation-selective nanobodies and FRET or BRET-based biosensors, for example, measure real-time location-specific GPCR activity and downstream signalling cascades respectively, (Halls and Canals, 2018; Irannejad et al., 2017). Given the prevalence and importance of trafficking GPCRs in neurons, the internalisation and location-specific signalling relationships for several GPCRs has been described, including NK1R, CLR/RAMP1, mGlu5, PAR2 and MOR (Jensen et al., 2017; Jiménez-Vargas et al., 2021; Mantyh et al., 1995; O'Malley et al., 2003; Poole et al., 2015; Ramírez-García et al., 2019a; Stoeber et al., 2018; Yarwood et al., 2017). Three pro-nociceptive GPCRs have been closely studied and shown to be strong candidates for mediating nociceptive signals from an endosomal location. The first receptor reported was NK₁R, followed PAR₂ in dorsal root ganglia and CLR/RAMP1 in trigeminal neurons and in spinal cord (Yarwood et al., 2017). Although trafficking of NK₁R during pain states has been known for some time (Mantyh et al., 1995). Some of the first insights showing NK₁R-mediated sustained neuronal excitability and pain transmission in spinal neurons was associated with endosomes, was demonstrated with application of endocytosis inhibitors or endosome-biased antagonism (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019a).

However, endosomes are one of many sites to which GPCRs can be recruited to form unique signalling complexes and promote spatiotemporally distinct signalling. Activation of MOR by lipophilic agonists such as morphine, but not more soluble peptides, for example, can occur on Golgi membranes (Stoeber et al., 2018). Another example, mGlu₅ in spinal neurons of neuropathic rats can be recruited to the inner nuclear membrane, increasing nuclear Ca^{2+} and transcriptional factor such as c-Fos and Jun, proteins associated with pain. Although mGlu₅ trafficking is known to require dynamin-dependent processes, and the importance for endocytosis or endosome-specific complex formation in the context of pain has not been explored to the best of our knowledge.

3. The challenges of targeting and controlling endosomal signalling

There are several challenges that need to be addressed in order to effectively target and pharmacologically manipulate endosomal signalling. A therapeutic agent of interest needs to be able to remain in solution, traverse the plasma membrane, accumulate within endosomes and be retained in this location for a sufficient period of time to allow efficient blockade of endosomal signalling without disrupting endosomal formation, dynamics and structure. This raises questions about whether the intrinsic properties of analgesic agents that have been enhanced by chemical modification, to increase activity or partitioning into membranes. One strategy to achieve this goal, for example, is the use of lipid-drug conjugated antagonists to promote endosomal delivery and retention (Jensen et al., 2017; Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Mai et al., 2021; Yarwood et al., 2017). These lipidated drugs are comprised of a sterol-based anchor such as cholestanol, attached to an antagonist via a flexible PEG linker, allowing antagonist presentation in an aqueous environment. This strategy was initially investigated for delivery of BACE inhibitors (Rajendran et al., 2008) and subsequently investigated by Jensen et al. (2017) and Mai et al. (2021) for the NK₁R. These authors used a lipidation approach for the endosomal delivery of the water-soluble NK₁R antagonist Spantide, thereby promoting association into membranes – first in the plasma membrane to inhibit β Arr-coupling, with subsequent accumulation in endosomes over time to block signals associated with pain transmission (Jensen et al., 2017; Mai et al., 2021). Additional studies by Yarwood et al., and Jimenez-Vargas et al., supported the utilisation of lipidated antagonists for the successful targeting of endosomal of CLR/RAMP1 and PAR₂ receptors, respectively (Jimenez-Vargas et al., 2018; Yarwood et al., 2017). Disadvantages of this system are that studies have been limited to the use of peptide antagonists, and the slow drug internalisation observed on *in vitro* and *in vivo*, whereby a minimum of 3 h is required for drug quantities to accumulate on endosomal membranes and achieve effective inhibition. Future studies are warranted to optimise the linker type and length, as well as exploring other small molecule drug candidates to advance beyond these peptide-focussed studies.

With the emergence of nanomedicine, this field offers great promise for specialised drug delivery that may increase delivery at sites where it is needed, while avoiding unwanted side-effects. Particularly, studies in the cancer field have benefitted from this approach, where simple, safe nanomedicines (e.g., based on liposomes, or recent lipid nanoparticle vaccine used for mRNA delivery) are increasingly being approved by regulatory agencies such as the FDA and TGA, thus suggesting that we are making safe, effective delivery systems. A new alternative for selective delivery of drugs into endosomes is the use of pH-responsive nanoparticles. Nanoparticles passively internalised within the endosomal network approximately one minute from the formation of early endosomes to 5-15 min until endosome maturation (Ramírez-García et al., 2019b), Pre-Chapter 3). Our studies showed that pH-responsive nanoparticles remain within endosomes (*i.e.*, no cytoplasmic escape) and then disassembly for cargo release can occur in response to small reductions in pH (<6.5), consistent with the environment nanoparticles encounter within early and late endosomes. Once internalised and exposed to this acidic environment, DIPMA units within the hydrophobic core are proposed to become protonated, leading to charge-charge repulsion and micelle disassembly, which facilitates rapid drug release (Gao et al., 2010; Ramírez-García et al., 2019a). Nanoparticles present advantages compared to lipidated antagonist due to the small size and uncoated structure, which allow a passive uptake, and the ability to bypass the cell surface. Nanoparticles such as these can be modified in a variety of ways, including engineering tuneability pH, as is the focus on this thesis, as well as temperature, oxygen radicals, pressure, ultrasound and light, as reviewed previously (Beiranvand and Sorori, 2019; Hua et al., 2018).

In Pre-chapter 3, we developed a pH-responsive nanoparticle (DIPMA) loaded with a NK_1R antagonist, aprepitant, as a tool to enhance selective delivery of NK_1R antagonists into endosomes. pH-responsive nanoparticles demonstrated to abolish *in vitro* signalling proteins induced by NK_1R (Jensen et al., 2017; Ramírez-García et al., 2019b). While this was a large multi-authored, collaborative international study, I contributed several critical insights that were essential to our understanding of the importance of NK_1R endosomal inhibition and its participation in transmission.

Particularly, I assessed the antinociceptive efficacy of DIPMA in three different models of pain (acute, inflammatory, and neuropathic pain), which showed that a single intrathecal dose of nanoparticles improved the antinociceptive properties compared to free drug. In addition, I examined the effect of nanoparticles on electrophysiological C-reflex parameters in neuropathic rats, demonstrating that endosomal NK₁R inhibition decreases neuronal excitability *in vivo*.

The second part of this PhD thesis (Chapter 4) extended these initial insights from the NK1R to a new receptor, by investigating if and how mGlu₅ located on endosomes contributes to signalling and whether mGlu₅ endosomal signalling is a suitable therapeutic target for pain. We report that mGlu₅ activation leads $G\alpha_{q/11}$ and $G\alpha_s$ protein recruitment in the plasma membrane. This is followed by internalisation into Rab5-positive endosomes, where mGlu₅ continue to recruit Ga_{q/11} and promote sustained intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation and ERK activity using heterologous expression systems. Further studies are required to confirm if these same signalling and trafficking observations are also possible in neurons or microglia where mGlu₅ is expressed in the spinal cord. Consistent with the prior studies in NK₁R (pre-Chapter 3), where HEK and cultured neuron signalling data was translated to *in vivo* studies, this led to the hypothesis that endosomal mGlu₅ signalling mediates pain transmission and that by selectively targeting these endosomal mGlu₅, enhanced analgesia could be achieved. Finally, to demonstrate the importance of signalling from endosomes, we utilised pHresponsive nanoparticles to selectively deliver the mGlu₅ negative allosteric modulator VU058 into acidified endosomes. DIPMA micelle employed was proposed to bypass the cell surface and bias drug action toward endosomal mGlu₅, to improve the efficacy VU-058-mediated inhibition of intracellular Ca²⁺ mobilisation and ERK activity in vitro. In addition, administering pH-responsive nanoparticles intrathecally in mice, as a carrier for endosomal uptake and release of mGlu₅ ligands, we achieved superior analgesia in acute and chronic models of pain.

These two studies (pre-chapter 3 and 4) provided an important proof of concept demonstrating that pH-responsive nanoparticles have potential for the reversal of pain not just for NK₁R but also for mGlu₅ and addressing current challenges in providing genuine alternatives to current analgesics. The proposed benefit of this approach lies in the repurposing of clinically approved drugs while simultaneously avoiding the broad distribution of drugs due to selective endosomal targeting.

In our initial study (pre-chapter 3), we confirm that pH-responsive nanoparticles are not toxic *in vitro*, and we also confirmed that these nanoparticles do not induce clinical behavioural observation such as shivering, increase of breading, sleeping. However, further histological studies are required to confirm

that pH-responsive nanoparticles does not induces detrimental effect at cellular levels such as spinal cord. Furthermore, in both studies we used highly hydrophobic drugs due to encapsulation limitations. Thus, pH responsive nanoparticles need improvement in the encapsulation process to allow hydrophilic drugs encapsulation. In addition, pH-responsive nanoparticles are highly tuneable, the monomer DIPMA has pKa of 6.1, where this monomer unit can be exchanged and modify the pH responsiveness, where a slower or quicker release can be achieved to inhibit the endosomal network at different levels.

4. TRPV4 ion channels - an important effector protein for GPCR signalling

In contrast to these studies on GPCR trafficking-signalling relationships, the final results chapter of this thesis (chapter 5) investigated another interesting and understudied phenomenon, to further understand how GPCR can achieve their complete signalling repertoire. To do this, we focussed on 5-HT receptor signalling, to explore the role of TRPV4 ion channels as effector proteins in 5-HT-induced plasma extravasation, with particular interaction of 5HT subtype 2A.

TRP channels are established enhancer of vascular permeability, oedema and pain. Particularly, TRPV4 is a recognised as a central mediator of neurogenic inflammation through enhanced release of neuropeptides such as SP and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) from peptidergic peripheral nerve endings (Ding et al., 2010; Lin et al., 2007; Poole et al., 2013). GPCRs can modify the sensitivity to ligand or mechanical activation, as well as the magnitude and duration of TRPV4 ion channel gating by functional interactions (termed 'coupling' or the GPCR-TRP axis). These interactions are reciprocal, where functional coupling of a GPCR to an ion channel such as TRPV4 can lead to augmentation of GPCR signalling. Furthermore, coupling between GPCRs and TRPV4 is proposed to contribute to disease-associated processes, including neurogenic inflammation and pain (Veldhuis et al., 2015).

An example of reciprocal GPCR-TRP coupling is illustrated through functional interactions between protease- activated receptors 1 and 2 (PAR1 and PAR2) and TRPV4 (Peng et al., 2020; Poole et al., 2013; Zhao et al., 2014). PAR activation "sensitise" or reduce the activation threshold through channel phosphorylation and enhance TRPV4 signalling through kinase signalling cascades and activation of phospholipases such as PLA2, to promote the production of endogenous TRPV4 activators, arachidonic acid and the eicosanoic acid, 5',6'-EET (Grace et al., 2014; Grant et al., 2007; Poole et al., 2013). GPCR-TRP axis studies provide strong mechanistic understanding of the important

contribution in the bidirectional interactions of GPCR and TRP channel in fundamental biological processes such as vascular permeability and oedema.

We reported that activation of either TRPV4 or 5-HT receptors promoted significant plasma extravasation in the airway and upper gastrointestinal tract of mice. Functional interaction studies reveal that TRPV4 enhances the duration of 5-HT-evoked Ca²⁺ signalling through a PLA₂ and PKC-dependent mechanism. In summary, this study demonstrates that TRPV4 contributes to 5-HT₂A-induced plasma extravasation in the airways and upper GI tract, with evidence supporting a mechanism of action involving SP and CGRP release.

Here, we provided relevant evidence that GPCRs not just signal within the plasma membrane and intracellular location but also can exert influence on other receptors through downstream pathways, affecting cell or tissue-specific signalling such as oedema. Particularly, 5HT2A couples to G α q, to activate PLC, PLA2 and PKC. PLA2 promotes the production of endogenous TRPV4 activators, arachidonic acid and 5',6'-EET, whereas PKC phosphorylated TRPV4 to enhance its activity. While 5HT2A is receiving significant recent attention in drug discovery due to its known role in depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, these studies are also an important reminder of the role serotonin signalling plays in peripheral processes such as the neurogenic inflammatory processes described. While this requires further studies to demonstrate how important 5HT2A signalling is chronic states, this preliminary study at least suggest that the 5HT2A-TRPV4 axis may be important for the acute phase of inflammation.

To summarise, this PhD thesis explored location-specific signalling of GPCRs in endosomes involved in pain, where pH-responsive nanoparticles that selectively delivery drugs into endosomes, decrease pain signalling *in vitro* and enhance the antinociceptive effect of antagonist *in vivo*. In addition, we demonstrated that GPCRs can also interact with other receptor such as TRP channels to enhance or modify their activity, fundamental biological processes such as vascular permeability and oedema. While further studies are required to fully understand GPRCs signalling, it provides valuable new information about the requirement for GPCR recruitment to specific membranes and how it engages with other effector proteins in a spatiotemporal manner to achieve its complete signalling response. This also includes new understanding of how 5HT-mediated signalling utilises ion channels to amplify signalling, modify cell secretion and contractility to promote oedema.

5. References

Banister, S. D., Krishna Kumar, K., Kumar, V., Kobilka, B. K., and Malhotra, S. V. (2019). Selective modulation of the cannabinoid type 1 (CB1) receptor as an emerging platform for the treatment of neuropathic pain. *Med. Chem. Commun.* 70, –. doi:10.1039/C8MD00595H.

Beiranvand, S., and Sorori, M. M. (2019). Pain management using nanotechnology approaches. *Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol* 47, 462–468. doi:10.1080/21691401.2018.1553885.

Boudreau, D., Korff, Von, M., Rutter, C. M., Saunders, K., Ray, G. T., Sullivan, M. D., et al. (2009). Trends in long-term opioid therapy for chronic non-cancer pain. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf* 18, 1166–1175. doi:10.1002/pds.1833.

Brennan, F., Carr, D. B., and Cousins, M. (2007). Pain management: a fundamental human right. *Anesth. Analg.* 105, 205–221. doi:10.1213/01.ane.0000268145.52345.55.

Calebiro, D., Nikolaev, V. O., Persani, L., and Lohse, M. J. (2010). Signaling by internalized G-protein-coupled receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 31, 221–228. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2010.02.002.

Corbett, A. D., Henderson, G., McKnight, A. T., and Paterson, S. J. (2006). 75 years of opioid research: the exciting but vain quest for the Holy Grail. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 147 Suppl 1, S153–62. doi:10.1038/sj.bjp.0706435.

Ding, X.-L., Wang, Y.-H., Ning, L.-P., Zhang, Y., Ge, H.-Y., Jiang, H., et al. (2010). Involvement of TRPV4-NO-cGMP-PKG pathways in the development of thermal hyperalgesia following chronic compression of the dorsal root ganglion in rats. *Behav. Brain Res.* 208, 194–201. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2009.11.034.

Ferguson, S. S., Downey, W. E., Colapietro, A. M., Barak, L. S., Ménard, L., and Caron, M. G. (1996). Role of beta-arrestin in mediating agonist-promoted G protein-coupled receptor internalization. *Science* 271, 363–366. doi:10.1126/science.271.5247.363.

Gao, W., Chan, J. M., and Farokhzad, O. C. (2010). pH-Responsive nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Mol. Pharm.* 7, 1913–1920. doi:10.1021/mp100253e.

Grace, M. S., Lieu, T., Darby, B., Abogadie, F. C., Veldhuis, N., Bunnett, N. W., et al. (2014). The tyrosine kinase inhibitor bafetinib inhibits PAR2-induced activation of TRPV4 channels in vitro and pain in vivo. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 171, 3881–3894. doi:10.1111/bph.12750.

Grant, A. D., Cottrell, G. S., Amadesi, S., Trevisani, M., Nicoletti, P., Materazzi, S., et al. (2007). Proteaseactivated receptor 2 sensitizes the transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 ion channel to cause mechanical hyperalgesia in mice. *J. Physiol. (Lond.)* 578, 715–733. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.121111.

Halls, M. L., and Canals, M. (2018). Genetically Encoded FRET Biosensors to Illuminate Compartmentalised GPCR Signalling. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 148–157. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2017.09.005.

Hua, S., de Matos, M. B. C., Metselaar, J. M., and Storm, G. (2018). Current Trends and Challenges in the Clinical Translation of Nanoparticulate Nanomedicines: Pathways for Translational Development and Commercialization. *Front Pharmacol* 9, 790. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018.00790.

Irannejad, R., Pessino, V., Mika, D., Huang, B., Wedegaertner, P. B., Conti, M., et al. (2017). Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 799–806. doi:10.1038/nchembio.2389.

Jensen, D. D., Lieu, T., Halls, M. L., Veldhuis, N. A., Imlach, W. L., Mai, Q. N., et al. (2017). Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci Transl Med* 9, eaal3447. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.aal3447.

Jimenez-Vargas, N. N., Pattison, L. A., Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Latorre, R., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2018). Proteaseactivated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, E7438–E7447. doi:10.1073/pnas.1721891115.

Jiménez-Vargas, N. N., Yu, Y., Jensen, D. D., Bok, D. D., Wisdom, M., Latorre, R., et al. (2021). Agonist that activates the μ -opioid receptor in acidified microenvironments inhibits colitis pain without side effects. *Gut*. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2021-324070.

Latorraca, N. R., Venkatakrishnan, A. J., and Dror, R. O. (2017). GPCR Dynamics: Structures in Motion. *Chem. Rev.* 117, 139–155. doi:10.1021/acs.chemrev.6b00177.

Lin, Q., Li, D., Xu, X., Zou, X., and Fang, L. (2007). Roles of TRPV1 and neuropeptidergic receptors in dorsal root reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammation induced by intradermal injection of capsaicin. *Molecular Pain* 3, 30. doi:10.1186/1744-8069-3-30.

Mai, Q. N., Shenoy, P., Quach, T., Retamal, J. S., Gondin, A. B., Yeatman, H. R., et al. (2021). A lipid-anchored neurokinin 1 receptor antagonist prolongs pain relief by a three-pronged mechanism of action targeting the receptor at the plasma membrane and in endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 100345. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100345.

Mantyh, P. W., Allen, C. J., Ghilardi, J. R., Rogers, S. D., Mantyh, C. R., Liu, H., et al. (1995). Rapid endocytosis of a G protein-coupled receptor: substance P evoked internalization of its receptor in the rat striatum in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2622–2626.

O'Malley, K. L., Jong, Y.-J. I., Gonchar, Y., Burkhalter, A., and Romano, C. (2003). Activation of metabotropic glutamate receptor mGlu5 on nuclear membranes mediates intranuclear Ca2+ changes in heterologous cell types and neurons. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 28210–28219. doi:10.1074/jbc.M300792200.

Peng, S., Grace, M. S., Gondin, A. B., Retamal, J. S., Dill, L., Darby, W., et al. (2020). The transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) ion channel mediates protease activated receptor 1 (PAR1)-induced vascular hyperpermeability. *Lab. Invest.* 5, 4–11. doi:10.1038/s41374-020-0430-7.

Poole, D. P., Amadesi, S., Veldhuis, N. A., Abogadie, F. C., Lieu, T., Darby, W., et al. (2013). Proteaseactivated receptor 2 (PAR2) protein and transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) protein coupling is required for sustained inflammatory signaling. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 5790–5802. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.438184.

Poole, D. P., Lieu, T., Pelayo, J. C., Eriksson, E. M., Veldhuis, N. A., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). Inflammationinduced abnormalities in the subcellular localization and trafficking of the neurokinin 1 receptor in the enteric nervous system. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 309, G248–59. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00118.2015.

Rajendran, L., Schneider, A., Schlechtingen, G., Weidlich, S., Ries, J., Braxmeier, T., et al. (2008). Efficient inhibition of the Alzheimer's disease beta-secretase by membrane targeting. *Science* 320, 520–523. doi:10.1126/science.1156609.

Ramírez-García, P. D., Retamal, J. S., Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019a). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. *Nat Nanotechnol* 14, 1150–1159. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Ramírez-García, P. D., Retamal, J. S., Shenoy, P., Imlach, W., Sykes, M., Truong, N., et al. (2019b). A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain. *Nat Nanotechnol* 3, 133–10. doi:10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Scholz, J., and Woolf, C. J. (2002). Can we conquer pain? Nat Neurosci 5 Suppl, 1062–1067. doi:10.1038/nn942.

Shukla, A. K., Westfield, G. H., Xiao, K., Reis, R. I., Huang, L.-Y., Tripathi-Shukla, P., et al. (2014). Visualization of arrestin recruitment by a G-protein-coupled receptor. *Nature* 512, 218–222. doi:10.1038/nature13430.

Stoeber, M., Jullié, D., Lobingier, B. T., Laeremans, T., Steyaert, J., Schiller, P. W., et al. (2018). A Genetically Encoded Biosensor Reveals Location Bias of Opioid Drug Action. *Neuron* 98, 963–976.e5. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2018.04.021.

Tsvetanova, N. G., Irannejad, R., and Zastrow, von, M. (2015). G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) signaling via heterotrimeric G proteins from endosomes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 6689–6696. doi:10.1074/jbc.R114.617951.

Veldhuis, N. A., Poole, D. P., Grace, M., McIntyre, P., and Bunnett, N. W. (2015). The G protein-coupled receptor-transient receptor potential channel axis: molecular insights for targeting disorders of sensation and inflammation. *Pharmacol. Rev.* 67, 36–73. doi:10.1124/pr.114.009555.

Vilardaga, J.-P., Jean-Alphonse, F. G., and Gardella, T. J. (2014). Endosomal generation of cAMP in GPCR signaling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10, 700–706. doi:10.1038/nchembio.1611.

Volkow, N. D., McLellan, T. A., Cotto, J. H., Karithanom, M., and Weiss, S. R. B. (2011). Characteristics of opioid prescriptions in 2009. *JAMA* 305, 1299–1301. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.401.

Yarwood, R. E., Imlach, W. L., Lieu, T., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., Klein Herenbrink, C., et al. (2017). Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 114, 12309–12314. doi:10.1073/pnas.1706656114.

Zhao, P., Lieu, T., Barlow, N., Metcalf, M., Veldhuis, N. A., Jensen, D. D., et al. (2014). Cathepsin S causes inflammatory pain via biased agonism of PAR2 and TRPV4. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 27215–27234. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.599712.

Appendix 1

A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain

Paulina D. Ramírez-García ^{1,2}, Jeffri S. Retamal^{1,2}, Priyank Shenoy^{1,2}, Wendy Imlach^{3,}, Matthew Sykes³, Nghia Truong^{1,2}, Luis Constandil⁴, Teresa Pelissier⁴, Cameron J. Nowell¹, Song Y. Khor^{1,2}, Louis M. Layani^{1,2}, Chris Lumb^{1,2}, Daniel P. Poole^{1,2}, TinaMarie Lieu^{1,2}, Gregory D. Stewart¹, Quynh N. Mai^{1,2}, Dane D. Jensen⁵, Rocco Latorre⁵, Nicole N. Scheff⁶, Brian L. Schmidt⁶, John F. Quinn^{1,2}, Michael R. Whittaker^{1,2}, Nicholas A. Veldhuis^{1,2*}, Thomas P. Davis^{1,2,7*} and Nigel W. Bunnett^{1,2,5,8*}

Nanoparticle-mediated drug delivery is especially useful for targets within endosomes because of the endosomal transport mechanisms of many nanomedicines within cells. Here, we report the design of a pH-responsive, soft polymeric nanoparticle for the targeting of acidified endosomes to precisely inhibit endosomal signalling events leading to chronic pain. In chronic pain, the substance P (SP) neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R) redistributes from the plasma membrane to acidified endosomes, where it signals to maintain pain. Therefore, the NK₁R in endosomes provides an important target for pain relief. The pH-responsive nanoparticles enter cells by clathrin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis and accumulate in NK₁R-containing endosomes. Following intrathecal injection into rodents, the nanoparticles, containing the FDA-approved NK₁R antagonist aprepitant, inhibit SP-induced activation of spinal neurons and thus prevent pain transmission. Treatment with the nanoparticles leads to complete and persistent relief from nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic nociception and offers a much-needed nonopioid treatment option for chronic pain.

anoparticle encapsulation improves drug efficacy by enhancing the stability, tolerability, delivery and retention in diseased tissues^{1–3}. Interest in using nanoparticles to deliver anticancer drugs is perpetuated by the prospect of targeted delivery to tumour cells, and by the leaky vasculature and poor lymphatic drainage of tumours, which promote nanoparticle accumulation and uptake⁴. Stimulus-responsive nanoparticles can enhance targeted delivery and avoid undesirable exposure, further improving efficacy⁵. Triggers for nanoparticle disassembly and drug release include acidity, protease activity and redox imbalance within tumours. Inflammation and infection also acidify extracellular microenvironments^{6–9}. However, few nanoparticle-based chemotherapeutics have been tested in patients, and the rationale has been questioned¹⁰.

Acidification of intracellular compartments, including endosomes and lysosomes, can be exploited for intracellular drug delivery¹¹. For applications that require therapeutics to reach cytoplasmic or nuclear targets, the necessity and challenges of endosomal escape limit the usefulness of nanoparticle-mediated endosomal delivery¹². The identification of drug targets within endosomes provides opportunities for harnessing pH-sensitive materials to chaperone drugs to intracellular targets. The realization that G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) can signal from endosomes has created opportunities to improve drug efficacy and repurpose medicines¹³.

GPCRs are a large (>800) family of seven transmembrane proteins that control most physiological and pathological processes, and such GPCRs are the target of more than 30% of therapeutic drugs¹⁴. GPCR signalling is not confined to the plasma membrane, but also occurs within endosomes^{15,16}. Location-biased compounds favour interactions with GPCRs in subcellular locations, leading to distinct signals^{17,18}. Endosomal signalling of the substance P (SP) neurokinin 1 receptor (NK₁R), calcitonin receptor-like receptor and protease-activated receptor-2 in primary sensory and spinal neurons mediates nociception^{19–21}. Inhibitors of endocytosis and lipidconjugated antagonists that target these receptors in endosomes provide effective anti-nociception^{19–21}. Because these compounds are unlikely to be drug candidates, there remains the need to explore endosomal delivery of existing medicines. Endosomal delivery of GPCR ligands could enhance the treatment of many disorders¹³.

Herein, we demonstrate that soft polymeric pH-responsive nanoparticles alter the distribution and efficacy of an FDA-approved NK_1R antagonist, aprepitant, which is used to treat emesis but has

¹Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. ²Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology, Monash University, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. ³Monash Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. ⁴Laboratory of Neurobiology, Center for the Development of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (CEDENNA), University of Santiago de Chile, Santiago, Chile. ⁵Departments of Surgery and Pharmacology, Columbia University Vagelos College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University in the City of New York, New York , NY, USA. ⁶Bluestone Centre for Clinical Research, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA. ⁷Australian Institute for Bioengineering and Nanotechnology, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia. ⁸Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. *e-mail: nicholas.veldhuis@monash.edu; thomas.p.davis@monash.edu; nwb2@nyu.edu



Fig. 1 | Characterization of DIPMA and BMA nanoparticles. a, Structure of pH-responsive (DIPMA) and pH-non-responsive (BMA) nanoparticles. Nanoparticles share the same hydrophilic shell of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA) but have different hydrophobic cores: P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA) or BMA. **b**, Properties of DIPMA-Ø, BMA-Ø, DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) nanoparticles. Ø, empty; AP, aprepitant. Data are presented as mean ± s.d. Values in parenthesis indicate the number (*n*) of independent experimental replicates. Aprepitant incorporation for nanoparticles containing lower aprepitant concentrations (% initial aprepitant (mean ± s.d.)): DIPMA-AP, 50 nM, 58.4 ± 7.7, *n* = 9 experiments; 25 nM, 62.6 ± 16.3, *n* = 9; BMA-AP, 50 nM, 62.4 ± 11.7, *n* = 9; 25 nM, 65.2 ± 16.2, *n* = 9. CMC, critical micellar concentration. NA, not applicable. **c**, Transmission electron microscopy images of DIPMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) and DIPMA-Ø nanoparticles. Representative images of *n* = 2 independent experiments are shown. **d**, pH-dependent Nile Red (NR) quenching of DIPMA-NR and BMA-NR nanoparticles in vitro, indicative of nanoparticle disassembly. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., *n* = 3 independent experiments, triplicate observations. **e**, **f**, Time course of NR quenching of DIPMA-NR (**e**) and BMA-NR (**f**) nanoparticles in vitro and pH levels of 7.4, 6.5, 6.0 and 5.0. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., *n* = 3 independent experiments, triplicate observations.

failed in trials for other indications $^{\rm 22-24}$. Nanoparticles delivered aprepitant to endosomes containing activated NK_1R, and induced a more complete and sustained anti-nociception in preclinical models

ARTICLES

than conventional therapies, including opioids. Nanoparticle delivery minimized the dose of aprepitant required for anti-nociception, which might avoid off-target effects. Thus, nanoparticles have

potential beyond bulk drug delivery for cancer therapy and in fields where, to date, their applicability has been unrecognized. The use of nanoparticles to direct drugs to subcellular compartments from which GPCRs generate disease-relevant signals has broad applicability. The discovery that nanoparticle encapsulation enhances and prolongs analgesia provides opportunities for developing muchneeded non-opioid therapies for pain.

Results

Synthesis and pH-dependent disassembly of nanoparticles. Diblock copolymers were synthesized with the same hydrophilic shell of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA), but with different hydrophobic cores of P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA) to form pH-responsive nanoparticles or P(BMA) to form non-pH-responsive nanoparticles (DIPMA or BMA nanoparticles, respectively; Fig. 1a and Supplementary Fig. 1a,b). Gel permeation chromatography and ¹H-NMR confirmed the molecular weight and composition of the nanoparticles (Supplementary Fig. 1c,d).

Nanoparticles were self-assembled with aprepitant (MK-869²²), a hydrophobic NK₁R antagonist, forming DIPMA-aprepitant (DIPMA-AP) and BMA-aprepitant (BMA-AP) (Fig. 1b). To generate nanoparticles for delivery of graded concentrations of aprepitant (25, 50 or 100 nM) but a constant concentration of polymer, nanoparticles were self-assembled with graded amounts of aprepitant and a fixed amount of polymer. For most studies, nanoparticles containing 100 nM aprepitant were used, with similar incorporation efficiency (Fig. 1b).

Nanoparticles are dynamic structures that remain assembled when the concentration of polymer exceeds the critical micelle concentration (Supplementary Fig. 2). The critical micellar concentrations of DIPMA-empty (DIPMA-Ø), BMA-Ø, DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP were comparable (Fig. 1b). Nanoparticles were uniformly spherical, with similar diameters and ζ potentials (Fig. 1b).

To examine pH-dependent disassembly, nanoparticles were loaded with Nile Red (NR), which fluoresces only in the hydrophobic core. Fluorescence quenching in aqueous solutions of graded pH was used to evaluate nanoparticle disassembly. DIPMA-NR fluorescence declined with increasing acidity (50% decrease, pH6.08±0.06; Fig. 1d), consistent with the protonation of the DIPMA tertiary amine (pK_a =6.1), charge repulsion and disassembly (Supplementary Fig. 2). BMA-NR fluorescence was unaffected by acidification (Fig. 1d). DIPMA-NR fluorescence declined to minimum levels within 4 min at pH6.0 or 5.0 (Fig. 1e) whereas BMA-NR did not decline in acidic buffers (Fig. 1f). There was a small unexplainable increase in DIPMA-NR fluorescence at pH6.5 or 7.4 and in BMA-NR fluorescence at pH7.4, 6.5, 6.0 or 5.0.

Uptake and disassembly of nanoparticles in cells. Cellular uptake and trafficking of DIPMA nanoparticles labelled with cyanine 5 (DIPMA-Cy5) were examined by confocal microscopy in HEK-293 cells. NK₁R endosomal trafficking and signalling are similar in HEK-293 cells and spinal neurons¹⁹. After incubation for 30 or 60 min, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were localized to early and late endosomes (Fig. 2a, Supplementary Fig. 3a and Supplementary Videos 1 and 2). HEK-293 cells expressing rat (r)NK₁R-GFP were treated with SP to evoke NK₁R endocytosis. At 30 and 60 min after SP, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles co-localized with rNK₁R-GFP in endosomes (Fig. 2b, Supplementary Fig. 3b and Supplementary Video 3). Determination of the Manders overlap coefficient²⁵ confirmed DIPMA-Cy5 co-localization with rNK₁R-GFP, Rab5a-GFP and Rab7a-GFP (Fig. 2c).

The uptake and disassembly of DIPMA nanoparticles loaded with Coumarin 153 (DIPMA-CO), which fluoresces in an aqueous environment but not in the hydrophobic core, were examined by confocal microscopy and high content imaging. When DIPMA-CO nanoparticles were incubated with HEK-293 cells, there was an ARTICLES

increase in intracellular fluorescence from 1 to 10 min that continued for 30 min (Fig. 2e,f). Inhibitors of clathrin (PitStop2)²⁶, dynamin (Dyngo4a)²⁷ and endosomal acidification (Bafilomycin A1, which inhibits the vacuolar H⁺ATPase; NH₄Cl, a lysosomotropic weak base) attenuated cellular fluorescence (Fig. 2c–f). These results are consistent with clathrin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis, and pH-dependent disassembly of DIPMA nanoparticles in acidified endosomes. When non-pH-disassembling BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were incubated with HEK-293 cells, there was a smaller increase in fluorescence from 1 to 10 min (Fig. 2d,e). Although PitStop2 and Dyngo4a suppressed the fluorescence, Bafilomycin A1 and NH₄Cl had no effect (Fig. 2d–f). BMA nanoparticles also enter cells by clathrin- and dynamin-dependent endocytosis, and release cargo by mechanisms that do not require endosomal acidification.

Biodistribution and delivery of nanoparticle cargo. To examine nanoparticle distribution in vivo, DIPMA-Cy5 or BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were injected intrathecally (L4/L5), which delivers NK₁R antagonists to spinal neurons¹⁹. Non-invasive imaging revealed that Cy5 fluorescence, which might be incorporated within nanoparticles or disassembled fluorophore, remained within the injection site for up to 24h (Fig. 3a,b). Confocal imaging showed that DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles accumulated in a perinuclear region in cells throughout laminae I, II and III of the dorsal horn (Fig. 3c and Supplementary Videos 4 and 5). DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were present in neurons, identified by co-localization with the neuronal marker PGP9.5, although detailed analysis of the cellular distribution was not possible due to loss of nanoparticle fluorescence during immunostaining.

To evaluate the usefulness of nanoparticles for drug delivery, free aprepitant, DIPMA-AP or BMA-AP was injected intrathecally to mice, then liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS) was used to quantify aprepitant in the spinal cord. At 1 h after injection, the spinal aprepitant concentration was approximately twofold higher for DIPMA-AP than for BMA-AP and approximately fourfold higher than for free aprepitant (Fig. 3d). At 4h, spinal aprepitant was similar for DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP, and almost undetectable for free aprepitant. Thus, nanoparticle encapsulation causes retention of aprepitant within the spinal cord.

Effects of nanoparticles on nociception. To examine the hypothesis that incorporation into nanoparticles enhances the anti-nociceptive actions of aprepitant due to delivery to spinal neurons, the efficacy of free or nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant was evaluated in preclinical models of nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic pain (Fig. 4d). Nanoparticles, free aprepitant or vehicle was injected intrathecally before or after intraplanar injection of algogens or nerve injury. Mechanical nociception was studied in mice by measuring withdrawal responses to stimulation of the plantar surface of the hindpaw with calibrated von Frey filaments (VFFs) and in rats by measuring the pressure that induced withdrawal of the hindpaw (Randall–Selitto test).

Assessment of nociception requires normal motor coordination, which allows paw withdrawal from painful stimuli. The latency to fall from a rotarod was the same in mice after intrathecal injection of vehicle, DIPMA-AP, BMA-AP or DIPMA-Ø (Supplementary Fig. 4). Nanoparticles do not interfere with motor coordination.

Capsaicin. Intraplantar capsaicin activates transient receptor potential-1 on primary sensory neurons to release SP in the dorsal horn, which evokes NK₁R endocytosis in spinal neurons and allodynia^{19,28}. In mice pretreated with intrathecal vehicle or DIPMA-Ø, capsaicin decreased the VFF threshold from 0.5 to 4 h, which returned to baseline after 24 h (Fig. 4b,c). Free aprepitant (100 nM) and DIPMA-Ø mixed with free aprepitant (100 nM) caused a modest anti-nociception after 1 h (16 ± 4 and 15 ± 3% inhibition, respectively). BMA-AP

ARTICLES

NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY



Fig. 2 | Uptake and disassembly of DIPMA and BMA nanoparticles in HEK-293 cells. a, To examine trafficking to endosomes, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were incubated with HEK-293 cells expressing Rab5a-GFP, which identifies early endosomes, or Rab7a-GFP, which marks late endosomes. Images show localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in Rab5a-GFP-positive early endosomes and Rab7a-GFP-positive late endosomes after incubation with HEK-293 cells for 30 min. Representative images of n = 5 independent experiments are shown. **b**, To determine whether nanoparticles traffic to endosomes containing the NK,R, DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles were incubated with HEK-293 cells transfected with rNK,R-GFP; after 30 min, cells were challenged with 10 nM SP to promote internalization of rNK₁R-GFP. The images show co-localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and NK₁R-GFP in HEK-rNK₁R cells at 30 min after stimulation with SP to induce NK₁R endocytosis. Representative images of n = 5 independent experiments are shown. **c**, Manders overlap coefficient to assess the degree of co-localization of DIPMA-Cy5 with NK,R-GFP, Rab5a-GFP and Rab5a-GFP at 30 min and 60 min. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n = 5 independent experiments. d-f, Uptake of DIPMA-CO and BMA-CO nanoparticles into HEK-293 cells. d, Representative images of n = 5 independent experiments at 30 min after addition of DIPMA-CO or BMA-CO nanoparticles; Coumarin 153 is green, Draq5 nuclear stain is red. e,f, Kinetic analysis and quantification of uptake and disassembly of DIPMA-CO and MBA-CO nanoparticles assessed by Coumarin 153 fluorescence. In cells treated with DIPMA-CO, Coumarin 153 rapidly accumulated in the cytosol, indicative of rapid nanoparticle disassembly. PitStop2 (PS2), Dyngo4a (Dy4), Bafilomycin A1 (BFA) and NH₄Cl inhibited the appearance of Coumarin 153 and nanoparticle disassembly. In cells treated with BMA-CO, Coumarin 153 slowly accumulated in the cytosol, indicative of minimal nanoparticle disassembly. PitStop2 and Dyngo4a, but not Bafilomycin A1 and NH₄Cl, inhibited appearance of Coumarin 153 and nanoparticle disassembly. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 5 (e,f) independent experiments. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ****P<0.0001 compared to DIPMA-CO treated with vehicle. Two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), Dunnett's post-hoc test.

(100 nM aprepitant) had a similar effect after 0.5–1 h, although the effect was sustained for 2 h. DIPMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) caused marked anti-nociception at 0.5–1 h (1 h, $34\pm3\%$ inhibition) that was sustained for 4 h ($35\pm2\%$ inhibition).

Complete Freund's adjuvant. Intraplantar complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) causes sustained mechanical allodynia and NK₁R endocytosis in spinal neurons^{19,29}, which allowed examination of the capacity of nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant to reverse inflammatory nociception. By 48 h after CFA injection, there was a marked decrease in VFF threshold (Fig. 4d–f). Intrathecal vehicle did not affect mechanical hyperalgesia, which persisted for 24h. Aprepitant (100 and 300 nM) dose-dependently reversed hyperalgesia for 2–3 h

(1.5 h, % inhibition: 100 nM, 30 ± 6 ; 300 nM, 47 ± 3 %). BMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) was as effective as free aprepitant (300 nM). DIPMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) produced a larger inhibition of allodynia than the same dose of free aprepitant (1.5 h, % inhibition: 54 ± 4 %), and the inhibition was maintained for 6 h, when other treatments were ineffective. Although systemic morphine (3 mgkg^{-1} , intraperitoneal) fully reversed the mechanical allodynia after 0.5 h, the effect waned after 3 h.

Nerve injury. The sural nerve spared (SNS) model produces a mechanical hyperalgesia in rats for >50 days^{30,31}, which permitted examination of the efficacy of nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant to relieve chronic neuropathic nociception in another species.

ARTICLES



Fig. 3 | **Biodistribution and cellular uptake of nanoparticles and aprepitant delivery. a**, Distribution of DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles at various times after intrathecal injection of mice. Representative images of experiments on n = 8 mice are shown. Scale bar, Cy5 fluorescence intensity measured as radiant efficiency with units ps⁻¹µW⁻¹cm⁻². p, photons. s, seconds. W, watts. **b**, Quantification of the distribution of DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5-nanoparticles at various times after intrathecal injection of mice assessed as the radiant efficiency of the images. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n = 8 mice. **c**, Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 and BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in the dorsal horn (laminae, LI-III) 1h after intrathecal injection. The inset to the right shows accumulation of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in a perinuclear region of a spinal neuron, as confirmed by labelling with anti-PGP9.5. Representative images from n=5 mice. **d**, Aprepitant concentrations in the spinal cord measured 1h and 4 h after intrathecal injection of DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP or free aprepitant (100 nM). Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m.; n=7 mice for aprepitant at 1h and n=8 mice for aprepitant at 4 h (and DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP at 1h and 4 h). **P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001, ***P < 0.001. Two-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test.

To confirm activation of the SP/NK₁R system, we localized NK₁R immunoreactivity (IR) in spinal neurons at 10 days after sham or SNS surgery by immunofluorescence. In sham rats, NK₁R-IR was confined to the plasma membrane of the soma and neurites of

lamina I neurons (Supplementary Fig. 5a and Supplementary Video 6). In SNS rats, NK₁R-IR was detected in endosomes of ipsilateral lamina I neurons but was localized to the plasma membrane of contralateral lamina I neurons (Supplementary Fig. 5a and Supplementary

ARTICLES

NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY



Fig. 4 | Effects of nanoparticles on nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic nociception. a, Preclinical models of nociceptive, inflammatory and neuropathic pain. In the capsaicin-evoked model of acute nociceptive pain in mice, AP, nanoparticles (NPs) or vehicle (Veh) (5μ l) was injected intrathecally (i.t.) 30 min before intraplantar (i.pl.) injection of capsaicin (CAP) or Veh. Withdrawal responses were measured to stimulation of the plantar surface of the injected hindpaw with VFF. In the complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA)-evoked model of sustained inflammatory nociceptifon in mice, CFA or Veh was administered by i.pl. injection; after 48 h, AP, NP or Veh was administered by i.t. injection (5μ l). Withdrawal responses were measured to VFF stimulation of the plantar surface of the injected hindpaw. In the sural nerve spared (SNS) model, rats underwent SNS or sham surgery; after 10 days, AP, NP or Veh (10μ l) was injected i.t. Withdrawal responses were assessed using the Randall-Selitto test. **b**, **c**, Capsaicin-induced mechanical allodynia in mice: VFF response (**b**) and integrated response as area under the curve (AUC) (**c**). **d**-**f**, CFA-evoked mechanical hyperalgesia in mice: VFF response (**d**), AUC (**e**) and half width response (**f**). **g**-**i**, SNS-evoked mechanical hyperalgesia in rats: neuropathic withdrawal threshold response (**g**), AUC (**h**) and half width response (**i**). Data are presented as mean $\pm s..., n = 6$ animals for all experiments. **P* < 0.005, ****P* < 0.001, ##*P* < 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunnett's post-hoc test (**b**, **d**, **g**); one-way ANOVA, Dunn's post-hoc test (**c**, **e**, **f**, **h**].

ARTICLES



Fig. 5 J Sensitization and activation of nociceptive transmission. a-f, C-fibre reflex and wind-up in SNS rats. C-fibre reflexes (**a-c**) and wind-up (**d-f**) were measured at 10 days after SNS. AP, DIPMA-AP NP or Veh was administered by i.t. injection (10 µl). **a,d**, Representative recordings comparing AP and DIPMA-AP. **b,e**, Time course of effects. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 5 rats per group (in parentheses). **P < 0.005, #P < 0.001, ##P < 0.0001 compared to vehicle. Two-way ANOVA, Dunn's post-hoc test. **c,f**, Integrated responses (AUC, n = 5 rats). **P < 0.005, whicle compared to DIPMA-AP, one-way ANOVA, Dunn's post-hoc test. **c,f**, Integrated responses (AUC, n = 5 rats). **P < 0.005, vehicle compared to DIPMA-AP, one-way ANOVA, Dunn's post-hoc test. **g-i**, Cell-attached patch-clamp recordings of SP-induced excitation of lamina I neurons in slices of rat spinal cord. Tissues were preincubated with AP, NP or Veh, and then superfused with SP (1µM, 2 min). Action potential firing was measured: representative traces (**g**); normalized firing rate (**h**); firing time (**i**). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 6 for rats for Veh, n = 7 rats for AP, n = 8 rats for DIPMA-AP and n = 6 rats for BMA-AP. **P = 0.005, whicle compared to DIPMA-AP. Unpaired *t*-test (two-sided).

Video 7). Quantification confirmed NK_1R endocytosis. These results suggest activation of the SP/NK_1R system, and are consistent with NK_1R upregulation in the dorsal horn during neuropathic pain³².

At 10 days, SNS reduced the pressure that induced withdrawal of the hindpaw when compared to sham-operated rats, indicating mechanical hyperalgesia (Fig. 4g–i). Intrathecal vehicle did not affect mechanical hyperalgesia, which persisted for 7 h. Although low doses of aprepitant (100 nM) did not modify the withdrawal threshold, higher doses (300 nM) inhibited withdrawal thresholds after 0.5 h to a maximum of $40 \pm 2\%$ inhibition after 1 h, with return to baseline after 2.5 h. Aprepitant (1µM) almost fully reversed hyperalgesia after 1 h (75±4% inhibition), although hyperalgesia returned to baseline after 3 h (Supplementary Fig. 4). BMA-AP (100 and 300 nM aprepitant) inhibited hyperalgesia to a similar degreas after aprepitant (300 nM). DIPMA-AP (100 and 300 nM aprepitant) strongly reversed hyperalgesia, with almost complete inhibition after 1.5 h (300 nM, 80±4% inhibition) and maintenance for

4.5 h, when none of the other treatments were effective. DIPMA-AP (500 nM) provided complete relief from hyperalgesia for 4.5 h (Supplementary Fig. 6). Although morphine fully reversed hyperalgesia for 2 h, the effect was absent after 2.5 h.

The enhanced effects of DIPMA-AP could be related to delivery and retention of aprepitant in endosomes of spinal neurons containing activated NK₁R, and the continued release of aprepitant as nanoparticles encounter increasingly acidified endosomal compartments. The anti-nociceptive actions of BMA-AP might be due to non-pH-responsive aprepitant release by unknown mechanisms.

Effects of nanoparticles on neuronal activity. Nociceptor C-fibres transmit painful stimuli centrally by releasing SP, calcitonin gene related peptide and glutamate in the dorsal horn³³. Central sensitization (that is, amplified nociceptive transmission, decreased nociceptive threshold) is a hallmark of chronic pain. To examine sensitization, we measured the threshold current required to activate C-fibre reflexes, and assessed wind-up, a frequency-dependent

ARTICLES

increase in the excitability of spinal cord neurons induced by electrical stimulation of C-fibres³¹. The threshold current required for activation of the C-fibre-mediated reflexes in the ipsilateral biceps femoris muscle was reduced in SNS rats compared to sham controls (SNS, 3.2 ± 2.8 mA; sham, 10.3 ± 1.2 mA, P < 0.05), consistent with sensitization. Repeated 0.1 Hz electrical stimuli caused a constant and stable C-reflex activity over time, while repeated 1.0 Hz stimuli evoked a progressive increase in C-reflex frequency or wind-up (Fig. 5a–f). In SNS rats, intrathecal aprepitant (1µM) decreased the C-reflex only at 30 min, but did not affect wind-up. In contrast, DIPMA-AP (300 nM aprepitant) decreased C-reflex within 45 min and wind-up activity within 15 min, and inhibited responses for the duration of observations (120 min).

The effectiveness of DIPMA-AP to suppress nociception could be due to antagonism of sustained SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons, which requires NK₁R signalling from endosomes¹⁹. To examine this possibility, we made cell-attached patch-clamp recordings from lamina I neurons in slices of rat spinal cord. In vehicle-treated slices, SP (1 μ M, 2min) caused a rapid onset in action potential firing that persisted for 16 min after washout (Fig. 5g–i). Aprepitant (100 nM) or BMA-AP (100 nM aprepitant) had minimal effect on the onset, rate or duration of SP-induced firing. DIPMA-AP (100 nM) did not affect the initial onset of SP-evoked firing, but inhibited the rate of discharge after washout and the duration of excitation. When delivered in pH-responsive nanoparticles, aprepitant antagonizes endosomal NK₁R signals that drive sustained excitation of spinal neurons.

Effects of nanoparticles on endosomal signalling. Endosomal NK₁R signalling in HEK-293 cells activates nuclear extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), which mediates SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons¹⁹. Painful stimuli (capsaicin) evoke phosphorylation of ERK (pERK) in spinal neurons, which requires NK₁R endocytosis¹⁹. We examined whether nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant prevents capsaicin-evoked ERK activation in spinal neurons in vivo. Capsaicin induced a 3.9-fold increase in the number of pERK-IR expressing neurons in laminae I, II and III of the ipsilateral but not contralateral dorsal horn (Fig. 6a,b). Free aprepitant caused a 43% reduction, BMA-AP a 63% reduction and DIPMA-AP an 81% reduction in pERK-IR neurons. The more complete inhibitory action of DIPMA-AP on ERK signalling concurs with its enhanced anti-nociceptive actions.

ERK signalling in vitro was studied in primary cultures of mouse striatal neurons. SP increased $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ in striatal neurons; pretreatment with aprepitant abolished responses, which are NK_iR-dependent (Supplementary Fig. 7a,b). After neurons were incubated

NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY

with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and SP (100 nM) for 30 min, nanoparticles were detected in close proximity to endosomes containing NK₁R-IR (Fig. 6c). SP (100 nM) and phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (positive control, 10 μ M) stimulated nuclear pERK in striatal neurons (Fig. 6d and Supplementary Fig. 7c). DIPMA-AP reduced responses to basal levels, whereas free aprepitant was ineffective.

Förster resonance energy transfer (FRET) biosensors allow analysis of signalling in living cells with high spatiotemporal fidelity³⁴. To examine activation of nuclear ERK, HEK-293 cells expressing human (h) NK1R were transfected with NucEKAR (nuclear ERK biosensor). SP (100 pM-1 µM) activated nuclear ERK (halfmaximal effective concentration, EC_{50} , of 5.9 nM) (Supplementary Fig. 8a,b). Aprepitant inhibited the response to 5 nM SP (~EC₅₀), but only at high concentrations (0.1, 1 and 10µM; half-maximal inhibitory concentration, IC₅₀, of 45 nM) (Supplementary Fig. 8c,d). To determine the requirement for NK₁R endosomal signalling, we transfected HEK-hNK1R cells with wild-type dynamin or dominant negative dynamin K44E, which inhibits NK₁R endocytosis¹⁹. Compared to cells expressing wild-type dynamin, dynamin K44E attenuated ERK responses to all concentrations of SP, abolished the response to 10 nM SP, and reduced the potency of SP by approximately twofold and the efficacy by ~30% (Supplementary Fig. 8e-g).

DIPMA-Ø or BMA-Ø nanoparticles (10, 20 and $30 \,\mu g \, ml^{-1}$, 30 min) did notactivate nuclear ERK in HEK-293 cells (Supplementary Fig. 8h). DIPMA-Ø nanoparticles had no effect on SP (5 nM) stimulated activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK₁R cells, although $30 \,\mu g \, ml^{-1}$ BMA had a small inhibitory effect (Supplementary Fig. 8i). DIPMA-Ø or BMA-Ø nanoparticles (1–100 $\mu g \, ml^{-1}$, 24 or 48h) did not affect the viability of HEK-293 cells (Suplementary Fig. 8j).

To compare the capacity of free aprepitant and nanoparticleencapsulated aprepitant to antagonize the NK₁R in endosomes, we measured SP-induced activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK1R cells. Cells were preincubated with vehicle, free aprepitant or DIPMA-AP (25, 50 and 100 nM aprepitant) for 30 min, and were challenged with SP (5nM). In vehicle-treated cells, SP stimulated a rapid and sustained activation of nuclear ERK (Fig. 6e,g). At all concentrations, DIPMA-AP more completely inhibited this response than free aprepitant. To compare sustained antagonism of endosomal NK₁R, cells were preincubated with vehicle, aprepitant or DIPMA-AP (100 nM) for 30 min, washed, recovered in medium without antagonist for 30 or 120 min, and then challenged with SP. Free aprepitant was now inactive, whereas DIPMA-AP (100 nM) abolished SP-induced activation of nuclear ERK (Fig. 6f-h). Although BMA-AP was less efficacious than DIPMA-AP in assays of nociception and ERK activity in spi-

Fig. 6 | Antagonism of NK,R signalling in endosomes. a,b, Localization of pERK in the spinal cord: representative images (a) and the number of pERK-IR neurons per section (b). AP, BMA-AP, DIPMA-AP or Veh was injected i.t. into mice. After 30 min, CAP or Veh was administered by i.pl. injection. After 4 h, the spinal cord was collected for localization of pERK-IR or NeuN-IR (pan-neuronal marker). Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n=5 mice for Veh/Veh, Veh/CAP, AP/CAP, DIPMA-AP/CAP groups or n = 6 mice for BMA-AP/CAP groups. ****P < 0.0001 compared to Veh/CAP; ####P < 0.0001 compared to AP/CAP; ^{HI}P < 0.001 compared to BMA-AP/CAP. One-way ANOVA, Bonferroni post-hoc test. c, Uptake of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in proximity to NK,R-IR endosomes in cultured striatal neurons stimulated with 100 nM SP for 30 min. Representative images from n = 4 independent experiments are shown. d, Nuclear ERK signalling in primary cultures of mouse striatal neurons. Neurons were preincubated with Veh, free AP or DIPMA-AP (100 nM, 30 min), washed and recovered for 30 min. Neurons were challenged with SP (100 nM) or phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (positive control, 10 µM) for 30 min. Nuclear pERK-IR and total ERK-IR were detected by immunofluorescence and confocal imaging, and expressed as the ratio of phospho-ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) to total ERK. Data are presented as mean ± s.e.m., n = 41 neurons for Veh/Veh, 68 neurons for SP/Veh, 46 neurons for SP/AP, 43 neurons for SP/DIPMA-AP, 52 neurons for SP/BMA-AP and 51 neurons for phorbol 12, 13-dibutyrate (PBDU, positive control), from four experiments (Veh, SP/AP, SP/DIPMA, SP/BMA) or six experiments (SP/Veh, PBDU) tested with independent nanoparticle preparations. ***P<0.001. One-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test. e-h, Effects of free AP, DIPMA-AP and BMA-AP on SP-induced activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK₁R cells. Cells were preincubated with Veh, AP or DIPMA-AP for 30 min; they were either challenged with SP (no recovery, e), or were washed, recovered in antagonist-free medium for 30 or 120 min and then challenged with SP (30 min recovery, f). g,h, AUC of ERK assays. Results are expressed as normalized values by the maximum nuclear ERK response to 1 μ M phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate. Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., n = 7 independent experiments for SP (no recovery and 30 min recovery) and AP (100 nM, no recovery), n = 5 independent experiments for 120 min recovery and n = 6 independent experiments for all other data points; observations are in triplicate. **P < 0.005, ***P < 0.001, ##P < 0.0001 compared to vehicle. One-way ANOVA, Tukey's post-hoc test.

ARTICLES

nal neurons in vivo, BMA-AP inhibited SP-induced activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK₁R cells to a similar degree as DIPMA-AP (Fig. 6e–h). Intracellular disassembly of BMA-AP nanoparticles by unknown mechanisms might release sufficient quantities of aprepitant to effectively antagonize the NK₁R in endosomes. Non-selective effects of BMA on SP-stimulated nuclear ERK (Supplementary Fig. 8i) could also contribute.

Discussion

The rationale for the current study is that painful stimuli evoke NK_1R endocytosis in spinal neurons^{24,28}, where NK_1R endosomal signals mediate excitation and nociception¹⁹. Clathrin and dynamin inhibitors and lipid-conjugated antagonists that target the NK_1R in endosomes inhibit nociception¹⁹. Considerable effort will be required to advance these compounds to the clinic. Dynamin



NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY | www.nature.com/naturenanotechnology

ARTICLES

and clathrin inhibitors disrupt trafficking of many receptors and channels that control nociception. Lipid-conjugated antagonists can lose potency. Because lipidated antagonists incorporate into plasma and endosomal membranes, they cannot exclusively target endosomal signalling. pH-responsive nanoparticles deliver aprepitant to endosomes, without loss of potency. Nanoparticle encapsulation enhanced the anti-nociceptive actions of aprepitant in preclinical models of pain. These findings are consistent with the improved capacity of nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant to inhibit SP-induced excitation of spinal neurons and to cause a sustained inhibition of endosomal signalling. Nanoparticle uptake and sustained release of aprepitant in acidic endosomes containing the activated NK₁R could account for these enhanced and persistent anti-nociceptive effects.

Further studies are necessary before nanoparticle-encapsulated analgesics can be advanced to clinical trials. They include toxicology, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic studies in disease-relevant preclinical models. Therapeutic efficacy could be improved by combining into the same nanoparticles antagonists of different GPCRs that co-mediate pain transmission (for example, NK₁R, calcitonin receptor-like receptor)^{19,21}. By incorporating targeting groups into the nanoparticle shell, it might be possible to deliver drugs selectively to pain-transmitting neurons. Limitations of our study include the following: analysis of nociception rather than the perception of pain, which requires human studies; study of evoked rather than spontaneous nociception; examination of nanoparticle actions in cell lines or primary striatal neurons, rather than the spinal neurons that are the target of nanoparticle-encapsulated aprepitant.

Nanoparticle encapsulation could improve the therapeutic efficacy of antagonists and agonists of many GPCRs that signal from endosomes^{13,15,35}. Although GPCRs are the target of most clinically approved drugs, many drugs fail during development for unknown reasons. Nanoparticle encapsulation could advance the development of drugs to treat multiple diseases by altering their intracellular distribution to fine-tune signalling processes of pathophysiological importance.

Online content

Any methods, additional references, Nature Research reporting summaries, source data, extended data, supplementary information, acknowledgements, peer review information; details of author contributions and competing interests; and statements of data and code availability are available at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x.

Received: 22 October 2018; Accepted: 2 October 2019; Published online: 04 November 2019

References

- 1. De Jong, W. H. & Borm, P. Drug delivery and nanoparticles: applications and hazards. Int. J. Nanomed. 3, 133-149 (2008).
- Farokhzad, O. C. & Langer, R. Impact of nanotechnology on drug delivery. ACS Nano 3, 16–20 (2009).
- Uhrich, K. E., Cannizzaro, S. M., Langer, R. S. & Shakesheff, K. M. Polymeric systems for controlled drug release. *Chem. Rev.* 99, 3181–3198 (1999).
- Maeda, H. et al. Tumor vascular permeability and the EPR effect in macromolecular therapeutics: a review. J. Control Rel. 65, 271–284 (2000).
- Such, G. K., Yan, Y. Johnston, A. P. R., Gunawan, S. T. & Caruso, F. Interfacing materials science and biology for drug carrier design. *Adv. Mater.* 27, 2278–2297 (2015).
- Chan, J. M., Farokhzad, O. C. & Gao, W. pH-responsive nanoparticles for drug delivery. *Mol. Pharm.* 7, 1913–1920 (2010).
- 7. Lynn, D. M., Amiji, M. M. & Langer, R. pH-responsive polymer
- microspheres: rapid release of encapsulated material within the range of intracellular pH. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 40, 1707–1710 (2001).

NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY

- Mura, S., Nicolas, J. & Couvreur, P. Stimuli-responsive nanocarriers for drug delivery. Nat. Mater. 12, 991–1003 (2013).
- Schmaljohann, D. Thermo- and pH-responsive polymers in drug delivery. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58, 1655–1670 (2006).
- 10. Wilhelm, S. et al. Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* 1, 16014 (2016).
- Zhou, K. et al. Tunable, ultrasensitive pH-responsive nanoparticles targeting specific endocytic organelles in living cells. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 50, 6109–6114 (2011).
- Nelson, C. E. et al. Balancing cationic and hydrophobic content of PEGylated siRNA polyplexes enhances endosome escape, stability, blood circulation time and bioactivity in vivo. ACS Nano 7, 8870–8880 (2013).
- Thomsen, A. R. B., Jensen, D. D., Hicks, G. A. & Bunnett, N. W. Therapeutic targeting of endosomal G protein-coupled receptors. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 879–891 (2018).
- Hauser, A. S., Attwood, M. M., Rask-Andersen, M., Schiöth, H. B. & Gloriam, D. E. Trends in GPCR drug discovery: new agents, targets and indications. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 16, 829–842 (2017).
- Murphy, J. E., Padilla, B. E., Hasdemir, B., Cottrell, G. S. & Bunnett, N. W. Endosomes: a legitimate platform for the signaling train. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci.* USA 106, 17615–17622 (2009).
- Vilardaga, J. P., Jean-Alphonse, F. G. & Gardella, T. J. Endosomal generation of cAMP in GPCR signaling. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 10, 700–706 (2014).
- Irannejad, R. et al. Functional selectivity of GPCR-directed drug action through location bias. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 13, 799–806 (2017).
- Stoeber, M. et al. A genetically encoded biosensor reveals location bias of opioid drug action. *Neuron* 98, 963–976 (2018).
- Jensen, D. D. et al. Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 9, eaal3447 (2017).
- Jimenez-Vargas, N. N. et al. Protease-activated receptor-2 in endosomes signals persistent pain of irritable bowel syndrome. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 115, E7438–E7447 (2018).
- Yarwood, R. E. et al. Endosomal signaling of the receptor for calcitonin gene-related peptide mediates pain transmission. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 114, 12309–12314 (2017).
- Kramer, M. S. et al. Distinct mechanism for antidepressant activity by blockade of central substance P receptors. *Science* 281, 1640–1645 (1998)
- Quartara, L., Altamura, M., Evangelista, S. & Maggi, C. A. Tachykinin receptor antagonists in clinical trials. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* 18, 1843–1864 (2009).
- Steinhoff, M. S., Von Mentzer, B., Geppetti, P., Pothoulakis, C. & Bunnett, N. W. Tachykinins and their receptors: contributions to physiological control and the mechanisms of disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 94, 265–301 (2014).
- Manders, E. M. M., Verbeek, F. J. & Aten, J. A. Measurement of colocalization of objects in dual-colour confocal images. *J. Microsc.* 169, 375–382 (1993).
- Robertson, M. J. et al. Synthesis of the PitStop family of clathrin inhibitors. Nat. Protoc. 9, 1592–1606 (2014).
- Robertson, M. J., Deane, F. M., Robinson, P. J. & McCluskey, A. Synthesis of Dynole 34-2, Dynole 2-24 and Dyngo 4a for investigating dynamin GTPase. *Nat. Protoc.* 9, 851–870 (2014).
- Mantyh, P. W. et al. Receptor endocytosis and dendrite reshaping in spinal neurons after somatosensory stimulation. *Science* 268, 1629–1632 (1995).
- Stein, C., Millan, M. J. & Herz, A. Unilateral inflammation of the hindpaw in rats as a model of prolonged noxious stimulation: alterations in behavior and nociceptive thresholds. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 31, 445–451 (1988).
- Decosterd, I. & Woolf, C. J. Spared nerve injury: an animal model of persistent peripheral neuropathic pain. *Pain* 87, 149–158 (2000).
 Bravo, D. et al. Pannexin 1: a novel participant in neuropathic pain signaling
- Bravo, D. et al. Pannexin 1: a novel participant in neuropathic pain signaling in the rat spinal cord. *Pain* 155, 2108–2115 (2014).
- Abbadie, C., Brown, J. L., Mantyh, P. W. & Basbaum, A. I. Spinal cord substance P receptor immunoreactivity increases in both inflammatory and nerve injury models of persistent pain. *Neuroscience* 70, 201–209 (1996).
- Geppetti, P., Veldhuis, N. A., Lieu, T. & Bunnett, N. W. G protein-coupled receptors: dynamic machines for signaling pain and itch. *Neuron* 88, 635–649 (2015).
- Halls, M. L. & Canals, M. Genetically encoded FRET biosensors to illuminate compartmentalised GPCR signalling. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* 39, 148–157 (2018).
- Irannejad, R. & von Zastrow, M. GPCR signaling along the endocytic pathway. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 27, 109–116 (2014).

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

© The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Nature Limited 2019

ARTICLES

Methods

Materials. Reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich unless otherwise specified.

Diblock copolymers and nanoparticles. Polymer synthesis and characterization and nanoparticle assembly, pH-dependent disassembly in vitro and characterization are described in the Supplementary Methods.

Cell lines. The human (h) NK₁R long isoform open reading frame with a CD8 signal sequence and N-terminal FLAG-tag was cloned into pcDNA5 FRT/TO between KpnI and NotI restriction sites using Gibson assembly (NEB). A stable cell line expressing hNK₁R (HEK-hNK₁R) was produced by co-transfecting Flpn HEK-293 cells with hNK₁R vector and pCG44 (0.5 µg and 4 µg, respectively), using polyethylenimine (PEI, Polysciences) at a 1:6 DNA:PEI ratio. Cells ($-0.7 \times 10^{\circ}$) were seeded into T-25 tissue culture flasks (Perkin Elmer) in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM) supplemented with penicillin (50 U ml⁻¹) and streptomycin (50 U ml⁻¹) (DMEM/pen/strep) and incubated for 24h (37 °C, 5% CO₂). Culture medium was changed to fresh DMEM supplemented with 0% (vol/vol) fetal bovine serum (FBS) and hygromycin B (200 µg ml⁻¹, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for stable cell line selection. Cell lines were tested and confirmed free of mycoplasma.

Nanoparticle trafficking in HEK-293 cells. HEK-293 cells were plated on poly-o-lysine coated chambers (ibidi, Germany) in DMEM supplemented with 10% (vol/vol) FBS (DMEM/FBS). After 24h, cells were transfected with 300 ng of rat (r) NK,R-GFP per chamber and cultured for 48h. To identify endosomal compartments, HEK-293 cells were infected with Rab5a-GFP (resident in early endosomes) or Rab7a-GFP (late endosomes) CellLight BacMam2.0 (Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 16h. To examine localization of nanoparticles, cells were incubated in Leibovitz's L-15 medium with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles (20µg ml⁻¹, 30 min, 37°C) or vehicle, followed by addition of SP (10 M). Cells were imaged at 30 and 60 min post-SP addition using a Leica SP8 confocal microscope equipped with HCX PL APO ×40 (NA 1.30) and HCX PL APO ×63 (NA 1.40) oil objectives. Images were analysed using Fiji^{1%} and deconvolved with Huygens Professional version 18.04 (Scientific Volume Imaging, http://svi.nl), using the CMLE algorithm with a signal-to-noise ratio of 10 and 100 iterations. Co-localization was evaluated by determination of the Manders overlap coefficient⁻³⁵.

Uptake and disassembly of nanoparticles in HEK-293 cells. Nanoparticles were self-assembled with 0.5 mg of Coumarin 153 per mg of DIPMA or BMA polymer (DIPMA-CO, BMA-CO). HEK-293 cells were preincubated for 30 min with vehicle (Hank's balanced salt solution, HBSS), dynamin inhibitor (Dyngo4a, 30 µM)²⁷, clathrin inhibitor (PitStop2, 30 µM)²⁶, vacuolar H⁺ATPase inhibitor (Bafilomycin A1, 1 µM) or NH₄Cl (20 mM), which acts as a lysosomotropic weak base. Nuclei were stained using Draq5. Images were obtained with a Leica SP8 confocal microscope using an HCX PL APO ×63 (NA 2.0) oil objective. Images were taken every 10 s for 30 min, where the first five readings correspond to baseline images before the addition of DIPMA-CO nanoparticles (20 µg ml⁻¹). All images were analysed using Fiji³⁶. Kinetic data were normalized to the fluorescence of free Coumarin 153 (5µg ml⁻¹) at 30 min.

Animals. Male C57BL/6 mice (6–10 weeks) and pregnant Asmu:Swiss mice were sourced from the Monash Animal Research Platform. Male Sprague–Dawley rats (225–250g) were obtained from the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Chile. Animals were housed in groups of four, maintained at a temperature of $22 \pm 4^{\circ}$ C in a humidity-controlled environment with a 12h light/dark cycle. Food and water were available ad libitum. For behavioural tests, investigators were blinded to the treatment groups and animals were randomly assigned to treatments and studied during the light cycle. Animals were euthanized by anaesthetic overdose and thoracotomy. Studies on animals were performed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals of the National Institutes of Health and adhered to the ethical guidelines of the International Association for the Study of Pain⁷⁷. Studies were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University and the Bioethics Committee of the University of Santiago of Chile.

Drug administration. *Mice.* The following drugs were administered by intrathecal injection (5µl) into the intervertebral space (L4/L5) of conscious mice: aprepitant (100 and 300 nM), nanoparticles delivering an equivalent dose of aprepitant (DIPMA-AP, BMA-AP, 10µg ml⁻¹ 100 nM aprepitant, 30µg ml⁻¹ 300 nM aprepitant), controls (10µg ml⁻¹ of DIPMA-Ø and a mixture of 10µg ml⁻¹ of DIPMA-Ø and aprepitant 100 nM) or vehicle (artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF). Treatments were administered 30 min before rotarod experiments and the induction of acute nociceptive pain or 48 h after the establishment of inflammatory nociception. For biodistribution studies, nanoparticles (50µg ml⁻¹) were administered intrathecally immediately after obtaining control images. For localization of nanoparticles in the spinal cord, nanoparticles (50µg ml⁻¹) were administered intrathecally 30 min after the induction of acute nociception with

capsaicin (see below). Morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹ intraperitoneal) was administered 48 h after induction of inflammatory nociception.

Rats. Drugs were administered by intrathecal injection (10µl) into the intervertebral space (L4/L5) of conscious rats: aprepitant (100 nM, 300 nM, 1µM), nanoparticles loaded with aprepitant (DIPMA-AP, BMA-AP, 10µgml⁻¹ 100 nM aprepitant, 30µg ml⁻¹ 300 nM aprepitant, 50µg ml⁻¹ 500 nM aprepitant), DIPMA-Ø nanoparticles (10, 30 and 50µgml⁻¹) or vehicle (aCSF). Treatments were administered 10 days after sural nerve transection or sham surgery. For electrophysiological studies, drugs were administered by intrathecal injection under anaesthesia (isoflurane 1.2–1.5%): aprepitant (1µM) or nanoparticles (30µgml⁻¹ 300 nM aprepitant). Morphine (3 mg kg⁻¹, intraperitoneal) was administered 10 days after sural nerve transection.

Biodistribution of nanoparticles in the spinal cord. Mice were sedated (2% isoflurane) and placed in an in vivo imaging system (IVIS spectrum Lumina II, Perkin Elmer). Posterior images were obtained using the Perkin Elmer Living Image software v4.3.1. After collection of a baseline image, nanoparticles (50µgml⁻¹) were administered intrathecally (5µl). Images were collected at 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, 4, 8 and 24h post DIPMA-Cy5 or BMA-Cy5 administration.

Uptake of nanoparticles in the spinal cord. Cv5-labelled nanoparticles were administered to mice (intrathecal). After 30 min, capsaicin (5µg) was administered by subcutaneous intraplantar injection (10µl) into the left hindpaw under sedation (2% isoflurane). This approach was used to mimic the therapeutic situation where nanoparticle-encapsulated drugs might be used to treat pain. At 1 h after nanoparticle administration, mice were transcardially perfused with 50 ml of PBS followed by 50 ml of ice-cold 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). The spinal cord was removed, immersion fixed in 4% PFA (2h, 4°C) and cryoprotected in PBS containing 30% sucrose (24h, 4°C). The spinal cord (L3-L6) was embedded in tissue freezing medium (TFM, General Data), and 30 µm serial coronal sections were cut and mounted on Colorfrost Plus microscope slides (Fisher Scientific). Sections were washed twice in PBS, counter-stained with DAPI (5µgml⁻¹, 5min) and coverslipped with ProLong Glass mounting medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Some sections were processed to detect neurons. Sections were blocked in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 and 10% normal horse serum (NHS; 30 min, room temperature). Sections were incubated with rabbit anti-PGP9.5 (1:500, Abcam ab27053) in PBS containing 0.2% Triton X-100 and 3% NHS (60 min, room temperature). Sections were washed four times in PBS and incubated with donkey anti-rabbit Alexa488 (1:1,000, Thermo Fisher Scientific; 30 min, room temperature). Sections were imaged on a Leica SP8 confocal microscope with HC PLAPO ×40 or ×63 oil objectives

Determination of aprepitant concentration in the spinal cord. Aprepitant (100 nM) or nanoparticles delivering an equivalent dose of aprepitant ($10 \mu \text{g m} \text{l}^{-1}$) 100 nM aprepitant) was administered by intrathecal injection to conscious mice. Mice were killed 1 h and 4 h post-treatment. The spinal cord (L2–L6) was removed for determination of the tissue concentration of aprepitant by LC-MS, as described in the Supplementary Methods.

Acute and inflammatory nociception in mice. Nociceptive pain. Capsaicin $(5\mu g)$ or vehicle (0.9% NaCl) was administered by intraplantar injection $(10\mu l)$ into the left hindpaw of sedated mice (2% isoflurane) 30 min after intrathecal injection of drugs¹⁹.

Inflammatory pain. CFA (0.5 mg ml⁻¹) or vehicle (0.9% NaCl) was administered by intraplantar injection (10 µl) into the left hindpaw of sedated mice (2% isoflurane)^{19,29}. Drugs were administered by intrathecal injection 48 h after CFA.

Mechanical allodynia. Mechanical nociception was assessed by measuring withdrawal thresholds to stimulation of the plantar surfaces of the ipsilateral and contralateral hindpaws with calibrated VFFs¹⁹. Before experiments, mice were acclimatized to the experimental apparatus and environment for 2 h on two successive days. VFF withdrawal thresholds were measured in triplicate to establish a baseline for each mouse. For the capsaicin model, VFF withdrawal thresholds were measured at 30 min intervals for the first 2 h after drug administration, then at 60 min intervals for the next 2 h, and finally after 24 h. For the CFA model, VFF withdrawal thresholds were measured at 60 min intervals for the next 5 h, and finally after 24 h. Results were normalized to the baseline withdrawal thresholds of each mouse. Results are expressed as a percentage of baseline, as AUC and as the half width response (the duration of the effect of each treatment calculated as the time to attain 50% of the maximal analgesic response).

pERK localization in mouse spinal cord. Vehicle (control), free aprepitant and nanoparticles (all 100 nM aprepitant) were administered by intrathecal injection to mice as described above. After 30 min, mice were sedated (2% isoflurane) and vehicle (0.9% NaCl) or capsaicin (5 μ g) was administered by intraplantar injection (10 μ l) into the left hindpaw. After 4h, sections of spinal cord (L3–L6) were prepared as described above. Fixation, staining and imaging of sections are described in detail in the Supplementary Methods.

ARTICLES

Rotarod test. Motor coordination was assessed in mice by a rotarod test as described in the Supplementary Methods.

Neuropathic nociception in rats. Neuropathic pain. Neuropathic nociception was induced in rats using a variation of the SNS injury model, which induces rapid onset and sustained mechanical and thermal hyperalgesia³⁰. Under anaesthesia (2% isoflurane), the three terminal distal branches of the sciatic nerve (tibial, common peroneal and sural nerves) were identified and the sural nerve was transected¹¹. For controls (sham), rats underwent a similar surgery but without transected¹¹. How controls (sham), we surgery, ketoprofen (3 mg kg⁻¹) and enrolloxacin (5 mg kg⁻¹) were administered subcutaneously for 2 days.

Mechanical hyperalgesia. Mechanical hyperalgesia was assessed in rats by measuring hindpaw withdrawal pressure thresholds using an algesimeter (Ugo Basile) with a cutoff value of 570 g to prevent injury^{38,39}. Mechanical hyperalgesia was evaluated before (basal) and 5, 9 and 10 days after surgery. After evaluation at day 10, drugs were administered by intrathecal injection, and withdrawal thresholds were recorded every 30 min for 7 h. Results are expressed as the paw withdrawal pressure threshold (g cm⁻²), AUC and half-width response.

Electrophysiological assessment of nociception in rats. Nociceptive synaptic transmission was evaluated by measurement of electromyographic activity associated with the hind limb-flexion nociceptive reflex evoked by electrical activation of C-fibres of the sural nerve (C-reflex) as described previously⁶⁰ and in detail in the Supplementary Methods.

Cell-attached patch-clamp recordings of rat spinal neurons. Parasagittal slices (340 µm) were prepared from rat lumbar spinal cord as described in refs.^{19,41}. Slices were transferred to a recording chamber and superfused with aCSF (2ml min⁻¹, 36 °C). Dodt-contrast optics were used to identify large (capacitance 220 pF), putative NK₁R-positive neurons in lamina I based on their position, size and fusiform shape with dendrites that were restricted to lamina I. Spontaneous currents were recorded from NK₁, R-positive lamina I neurons in a cell-attached configuration in voltage clamp. Slices were preincubated in DIPMA-AP (10µgml⁻¹ 100 nM aprepitant), BMA-AP (10µgml⁻¹ 100 nM aprepitant) or aprepitant (100 nM) for 120 min, washed and incubated in antagonist-free aCSF for a further 30–60 min before recording. Slices were challenged with SP (1µM, 2 min) and the firing rate for each cell was normalized to the response between the 2 and 4 min time points, which was not significantly different between groups. The firing time was determined as the duration of the response to the last action potential.

NK₁R localization in rat spinal cord. At 10 days after sham or SNS surgery, rats were anaesthetized and transcardially perfused with 250 ml PBS followed by 250 ml 4% PFA. The spinal cord was removed, immersion fixed in 4% PFA (2 h, 4°C) and cryoprotected in 30% sucrose in 0.1 M PBS (24 h, 4°C). The spinal cord (L3–L6) was embedded in TFM (General Data) and 30 µm serial coronal sections were cut into 48-well plates containing PBS. Fixation, immunostaining, imaging and image analysis of spinal cord sections are described in the Supplementary Methods.

Nanoparticle uptake and SP signalling in striatal neurons. Neuronal isolation and culture. Primary striatal neurons were dissociated from E15-16 Asmu:Swiss mouse embryos as described in ref.⁴². Neurons (200,000 per well) were plated on poly-D-lysine-coated eight-well chamber slides (ibidi) in Neurobasal medium supplemented with B-27, 2 mM L-glutamine and penicillin/streptomycin.

Nanoparticle uptake and NK_iR localization. At 5 days after isolation, neurons were equilibrated in HEPES-buffered saline (10 mM HEPES, 0.5% BSA, 10 mM p-glucose, 2.2 mM CaCl₂.H₂O, MgCl₂.6H₂O, 2.6 mM KCl, 150 mM NaCl, pH7.4) for 30 min and then incubated with 50 µg ml⁻¹ DIPMA-Cy5 and 100 nM SP for 30 min. Neurons were fixed in 2% PFA and 1% sucrose in PBS (room temperature, 20 min) and blocked in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and 5% NHS for 24 h at 4°C. Neurons were stained as described above for rat spinal cord slices, using rabbit anti-NK_iR and mouse anti-Hu (HuC/HuD Monoclonal Antibody 16A11, Thermo Fisher Scientific; 24 h, 4°C), washed in 4× PBS, and incubated with donkey antirabbit Alexa594 and donkey anti-mouse Alexa488 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific; 24 h, 4°C). Neurons were counter-stained with DAPI. Images were obtained on a Leica SP8 confocal microscope with HCX PL APO ×63 (NA 1.40) oil objective.

 Ca^{2+} imaging. At 5 days after isolation, neurons were incubated with Fura-2 AM ester (2 μ M, 45 min, 37 °C, Thermo Fisher Scientific) in HEPES-buffered saline containing 4 mM probenecid and 0.05% pluronic F127. Neurons were recovered in fresh HEPES-buffered saline for 30 min before imaging on a Leica DMI-6000B microscope with HC PLAN APO 0.4 NA $\times 10$ objective at 37 °C. Images were collected at 1.5 s intervals (excitation, 340 nm/380 nm; emission, 530 nm). To assess the functional expression of NK, R, neurons were preincubated with 300 nM aprepitant or vehicle (DMSO), and challenged with 100 nM SP and followed by 5 mM KCl.

 $\it ERK$ activity. At 8 days after isolation, neurons were equilibrated for 30 min in HEPES-buffered saline and then preincubated with DIPMA-AP (10 $\mu g\,ml^{-1}$

NATURE NANOTECHNOLOGY

100 nM aprepitant), aprepitant (100 nM) or vehicle (PBS) for 30 min. Neurons were washed, recovered for 30 min and challenged with SP (100 nM) or the positive control, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (10µM), for 30 min. Neurons were fixed in 4% PFA (20 min at 4 °C) and blocked (0.3% Triton X-100 and 5% NHS; 24 h at 4 °C). Neurons were incubated with rabbit anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK (ERK1/2 phospho-Thr202/Tyr204, 1:100, #4370, Cell Signalling Technology) and mouse anti-p44/42 MAPK (1:100, #4696, Cell Signalling Technology) (24 h at 4°C). Neurons were washed four times in PBS and incubated with donkey anti-rabbit Alexa488 and donkey anti-mouse Alexa647 (1:500, Thermo Fisher Scientific; 2 h at room temperature). The nucleus was counter-stained with DAPI. Neurons were imaged using a Leica SP8 confocal microscope with an HCX PL APO ×63 (NA 1.40) oil objective. Nuclei of neurons were selected as regions of interest and the ratio of phospho-ERK to total ERK was calculated using mean fluorescence intensity values. The mean ERK ratio for all neurons within a single well was determined and the means of four experiments were compared for statistical analyses.

FRET assays of endosomal NK1R signalling in HEK-293 cells. HEK-hNK1R cells (~2×106) were seeded into a 90 mm Petri dish (Corning) in DMEM/FBS/Hygro and incubated for 24 h (37 °C, 5% CO2). Before transfection, the medium was changed to fresh DMEM/FBS/Hygro and the nuclear ERK (nucEKAR) plasmid was transfected (2.5 µg DNA per dish) using PEI at a 1:6 ratio19. After 24 h, cells were plated in a poly-1-lysine-coated black 96-well CulturPlate (Perkin Elmer) and incubated for a further 24 h (37 °C, 5% CO₂). On the day of the assay, cells were serum-starved for 6-8h and then equilibrated in HBSS, supplemented with HEPES at 37°C in a CO2-free incubator. FRET was assessed using a PHERAstar FS (BMG LABTECH) with optic module FI 430 530 480 and measurements were made every 1 min. Baseline was measured for 5 min followed by stimulation with SP, vehicle (HBSS) or phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (1µM), and further measurements for 30 min. For the SP concentration response curve, half logarithmic dilutions of SP were added (1 μM to 100 pM) and $EC_{\scriptscriptstyle 50}$ was determined using the AUC after SP addition (30 min reading). For the aprepitant concentration response curve, logarithmic dilutions of aprepitant (10 µM to 1 pM) were added 30 min before baseline measurements, followed by the addition of 5 nM of SP. The IC50 was determined for aprepitant as described. To assess the effect of nanoparticles on nuclear ERK signalling, DIPMA-Ø, DIPMA-AP, BMA-Ø or BMA-AP (30, 20 and 10 µg ml-1) was added 30 min before baseline measurements, followed by the addition of SP 5 nM or vehicle. Data were expressed as vehicle corrected values, normalized by the maximum response to the positive control.

Cell viability assays. Studies of the effects of nanoparticles on the viability of HEK-293 cells are described in the Supplementary Methods.

Statistical analysis. Data were analysed using GraphPad Prism 8 (GraphPad Software). Data are presented as mean \pm s.e.m., unless noted otherwise. A two-tailed Student's *t*-test was used for two comparisons and exact *P* values are shown in the figures. For multiple comparisons, results were compared using one- or two-way ANOVA followed by post-hoc multiple comparison tests, as described in the figure legends. Exact adjusted *P* values are shown for bar graphs in figures when $P \ge 0.0001$. P < 0.05 was considered significant.

Reporting Summary. Further information on research design is available in the Nature Research Reporting Summary linked to this article.

Data availability

All data generated or analysed during this study are available in this Article and its Supplementary Information or from the corresponding authors upon request.

References

- Schindelin, J. et al. Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. Nat. Methods 9, 676–682 (2012).
- Zimmermann, M. Ethical guidelines for investigations of experimental pain in conscious animals. *Pain* 16, 109–110 (1983).
- Randall, L. O. & Selitto, J. J. A method for measurement of analgesic activity on inflamed tissue. Arch. Int. Pharmacodyn. Ther. 111, 409–419 (1957).
- Santos-Nogueira, E., Redondo Castro, E., Mancuso, R. & Navarro, X. Randall–Selitto test: a new approach for the detection of neuropathic pain after spinal cord injury. *J. Neurotrauma* 29, 898–904 (2012).
- Retamal, J. et al. Burst-like subcutaneous electrical stimulation induces BDNF-mediated, cyclotraxin B-sensitive central sensitization in rat spinal cord. Front. Pharmacol. 9, 1143 (2018).
- cord. Front. Pharmacol. 9, 1143 (2018).
 41. Imlach, W. L., Bhola, R. F., May, L. T., Christopoulos, A. & Macdonald, J. C. A positive allosteric modulator of the adenosine α1 receptor selectively inhibits primary afferent synaptic transmission in a neuropathic pain model. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 88, 460–468 (2015).
- Di Porzio, U., Daguet, M. C., Glowinski, J. & Prochiantz, A. Effect of striatal cells on in vitro maturation of mesencephalic dopaminergic neurones grown in serum-free conditions. *Nature* 288, 370–373 (1980).

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health (NS102722, DE026806, DK118971), the Department of Defense (PR170507), the National Health and Medical Research Council (63303, 1049682, 1031886; N.W.B.), the Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology (N.W.B. and T.P.D.), the Center for the Development of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (CEDENNA, Fondecyt no. 1181622, L.C.) and Takeda Pharmaceuticals Inc. (N.W.B., N.A.V and D.P.P.). We thank F. Chiu for mass spectrometry analysis of aprepitant loading and P. Zhao for advice about signalling assays.

Author contributions

P.D.R.-G. prepared and characterized nanoparticles, examined nanoparticle uptake and disassembly, studied SP signalling in model cells and wrote the manuscript, J.S.R. studied the biodistribution and anti-nociceptive and in vivo electrophysiological actions of nanoparticles. P.S. studied the biodistribution and anti-nociceptive actions of nanoparticles. W.I. conceived and designed electrophysiological studies on spinal neurons. M.S. studied the excitation of spinal neurons, and N.T. prepared and characterized nanoparticles. L.C. conceived and designed neuropathic nociception and in vivo electrophysiological studies. T.P. conceived and designed neuropathic nociception. C.J.N. provided expertise in the analysis of confocal images and S.Y.K. obtained transmission electron microscopy images. L.M.L. characterized the critical micellar concentration and pH-disassembly of nanoparticles. C.L. studied SP signalling in model cells and D.P.P. studied nanoparticle uptake. T.M.L. studied anti-nociceptive actions of nanoparticles, G.D.S. prepared striatal neurons, and Q.N.M. prepared and

ARTICLES

characterized nanoparticles. D.D.J. examined NK1R endocytosis, nanoparticle uptake into spinal neurons, and SP signalling in model cells and striatal neurons. R.L. examined NK₁R endocytosis and nanoparticle uptake into spinal neurons. N.S.N. studied NK₁R endocytosis in rats. B.L.S. designed experiments to examine NK₂R endocytosis in rats. J.F.Q. designed nanoparticles and wrote the manuscript. M.R.W. designed nanoparticles. N.A.V. conceived experiments, studied SP signalling in neurons, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript. T.P.D. conceived the experiments and designed the nanoparticles. N.W.B. conceived and designed the experiments, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.

Competing interests

Research in N.A. V.'s, D.P.P.'s and N.W.B.'s laboratories is funded, in part, by Takeda Pharmaceuticals. N.W.B. is a founding scientist of Endosome Therapeutics.

Additional information

Supplementary information is available for this paper at https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41565-019-0568-x.

Correspondence and requests for materials should be addressed to N.A.V., T.P.D. or N.W.B.

Peer review information Nature Nanotechnology thanks Jean-Pierre Vilardaga and the other, anonymous, reviewer(s) for their contribution to the peer review of this work.

Reprints and permissions information is available at www.nature.com/reprints.

Appendix 2

nature nanotechnology

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41565-019-0568-x

In the format provided by the authors and unedited.

A pH-responsive nanoparticle targets the neurokinin 1 receptor in endosomes to prevent chronic pain

Paulina D. Ramírez-García[®]^{1,2}, Jeffri S. Retamal^{1,2}, Priyank Shenoy^{1,2}, Wendy Imlach[®]³, Matthew Sykes³, Nghia Truong[®]^{1,2}, Luis Constandil[®]⁴, Teresa Pelissier⁴, Cameron J. Nowell¹, Song Y. Khor^{1,2}, Louis M. Layani^{1,2}, Chris Lumb^{1,2}, Daniel P. Poole[®]^{1,2}, TinaMarie Lieu^{1,2}, Gregory D. Stewart¹, Quynh N. Mai^{1,2}, Dane D. Jensen⁵, Rocco Latorre⁵, Nicole N. Scheff⁶, Brian L. Schmidt⁶, John F. Quinn^{1,2}, Michael R. Whittaker^{1,2}, Nicholas A. Veldhuis^{1,2*}, Thomas P. Davis[®]^{1,2,7*} and Nigel W. Bunnett[®]^{1,2,5,8*}

¹Monash Institute of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Monash University, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. ²Australian Research Council Centre of Excellence in Convergent Bio-Nano Science and Technology, Monash University, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. ³Monash Biomedicine Discovery Institute, Monash University, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia. ⁴Laboratory of Neurobiology, Center for the Development of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology (CEDENNA), University of Santiago de Chile, Santiago, Chile. ⁵Departments of Surgery and Pharmacology, Columbia University Vagelos College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbia University in the City of New York, New York, NY, USA. ⁶Bluestone Centre for Clinical Research, New York University College of Dentistry, New York, NY, USA. ⁷Australian Institute for Bioengineering and Nanotechnology, University of Queensland, Brisbane, Queensland, Australia. ⁸Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, University of Melbourne, Parkville, Victoria, Australia. *e-mail: nicholas.veldhuis@monash.edu; thomas.p.davis@monash.edu; nwb2@nyu.edu

Supplementary Information

A pH-Responsive Nanoparticle Targets the Neurokinin 1 Receptor in Endosomes to Prevent Chronic Pain

Paulina D. Ramírez-García Jeffri S. Retamal, Priyank Shenoy, Wendy Imlach, Matthew Sykes, Nghia Truong, Luis Constandil, Teresa Pelissier, Cameron J. Nowell, Song Y. Khor, Louis M. Layani, Chris Lumb, Daniel P. Poole, TinaMarie Lieu, Gregory D. Stewart, Quynh N. Mai, Dane D. Jensen, Rocco Latorre, Nicole N. Scheff, Brian L. Schmidt, John F. Quinn, Michael R. Whittaker, Nicholas A. Veldhuis, Thomas P. Davis, Nigel W. Bunnett

Table of Contents

1. Supplementary methods	 3
1.1. Synthesis of diblock copolymers	 3
1.2. Analysis of diblock copolymers	 3
1.3. Self-assembly of nanoparticles	 4
1.4. Characterisation of nanoparticles	 4
1.5. Nanoparticle disassembly	 5
1.6. pERK localization in mouse spinal cord	 5
1.7. Rotarod test	 5
1.8. Electrophysiological assessment of nociception in rats	 6
1.9. NK ₁ R localization in rat spinal cord	 6
1.10. Cell viability assays	 6
Supplementary Figures	 7
Supplementary Figure 1	 7
Supplementary Figure 2	 9
Supplementary Figure 3	 10
Supplementary Figure 4	 11
Supplementary Figure 5	 12
Supplementary Figure 6	 14
Supplementary Figure 7	 15
Supplementary Figure 8	 17
Supplementary Videos	 19
Supplementary Video 1	 19
Supplementary Video 2	 19
Supplementary Video 3	 19
Supplementary Video 4	 19
Supplementary Video 5	 19
Supplementary Video 6	 19

Supplementary References	20
Supplementary Video 7	19

1. Supplementary Methods

1.1. Synthesis of diblock copolymers. Prior each synthesis, monomers were deinhibited using basic aluminium oxide. All polymers were synthesized via reversible addition fragmentation chain (RAFT) polymerization¹. All reactions were carried out in toluene at 70°C and 400 RPM unless stated otherwise. Resulting polymers were purified by dialysis (molecular weight cut off, MWCO 3500, Membrane Filtration Products, USA) against acetone for 96 h. Residual solvent was evaporated and the final products were dried for 24 h in a vacuum oven at 37°C and 1000 mbar.

<u>*P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA) hydrophilic block copolymer.*</u> The macromolecular chain transfer agent (macro-CTA), P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA), was synthesized using 2-cyanoprop-2-yl dithiobenzoate (CPBD, 0.0736 g, $3.34 \cdot 10^{-4}$ mol) as a RAFT agent and azobisisobutyronitrile (AIBN, 0.0054 g, $3.34 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mol) as the initiator in a ratio of 1:0.1. The monomers poly(ethylene glycol) monomethyl ether methacrylate (PEGMA, 6 g, 0.02 mol) and 2-[*N*,*N*-(dimethylamino)ethyl] methacrylate (DMAEMA, 0.314 g, 0.001 mol) were added at a ratio of 10:1 and the mixture was left to react for 21 h.

<u>*P*(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA)</u> diblock copolymer. The chain extension reaction was initiated by AIBN (0.0017 g, $1.033 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mol), using P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA, 0.89 g, $6.89 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mol) and the monomers 2-[*N*,*N*-(diisopropylamino)ethyl] methacrylate (DIPMA, 1.47 g, $6.892 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mol) and di(ethylene glycol) methyl ether methacrylate (DEGMA, 0.1427 g, $7.58 \cdot 10^{-4}$) at a ratio of 0.15:1:100:11. The mixture was left to react for 17.5 h.

<u>*P*(*PEGMA-co-DMAEMA*)-*b-P*(*BMA*) diblock copolymer.</u> Butyl methacrylate (BMA, 0.582 g, 0.0041 mol) was polymerized from the hydrophilic P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA) block by a chain extension reaction in the presence of AIBN (0.0008 g, $5.124 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mol) at a ratio of 120:1:0.2. The solution was left to react for 15 h.

<u>*P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA-co-Cy5)*</u> and <u>*P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(BMA-co-Cy5)* diblock copolymer.</u> The chain extension of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA, 0.5 g, $3.85 \cdot 10^{-5}$ mol) was done by adding DIPMA (0.82 g, $4.6 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mol) and 4.4-dimethyl-2-vinyl-2-oxazolin-5-one (VDM, 0.027 g, $1.92 \cdot 10^{-4}$ mol) in the presence of AIBN (0.95 mg, $5.77 \cdot 10^{-6}$ mol) at a ratio of 1:100:11:5:0.15. The mixture was left to react for 18 h. For the BMA diblock copolymer only *BMA* (0.66 g, $3.87 \cdot 10^{-3}$ mol) was added and the ratios of macro-CTA:BMA:VDM:AIBN were 1:120:5:0.15 and the mixture was left to react for 19 h. Cy5 coupling was achieved by mixing 250 µL of the reaction with Cyanine 5 amine (Cy5, 0.008 g, $1.20 \cdot 10^{-5}$ moles) and reacting at room temperature, 400 RPM for 72 h under dark conditions.

1.2. Analysis of diblock copolymers

<u>Gel permeation chromatography.</u> The molecular weights of polymers were determined by gel permeation chromatography using a Shimadzu (Kyoto, Japan) liquid chromatography system (Shimadzu, Japan) equipped with a (RID-10A) differential refractive index detector and SPD-20A ultraviolet-visible detector (λ = 633 nm). Samples were fractionated using 5.0 µm bead-size guard column (50 × 7.8 mm) and three Shodex KF-805L columns (300 × 8 mm, 10 µm bead-size, 5000 Å pore size) in series at 40°C. The eluent used was *N*,*N*-dimethylacetamide (DMAC, HPLC grade, with 0.03% w/v LiBr) with a flow rate of 1 mL/min. A molecular weight calibration curve was produced using polystyrene standards with narrow molecular weights distribution ranging from

(50 mm by 2.1 mm, 2.7 μ m particle size) equipped with a Phenomenex SecurityGuard precolumn fitted with a Synergi Polar cartridge. Aprepitant loading was quantified against aprepitant standards (0.016 to 20 μ M). The mobile phase consisted of 0.05% formic acid in water and acetonitrile and compounds were eluted under gradient conditions. Mass spectrometry was conducted in positive electrospray ionization conditions and elution of compounds monitored with multiple-reaction monitoring.

<u>Determination of critical micelle concentration</u>. The critical micellar concentration was determined by the pyrene I_1/I_3 ratio². A pyrene stock solution (50 µM) was prepared in THF and 5 µL of pyrene stock were added to 995 µL of graded concentrations of nanoparticles (400 to 0.5 µg/mL), obtained by diluting nanoparticle stock solutions in PBS. The mixture was stirred for 3 h at room temperature and the fluorescence spectrum of pyrene was recorded from 360 to 410 nm using an excitation wavelength of 336 nm in a RF5301PC Espectrofluorophotometer (Shimadzu, Japan). The emission intensities measured at 373 nm (I_1) and 384 nm (I_3) were used to calculate the pyrene I_1/I_3 ratio.

<u>Transmission electron microscopy</u>. The morphology of nanoparticles was determined by transmission electron microscopy imaging using a Tecnai F20 transmission electron microscope at an accelerating voltage of 200 kV at ambient temperature. An aliquot (5 μ L) of 0.1 wt% nanoparticle solution (diluted with Milli-Q water) was deposited on a Formvar coated copper grid (GSCu100F-50, Proscitech, Australia) and was allowed to dry overnight in air and at room temperature.

1.5. Nanoparticle disassembly. Nile Red (NR) is a solvatochromic dye that fluoresces only in non-polar solvents, allowing determination of the pH of disassembly for the nanoparticles. Specifically, the pH of disassembly is identified by observing the loss of fluorescence of NR due to release of NR from the core of nanoparticles. Nanoparticles were self-assembled using 0.1 mg of NR per mg of polymer and dialyzed as previously described. pH-responsive nanoparticles loaded with Nile red (DIPMA-NR) and non-pH responsive nanoparticles loaded with NR (BMA-NR) were prepared at a concentration of 200 μ g/mL. For pH-dependent disassembly studies, nanoparticles were suspended in a mixture of 0.1 M citric acid and 0.2 M Na₂HPO₄ buffer solutions with a pH range from 7.6 to 5.0. pH-dependent disassembly was assessed by measuring NR fluorescence (excitation/emission 552/636nm) using a FlexStation 3 (Molecular Devices, USA). The time course of nanoparticle disassembly was examined by measuring NR fluorescence at pH 7.4, 6.5, 6.0 and 5.0 over a 12 h period using a CLARIOstar (BMG LABTECH, Germany).

1.6. pERK localization in mouse spinal cord. Spinal cord sections were preincubated in 10% normal donkey serum (NDS) in 0.1 M PBS (1 h, room temperature), followed by rabbit antiphospho-p44/42 MAPK (ERK1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) (1:200; #4370; Cell Signalling Technology, Danvers, MA) and guinea-pig anti-NeuN (1:1000, Millipore, #abN90) in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and 5% NDS (overnight, 4°C). Sections were washed 4x in 0.1 M PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and incubated with donkey anti-rabbit Alexa 488 and donkey anti-guinea-pig Alexa 568 (1:1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific) (45 min, room temperature). Sections were washed 5x in PBS, counter-stained with DAPI (10 μ g/ml, 5 min) and cover-slipped with ProLong Glass mounting medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Sections were imaged on Leica SP8 confocal microscope with HC PLAPO 40X for counting pERK-immunoreactive (IR) neurons or a 20X objective to collect representative images. For each experimental group, 6 sections of ipsilateral and contralateral dorsal horn were imaged. Only pERK-positive neurons co-labelled with NeuN were counted. To avoid re-counting the same neurons, the analysed sections were 100 μ m apart. The total number of neurons was averaged for each group.

1.7. Rotarod test. A rotarod test was used to assess whether the intrathecal injection of nanoparticles would affect normal motor function and thereby impede studies of nociception that

require examination of paw withdrawal from a painful stimulus. Prior to experiments, mice were acclimatized and trained on the rotarod apparatus for three consecutive runs on two successive days. On the day of the experiment, three baseline readings were recorded and a cut-off threshold of 120 second was pre-set. Nanoparticles (DIPMA-AP, BMA-AP, DIPMA-Ø, 10 µg/mL) or vehicle (aCSF) was injected intrathecally as described above. Subsequently, the latency of mice to fall (seconds) were recorded at 30, 60, 90, 120, 180 and 240 min post-injection³.

1.8. Electrophysiological assessment of nociception in rats. Rats were maintained under anaesthesia (1.2-1.5% isoflurane in oxygen using a diaphragm rodent facemask) and placed on a regulated thermal pad ($37 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C). EMG activity was measured using a pair of platinum stimulation electrodes inserted subcutaneously into the lateral part of the third and fourth toes, and recording electrodes inserted through the skin into the ipsilateral biceps femoris muscle⁴. The C-reflex corresponds to the integration of the reflex response into a 150-450 ms time window post-stimulus. Wind-up is a potentiation of the C-reflex response when the stimulating frequency is increased to 1 Hz. The wind-up score corresponds to the slope of the first seven consecutive C-reflex recordings obtained at 1 Hz stimulation. After recording to obtain a stable C-reflex response (~30 min), the threshold for C-reflex was estimated and the rats remained stimulated at 2X the threshold intensity for the duration of the experiment. The C-reflex was evaluated by the mean of 15 consecutive stimuli at 0.1 Hz while the next 7 stimuli at 1 Hz were used to evaluate wind-up. Recordings were made 10 days after surgery before (basal) and 30, 60, 90 and 120 min after intrathecal drug administration. The integrated C-reflex responses were expressed as a percentage of basal response.

1.9. NK₁R localization in rat spinal cord. Free floating sections were blocked in PBS containing 0.3% Triton x-100 and 10% NDS (1 h, room temperature). Sections were incubated with rabbit anti-NK₁R (1:1000, #94168) and guinea-pig anti-NeuN (1:1000, Millipore, abn90) in PBS containing 0.3% Triton X-100 and 3% NDS (overnight, 4°C). Sections were washed 4x in PBS and incubated with donkey anti-rabbit Alexa488 and donkey anti-guinea-pig Alexa568 (1:1000, Thermo Fisher Scientific) (2 h, room temperature). Sections were washed 5x in PBS, counter stained with DAPI (10 µg/ml, 5 min), and mounted onto ColorFrost Plus slides (VWR) with ProLong Glass mounting medium (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Sections were imaged on Leica SP8 confocal microscope with a HC PL APO 63x oil objective (NA 1.4). Z stacks of NK₁R-positive neurons in lamina I of the dorsal horn were collected with a digital zoom of 5. To quantify NK₁R endocytosis in lamina I neurons, the border of the cytoplasm of the soma was delineated by NeuN fluorescence. NK₁R immunoreactivity within 5 pixels (0.5 µm) of the border was defined as plasma membrane receptor. The ratio of plasma membrane to cytosolic NK₁R-IR fluorescence was determined in >6 lamina I neurons per condition.

1.10. Cell viability assays. HEK-hNK₁R cells were incubated with empty nanoparticles (1-100 μ g/mL) for 24 and 48 h. Medium was replaced by phenol red-free DMEM, followed by incubation for 2 h (37°C, 5% CO₂) with 10% (v/v) alamarBlue reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Fluorescence of the reduced active compound, resofurin, was measured (510/610nm exc/em) using a ClarioStar (BMG LABTECH, Germany).

Supplementary Figures



Figure S1. Synthesis and characterization of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-

DEGMA) and P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(BMA-co-DEGMA) diblock copolymers. A. Characterization of the hydrophilic block copolymers and the diblock copolymers. B. i) Sequential RAFT polymerization indicating synthesis of the hydrophilic block using (1) CPDB, (2) PEGMA and (3) DMAEMA to form (4) p(PEGMA-c-DMAEMA); synthesis of P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA) by chain extension reaction, where addition of the pH-responsive monomer (5) DIPMA and the charge screening monomer (6) DEGMA to (4) the hydrophilic block forms (7) the diblock P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA); ii) Addition of (5) DIPMA, (6) DEGMA and (10) VDM to (4) the hydrophilic block to form the intermediate (11), followed by the addition of (12) Cy5 to form the final Cy5 conjugated polymer (13) P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA-co-Cv5). iii) Addition of (8) BMA to (4) the hydrophilic block forms (9) P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(BMA). iv) Addition of (8) BMA and (10) VDM to (4) the hydrophilic block to form the intermediate (14), followed by the addition of (12) Cy5 to form the final Cy5 conjugated polymer (15) P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(BMA-co-Cy5). C. Gel permeation chromatography traces showing a shift from P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA) to higher molecular weight (i.e., shorter retention time) after chain extension to form P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(DIPMA-co-DEGMA) and P(PEGMA-co-DMAEMA)-b-P(BMA-co-DEGMA). D. ¹H-NMR spectra of the resulting polymers indicating the successful incorporation of the monomers. ¹H-NMR was used to estimate molecular weight since gel permeation chromatography was calibrated using polystyrene standards. C and D are from a single independent experiment because the polymer was made once and used throughout the project.



Figure S2. Mechanism of concentration-dependent self-assembly and pH-dependent disassembly of DIPMA nanoparticles. Increasing concentrations of polymer result in nanoparticle self-assembly in an aqueous solution. DIPMA nanoparticles possess a tertiary amine on the DIPMA units located in the core. At pH<6.1, protonation results in a change from neutral to positive charge on DIPMA that induce like-like charge repulsion, which destabilizes the nanoparticle core with the subsequent disassembly and release of cargo.



Figure S3. Uptake of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in HEK-293 cells. A. Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in Rab5a-GFP early endosomes and Rab7a-GFP late endosomes after incubation with HEK-293 cells for 60 min. Representative results, n = 5 independent experiments. **B.** Colocalization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and NK₁R-GFP in HEK-rNK₁R cells at 60 min after stimulation with SP to induce NK₁R endocytosis. Representative results, n = 5 independent experiments.



Figure S4. Effects of nanoparticles on rotarod latency. Effects of intrathecal (i.t.) injection of vehicle (Veh), DIPMA-Ø, BMA-AP or DIPMA-AP nanoparticles (NP) on latency to fall in mice, assessed using rotarod. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM from n = 6 mice (numbers in parentheses) for each treatment group.



Figure S5. NK₁R endocytosis in chronic neuropathic nociception. To confirm activation of the SP/NK₁R system during chronic neuropathic nociception, the NK₁R was localized in the dorsal
horn of rats 10 days after sural nerve spared (SNS) or sham surgery by immunofluorescence. **A.** Localization of NK₁R-IR and NeuN-IR to the ipsilateral (Ipsi.) or contralateral (Contra.) lamina I dorsal horn of sham or SNS rats. Arrow heads denote plasma membrane. Arrows denote endosomes. **B.** Quantification of NK₁R endocytosis, assessed as the cytosol:plasma membrane pixel intensity for NK₁R-IR neurons. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM from sham ipsilateral (n = 8 rats), SNS ipsilateral (n = 7 rats) and SNS contralateral (n = 4 rats) groups. 1-way ANOVA, non-parametric Tukey post-hoc test. **P<0.01.



Figure S6. Effects of nanoparticles on neuropathic nociception. The sural nerve spared (SNS) model of chronic neuropathic pain was studied in rats. Vehicle (Veh), aprepitant (AP) or nanoparticle (NP) was administered by intrathecal injection 10 days after SNS or sham surgery. Paw withdrawal responses were assessed using the Randall-Selitto test. **A.** Time course of response. **B.** Area under curve (AUC) from 0-7 h. Data are presented as mean ± SEM from *n* = 6 rats (numbers in parentheses) for each treatment group. **P*<0.05, ***P*<0.005, #*P*<0.001, ##*P*<0.001 compared to SNS vehicle. 1-way ANOVA, nonparametric Dunn's post-hoc test.



Fig. S7. SP signaling in mouse striatal neurons. SP (100 nM)-induced Ca²⁺ signaling in striatal

neurons pretreated with vehicle (Veh) or aprepitant (AP). **A.** Representative traces of $[Ca^{2}+]_{i}$. Grey lines show responses of individual neurons. Red lines show mean responses. **B.** Peak $[Ca^{2}+]_{i}$ responses. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM from n = 342 neurons for SP plus vehicle or n = 285 neurons for SP plus aprepitant (numbers in parentheses) from n = 3 independent experiments for both treatment groups. ##P<0.0001, unpaired *t*-test (2-tailed). **C.** Representative images of phospho-ERK and total ERK immunostaining in cultured striatal neurons from n = 3 independent experiments. Neurons were treated with SP, SP plus aprepitant (AP), SP plus DIPMA-AP, phorbol 12,13-dibutyrate (PDBU) or vehicle.



Figure S8. Nuclear ERK signalling and toxicity assays in HEK-293 cells. A-I. SP activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK₁R cells. To examine activation of nuclear ERK, HEK-293 cells expressing hNK₁R were transfected with NucEKAR (FRET biosensor for nuclear ERK). Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM, with triplicate observations made in each experiment. **A.** Effects of graded concentrations of SP on nuclear ERK activity; n = 8 independent experiments. **B.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 8 independent experiments. **C.** Effects of graded concentration of nuclear ERK response to SP (5 nM); n = 7 independent experiments. **E-G.** SP-induced activation of nuclear ERK in HEK-hNK₁R cells expressing dynamin wildtype (Dyn WT, **E**) or dynamin K44E (Dyn K44E, **F**); n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP concentration-response curves; n = 6 independent experiments. **G.** SP con

hNK₁R cells (I) over 30 min; n = 7 independent experiments. **J.** Effects DIPMA-Ø and BMA-Ø on viability of HEK-293 cells over 24 h and 48 h. Viability was examined using alamarBlue, which assess the capability of viable cells to reduce rezasurin to resofurin; triplicate observations, n = 4 independent experiments.

Supplementary Videos

Video S1. Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and Rab5a-GFP in HEK-293 cells. The video shows trafficking of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles (red) to Rab5a-GFP early endosomes (green). Cells were incubated with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles for 30 min.

Video S2. Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and Rab7a-GFP in HEK-293 cells. The video shows trafficking of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles (red) to Rab7a-GFP late endosomes (green). Cells were incubated with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles for 30 min.

Video S3. Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles and NK₁R-GFP in HEK-293 cells. The video shows trafficking of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles (red) and NK₁R-GFP (green). Cells were incubated with DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles for 90 min and with SP for 60 min to induce NK₁R endocytosis.

Video S4. Localization of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in the mouse dorsal horn. The video is a 3D projection of DIPMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in the perinuclear region of lamina I cells in the dorsal horn of the mouse spinal cord. The image was taken at 1 h after intrathecal injection of nanoparticles. Nuclei are stained with DAPI.

Video S5. Localization of BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in the mouse dorsal horn. The video is a 3D projection of BMA-Cy5 nanoparticles in the perinuclear region of lamina I cells in the dorsal horn of the mouse spinal cord. The image was taken at 1 h after intrathecal injection of nanoparticles. Nuclei are stained with DAPI.

Video S6. Localization of NK₁**R-IR in the rat dorsal horn after sham surgery.** The video is a 3D projection showing the subcellular localization of NK₁R-IR (green) of lamina I spinal neuron (NeuN, red). The image was taken at 10 days after sham surgery.

Video S7. Localization of NK₁**R-IR in the rat dorsal horn after SNS surgery.** The video is a 3D projection showing the subcellular localization of NK₁R-IR (green) of lamina I spinal neuron (NeuN, red). The images were taken at 10 days after SNS surgery.

Supplementary References

- 1. Chiefari, J., *et al.* Living free-radical polymerization by reversible addition-fragmentation chain transfer: The raft process. *Macromolecules* **31**, 5559-5562 (1998)
- 2. Aguiar, J., Carpena, P., Molina-Bolívar, J. A. & Carnero Ruiz, C. On the determination of the critical micelle concentration by the pyrene 1:3 ratio method. *J. Coll. Inter. Sci.* **258**, 116-122 (2003)
- 3. Jensen, D. D., *et al.* Neurokinin 1 receptor signaling in endosomes mediates sustained nociception and is a viable therapeutic target for prolonged pain relief. *Sci. Trans. Med.* **9**, eaal3447 (2017)
- 4. Bravo, D., *et al.* Pannexin 1: A novel participant in neuropathic pain signaling in the rat spinal cord. *Pain* **155**, 2108-2115 (2014)